suaded to begin my address by a discus~
sion of this part of the bill which, ac-
cording to the junior Senator from
Florida, constitutes the most important
part of the bill.

In the beginning, I state that I recog-
nize that I believe the suggestion of the
use of public funds to defray the cost of
the conduct of our elections merits care-
ful consideration.

I have suggested in previous speeches

modes of such consideration.

I have always felt though, Mr. Presi-
dent, that the provision of public funds
for campaign expenses must be tied
closely and intimately with amendment
of the Corrupt Practices Act and with a
carefully considered bill for election
reform.

Indeed, Mr. President, I doubt if any
Member of either body of the Congress
has devoted the time and study to the
question of clean elections that the sen-
ior Senator from Tennessee has.

I wish to approach the subject on this
basis. It is said that money is the root
of all evil. Money is the root of political
corruption. Money is the root of polit-
ical influence. The use and volume
of that money constitute the greatest
danger in our elective system.

There is nothing evil per se about the
expenditure of funds on elections. In-
deed, if the electorate is to make a wise
choice, then the issues, the records, and
views of opposing candidates in a con-
test should receive wide dissemination.

This requires money in increasing
amounts as our population increases and
as mass communication media for hire
become more widely used. i

The evil which threatens our elective
processes arises from the improper use
of money, money in excessive amounts,
sometimes from questionable sources
and heavily in favor of special interest
candidates or without full disclosure to
the public.

If we are to eliminate or even mini-
mize this evil and danger, then existing
law affecting the use of money in Federal
elections must, in my view, be substan-
tially revised. Existing law is wholly in-
adequate, outmoded, and unrealistic.
For the most part, it was enacted more
than 40 years ago.

The inadequacies of existing law were
fully illustrated by the report of the elec-
tions subcommittee on the 1956 general
election campaign.

Earlier today reference was made to
the investigation of that subcommittee,
of which I was chairman, and the report
which was filed. I have a copy of the
report. Copies are no longer available.
More than 1,000 requests for copies came
after the supply was exhausted. It is
the largest committee report that the
Government Printing Office has ever
printed, and it is factual.

We tabulated $33 million, the source
of the money, the recipient of the money,

and the purposes for which the money
was expended. ,

So, Mr. President, I speak on this sub-
ject with some experience and knowl-
edge and, even more, with conviction
that reform of our election laws, amend-
ment of our Corrupt Practices Act, now
more than 40 years old, is urgent.’

The freedom and the sanctity of the
ballot box is at the very heart of our
system of self-government.

One of our goals in world affairs is to
assure to people the right of self-de-
termination. We had better look about
ourselves and assure our own people of

‘a right of untrammeled determination

without the undue influence of money.

The need for election law reform is
widely recognized. The senior Senator
from Tennessee is by no means the only
one who recognizes this. While there is
substantial agreement as to the need for
election reform, there are differing views
as to the details of what should or can
be done. .

In view of the failure of Congress to
act in this field in more than a quarter
of a century, I think it fair to say that
the sense of urgency for measures to pro-
tect our elective process from corrupt
practices, which I feel so keenly, must
not be shared by all. As I see it, the
cause of clean elections is a very impor-
tant cause, indeed.

Mr. President, despite the studies that
have been made, despite the fact that a
clean elections bill is now dying on the
calendar, we are here on Saturday after-
noon, October 22, asked finally to ap-
prove, to take the last step, and to send
to the White House, a bill containing a
provision on which there has not been
one day of hearings, on which not one
witness testified, but which, instead of
being accompanied with safeguards and
protection, adequate amendment of the
Corrupt Practices Act, merely pours more
millions of dollars into the political pot.
Does this make for clean elections?

Mr. SMATHERS. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield, to straighten out the
record? .

Mr. GORE. I yield.

Mr. SMATHERS. Would the Senator
not agree that there was a public hearing
on this particular proposal, on which the
Under Secretary of the Treasury testi-
fied, and on which several Senators testi-
fied with respect to their own proposals?
I offered one proposal. The matter was
pretty well discussed. There was con-
siderable public discussion about it.

Mr. GORE. I agree that the Commit-
tee on Finance had a day of hearing on
the general subject of campaign contri-
butions and election reform. Indeed,
there have been many such hearings, one
of which, as I have said, I conducted over
a period of months.

Mr. SMATHERS. I should like to
commend the Senator. I stated earlier
that I think that the most thorough
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hearing I have heard about on this par-
ticular subject was that conducted by the
Senator in 1956, and I think that the
recommendations that he made at that
time are excellent. The Senator knows
a great deal about this subject. The
point is that that was 10 years ago. Iam
afraid that if we do not pass some sort
of legislation which all of us will agree
is at least a step in the right direction,
we will be debating for another 10 years
on this matter, before we will ever get it
enacted into law. Ten years later, after
the Senator’s thorough and lengthy and
excellent hearings, we still do not have
anything. I think we have to take this
as a step in the right direction, hoping
that after we have tried it for some time,
we might be able to steer it forward, if
it needs to be steered to a higher ground.

Mr. GORE. I thank the Senator for
his generous comments.

I must say that I cannot feel, after
careful consideration, that this would be
taking a step in the right direction, if
this is the only step we take. Indeed,

[P. 275991

this step, taken without safeguards, in
my opinion would be a very bad step.
It would make the situation far worse.

Just as tax reform, from a practical
standpoint, can only successfully be
coupled with tax reduction, I think that
if we provide Government funds for cam-
palen expénses, without tying to those
benefits to our political process the nec~
essary safeguards and protection, then
protection is out the window, the benefits
are in hand, and the cause of election
reform and clean elections w111 have been

dealt a death blow.
Mr. CLARK. Mr. PreSIdent will the
Senator yield?

Mr.GORE. Iyield.

Mr. CLARK. I, too, have a great deal
of sympathy with the point of view which
has just been expressed by the Senator
from Tennessee with respect to election
reform. I, too, should like to assure that
the REcorb is straight.

‘While I do not purport to be the expert
on the subject that the Senator from
Tennessee is, I have, nonetheless, done a
good deal of research work on the sub-
ject. Election reform, to be adequate,
requires the collaboration of three com-
mittees of the Senate.

The first is the Committee on Finance,.

where provisions must be passed which,
unfortunately, must originate in the
House or, in the alternative, be tacked
onto some other bill, as was done with
the current proposal, by which the fi-
nancing aspects of campaigns, insofar as
there may be any participation by the
Government, must be worked out and de-
termined. With regard to that, there
was at least 1 full day of hearings, I think,
before the Committee on Finance.

Some time ago, the President of the
United States did me the great honor of

asking me to introduce his bill dealing
with clean elections and campaign fi-
nancing, and I did so. The bill was re-
ferred to the Committee on Rules and
Administration, the second committee
concerned. For reasons best known to

i themselves, that committee refused to
" hold hearings on the President’s bill, and

I must say that I can find little favor
with their decision. Instead, they re-
ported to the calendar an utterly inade-
quate bill, on which no hearings have
been held for 6 years, and which was
clearly obsolete, inadequate, and inappro-
priate for the purpose. That is the bill
which is now on the calendar, to which
the Senator referred. It wasnotbrought
up on the floor, and I rather regret-that,
because, inadequate as the bill is, it would
have given us the opportunity to amend it
on the floor and provide some kind of
decent vehicle for campaign financing
and election reform. However, the
leadership, in its wisdom, did not see fit
to bring that bill up.

A third aspect of campaign reform
and financing, in my opinion, is in the
jurisdiction of the Committee on Com-~
merce. That has to do with the extent
to which the communications media, pri-
marily radio and television, should be
called upon to contribute some part of
the cost to conduct an honorable finan-
cial campaign. Next year, I propose to
introduce separate bills:

First, a bill which will be referred to
the Committee on Finance, for financing
along the lines which the Senator from
Tennessee is now discussing.

Second, a bill to be referred to the
Committee on Rules and Administration,
which will deal with the administrative
aspects of campaign practices, the Cor-
rupt Practicés Act, and the other aspects
of campaign financing which are within
the jurisdiction of the Committee on
Rules and Administration under our rule.
25,

Third, a bill to be referred to the Com-
mittee on Commerce, which will deal
with the part that radio and television
should be called upon to play in this area.

The reason why I make these state-
ments is that I was a witness before the
Committee on Finance on this measure
and said in substance what I have said
just now on the floor of the Senate in
this regard.

When the bill that is now under con-
sideration first came before the Senate
for consideration, I felt that it was a
half-baked measure. I still think it is a
half-baked measure. But I voted for it.
‘Why did I vote for it? Because it seemed
to me that it was one foot in the door in
an area where many honorable Senators,
including particularly the senior Sena-
tor from Tennessee [Mr. Gorel, had been
laboring for 10 years, and we had not got
to first base. We had not, as the Senator
from Florida [Mr. SmaTHERS] said, come
to the point where Congress had serious-
ly considered how to remedy one of the
great failures in our democracy.
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So I felt, under the circumstances—
and I honor the Senator from Tennessee
for his differing view—that it was better
to vote for this measure and get some-
thing started than not to vote for it at
all.

I apologize to the Senator from Ten-
nessee for this interjection, but I wanted
the Recorp to show the current status of
the problem. It is a problem we must
deal with, and I hope we shall deal with
it at the next session of Congress. We
must seek a method of comprehensive
election reform and a revision of the
Corrupt Practices Act, through some
sensible approach provided by the legis-
lature, with the aid of the executive, to
deal with a vexing problem which is one
of the great failures in our American
democracy.

Mr. GORE. Mr. President, the distin-
guished senior Senator from Pennsylva.-
nia need not apologize for his interjec-
tion. I appreciate it. It is an able ob-
servation. The Senator has devoted
much time and study to the subject. He
has confessed that he considered this a
half-baked measure when he voted for it
on the floor of the Senate.

I wish to make a confession. When the
proposal came to a vote in committee,
out of love and respect for the chairman,
against whose amendment we naturally
did not like to vote, I did not vote on the
first rollcall; but then when I discovered
that all Democrats except me had voted
for it and that all Republicans had voted
against it, I suppose that a little partisan
spirit of the occasion arose and I made
a statement. I said, “Mr. Chairman, I
wish now to be recorded, but before do-
ing so I wish to state my reasons.” I
expressed the view then that this was not
a measure of which I could fully approve
but that it had the merit, I thought, of
provoking discussion upon a very vital
problem of our Republic. On that basis
I voted to bring it to the floor of the
Senate with no thought whatsoever that
the Senate would seriously consider its
adoption without other provisions being
added. But here we are. I was perfectly
astounded by the vote in the Senate. I
was more astounded when the conference
committee accepted it. Now, we are
asked to take the last act before this
really revolutionary political concept in
our body politic becomes law.

Mr. President, I say that the measure
needs reconsideration. “Half-baked” is
not a sufficient adjective to describe the
measure. Before I go into the measure
in detail, which I shall now do, I wish
to say, while the distinguished majority
leader is on the floor, that I am grateful
that several Senators have been listen-
ing to the debate and within a reason-
able, but fairly brief period of time, after
he is able to assure me of a yea-and-nay
vote, I shall ask for a vote on a motion
which I shall then present. )

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. GORE. I yield.

Mr. MANSFIELD. I cannot begin to
express my deep appreciation to the Sen-
ator for what he has just said, because
I had no idea what the situation would
be. Therefore, I am all the more grate-
ful, especially for notifying the Senate
in advance.

Mr. GORE. Throughout our years of
service, I have kept the Senator advised
of my attitudes and moves. Although
he has not always found himself in agree~
ment, he has always been advised of
them.

I want to be explicit. This may not
be the last vote we will have, but I shall
be prepared to ask for a vote.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Would the Senator
from Tennessee want the Senator from
Montana to state a specific time?

Mr. GORE. I would prefer to proceed.
Is the Senator prepared to do so?

Mr. MANSFIELD. Yes.

Mr. MONRONEY. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. GORE. 1Iyield.

Mr. MONRONEY. Before the Senator
leaves the matter of financial presiden-
tial campaigns——

Mr. GORE. I am only now coming
to it.

Mr. MONRONEY. In the Senator’s
discussion thus far, no mention has been
made of the inadequacy of the bill with
respect to preconvention activities of
presidential candidates.

Is this not one of the wide open areas:
influence of large sums of money unac-
counted for, unreported, not required to
be reported for participation in captur-
ing delegates of various States, or even
in the act of campaigning in presiden-
tial primaries which are conducted in
many States?

It seems to me that had hearings been
held there would have been a greater
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focus on the full aspects of the financing
of presidential campaigns instead of only
November elections and the general elec-
tions.

Mr. GORE. I was going to point that
out. I appreciate the suggestion of the
able Senator from Oklahoma [Mr.
MONRONEY].

Not only does the measure omit any
reference to conventions, party caucuses,
or primaries for presidential campaigns,
it also omits any reference to senatorial
or congressional campaigns. Yet most of
us are members of one of the two major
political parties.

That brings up a point I had not in-
tended to mention at this time, but let us
consider the question of parties.

.Suppose Senator STROM THURMOND
wants to run for President again. After
all, he ran at one time on the Dixicrat
ticket and I believe he won a majority
in seven States. Now, should Senator
THURMOND, or Governor Wallace, or some
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other public figure wish to run for Presi-
dent again in 1968 on the Dixiecrat ticket,
or some other ticket, there would be this
situation: Whoever is the nominee of
the Republican Party, and President
Johnson, if he be the nominee of the
Democratic Party, I assume would be the
beneficiaries of this vast amount of
money. But the other candidate or can-

didates would be penniless except for de- .

pendence upon private sources.

I do not wish to be sectional in this
presentation. |

Suppose there is a Bull Moose move- '
ment in the Republican Party. I think
it would be a good thing for the Republi-
can Party. They need a little new life.
At least, they had such a movement at
one time, and a candidate for President
on that ticket. Suppose there is another
Burton K. Wheeler from the Senate, from
the Rocky Mountain region, who wants
to run for President. But he will find
we have passed a bill to finance the cam-
paigns of President Johnson and Mr.
Romney or Mr. Nixon, but which would
render penniless and place at great dis-
advantage any other man who might
aspire to the Presidency of our country.
Is this the kind of immobility that we
wish to freeze into our political system?

What do we think the Supreme Court
would hold in this regard? Is this fair
protection of the laws, or is this dis-
crimination? I say to the Senate that
we are dealing with something funda-
mental to the Republic, something basic
to the conduct of our system of govern-
ment.

We are asked to pass this bill on a
Saturday afternoon just before adjourn-
ment. I have not suggested the absence
of a quorum, and under the arrange-
ments I have worked out with the ma-
jority leader, it is going to be unneces-
sary for me to do that, I think. At least,
this subject deserves careful and serious
consideration because once the step is
taken, it may be irreversible except by
the Supreme Court.

That brings up several questions, to
one of which I have already referred,
the equal protection of the laws.
would protect two candidates for Presi-
dent, with all the millions of dollars of
a political slush fund out of the public
Treasury, but we would deny any sup-
port at all to the candidate of a new
party or of an independent group. How
can a liberal support that political phi-
losophy? How can a conservative?:
How can a Republican who believes in
the republican form of government?
How can a Democrat, dedicated to the
tenets of our society?

Equal opportunity for political ad-
vancement is as fundamental to our po-
litical system as is equality of oppor-
tunity for employment, education, or
other rights and privileges which we seek
to promote.

We .

I started to refer to one other of the
several questions of legality and consti-
tutionality that come to mind with re-
spect to this unusual proposal. This
amendment proposes to permit a private
citizen to appropriate public funds for a
purpose of his own choosing.

I hold in my hand a tax form. For
years we have sought to simplify the in-
come tax return. Now we propose to
start on a course which would surely
complicate it further.

To get to the question of appropriation,
here is a tax return, and let us make it
simple—suppose that John Doe owes $1
of income tax to the U.S. Government.
That is his total tax liability, but it is his
liability and he owes it. He attaches $1
in currency to his tax form and posts it
to the Internal Revenue Service.

Is that his dollar, or is that the prop-
erty of the U.S. Government?

That is a dollar owed the U.S. Treas-
ury, and constitutes public funds. Yet
by this amendment he would have the
privilege of appropriating that dollar for
a political purpose.

Under the Constitution, the appropri-
ation of funds is the responsibility of
Congress.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Mr. President, will the
Senator from Tennessee yield?

Mr. GORE. I am happy to yield to the
Senator from Ohio.

Mr. LAUSCHE. If a taxpayer is given
the right by statute to designate how his
dollars shall be spent, and has the right
to direct that it shall be spent in political
operations, would it not follow that at
some subsequent time Congress would
enact a law giving the taxpayer the right
to designate how his money shall be spent
for other purposes? Therefore, if we em-
bark upon that kind of program, where
are we likely to end?

Assume someone comes into the Senate
next year and proposes a similar pro-
cedure to designate how his tax money
shall be spent, not related to elections but
related to some other operation of the
Government. The Senator from Okla-
homa [Mr. MONRONEY] mentions desig-
nating that the money should be applied
to retirement on the national debt.

I ask, what is the danger of establish-~
ing this kind of precedent?

Mr. GORE. If the precedent should
be held constitutional, which I doubt,
then it would be a dangerous one and,
ere long, this tax form which we have
sought to simplify would have a number
of boxes on it. Suppose we had a box
giving a taxpayer the election of
whether any part of his funds could be
used in the Vietnham war? There are
a number of pacifists in this country
who stoutly contend that it is immoral’
and illegal to require them to pay taxes
to support a war which is contrary to
their religious or their moral concepts.

The Senator from Vermont [Mr.

1956



AIkKEN] made, I thought, a novel sugges-
tion, that the way to end the Vietnam
war was for the Senate to pass a resolu-
tion declaring that the United States
had won the war. This may not be
-without merit but, at least, I found it
amusing, as I am sure the author did,
with his fine sense of humor; but I do
not think it would be humorous at all
to have ‘a referendum of American tax-
payers declaring whether their funds
should be used in support of the Viet-
nam war. But my point is, which the
Senator from Ohio has brought up—
and his point, too—that if we can give
the taxpayer an election in one respect,
then we can give him an’ election in
many other respects.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Yes. That is, if it
is constitutional to allow him to specify
that one dollar of his tax money shall
be used to promote political campaigns,
then it would follow that it is constitu-
tional, too, to declare that he may
designate what part, if any, of his
money shall be used for the payment
of the national debt, participation in
the Vietnam war, earmarking money
for the help of the aged, earmarking
money for education, and every other
aspect of governmental operations. I
do not believe that can be done.

Mr. GORE. Well, if it can, then this
is a very dangerous precedent.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Yes, that is, even if
it can.

Mr. GORE. If it can, then the pre-
cedent is all the more dangerous.

Mr. SMATHERS. Mr. President, will
the Senator from Tennessee yield?

Mr. GORE. I yield.

Mr. SMATHERS. I congratulate the
Senator on the comprehensive and light
manner in which he is discussing this
proposal. Is it not a fact, however, that
the proposal which was made by the
President to permit a $100 tax incentive
for the purposes of financing the po-
litical campaigns of both parties, and
others—the one I had was for $50—was
calculated to encourage the taxpayer
to give money so that the financing
of political campaigns could be re-
moved from the charge that too many
wealthy people and too many wealthy
organizations were putting up all the
money?

We are trying to make it possible to
distribute the costs of campaigns over
as wide a group as is possible, so that,
in truth and fact, nobody, or no one
group, or no one segment of our econ-
omy, can say, “We are the ones who fi-
nanced the campaign,” thereby having a
hold on the one who got elected.

Is it not a fact that these proposals
start out with the idea that there is
going to be a benefit to the taxpayer if
he makes the deduction? He gets a cer-
tain amount of reduction in hxs taxes.
Is that not a fact?
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* Mr. GORE. Mr. President, there is a
vital and a legal difference between funds
remaining in the hands of the taxpayer
as a result of a legal deduction against
his taxable income or against his tax
liability, which Congress could by law
provide and, on the other hand, money
which legally belongs to and becomes a
part of the U.S. Treasury. The sums
from which the taxpayer is allowed a
deduction or a credit against his tax
liability are still his. They never be-
come public funds. The reverse is true
in the instance provided here. These
are public funds over which the tax-
payer is given an election to appropri-
ate for a specific purpose, or to deny the
appropriation for a specific purpose—a
very vital and legal distinction.

It has been suggested that this provi-
sion is copied after the procedure involv-
ing funds earmarked for the highway
trust fund. I want to draw a clear line
of differentiation there. When I drive
up to a filling station and buy gasoline, I
pay taxes on that gasoline. I have no
choice. There is an excise tax upon my
purchase. The Congress has passed a
law which earmarks the receipts from
those taxes into a highway trust fund.

Here, however, the taxpayer does the
earmarking, not the Government. There
is a delegation of appropriating responsi-
bility which I do not think can meet the
test of legality and constitutionality. But
even if it does meet it, as I said earlier,
then the precedent is the more danger-
ous.

If this amendment is enacted into law,
it will add an estimated $60 million to
the sums available to the major political
parties for use in presidential campaigns
without any provision whatsoever to safe-
guard funds from corrupt practices.

‘While a clean elections bill dies on
the calendar, we have this measure, as
I said, to pour many millions of public
funds into the political pot. The bill pro-
vides no protection against fraud or mis-
appropriation of these public funds, to
say nothing of inadequate safeguards
surrounding the use of additional funds
which the parties would continue to be
free to raise and spend.

A great deal has been said on the floor
of the Senate about how this is a clean
elections bill. By what right is this called
a clean elections bill? How does it clean
the elections? Is there any provision
here to safeguard the use of the money?
Is there any inhibition therein as to the
receipt and expenditure of other money
from questionable sources? Not on your
life, Mr. President. Indeed, the situa-
tion is made worse and the identity of
the money is made more difficult because
there is provided the commingling of
public money with private money, good
money with bad money. I think it makes
more difficult the accomplishment of
election reform, and yet this is called a
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step in the right direction. I say it would
be a dangerous step “to our elective
process.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

Mr. GORE. Iyield.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Does this bill guar-

- antee at all that there will be less money
spent privately to win an election?

Mr. GORE. Not atall.

Mr. LAUSCHE. All that it does is
state that the Federal Government shall
provide about $70 million a year, $35 mil-
lion for each of the parties, to conduct a
presidential election after the parties
have nominated their candidates in June
or July of the election year. Isthat cor-
rect? ’

Mr. GORE. That iscorrect.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Does it in any man-
ner prohibit the parties that have re-
ceived the $35 million each in the elec-
tion year from continuing the solicita-
tion of contributions from private
sources?

Mr. GORE. That subject has not
even been touched. I believe it will re-
sult in pouring many millions of dollars
into the major political parties’ pots.

Mr. LAUSCHE. And if money im-
pliedly wins elections, all this bill will do
is give to the parties $35 million in an
election year and allow them to go out
.and solicit, with all their ardor and
efforts, additional private contributions.
Is that correct?

Mr. GORE. That is true, and there
.are no safeguards as to its use.

Suppose we were in a presidential year

- now and these funds were available and
the Democratic Party felt very strongly
that a candidate for Governor on the Re~
publican ticket, in a pivotal State, must
be defeated, or that the Republican Par-
ty felt that a Democratic candidate for
Governor, who had great prospect for
being President in the future, or that a
particular Senator, must be defeated.
They could spend the entire amount of
the slush fund in one State.

Mr. LAUSCHE. I concur in what the
Senator has stated. His description of
what might be done is an illustration of
the lack of consideration and study
which has been given to the broad rami-
fications involved in such a program.

Mr. GORE. It illustrates the need for
careful consideration of the enactment
of a measure so new and revolutionary
as this is and so big and important as
this is.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Is it not a fact that
the proponents of this measure state,
“Allow us to spend about $70 million of
the taxypayers’ money in an election
year, and take our word that we will sup-
port needed reforms at a later time”?

Is it the thought of the Senator that
the reforms ought to be adopted con-
currently with the proposal that we spend
$70 million of the taxpayers’ money be-
fore we go forward? .

- ing me to vote the other way.

Mr. GORE. If we do not achieve re-
forms and protection concurrently with
the extension of the use of public funds
for our elections, then the difficulty of
achieving reforms is increased, if not
made almost impossible. ’

I am one who believes in the principle
of one man, one vote. I have resisted
amendments here to overturn the re-
apportionment decision, even though my
State legislature passed resolutions ask-
I believe
in the dignity of man and in the equality
of man, the equality of opportunity,
rights, and privileges. One of the rights
which I believe should be equal is the
right to aspire to political preferment, to
which I have already referred. Another
is the right to have an equal influence on
the selection of public officials. .

We know, of course, that a man with
vast financial means, under our present
system, can exercise far more influence
upon the outcome of an election by the
use of his pocketbook than can the lowly
citizen by the use of his one ballot. I
think that argues well for the use of pub-
lic funds. But; ah, Mr. President, when
we but add public funds to and com-
mingle them with the campaign money
now obtained from special interest
sources, we make the situation worse in-
stead of better, and we will lose, perhaps,
the opportunity of making necessary cor-
rections.

In my view, this Congress has not
dealt with a subject more fundamental
to our society and to our system of gov-
ernment than that which is under con-
sideration now. I trust that this ex-
pression on my part will indicate to my
fellow Senators why I have insisted upon
the right to debate this subject, and the
right to have the Senate—well, it is not
my right to have the Senate reconsider,
I suppose, but it is my right to seek re-
consideration, on the part of the Sen-
ate, of a measure on which I think it
acted too hastily, and a measure which
received no public hearings in the House
of Representatives, but was carried there
in a conference report to be voted up or
down.

If this provision is enacted, I do not
know just how one conflict is to be re-
solved. We have an existing law which
limits the Republican National Commit-
tee or the Democratic National Commit-
tee to an expenditure of $3 million. Yet
we are asked here to write into law a
provision that will give each of them an
estimated $30 million to $35 million in a
presidential year.

How can the Senate do that? How
can we do so without amending the Cor-
rupt Practices Act, unless by so.doing we
condone illegal practices, and encourage
and entice our two major political parties
to violate the Corrupt Practices Act?

Of course, $3 million is inadequate; we
recognize that. I have said it many
times. But it is the law. We condemn
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violations of law and order. But now
we would provide $35 million to the Dem-
ocratic National Committee, and leave
untouched a law which limits its ex-
penditures to $3 million.

Mr. President, I am advised by the
majority leader that in his opinion, a
quorum of the Senate is available for a
yea and nay vote. Therefore, I shall con-
clude with a few summary paragraphs,
and then present to the Senate a motion.

Mr. MANSFIELD. I thank the Sen-
ator very much.

Mr. GORE. Money is a threat to clean
elections, a threat to our entire elective
process. Money is used to manipulate
elections, to thwart public will, and to
defeat worthy purposes, as well as to
elect good candidates and to promote
worthy causes. The lack of proper con-
trols over the raising.and spending of
money in political campaigns poses the
greatest danger to the democratic elec-
tive process. This danger arises from the
sources from which such money is ob-
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tained and the uses for which it is ob-
tained, and also from the amount of
money spent in an election.

It is said that this measure would
provide a clean source of campaign
funds, free from the taint of special in-
terest. Perhaps that is so. But the
availability of large sums of Federal tax
money for political campaigns would do
nothing at all to restrict parties and can-
didates from raising additional sums, in
whatever amounts and from whatever

sources they see fit, however question-

able. Indeed, as I have said, good money
would be commingled with bad money.
Federal tax money would merely be
added to what is otherwise available.
Thus, the bill would increase rather than
decrease the influence of money in Fed-
eral elections, multiply its abuses, and
make more difficult the enactment of a
clean elections bill.

Mr. President, the Foreign Investors
Tax Act, as proposed by the administra-
tion and as passed by the House of Rep-
resentatives, was a good bill, designed to
improve the U.S. balance-of-payments
situation by attracting more foreign cap-
ital to this country.

Unfortunately and unwisely, as I have
said at some length, the Senate Finance
Committee and the Senate itself added
numerous nongermane amendments,
which converted a good bill into a grab
bag special interest tax measure, which
in my opinion was unworthy of the Sen-
ate. The bill as approved by the con-
ference committee, I wish in fairness to
say, represents some improvement over
the bill as passed by the Senate, but it is
still a bad bill, and should not be enacted
into law. The bill still contains a large
number of provisions which grant tax
favoritism to certain types of income and
to certain special-interest groups.

As I said in the beginning, this has
been ably discussed in part already. Un-
less the motion I shall soon make is car-
ried, I shall wish to discuss other points
in the bill.

I note, in passing, that the part of the
bill which had wide appeal to Senators,
which would provide aid to many needy
old people, was dropped from the bill.
Their voices, the voices of the needy,
went unheeded. In this respect, the bill
is a less meritorious measure.

I plead with the Senate to take a
course of action which would bring to
enactment the one feature of the bill
that is in the public interest, in my view,
that part oi the bill which deals with
foreign investors, contained in title I of
the bill. How can that be done? That
can be accomplished by tabling the con-
ference report and quickly calling up for
consideration a minor revenue measure
already passed by the House and on the
calendar of the Senate, and attaching
title I to that bill as an amendment and
dispatching it to the House.

No conference would be necessary. In
addition to the other strictures under
which we operate, we are advised by our
majority leader that the other body will
have no more conferences with the Sen-
ate. However, here is a bill that will not
require a conference. All that the House
must do is accept a noncontroversial
measure which has already passed the
House without objections, along with
title I of the bill, to which no objection
was raised during the consideration of
the bill by the other- body.

. Mr. President, the senior Senator from
Delaware and the senior Senator from
Tennessee, instead of being obstruction-
ists and trying to prevent public interest

- legislation, have offered to cooperate in

this respect and in many other respects.

Here is a method and procedure that
could bring the foreign investors portion
of the bill to enactment within an hour’s
time, and the Senate and the House
could adjourn and go to the people be-
fore sundown on this Saturday after-
noon.

I ask how the country would be ill
served by postponing until January for
further study this bizarre——

Mr. LAUSCHE. Monstrosity.

Mr. GORE. Amendment with re-
spect to campaign expenditures out of
the Public Treasury.

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. Mr. Presi-

”dent, will the Senator yield?

Mr. GORE. I yield.

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. Mr. Presi-
dent, not being on the committee, I am
not too familiar with the ramifications
of this legislation, but from the slight
exposure that I have had, I think it is the
most odoriferous bill I have seen in many
years. I think it is utterly indefensible.
I think it stinks to high heaven. The bill
contains various ramifications, and much
log rolling has gone into the legislation.
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I commend the Senator from Tennes-
see for his valiant fight. I do not know
that anything can be done now, but this
legislation is not good in the interest of
reliable or honest public legislation.

Mr. GORE. Mr. President, I thank the
Senator for his encouragement.

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. My encour-
agement will not do the Senator any
good. .

Mr. GORE. It may.

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. Imerely com-
mend him for his fight on this measure.
This bill has many facets. I do not see
how it could be consented to by any
stretch of legislative imagination.

Mr. GORE. Does the Senator concur
that the procedure I have suggested, and
which was previously suggested by the
senior Senator from Delaware, offers an
acceptable and a rapid way to achieve
the worthy purposes here sought?

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. I think so, in
the main. I think the facets of the bill
are worthy, but it is, like many other
bills, a pork barrel bill. Certain things
are worthy, but certain other things can-
not stand the light of analysis.

Mr. GORE. If we must take it all or
leave it all, I think we should leave it
all on the table of the Senate.

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. That is the
way I will vote, for the information of the
Senator, but I am not sure that we have
any leeway in the matter now. I think
we are handicapped. I thing we are cir-
cumscribed.

Mr. GORE. We are. It is a difficult
circumstance under which to wage a par-
liamentary fight or legislative battle.

Mr. HICKENLOOPER. I congratu-
late the Senator on his worthy fight.

Mr, GORE. I thank the Senator. I
hope that the motion which I shall soon
offer will receive a rollcall vote and be
approved. If not, I shall proceed to dis-
cuss some of the other features of the
bill to which I have not had time to make
reference. :

Mr. LAUSCHE. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield?

-Mr. GORE. 1yield.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Mr. President, when
the bill was originally before the Senate,
the Senator from Delaware [Mr. WiL-
riams] offered an amendment to strike
all but title I from the bill.

I remind the Senator from Tennessee
that he suggested to the Senator from
Delaware that the amendment be modi-
fied so as to permit the retention in the
bill of the aid contemplated for the old.

The Senator from Delaware responded
to the suggestion made by the Senator
from Tennessee. The Senator from
Tennessee is aware that that most vital
provision—the provision which would
help the old—which was argued vigor-
ously when the bill was before us a few
weeks ago, is no longer contained in the
bill.

Mr. GORE. The Senator is correct.
Iregret that it is not.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Mr. President, the
Senator stated a moment ago that cer-
tain provisions in the bill are good.
However, it seems to me that the pro-
ponents of this logrolling, pork-barrel
bill used the bait of aid to the old and
got the bill passed. They have since
stricken from the bill the provision for
aid to the old and have in the bill nothing
but unjustified tax grants to privileged
groups. .

Mr. GORE. Mr. President, I wish to
modify the observations of the senior
Senator from Ohio to this extent: I am
sure that members of the Senate confer-
ence committee were earnestly and sin-
cerely in favor of the provisions that
would have been so beneficial to many
needy, old people. It was the conferees
representing the other body who would
not accept it, and the Senate conferees
yielded.

Mr. LAUSCHE. Yes, they yielded; but
does not that mean that if we thought
aid to the old was the only amendment
that should be added to the objective of
imposing equitable taxes on foreign in-
vestors, the bill had better be defeated
in its whole, rather than to go along with
what it now contains?

Mr. GORE. I regret that that provi-
sion is out of the bill; and when measured
as a whole, if that must be the measure-
ment, then the bill is bad. It has good
features, but the bad features outweigh
the good, and the bill should be defeated.
But there is a way—and I have suggested
it—to accomplish the worthy purposes.

.Mr. LAUSCHE. And I agree with the
Senator. I have one further question.

Thus far we have established, I think,
about six instances in which special-
privilege tax relief is given to special
groups. No extended discussion has
been had about H.R. 10, which contem-
plates giving to lawyers, doctors, and
other self-employed individuals certain
tax privileges. My question is: If HR. 10
is contained in the final version of the
bill, will it give to the self-employed—

[P. 27603}

that is, lawyers, dentists, doctors, and
others—greater tax privileges than are
accorded to the members of the social
security system? . ]

Mr. GORE. Oh, yes; vastly greater.
They are given the unusual privilege—
and it is a privilege which only the well-
to-to, people having substantial income, -
will find attractive—of deducting from
their otherwise taxable income $2,500 a
year to be invested in a pension plan for
their own personal benefit. In other
words, the Treasury of the United States
will be paying part of their insurance
premiums. I shall not discuss this point
at length now.

Mr. LAUSCHE. But the fact is that
members of the social security system
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will have to pay a greater tax percent-
age than will members of the HRR. 10 .
program, !

Mr. GORE. The most eloquent speech
made in opposition to this proposal was
made by the distinguished majority lead-
er [Mr. MansrFIELD] on October 12. I |
shall not take the time of the Senate,
since I am advised that a quorum is in
town, to read it. However, I ask unani-
mous consent that the speech against
H.R. 10, delivered by the distinguished
Senator from Montana [Mr. MANSFIELD]
be printed at this point in the RECORD.

There being no objection, the speech
was ordered to be printed in the REcorbp,
as follows: .

Mr. MansrFIErp. This amendment would
double the tax benefits now available for the
retirement savings of doctors, lawyers, and
other self-employed individuals. Under pres-
ent law, a self-employed individual may con-
tribute 10 percent of his earnings—up - to
$2,500—to his pension plan and take a tax
deduction for one-half of this contribution.
The proposal—which was the main purpose
of H.R. 10 passed by the House in June—
would make the full contribution tax de-
ductible.

‘This amendment would result in an esti-
mated revenue loss for the first year it is
effective of up to $30 million. For the sec-
ond year, the estimated revenue loss would
be increased to about $50 million.

This amendment would divert substantial
Federal tax revenue to provide tax reductions
for a very narrow group of highly paid pro-
fessional people, at a time when the possi-
bilities of a general tax increase are very
much in the public mind. Revenue-losing
measures such as this could well push the
President and Congress closer ‘to such a gen-
eral tax increase.

In more detail—

The experience to date clearly indicates
that self-employed pension plans represent a
tax reduction arrangement for the better-off
professional man, with doctors heading the
list. Over 75 percent of the revenue loss in-
volved in the amendment would go to doc-
tors, lawyers, and dentists. Indeed, one-half
of the total revenue loss would go to indi-
viduals in these professions with incomes
over $25,000.

The amendment would represent an auto-
matic tax reduction for those self employed
already making pension contributions since,
without any change in their contributions,
their tax deductions will double. Two-thirds
of the revenue loss—about $20 million—for
the first year would be directed to this auto-
matic tax reduction—of which $15 million
would go to better-off professional people.

For the future, it is likely that the in-
creased tax benefits will only serve to attract
more of the same class of high income self-
employed into pension plans. These plans
by their very nature can have only limited
value to the plumber, the small shopkeeper,
or the farmer—the savings of these peofle
are needed for their businesses, to meet the
social security tax on their self-employment
income, and for their family obligations—
and therefore are not generally available to
be set aside in private retirement plans, and
none at all for the ordinary laborer, the
fellow we used to call the “working stiff.”
It is apparent that self-employed pension '
plans are attractive only to a class with liquid ;

assets and already possessing sufficient se-
curity so that some assets can be set aside
permanently until. retirement. The only
class meeting these conditions is the beiter-
off professional group. This has been borne
out by the Canadian experience over more
than 6 years under a similar pension ar-
rangement for the self-employed. The bene-
fits of this arrangement have been highly
concentrated in the upper income groups.

I would suggest, with no disrespect to the
distinguished Senator from Indiana, that if
he wishes to pursue H.R. 10 as such, it ought
to be considered separately, and not as a
part of the measure pending before us.

Mr. LAUSCEE. AsI understand, HR.
10 now is fully in the bill.

Mr. GORE. H.R. 10 now is fully in
the bill. I might say, in conclusion, that
as this bill worked its tortuous way
through the Senate, it became increas-
ingly bad, and finally became so bad
that both the majority leader and the
minority leader voted against it.

Mr. President, I am advised by the

_distinguished and able majority leader,

whom I have found most cooperative in
this battle, that he is now prepared to
ask for yeas and nays on a motion which
I send to the desk and ask to be stated.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
clerk will state the motion.

The LEGISLATIVE CLERK. The Senator
from Tennessee [Mr. Gorel moves that
the conference report on H.R. 13103 be
laid on the table.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, I
ask for the yeas and nays. .

The yeas and nays were ordered.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
clerk will call the roll.

The legislative clerk called the roll.

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. I announce
that the Senator from Nevada [Mr.
BisLEl, the Senator from Idaho [Mr.
CHURCH]I, the Senator from Alaska [Mr.
GRUENING], the Senator from Washing-
ton [Mr. Jackson], the Senator from New

York [Mr. KENNEDY], the Senator from

Missouri [Mr. Lonel, and the Senator
from Washington [Mr. MAGNUSON] are
absent on official business.

I also announce that the Senator from
Virginia [Mr. Byrp] is absent because of
the death of his father.

I further announce that the Senator
from Alaska [Mr. BARTLETT], the Senator
from Tennessee [Mr. Bass], the Senator
from Nevada [Mr. Cannon], the Senator
from Illinois [Mr. Doucras], the Senator
from Mississippi [Mr. EasTtrLanpl, the
Senator from North Carolina [Mr.
Ervinl, the Senator from North Caro-
lina [Mr. Jorpan], the Senator from
South Dakota [Mr. McGOVERN], the Sen-
ator from>New Hampshire [Mr. McIN-
TYRE], the Senator from Minnesota [Mr.
MonbpaLE]l, the Senator from Utah [Mr.
Moss], the Senator from Oregon [Mrs.
NEUBERGER], the Senator from West Vir-
ginia [Mr. RanpoLPH], the Senator from
Connecticut (Mr. RiBIcOFF], the Senator
from Georgia [Mr. RusseLL], the Sena-
tor from Alabama [Mr. SpaRKMAN], the
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- Senator from Missouri [Mr. SYMINGTON];
and the Senator from Georgia [Mr.
TaLMADGE] are necessarily absent.

On this vote, the Senator from Idaho
[Mr. CuurcH] is paired with the Senator
from Mississippi [Mr. Easrranpl. If
present and voting, the Senator from
Idaho would vote “nay” and the Senator
from Mississippi would vote “yea.”

On this vote, the Senator from New
York [Mr. KeEnnNepy] is paired with the
Senator from West Virginia [Mr.
Ranporru]. If present and voting, the
Senator from New York would vote “yea”
and the Senator from West Virginia
would vote “nay.” -

Mr. KUCHEL. I announce that the
Senator from Vermont [Mr. AIKEN], the
Senators from Colorado [Mr. ALLOTT and
Mr. Dominick], the Senator from Dela-
ware [Mr. Bocesl, the Senators from
Kansas [Mr. CArRLSON and Mr. PEARSON],
the Senator from New Jersey [Mr. Caskel,
the Senator from Kentucky [Mr.
CooprEr], the Senator from New Hamp-
shire [Mr. Corron], the Senators from
Nebraska [Mr. Curtis and Mr. HRUSKA]L,
the Senator from Hawaii [Mr. Foncl,
‘the Senator from Michigan [Mr. GRIF-
Fin1, the Senator from New York [Mr.
Javirsl, the Senator from Idaho [Mr.
JorpaNn], the Senator from Iowa [Mr.
MmLEr], the Senator from South Da-
kota [Mr. Munprl, the Senator from
Massachusetts [Mr. SALTONsTALL], the
Senator from Pennsylvania [Mr. Scorrl,
and the Senator from Texas [Mr.
ToweRr] are necessarily absent.

The Senator from Illinois [Mr. DIRK-
seN] and the Senator from Vermont [Mr.

-ProUTY] are absent because of illness.

If present and voting, the Senator from
New York [Mr. Javits] and the Senator
from Hawaii [Mr. Foncl would each
vote “nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from Ne-
braska [Mr. CurTis] is paired with the
Senator from Idaho [Mr. Jorpanl., If
present and voting, the Senator from
Nebraska would vote “nay” and the Sen-
ator from Idaho would vote “yea.”

On this vote, the Senator from Iowa
[Mr. MiLLER] is paired with the Senator
from Nebraska [Mr. Hruskal. If pres-
ent and voting, the Senator from Iowa
would vote “nay” and the Senator from
Nebraska would vote “yea.”

On this vote, the Senator from Ver-
mont [Mr. Amken] is paired with the
Senator from Kentucky [Mr. CooPER]:
If present and voting, the Senator from
Vermont would vote “yea” and the Sena-
tor from Kentucky would vote ‘“nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from Penn-
sylvania [Mr. Scorr] is paired with the
Senator from Texas [Mr. Towerl. If
present and voting, the Senator from
Pennsylvania would vote “yea” and the
Senator from Texas would vote “nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from Colo-
rado [Mr. DominicK] is paired with the
Senator from New Jersey [Mr. Caskl.

If present and voting, the Senator from
Colorado would vote “yea” and the Sen-
ator from New Jersey would vote “nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from Mas-’
sacuhsetts [Mr. SaLronsTALL] is paired

-with the Senator from Michigan [Mr.
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GrrrFINl. If present and voting, the
Senator from Massachusetts would vote
“yea” and the Senator from Michigan
would vote “nay.”

The result was announced—yeas 15,
nays 37, as follows:

[No. 309 Leg.]
YEAS—15
Fanmin Lausche Simpson
Gore McClellan Stennis
Harris Monroney Thurmond
Hickenlooper Morse Williams, Del.
Kennedy, Mass. Murphy Young, Ohio
NAYS—37
Anderson Hill Pastore
Bayh Holland Pell
Bennett Inouye Proxmire
Brewster Kuchel Robertson
Burdick Long, La Russell, S.C.
Byrd, W. Va. Mansfield Smathers
Clark .McCarthy Smith
Dodd McGee Tydings
Eltender Metcalf Williams, N.J.
Fulbright Montoya Yarborough
Hart Morton Young, N. Dak.
Hartke Muskie
Hayden Nelson
NOT VOTING—48

Aiken Douglas Miller
Allott Eastland Mondale
Bartlett Ervin Moss
Bass Fong Mundt
Bible Griffin Neuberger
Boggs Gruening Pearson
Byrd, Va. Hruska Prouty
Cannon Jackson Randolph
Carlson Javits Ribicoff
Case - Jordan, N.C.  Russell,
Church Jordan, Idaho Saltonstall
Cooper Kennedy, N.Y. Scott
Cotton Long, Mo. Sparkman
Curtis Magnuson Symington
Dirksen McGovern Talmadge
Dominick McIntyre ‘Tower

So the motion to lay on the table was
rejected. :

Mr. LONG of Louisiana obtained the
foor.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield? '

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. I yield.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President,

may we have order? And, most impor-
tant, will Senators please remain within
shouting distance?

The PRESIDING OFFICER (Mr.
TypIiNGs in the chair.) The Senate will
be in order.

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. Mr. Presi-
dent, I should like to explain what the
conference report contains. The Sen-
ate voted to adopt 49 amendments, when
the floor amendments accepted by this
body are included. Of the 49, the
Treasury felt that only 5 were not
good amendments. The rest of the
amendments were recommended by or
subscribed to by the Treasury.

The bill passed the Senate by a vote
of 58 to 18. Every agreement between
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Senate and House in the conference
moved the bill more toward the position
favored by the Treasury and the posi-
tion of those who had at first objected
to the bill. So from the point of view
of those who objected at first, the bill
is a much better bill.

The revenue loss is reduced by 85
percent.

Of the amendments that the Treasury
objected to, four were drastically modi-
fied or dropped completely, and the only
one we could not modify drastically was
HR. 10, which happened to be an
amendment adopted unanimously by
the House. It was a Senate amend-
ment; therefore, we had no power
to reverse the judgment of the House on
that matter.

Mr. President, this is a good bill. The
President thinks it is a good bill. The
House by its vote thinks it is a good bill.
‘When the House voted to take 49 Senate
amendments and agree to the confer-
ence report, it seems to me that it is a
report that can be agreed to.

Mr. GORE. Mr. President, I wish to
express appreciation to the leadership
and the membership of the Senate for
the consideration which this issue has
been given. I do not aspire to be the
conscience of the Senate nor thus to
hold myself out.

I, and other Members of this body,
felt very deeply about this issue—so deep-
ly that we felt in duty conscience bound
to make a fight against the final con-
gressional step in passage of a bill
which, ‘n one instance, provides numer-
ous examples of stark tax favoritism, and
in the other, a bizarre, unwise, and, I
think, dangerous innovation of the use
of public money for political campaigns
and the commingling of public money
with private money, at the election of
private citizens, in the appropriation of
public funds.

But I feel that with this brief state-
ment I have performed my duty. I am
still convinced that had the senior Sen-
a2tor from Delaware [Mr. WirrLiams] and
I had the audience of the Senate, which
now seems impossible, this measure
would be defeated. But this is not the
last day in the history of our Republic.
Congress will be back soon to correct
mistakes that may have been made, or
perhaps make others, as well as to ac-
complish good.

I know that there are present, in or-
order to achieve a quorum, Senators
whose health is not well served by this
exercise.

I am advised that other Members of
the Senate have deaths in their families,
that loved ones are in critical condition.
I shall not personalize, but I feel for
those friends. )

So, with appreciation, I wish to make
a brief statement and then ask for the
yea and nays on adoption or rejection
of the conference report. It shall be

"divided into two parts, but I assure Sen-

ators again it will be brief.

The -distinguished junior Senator
from Louisiana [Mr. LonG] spoke of
certain provisions which the Treasury
favors. I wish to suggest to Senators,
not all of the instances of rank, stark
favoritism, but just two or three to il-
lustrate the point.

The senior Senator from Delaware
[Mr. WiLrLiams] referred to one at some
length earlier. Let me just read from
page 7 of the conference report:

The Senate amendment (in proposed sec-
tion 201) amends section 48(a) (2) (B) to in-
clude among the exceptions from the general
rule- with respect to property used pre-
dominantly outside the U.S. property which
is owned by a domestic corporation (other
than a corporation entitled to the benefits of
section 931 or 934(b)) or by a U.S. citizen
{other than a citizen entitled to the benefits
of sec. 931, 932, 933, or 934(c)) and which is
used predominantly in a possession of the
United States by such a corporation or such a
citizen, or by a corporation created or or-
ganized in, or under the law of, a possession
of the United States. Under the Senate
amendment, this provision was effective
with respect to property placed in service on
or after January 1, 1966 (but no carryback
of an investment credit attributable-to this
provision was permitted).

I read this language to illustrate how
difficult it is for Senators, and more par-
ticularly citizens unlearned in tax law,
to read the technical terms of conditions
set forth in a committee report or con-
ference report and detect what has been
done.

Now, what, in laymen’s language, does
this provide? It provides a tax benefit
retroactively to one large United States
corporation, in excess of $2 million.

What is its justification? There is
none, in my view, it extends the invest-
ment credit retroactively for a large
aluminum plant, already constructed
and already under operation, in the
Virgin Islands.

‘When we passed the Investment Credit
Act, it was for the stated purpose of en-
couraging development in the United
States—modernization of our plants,
Senators will remember—in order to
meet competition from overseas. We did
not extend it beyond the limits of the
United States proper. So this company
built its plant there, in the full aware-
ness that it was to be built with no ex-
pectation of receiving the benefit of the
investment credit.

As I said, the investment is already
made, and the plant is already operating.

This amendment which has been at-
tached to the bill is, as has been stated,
one of the Christmas packages, because
it gives inore than $2 million for no pur-
pose in which there is a public interest.

That is the first point. I could discuss
it more fully, but let me go to another.

I refer now to another amendment. I
shall not undertake to read the tech-
nicalities of it. It is even more technical
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than the one I have just referred to, but
what does it do? It provides for a swap,
a merging of a diversity of assets, with-
out the payment of the capital gains tax.
Several organizations are already under-
way. They have made their applica-
tions. They have filed their plans with
the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion.

The Treasury Department issued a reg-
ulation which would have outlawed—
maybe that is the wrong term; would
have closed a glaring loophole, from
which concerns sought to obtain benefit.
And what did the Senate committee do?
It put in an amendment outlawing the
Treasury regulation. Why? I do not
know why. The Treasury was opposed
to it. The Under Secretary of the
Treasury was there. He referred to the
provision as one of the most glaring loop-
holes that he had ever seen.

The conference committee enlarged
the loophole, in a sense. It opened it
wide in the amendment now before the
Senate, in which the conference report
repeals the Secretary of the Treasury’s
regulation, thus taking the course of
those who sought to take advantage of
the loophole, which the Treasury sought
to close, giving them a free ticket and
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permitting them to say, “Let us move be-
fore it is too late.” Any company that
qualifies between now and January 1
can have free entry into the loophole.

What is the justification for that? I
do not think there is any, in good con-
science. -

I could detain the Senate from now
until midnight with a discussion of the
inequities and the unfairness of the tax
amendments that are tacked onto this
bill. I shall resist the temptation to do
s0.

I should like to refer to H.R. 10 just
briefly. For years the House of Repre-
sentatives has passed this bill. The Sen-
ate has resisted. But when this grab
bag comes along, providing a 150-percent
increase in the depletion for the proces-
sors of oyster shells and clam shells, pro-
viding all these unwarranted benefits,
the temptation is great for the Senate
to vote to extend benefits to the high-
income doctors, dentists, and lawyers,
who, as stated in the majority leader’s
speech, will receive 70 percent of the
benefits under the H.R. 10 amendment.

Mr. President, this is no bill for the
benefit of the average workingman.
This is a special interest bill insofar as
the taxpayers are concerned. Yet we are
one vote from sending it to the White
House. .

I would now like to make some brief
references to the provision with respect
to campaign financing. Unfortunately,
I was unable to talk to several Senators
who are now here. I wish to suggest to
those to whom I did not have the privi-

lege of speaking earlier that this is not
a clean elections bill. This makes the
situation worse. The danger to our
elective process is the use of money, the
volume of money, and the sources of the
money.

Granted this comes from a good source,
it is commingled with all the private
financing. How will you differentiate?
It permits private citizens to appropriate
public funds for purposes of their own
choosing. Is not that unusual?

I afi not sure that Congress can dele-
gate such a responsibility, under the Con-
stitution. If it can, the precedent is all
the more dangerous. Because if a citi-
zen can, by a checkmark on his tax re-
turn, appropriate money for political
campaigns or deny it to a political cam-
paign, he can deny it for the war in
Vietnam; he can deny it for the war on
poverty; or he can appropriate it for
another particular purpose.

So I say if this is constitutional—which
I challenge—then it is all the more dan-
gerous. Because once we are on this
road, the tax forms which we sought to
simplify will have one more option after
another. It may be that consumers will
want the right to deny the use of their
tax money for a farm programs; or that
farmers will want to deny the use of their
tax funds for urban renewal.

‘What are we doing at a quarter to 3 on
Saturday afternoon, October 22, when,
after Herculean efforts, we have man-
aged to obtain a quorum?

I plead with the leadership of the Sen-
ate, and more particularly with the lead-
ership of the Senate Finance Committee
and the House Ways and Means Commit-
tee, to stop this annual practice of bring- -
ing sugar bills and technical tax bills be-
fore Congress in the closing hours, when
there is no time for adequate considera-
tion. This is when unworthy purposes
can most easily be accomplished.

But we are not here to accomplish un-
worthy purposes, though admittedly
there are differences of opinion as to
what purposes are worthy or unworthy.

Mr. President, I am prepared to ask
for the yeas and nays.

The yeas and nays were ordered.

Mr. MANSFIELD. Mr. President, the
Senator has made a good argument about
the lateness of the hour on these bills
coming into the Senate, and I assure
him that I intend to do everything I can
from now on to insure that that practice
is discontinued.

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. Mr. Presi-
dent, I can respond in 1 minute to cer-
tain statements which have been made
which I think reflect on the honor of my
committee, and I believe that I should.

Reference has been made to the fact
that the amendment dealing with invest-
ment credit in U.S. possessions would be
retroactive to a January date. Mr. Pres-
ident, when we first put the investment
tax credit in the law, we had a January 1
date, though the investment tax -credit
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law went into effect about the following
August. As a practical matter, it was
retroactive, and it went into effect the
same day for every corporation in
America.

All the amendment says is that com-
panies doing business in American pos-
sessions such as the Virgin Islands,
Puerto Rico, Guam, and American Samoa
receive the same treatment as companies
doing business in the United States.
We have negotiated tax treaties with
first one underdeveloped nation and then
another, saying that American people
doing business there get the same tax
treatment which this amendment pro-
vides for our own island possessions. It
is customary, when you pass & tax bill, to
make its effective date either January 1
or the end of the fiscal year.

The PRESIDING OFFICER The Sen-

" ate will be in order.

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. Mr. Presi-
dent, I have explained these other items
in great detail, and I shall not go into
them now, because Senators wish to vote.
I am prepared to explain it in greater
detail after the vote is over.

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mr.
President, may I have 2 minutes?
The PRESIDING OFFICER. The

Senator from Delaware.

"Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. I do not
wish to leave the ReEcorp confused. The
effective date, as applied to the Virgin
Islands refers to buildings completed
after December 31, 1965, but the tax
credit is allowed on machinery which
went into the buildings in 1963 and
1964, or prior to that date. This bill
provides a retroactive $2 million tax re-
duction for one company only—Harvey
Aluminum Co. Why?

In that connection, I ask unanimous
consent to have printed in the Recorp at
this point a list of contributions officers
of this company made to the President’s
Club. In addition, the record shows that
Harvey Aluminum was the purchaser of
a $15,000 full-page ad in the 1965 Demo-
cratic ad book.

There being no objection, the list was
ordered to be printed in the REecorp, as
follows:

Sept. 1-Dec. 31, 1965:
H. Harvey, 19200 Southwest Ave, ’
Torrence, Calif_________________ $1, 000
L. M. Harvey, 19200 Southwest Ave.,
. Torrence, Calif_________________
L. A. Harvey, 19200 Southwest Ave.,
Torrence, Calif_________________ 1, 000

Mr. WILLIAMS of Delaware. Mr.
President, I wish to read into the REcorp
a short quotation which seems to be
particularly appropriate at this time
when Congress seems to be in such an
extravagant mood. This statement was
made 175 years ago by Dr. Alexander
Tytler, professor of general history, of
the University of Edinburgh. I think it
would be well for Senators to take heed
to these words. This statement was

made at the time when our Government
was first established, and was Dr. Tyt-
ler’s comment upon this new democracy:

A Democracy cannot exist as a permanent
form of government. It can only exist until
the voters discover that they can vote them-
selves largess out of the public treasury.
From that moment on the majority always
votes for the candidate promising the most
benefits from the public treasury, with the
result that a‘democracy will always collapse
from a loose fiscal policy (burden of large
public debt), always to be followed by a dic-
tatorship.

Mr. President, I hope Congress will
take heed to this statement before we
go too far down the road of taking care
of special interests in special interest
legislation on the eve of elections. It
would be well to remember that as Mem-
bers of the -Senate“we are supposed to
pass tax legislation which benefits the
American people as a whole and not just
thé few who happen to have a special
pipeline into the Treasury. -

Mr. MURPHY. Mr. President, all
Americans are concerned about the as-
tronomical cost of presidential elections.
Private citizens, journalists, legislators,
historians, political scientists, and other
students of government have all recog-
nized that presidential campaign costs -
have gotten out of line and that ways
must be found to reduce them. A great
deal of this added cost has resulted from
the use of television.

It seems clear that unless Congress
acts, the already astronomical campaign
costs of television and radio will continue
to soar. The Federal Communications
Commission estimated that the total
campaign exepnditures for local, State,
and national offices amounted to $200
million in 1964. This figure represents a
25 percent increase from 1960. For tele-
vision and radio alone, the Federal Com-
munications Commission estimated for
1964 a cost that amounted to $35 mil-
lion, and the Broadcasting magazine esti-
mated that the combined radio and tele-
vision costs for 1964 was $40 million, of
which approximately one-half was for
presidential election.

Mr. President, there is little question
that the networks and stations using the
airways occupy & special trust and owe
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a special duty to the American people.
They are issued a license by the Federal
Communications Commission and must
serve the general public. In my judg-
ment, both the Congress and the FCC
should explore the possibility of requir-
ing networks and stations to make avail-
able free time to the major parties on an
equal time basis. I am convinced that
the networks would be willing to do this
and by so doing not only will they help
to reduce the astronomical campaign
costs but also would help to formalize the
presentation of candidates and issues
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to the American people. Donated time
for presidential elections should help to
elevate the campaign dialog, clarify
the issues, better inform the American
people and, hopefully, eliminate some of
the bad judgment and poor taste that
have appeared in political advertise-
ments over the past years.

Mr. President, I, as much as any Mem-
ber of- this bedy, would hope that the
Congress would focus its attention on the
increasing cost of financing campaigns.
I speak from experience. In represent-
ing the great and large State of Cali-
fornia and having had to campaign on a
shoestring, I fully realize the urgency of
the problem and the need for immediate
reform. Yet, I do not approve of the
hasty manner in which we approved of
the new method of financing campaign
elections as an amendment to a bill that
had nothing to do with campaign ex-
penditures. Most Members of the body, I
feel certain, did not have an opportunity
to study and reflect on this issue as much
as we would like. The end of a session,
when legislation is coming out of com-
mittees so rapidly and it is almost im-
possible- to study completely all of the
hearings, reports, and bills, is not the
time to pass a measure dealing with a
subject that is so important.

Mr. SMATHERS. Mr. President, for
12 years the very able and distinguished
Congressman from New York [Mr.
KeoGcH] and myself have worked dili-
gently to bring about an effective retire-
ment plan for some 18 million self-em-
ployed and their employees.

We were successful in bringing about
the enactment of what is known as the
Self-Employed Individuals Tax Retire-
ment Act in 1962. This was progress,
but not progress enough.” The act fell
short of providing equality of treatment
compared to that accorded corporate em-
ployees in the same income bracket.

This year the House of Representatives
by a unanimous vote passed an amend-
ment that would permit the self-em-
ployed to deduct 100 percent of their
pension fund contributions for them-
selves and their employees for the pur-
pose of putting these individuals on a
parity with others.

The Senate adopted an amendment to
the Foreign Investors Tax Act containing
the same provisions as passed. by the
House with one exception, and that is
that the plan would become effective
after the taxable year ending December
31, 1967. Because Congressman KEOGH
and myself have served long encugh in
Congress to become conferees we were
successful in getting the conference com-
mittee to accept this amendment.

Our hopes and dreams over the years
have now been realized because the ob-
jective for which we worked has been
achieved.

"7 I sincerely trust that the President will

waste no time in signing the Foreign
Investors Tax Act with this amendment

- which now provides equality of treatment

to those who have been discriminated
against over the years.

This measure will be helpful to the
farmer, the small businessman, doctors,
lawyers, certified public accountants and
many others, together with their em-
ployees and the Treasury will suffer only
a modest loss of revenue that it will re-
coup to a major extent when the self-
employed and their employees draw their
retirement.

I urge the adoption of the ccaference
report.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. The
question is on agreeing to the confer-
ence report. On this question, the yeas
and nays have been ordered, and the
clerk will call the roll. :

The legislative clerk called the roll.

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. I announce
that the Senator from Nevada [Mr.
BisrLel, the Senator from Idaho [Mr.
CrURrcH], the Senator from Alaska [Mr.
GRUENING], the Senator from Washing-
ton. [Mr. Jackson], the Senator from
New York [Mr. KENNEDY], the Senator
from Missouri [Mr. Lonc], and the Sen-
ator from Washington [Mr. MAGNUSON],
are absent on official business.

I also announce that the Senator from
Virginia [Mr. Byrpl, is absent because
of the death of his father.

I further announce that the Senator
from Alaska [Mr. BARTLETT], the Senator
from Tennessee [Mr. Bassl, the Senator
from Nevada [Mr. Cannon]. the Senator
from Ilinois [Mr. Doucrasl, the Sena-
tor from Missississippi [Mr. EASTLAND],
the Senator from North Carolina [Mr.

_Ervin], the Senator from North Carolina,.

[Mr. Jorpan], the Senator from South
Dakota [Mr. McGovern], the Senator
from Minnesota [Mr. MoNDALE], the Sen-~

“ator from Utah [Mr. Mossl, the Senator
from Oregon [Mrs. NEUBERGER], the Sen-

ator from West Virginia [Mr. RANDOLPH],

.the Senator from Connecticut [Mr. RisI~

corrl, the Senator from Georgia [Mr.
RusserL], the Senator from Alabama
[Mr. SparRKMAN], the Senator from Mis-
souri [Mr. SymiNeTON], and the Senator
from Georgia [Mr. TALMADGE], are nec-
essarily absent.

I further announce that, if present and

v.votmg, the Senator from Idaho [Mr.

“Cuurcr], and the Senator from West
Virginia [Mr. RANDOLPH] would each
vote “yea.”

On this vote, the Senator from Missis-
sippi [Mr. EasTLAND] is paired with the
Senator from New York [Mr, KENNEDY].:
If present and voting, the Senator from
Mississippi would vote “yea” and the
Senator from New York would vote



Mr. KUCHEL. I announce that the
Senator from Vermont [Mr. AIKEN], the
Senators from Colorado [Mr. ALLOTT
and Mr. Dominick], the Senator from
Delaware [Mr. Bocesl], the Senators
from Kansas [Mr. CarLsoN and Mr.
PEeArRsON], the Senator from New Jersey
[Mr. Caskl, the Senator from Kentucky
[Mr. Cooper]l, the Senator from New
Hampshire [Mr. CorTon], the Senators
from Nebraska [Mr. CURTIS and Mr.
Hruskal, the Senator from Hawaii [Mr.
FoNcl, the Senator from Michigan [Mr.
.GRIFFIN], the Senator from New York
[Mr. Javirs]l, the Senator from Idaho
[Mr. Jorpan], the Senator from Iowa
[Mr. MiLLER], the Senator from South
Dakota [Mr. MunpTl, the Senator from
Massachusetts [Mr. SarTonsTALLl, the
Senator from Pennsylvania [Mr. ScorT]
and the Senator from Texas [Mr.
TowER] are necessarily absent.

The Senator from Illinois [Mr. DirRx-
SEN] and the Senator from Vermont [Mr.
ProuTY] are absent because of illness.

If present and voting, the Senator

from Kansas [Mr. CarLsoN], the Senator
from New York [Mr. Javirsl] and the
Senator from Hawaii [Mr. Fonc]l and
the Senator from Kansas [Mr. PEARSON]
would each vote “yea.”
. On this vote, the Senator from
Nebraska [Mr. CurTis] is paired with
the Senator from Idaho [Mr. JoOrDAN].
If present and voting, the Senator from
Nebraska would vote “yea” and the Sen-
ator from Idaho would vote “nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from Iowa
[Mr. MiLLER] is paired with the Senator
from Nebraska [Mr. Hruskal. If
present and voting, the Senator from
Jowa would vote “yea” and the Senator
from Nebraska would vote “nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from New
Jersey [Mr. Case] is paired with the
Senator from Colorado [Mr. DOMINICK].
If present and voting, the Senator from
.New Jersey would vote “yea” and the
Senator from Colorado would vo
“nay.” )

On this vote, the Senator from Ken-
tucky [Mr. CooPER] is-paired with the
Senator from Vermont [Mr. ATREN]. If
present and voting, the Senator from
Kentucky would vote “yea” and the Sen-
ator from Vermont would vote “nay.”

On this vote, the Senator from Mich-
igan [Mr. GrIFFIN] is paired with the
Senator from Massachusetts [Mr. SaL-
ToNsTALL]. If present and voting, the
Senator from Michigan would vote
“yea” and the Senator from Massachu-
setts would vote “nay.” |

On this vote, the Senator from Texas
-[Mr. Tower] is paired with the Senator
from Pennsylvania [Mr.  Scorrl. If
-present and voting, the Senator from
Texas would vote “yea” and the Senator
from Pennsylvania would vote “nay.”

‘The result was announced—yeas 31,
nays 22, as follows:

[No. 310 Leg.]

YEAS—31
Anderson Holland Pell
Bayh Inouye Proxmire
Bennett Long, La. Robertson
Brewster Mansfield Russell, S.C.
Burdick McCarthy Smathers
Byrd, W.Va. McGee Stennis
Dodd Metcalf Tydings
.Ellender Montoya Williams, N.J.
Hart Morton Yarborough
Hartke Muskie
Hayden Pastore
NAYS—22
Clark Kuchel Simpson
Fannin Lausche Smith
Fulbright McClellan Thurmond
Gore McIntyre ‘Williams, Del.
Harris Monroney Young, N. Dak.
Hickenlooper Morse Young, Ohio
Hinn Murphy
Kennedy, Mass. Nelson
[P. 27607}
NOT VOTING—47
Aiken Douglas Mondale
Allott Eastland Moss
Bartlett Ervin Mundt
Bass Fong Neuberger
Bible Griffin Pearson
Boggs Gruening Prouty
Byrd, Va. ruska Randolph
Cannon Jackson Ribicoff
Carlson Javits Russell, Ga.
Case Jordan, N.C. Saltonstall
Church Jordan, Idaho Scott
Cooper Kennedy, N.Y. Sparkman
Cotton Long, Mo. Symington
Curtis Magnuson Talmadge
Dirksen McGovern Tower
Dominick Miller

So the conference report was agreed to.

Mr. BYRD of West Virginia. Mr.
President, I ask unanimous consent that
I may be permitted to read a statement
entitled “Private Pension Plans for the
Self-Employed,” prepared by my distin-
guished colleague [Mr. RanborLpH]1, who
could not be present in the Chamber this
afternoon.

The PRESIDING OFFICER. Without
objection, it is so ordered.

STATEMENT BY SENATOR RANDOLPH READ BY
SENATOR BYRD OF WEST VIRGINIA

Mr. RANDOLPH. Mr. President, it is
pleasing that the Senate has seized an
opportunity to help many of our fellow
countrymen make more adequate provi-
sion for their financial security in retire-
ment. The Self-Employed Individuals
Tax Retirement Act has been liberalized
and will stimulate and assist self-em-
ployed individuals in establishing private
pension plans for their own benefit as
well as for that of their employees.

As Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Employment and Retirement Incomes of
the Senate Special Committee on Aging,
I have been deeply interested in ade-
quacy of retirement incomes. During
the early part of 1965, cur subcommittee
held a series of hearings and issued a
report on the subject of extending pri-
vate pension coverage. In our report,
we noted that during the past 30 years
there has been a remarkable increase in
the number of active workers covered by
private pension plans and in the amounts
of annual benefits paid under such plans.
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Between 1930 and 1962, the number of
workers covered increased from 2,700,000
to 23 million, an increase of almost ten-
fold. Annual benefits paid moved up
from about $90 million in 1930 to approx-
imately $2,160 million in 1962. However,
we found that the least progress in pro-
viding private pension coverage has been
made in businesses and professional units
with the fewest employees, most of which
are owned and managed by those who are
self-employed.

At our hearings, we were told that very
few private pension plans have been
adopted as a result of the Self-Employed

Individuals Tax Retirement Act of 1962, -

due principally to the restrictions in that
act which make pension plans unattrac-
tive to self-employed individuals. One
witness testified that only 15,000 persons
have been covered by plans under that
act, compared with the 7 million which
the Treasury Department estimated
could be covered by such plans. Today,
we have an opportunity to remove those
restrictions and to make it possible for
millions of self-employed persons and
their employees to have the benefit of
private pensions.

‘The only logical argument which can
be presented against the progressive
amendments to the Self-Employed Tax
Retirement Act is that it would entail
-some revenue loss. We of the Subcom-
mittee on Employment and Retirement
Incomes believe it is more accurate to
consider this not as a revenue loss, but
as a wise investment in the material well-
being of America’s elderly and in the
prosperity and health of the Nation’s
economy as it affects Americans of all
ages. A pension expert testified at our
hearing that each dollar of Federal reve-
nue loss from funding private pensions
contributes to the production of a mini-
mum of $5.50 and a maximum of $12.20
of pension income in retirement. If any
of us had an opportunity to buy a piece
of land or purchase stock with the assur-
ance that each dollar invested would be
transformed into at least $5.50, we cer-
tainly would not consider that we were
wasting dollars without any‘return. We
would consider that we were making a
wise and sound investment. And that is
how we should regard the so-called reve-
nue loss.

By stimulating the adoption of private
pension plans, we not only help the elder-
1y who will receive the supplementary re-
tirement income. We improve economic
conditions for Americans of all ages. We
do so, first, by encouraging the savings
which go into pension plans, which fi-

" nances an expansion of productive ca-
pacity.. This, in turn, raises the stand-
ard of living. Furthermore, we make the
Nation'’s elderly a buoyant influence upon
the economy. This is especially helpful
in times of depression and economic dis-
‘tress, when enhanced purchasing power
of the Nation’s elderly can help to im-

prove the economy. On the other hand,

in times like the present when inflation
threatens, contributions to pension plans
can prevent overheating the economy.
In these ways, there is an improvement
in the health of the economy as it affects
Americans of all ages.

[November 10, 1966}
[P. A5724]

Foreign Investors Tax Act—H.R. 13103

EXTENSION OF REMARKS

HON. RUSSELL B. LONG

OF LOUISIANA
IN THE SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES

Saturday, October 22, 1966

Mr. LONG of Louisiana. Mr. Presi-
dent, at the end of the debate on the
Foreign Investors Tax Act, I indicated
that I had forgone making a speech in
rebuttal to the statements of the Sena-
tor from Tennessee [Mr. Gorel and the
Senator from Delaware [Mr. WILLIAMS]
because the majority leader had urged
that if I did so, we might lose the quorum
then available on, or near, the Senate
floor. At that time, however, I indicated
that I would insert such a rebuttal in
the CONGRESSIONAL RECORD. ‘This is that
reply.

The portion of the conference report
on the Foreign Investors Tax Act to
which both the Senator from Tennessee
[Mr. Gorel and the Senator from Dela-
ware [Mr. WiLriams] objected has been
called the “Christmas tree” bill or the
“grab bag” bill. Since these are quick
and catchy names, these descriptions of
the bill have also appeared frequently
in the press. Of course, a description of
this type is likely to be believed, or ac-
cepted as true, if repeated often enough.
This is a well-known technique used to
undermine a bill or provision, but that,
of course, does not mean that the
description is accurate.

It must have occurred to my many col-
leagues who voted with me on this con-
ference report that if the opponents—
who referred to it as being full of special
interest provisions—can cite only three
or four cases no matter how hard they
try, their case must be questionable.

Let us examine the conference report
from that point of view. First, as to
title I of the bill which accounts for the
first 10 sections and 100 pages of the bill,
no questions have been raised. This is
the Foreign Investors Tax Act portion of
the bill and both the Senator from Ten-
nessee [Mr. Gorel and the Senator from
Delaware [ Mr. WiLLIAMS] agree that this
is good, desirable legislation. It will both
help our balance of payments and im-
prove the equity of the tax system as it
applies to nonresident aliens and foreign
corporations.
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Problems have been raised as to the
Long Act; namely, title III of the bill
which deals with the Presidential Elec-
tion Campaign Fund Act—and I shall
discuss them in just a moment—but I
certainly do not believe that anyone can
say that this represents special interest
legislation. I realize that both of the
Senators who led the attack on the bill
have raised questions with respect to this
portion of the bill, but these certainly are
five more sections that cannot in any
sense of the word be categorized as spe-
cial interest provisions. -

The remaining titles to the bill, title
II and title IV as agreed to by the con-
ferees, contain 18 sections. As near as I
can tell, the entire discussion of special
interest legislation as it is described re-
volves around four topics, accounting for
seven sections of the bill. In other words,
11 more sections, make good structural
changes in the law to which no question
has been raised. Moreover, a review of
these 11 sections discloses that in all
cases they were either specifically en-
dorsed by the Treasury Department or
no objection was raised with respect to
them. I shall attach to the end of my
statement a brief description of these 11
clearly good structural changes.

Let us now examine the four remain-
ing issues which apparently are respon-
sible for the moniker which has been at-
tached to this bill. .

INVESTMENT CREDIT IN U.S. POSSESSIONS

One of these is the provision dealing
with the investment credit in U.S. posses-
sions. This amendment merely extends
the application of the investment credit,
now applicable to domestic investments,
to investments in U.S. possessions for
1966 and subsequent years, on the same
basis as the credit has been available
here in the continental United States
from 1962 forward. There have been
statements to the effect that the Virgin
Islands or Puerto Rico or some other pos-
sessions are already providing tax
benefits with respect to their tax systems
and, as a result, further tax benefits are
not needed. This view represents a mis-
understanding as to how the provision
works. The tax credit provided by the
bill is not available to offset Virgin
Islands or Puerto Rican taxes. The in-
vestment credit can only be taken with
respect to investments made by domes-
tic corporations or U.S. citizens with re-
spect to their U.S. tax—not on any tax
which may be due a possession. In addi-
tion, this provision was carefully cir-
cumscribed so that it would not be avail-
able to any U.S. corporation or citizen
already receiving special tax treatment
under U.S. law with respect to invest-
ments in the possessions. This primarily
is the exclusion for such income pro-
vided by section 931.

Corporations which receive the benefit
of this provision will be domestic cor-

porations with investments in posses-’

“sions.

They also must be corporations
which are paying U.S. income tax with
respect to those investments. The
Finance Committee could not see why
we should discriminate against invest-
ments of this type in our possessions.
The committee could not see why these
investments should be treated less favor-
ably than investments here in the United
States. I might add that investments
made in possessions during the perlod
when the domestic credit is suspended
will not be eligible for the investment
credit.

The principal objections which have
been raised to this provision are that it
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is “retroactive” and also that it is
“tailor made” for the Harvey Aluminum
Co. First, let me say that this provision
applies only to assets, the use of which
has begun in the current year, 1966. In
the past when practically any amend-
ment beneficial to taxpayers has been
enacted, it has been made effective as of
the year in which the legislative action
was taken. In other words, making this
provision effective with respect to assets
the use of which began in 1966 is wholly
consistent with what has been almost
the universal practice in this regard in
the past. Moreover, when the domestic
investment credit was first provided, it,
too, was made effective back to the first
of the year 1962 although this act did not
become law until October 16, 1962. I
see very little difference in the circum-
stances involving the two provisions, yet
I heard no complaint about the domestic
investment credit applying as of the first
of the year in which enacted.

As to this provision being tailor made
for one company, let me say that it
should be obvious that in all of the var-
ious possessions of the United States cer-
tainly more than one company made in-
vestments during the calendar year 1966.
It is ridiculous to assume that this pro-
vision will have application to only one
company, and when tax returns for 1966
are filed, I am sure it will be shown that
this charge is not true.

A bill to accomplish the objectives of
the Senate amendment had been intro-
duced in the House on August 24, 1965,
giving everyone plenty of time to re-
view its merits. The Finance Committee
agreed to the amendment this year-only
after the Treasury Department advised
the committee that it was consistent with
administration policy.

SWAP FUND PROVISION

Let me now turn to the so-called swap
fund amendment. The misunderstand-
ing of the “possession’” provision is only
exceeded by the misunderstanding of the
swap fund provision. Section 351 of the
Internal Revenue Code provides that
gain or loss is not to be recognized if
property is transferred to a corporation
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by one person, or a group of persons,
solely in exchange for stock or securities
in the corporation, and immediately after
the exchange the persons, or group of
persons, is in control of the corporation.

In 1959 and 1960 and in the forepart
of 1961 the Internal Revenue Service
ruled that a group of persons holding
stock in various companies could con-
tribute this stock to a newly formed
mutual fund corporation and receive in
exchange for their contribution shares
of this mutual fund. These are the so-
called swap funds and the Service in
these years ruled in 11 cases that there
were no tax consequences resulting from
the formation of one of these swap funds.
It is true that beginning in 1961 the
Service has not issued rulings on the tax
status of the formation of swap funds.
However, many private tax lawyers con-
sidered the formation of these funds to
be a nontaxable transaction and operat-
ing on their advice a number of funds
have been formed since that time.

‘Then, on July 14, 1966, the Treasury
for the first time published regulations
holding that the formation of these swap
funds constituted a taxable transaction.
At the time the Treasury took this posi-
tion it offered closing agreements to
existing swap funds which would provide
that for past transactions, for all pur-
poses of the tax laws, the formation of
these funds would not constitute taxable
transactions. In other words, for the fu-
ture the Treasury applied its position as
to what the law said, but because of the
uncertainty which had previously existed
it did not apply this position for the past.
The effect of what Treasury did was to
say that for the past, exchanges with
swap funds were tax free, but for the
future they were taxable. )

Those concerned with swap funds ini-
tially made representations to members
of the Finance Committee to the effect
that the new regulations reversed the
effect of the law even though there had
been no change in the wording of the law.
In other words, their position was that
the Treasury was legislating by regula-
tion. The majority of the Finance Com-
mittee voted to make it clear that swap
funds were covered by section 351. I
voted against this amendment in com-
mittee because I considered swap funds
to be a loophole. While I understand the
Treasury’s opinion, nevertheless, I per-
sonally believe the Treasury’s regula-
tions do not reflect the clear wording of
the law. In my opinion the tax-free
formation of swap funds was provided
for by the language of section 351. -

I am glad to say that the conferees on
the Foreign Investors Tax Act completely
reversed the position on the Senate Fi-
nance Committee amendment. The ac-
tion taken by the conferees makes it per-
fectly clear that the formation of swap
funds will be viewed as a taxable trans-
action in all cases where exchanges are

.sought.

" ‘made on or after July 1, 1967. More-

over, in the case of funds requiring
registration with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission, registration state-
ments must be filed by December 31 of
this year and the stock of prospective
shareholders must be on deposit with the
funds by May 1, 1967. It was the view of
the conference that the various tax-free
exchange provisions of the code should
not permit the tax-free diversification of
investment assets.

In other words, the conference com-
mittee action in this case completely con-
firms what the Treasury sought to do by
regulation. Moreover, it provides a sta-
utory basis for this action which, in my
opinion, the regulations of the Treasury
did not have. It is true that this will
cover funds where registration state-
ments are filed with the SEC up to the
end of this year. However, this, too, is
in keeping with the concept in the Treas-
ury regulations which provided tax-free
treatment for all funds in certain stages
of process up to the time of the issuance
of the regulations. This provides essen-
tially the same treatment for funds
which have been started before the end
of this year.

It is also worth pointing out that the
conference committee action not only
gives a statutory base for the Treasury
regulations but that it in several respects
provides a tighter rule than did the regu-
lations. For example, uiaer thie conici-
ence committee action tax-free trcat-
ment is denied real estate swap funds and
investment companies which have' too
few shareholders to be required to reg-
ister with the SEC and the denial sgp.iics
whether or not brokers or other inter-

.mediaries organize the fund wherz share-

holders have rights to redeem their hold-
ings at their option.
The conference committee action re-

_sults in a much more restrictive provi-

sion than the Treasury regulations
As a result, it seems clear to
me that what we have here is a “loop-
hole closer” instead of - a ‘lcophole
opener.” -
H.R. 10

Let us now turn to the third area of
complaint with the Foreign Investors
Tax Act. I refer here to the so-called
H.R. 10 amendment, or tlie amendment
which enlarges the deductions available
to self-employed persons where amounts
are set aside for their retirement years.
I cannot say that I personally like this
amendment. After all, the main thing
that this amendment does is provide that
when these self-employed persons set
aside amounts for their retirement, they
can deduct the full 10 percent of their
wages up to a total of $2,500, rather than
one-half of this amount. I do not like
this amendment because the principal
provision it repeals was my own amend-
ment several years ago, which I fought
for and obtained on the floor of the Sen-
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" ate. The thrust of my amendment was
to treat contributions for self-employed
persons’ retirement essentially like con-
tributions are treated under the social
security and railroad retirement sys-
tem. In both of these instances—and in
those instances where private pension
plans are provided on a contributory
basis—the employer’s share of the total
contribution is deductible for tax pur-
poses but the employee’s share is not
deductible. Since we were dealing with
self-employed persons in a dual capac-
ity, I felt, and the Congress agreed with
me in 1962, that giving a deduction for
half the contribution would place self-
employed persons on a par with em-
ployees. However, this year H.R. 10,
repealing my amendment, was passed by
the House by a vote of 291 to 0. The
provision as an amendment to the For-
eign Investors Tax Act was also sepa-
rately acted upon, on a favorable basis,
by the Senate. I think it is clear—al-
though I personally disagree—that the
majority of both the House and the
Senate favor this amendment. I am not
one to believe, even when I am in the
minority, that minority rulé in this re-
spect should govern.

In all fairness to the advocates of this
amendment I must admit that there are
many cases under the prior law where
self-employed individuals are much-more
severely limited in the amounts they may
set aside for their own retirement than
is true of many of the well-paid employ-
ees and managers of many of our largest
companies. Many of their plans are not
contributory and, therefore, if one were
to equate the self-employed individual
with these persons, then the 50 percent
deduction should not be required. Actu-

[P. A5726]

ally, in my judgment, the whole area of
the tax treatment of private pension
plans needed reconsideration before this
amendment was acted upon, and will still
need reconsideration after the adoption
of this amendment. In some cases self-
employed individuals will have advan-
tages over employees and in other cases
they will be at a disadvantage. In my
view, we probably will eventually want to
see whether it is possible to more nearly
equalize the treatment. In the mean-
while, however, I see no reason.why we
should insist upon a minority view pre-
vailing over the majority view.
PERCENTAGE DEPLETION

The fourth area of complaint is con-
cerned with the provisions relating to
percentage depletion. Of course, there
are people who fundamentally disap-
prove of percentage depletion, as such.
To them any amendment in the area of
percentage depletion is automatically
wrong if it gives one cent more of deduc-
tion to anyone, simply because they do
not agree with the underlying principle
involved in percentage depletion.

— It seems to me that as long as we have

percentage depletion in our tax sys-
tem—and parenthetically I might add
from my point of view this is something
I hope is here for a long time to come—
it is entirely appropriate that the per-
centage depletion rates be adjusted in a
manner which allows for the competitive
nature of the products. In other words,
where two or more products are used for
essentially the same purpose, good tax
treatment—namely, the considerations of
equity and fair competition—demands
that they receive approximately the same
percentage depletion deduction. This is
no new, radical doctrine I am proposing
here. This is, instead, the fundamental
basis on which most of our percentage
depletion rates are based at the present
time.

Let us look now at the specific areas
where the percentage depletion rates
were changed, and I should point out that
as a result of the conference committee
_action it is only a change in rates which
occurred. No additional processes were
classified as mining processes for any
mineral. This is the area that the Sen-
ator from Tennessee [Mr. GORE] was SO
concerned with & number of years ago.
We have not in the slightest modified the
concepts of the mining processes, on
which percentage depletion is based,
from the concepts in present law which
remains as he provided by legislation in
1960.

The first area in which a percentage
depletion rate was made was in the case
of domestic deposits of clay, laterite, and
nephelite syenite, but only to the extent
that they are used for the extraction
of alumina or aluminum compounds.
The percentage depletion rate for these
minerals was raised from 15 to 23 per-
cent. This only seems fair since this is
the percentage depletion rate which
presently applies to domestic deposits of
bauxite, the principal source of alumina
and aluminum. It also is the rate which
applies to another site to the extent that
alumina and aluminum compounds are
extracted from it. The Finance Com-
mittee believed that a good case could be
made not only for these percentage de-
pletion rate increases but also for more
liberal treatment with respect to mining
processes. However, the House confer-
ees would not agree to any changes in
mining processes. Nevertheless, it is
hard for me to see how anyone could ob-
ject to treating these different sources
for alumina and aluminum the same as
we already treat the principal source for
alumina and aluminum.

The second percentage depletion rate
change applies in the case of clam and
oyster shells. Now I am aware of the
fact that percentage depletion for clam
and oyster shells is a source of amuse-
ment for many who are unacquainted
with the extent to which clam and oyster
shells in the entire gulf area are used
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as a substitute for limestone. The clam
and oyster shells referred to in this act
are those which have lain at the bottom
of the sea for many hundreds or thou-
sands of years. The ownership in these
shells is in either the Federal or a State
Government. The Government leases to
private parties the right to remove these
shells from certain specified areas. This
gives them a right to property which
is exhaustible and which is, therefore,
eligible for percentage depletion. This
is exactly the same concept which applies
generally with respect to percentage
depletion.

Clam and oyster shells of the type I
have referred to already receive percent-
age depletion at the rate of 5 percent.
However, clam and oyster shells in many
cases are ground up and used for their
calcium carbonate content in making
cement.

Limestone—which also is essentially
calcium carbonate—in other areas of the
country is used for almost the identical
purposes for which clam and oyster shells
are used, yet limestone, except when used

for road material or similar purposes,.

receives a 15-percent depletion rate.
When it is used as gravel for making
roads, the depletion rate is limited to
5 percent. All this amendment does is
to give precisely the same treatment to
clam and oyster shells which is already
available in the other areas of the coun-
try where limestone is used for the same
purposes. In other words, where clam
and oyster shells are used as a substitute
for gravel in making roads, the 5-percent
depletion rate as at present will con-
tinue, but when clam and oyster shells
are used for making cement, as in the
case of limestone, the 15-percent rate will
be available. Realistically, this does no
more than give the same treatment to
deposits of calcium carbonate found un-
der water as is already aecorded deposits
of calcium carbonate found on land.
This merely removes a competitive dis-
crimination.

The final two percentage depletion
rate chapges represent very small
changes indeed. The Senate action
would have added sintering or burning
to the processes classified as mining
processes in the case of clay, shale, and
slate used or sold as lightweight aggre-
gates. These frequently are used for
this purpose in concrete or in making
cinder blocks. The Senate action, as a
result of a floor amendment, would also
have increased from 5 to 15 percent the
percentage depletion rate applicable for
clay and shale used in making sewer pipe
and brick. In these cases the primary
consideration was that other products
used for similar purposes received a
higher percentage depletion rate, or re-
ceived more favorable treatment in the
processes classified as mining processes.

In the case of clay used for sewer pipe,
for example, this pipe is in competition

‘with concrete sewer pipe and the mate-

rials used in making the cement which
goes into the latter is eligible for 15-
percent depletion rate. It was on this
basis that the increase in the rate from
5 to 15 percent was justified on the Sen-
ate floor. In the conference committee
consideration of this, however, it was
noted that contrary to a clay sewer pipe,
only 15 to 20 percent of a concrete sewer
pipe consists of cement. The remaining
aggregates are sand and gravel which
receive a 5-percent depletion rate. Be-
cause of this additional information
available to the conferees, which was not
available at the time this matter was
considered on the floor of the Senate, the
Senate conferees agreed that the deple-
tion rate should be adjusted upward by
merely 2, percent, rather than by the
10 percent which would have been pro-
vided by the Senate amendment. As I
have suggested, this was agreed to be-
cause of the realization that in the case
of the clay pipe, the area of competitive
discrimination is limited to 15 to 20 per-
cent of the total value of the pipe. This
represents a modest change in the deple-
tion rates and one which is justified on
the basis of the present competitive sit-
uation. ’

The Senate amendment relating to
lightweight aggregates dealt with the
treatment processes which were to be
considered part of the cost of mining
in working out the percentage deple-
tion allowance.” The House conferees,
as I have indicated, were not willing to
make any change in the treatment proc-
ess provisions but they could see the
merit of a larger deduction for these
products when used as lightweight ag-
gregates. The conferees decided to take
the direct approach of giving a slightly
larger depletion allowance rather than
the indirect approach of increasing the
base on which the present depletion al-
lowance would be based.

"rHE LONG PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN
. FUND ACT

It seems that the charges of special
interest legislation which have been so
freely flung at this bill evaporate into
thin air once the facts are examined.
Let me turn now to the area of political
campaign contributions.

First, let me make it clear that this
is an area on which the Senate Finance
Committee has held hearings. An ear-
lier version of the amendment adopted
by the committee was presented in these
hearings for consideration by the com-
mittee. This is also true of various
other plans, including the tax deduction
plan favored by the Senator from Dela-
ware [Mr. WiLLiams]. I might also add
that the problem of political campaign
contributions has been discussed on the
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Senate floor not merely in connection
with this bill but also in connection with
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earlier legislation. At the time we last
raised the debt limitation the Senator
from Delaware [Mr. WiLL1AMs] sought
to amend that bill with his provision
providing for political contribution de-
ductions. The matter was extensively
considered by the Senate at that time
and rejected. However, this proposal was
analyzed in hearings on political con-
tributions held by the committee as I
promised at the time.

This is a matter which has been con-
sidered extensively, not only in the cur-
rent year but in past years as well. As
the Sendtor from Tennessee [Mr. Gore]l
indicated, this is a problem which he
had under study some 10 years ago. The
problem with these past studies, how-
ever, is that they were just studies—no
action was taken. I can well understand
this, because the area of political cam-
paign contributions is a multiple prob-
lem. It is a problem which, in part, is
appropriately considered by one com-
mittee and, in part, by other committees.
In the past it has been difficult to ob-
tain action on this problem because of
the feeling that it was impossible to act
on any one of these problems until action
had been completed on the others. This,
in turn, prevented action by all of the
committees. Senator CLARK made this
aspect of the situation quite clear in his
discussion of the Presidential Election
Campaign Fund Act.

I should make it clear that I do not
consider the Long Act as a full answer to
all of the problems in connection with
political campaign contributions. First
of all, this deals only with presidential
campaigns. It may well be that after we
see how this provision works in the case
of presidential campaigns we may want
to extend either this provision or some
modified version of it, to cover congres-
sional elections. I do not know the an-
swer to this, and I think it would be
unfortunate for us to reach an inflexible
position in this regard until after we
have tried this provision for a period of
time in the case of presidential cam-
paigns.

Second, I want to make it clear that
in my view this bill does not replace the
need for additional legislation regulat-
ing political contributions or requiring
disclosure of the source of political cam-
paign contributions. Moreover, this
does not deal with other issues which we
may have to face with respect to the
division of television time or what orga-
nizations can properly make campaign
expenditures. These are all issues, how-
ever, as to which it will be easier to come
up with specific answers after my
amendment is a part of the law, because
it will give assurance of adequate financ-
ing for the most important of all politi-
cal campaigns.

Nor do I contend that my provision
itself even in the limited area in which
it is intended to operate is, in all respects,

necesarily a perfect answer to the prob-
lem. I am sure that modifications will
be necessary as we gain experience un-
der this provision. Nevertheless, I view
the Long Act as major legislation which
will give assurance that presidential,
candidates are not necessarily obligated
to any financial interests as a result of
the necessity to raise funds to finance
their campaigns. There are sizable
groups of citizens in our country who
suspect that these financial contribu-
tions have influenced governmental de-
cisions. We should remove this shadow
and prevent the possibility of anything
like this in the future. To me this is the
most important aspect of my amend-
ment.

I realize that some say, “But you
haven’t prevented the other campaign
contributions from being made in addi-
tion to the funds provided by your bill.”
I have two answers to this: first, as I
have already indicated, this is not the
last time that I expect legislation to be
passed with respect to political campaign
contributions. I will be prepared to sup-
port limitations to outlaw private con-
tributions to presidential campaigns
when such legislation is before the Sen-
ate, and now that we have assurance of
adequate financing for presidential cam-
paigns, it will, for the first time from a
practical point of view, really be pos-
sible to consider limitations such as I
have referred to.

Obtaining funds on a very small basis
from a very wide group of our citizens is
the best possible way of being sure that
no financial group can be said to have
gained undue influence. Others have
tried to find a way of obtaining this broad
participation through tax deductions or
credits. However, the effort which would
be required to obtain these contributions
in amounts as small as $1 from so many
people raises the collection costs under
these other devices to such an extent
as to make them impractical. Moreover,
a tax deduction or even a tax credit tends
to provide more of an incentive for those
in the higher income groups to make

- contributions than for taxpayers of more

modest means. This is a kind of selection
that I think is undesirable in attempting
to influence political contributions.

Some have objected to my plan be-
cause it requires individuals to check a
box on their tax return. What are the
alternatives that we most frequently
hear? The suggestions most usually
made are for a tax deduction or tax
credit. These involve not merely a check-
mark on the tax return but also the
recording of specific contributions made,
and still leaves us with the auditing
problem of determining whether, in fact,
the contributions were made. The tax
problems in these alternative solutions
are much more complex and difficult
than the simple checkmark on the tax
return which the amendment provides.
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Moreover, a tax deduction or credit to be
verified must be checked with the party
to whom the contribution was given.
Who wants the internal revenue agents
in examining his return to obtain in-
formation on his political affiliation?

In the absence of finding any other
basis for objection to the Long Act, it is
sometimes claimed that this is unde-
sirable because individuals under this
system are, in effect, designating how
governmental funds are to be spent. To
me the interesting thing about this argu-
ment is that those who make this charge
fail to recognize that a deduction or tax
credit for political contributions just as
effectively takes money which would
ptherwise go into the Public Treasury and
diverts it to another purpose. The only
difference I can see in this regard is that
the tax deduction or tax credit schemes
divert the money just before it reaches
she Treasury. Moreover, instead of di-
verting the money to the political cam-
saigns, these deductions or credits merely
recompense the taxpayer for part of the
rontribution he has already made. More-
wer, frequently they repay the taxpayer
1eedlessly for contributions he would
1ave made in any case. There is no such
vaste under the amendment in this bill.

I have explained the mechanics of the
song Act previously, so I see no need to
‘epeat it here. However, there are a
ew points that I would like to em-
hasize. First, this amendment treats
qually all parties receiving 15 million
‘otes or more. As a result, this will not
avor the party in power.

Second. Provision is made for minor-
5y parties under this bill. Any party
eceiving 5 million votes or more—a 5
1illion deduction is provided not only for
iinority parties but for major parties
s well—receives political campaign
inds based upon its vote over 5 million,
nd if it reaches the 15 million vote level,

is treated equally with the major par-
es. This is an honest attempt to give
roper recognition to minority parties

\ this area of political contributions but
ot at the same time be unrealistic and
eat fragment parties on the same basis
smajor parties. I believe that this rep-
sents a fair solution to this problem,
it I am certainly willing to consider
odifications in the future should the
ed to do so be established.

Third. This amendment is limited in
veral respects. Major parties cannot
ceive more than an equal share of the
nds based upon the vote in the last

esidential election. Therefore, even if
xpayers should check their tax re-

rns freely in this regard, only limited
nds would be available for expendi-
re. The funds are available only for
ssidential campaigns, and the Comp-
ller General is specifically authorized
examine the statements presented to
n and to audit the books of the polit-
1 parties to be sure that the contribu-

tions are spent for presidential cam-
paigns and not for congressional or gu-
bernatorial campaigns, and not for per-
sonal use, distinct from political pur-
poses.

Fourth. It has been said that this pro-
vision runs contrary to the limitation in
present law limiting contributions to po-
litical committees to $3 million in any
yvear. Those who say this cannot have
examined the bill or present law very
closely. Present law refers to contribu-
tions to political committees. The bill
actually has nothing to do with con-
tributions. The term ‘“‘contribute”
means to give or supply in common with
others; to share in a joint effort. The
financing by the Government after the
passage of this bill is not a voluntary,
joint effort to give funds. Rather, it
is an appropriation of funds to which
the parties have a right. Moreover, it
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is not part of a joint effort. As a re-
sult, it is not a contribution and, there-
fore, does not come under the limitation
of present law. Moreover, it involves a
payment to political “parties” not pay-
ments to political “committees.” As a
result, it should be clear the present $3
million limitation does not apply.

Fifth. Some have objected to the fact
that the contribution in this case is di-
vided between, or among, the major
parties. Some have indicated that they
would prefer making all of their con-
tribution to one party or the other. This,
of course, is not the way to assure good
government. It may be a way of elect-
ing one party over another—by supply-
ing it with a better financial base—but
it does not assure -good government.
The way to assure good government is to
be sure that sufficient campaign funds
are available to both, or all, major
parties, so that their positions can be
fully understood by the electorate. It
is only a well-informed electorate that
can assure the continuation of our rep-
resentative form of government.

Sixth. It has been suggested that there
are no safeguards to prevent misuse of
the funds made available to the political
parties by this provision. Actually pres-
ent law provides about as strict a fraud
statute as can be imagined. Section
1001 of title 18 of the code specifies:

Whoever, in any matter within the juris-
diction of any department or agency of the
United States knowingly and willfully falsi-
fies, conceals or covers up by any trick,
scheme, or device a material fact, or makes
any false, fictitious or fraudulent state-
ments or representations, or makes or uses
any false writing or documents knowing the
same to contain any false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement or entry shall be fined
not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not
more than five years, or both.

Certainly I would not object to other
safeguards being written into the law to
prescribe even more definitively how
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these funds may be used and how they
many not be used, but I do feel that those
who say there presently are no safe-
guards have overstated their case.

Contrary to the general impression
that some have tried to create, this is not
a hastily concocted scheme.

. It has long been suggested that Gov-
ernment should find some way to help
finance the cost of these campaigns.
Theodore Roosevelt suggested nearly 60
years ago that this should be done with
public funds. Later the Special Com-
mittee To Investigate Campaign Expend-
itures of presidential, . vice-presidential,
and senatorial candidates in 1936 sug-
gested that private contributions to po-
litical campaigns be prohibited entirely
and that instead all election expenses
should be defrayed from public funds.
In 1959, Jasper B. Shannon, professor
of political science at the University of
Nebraska, recommended a similar plan
in his book “Money and Politics.” Earlier
this year Prof. John Kenneth Galbraith
suggested, in connection with State of-
fices, that the Government “provide every
regularly nominated candidate with a
public grant of sufficient size to enable
him to get his name, merit if any, and
platform before the people, These
grants would be available to candidates
for statewide office, the general court
and for the senate and house of rep-
resentatives.”

I introduced a bill on June 15 of this
year to provide funds from the Treasury
to help defray the cost of presidential
campaigns. In doing this I was largely
implementing a thought which had been
before the people for discusion for nearly
six decades. This is a matter which I have
been studying for over a year and it is
a matter which has been thoroughly
analyzed by the Senate Finance Commit-
tee. The best minds of the staff of the
Finance Committee and the staff of the
Joint Committee on Internal Revenue
Taxation, the Senate Legislative Coun-
sel, the experts of Treasury, as well as
other advisors to the President and the
senior members of the House Committee
on Ways and Means have all contributed
meaningfully to the effort to find a
proper answer. This is an important
building block on which we can build a
proper system for controlling political
campaign contributions. Moreover, it is
the first answer to this problem of fi-
nancing political campaigns for which
it ihas been possible to obtain majority
support from Congress. This in itself
is an important achievement in such a
controversial field as this.

Let me conclude my comments on the
presidential political campaign financing
by saying that I consider this one of the
most important and constructive pieces
of legislation passed by Congress this
year. I believe time will show that what
I have said is true.

ELEVEN NONCONTROVERSIAL STRUCTURAL
CHANGES

As I indicated previously, the bill in-
cludes 11 structural changes not relat-
ing to the Foreign Investors Tax Act but
about which no questions have been
raised. These are not hastily put-to-
gether provisions. For the most part
they represent provisions which have
been carefully studied by the tax com-
mittees and their staffs. Three of these
provisions, for example, had been con-
sidered and were reported favorably by
the House Committee on Ways and
Means. Moreover, the provision relat-
ing to “straddles” had been the subject
of an extensive technical study by the

- staff of the Joint Committee on Internal

Revenue Taxation in cooperation with
the Treasury Department staff. The
provision relating to per unit retain allo-
cations of cooperatives is a matter
studied over a long period of time both
by the affected industries and also by
the technical staffs of Congress and the
Treasury Department. Three of the
structural changes constitute improve-
ments in the interest equalization tax
which have been carefully studied by
the staffs. Another of the amendments
provides for an annual report on con-
tingent liabilities and assets available to
cover them. This report is one Senator
SavLToNsTALL has sought for some time
and is one which should aid all of us
in getting a better insight of the Gov-
ernment’s financial status. The Fi-
nance Committee had recommended the
Saltonstall amendment to the Senate
back in the 88th Congress and again in
the 1st session of the 89th Congress. On
both occasions the Senate approved the
bill without objection.

These 11 amendments can be sum-
marized, as follows:

First. Corporate acqmsxtlon of assets
of another corporation: Under present
income tax law; the purchase from an
unrelated party by one corporation of at
least 80 percent of the stock of another
corporation followed by the liquidation
of the acquired corporation within 2
years is treated as a purchase of the as-
sets of ‘the acquired corporation. This
amendment expands the definition of
“purchase” to include the purchase of
stock from a 50-percent owned sub-
sidiary if stock in the 50-percent owned
subsidiary was also acquired by pur-
chase. The change is to be effective
with respect to acquisitions of stock
made after December 31, 1965.

Second. Self—employec‘l' persons retire-
ment plans—certain income of authors,
inventors, and so forth: This amend-
ment modifies present income tax law
relating to self-employed individuals’

‘retirement plans to permit authors, in-

ventors, and so forth, to include gains—
other than capital gains—from sales and
other transfers of their works in their
earned income base for the purpose of
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computing deductions for contributions
to such plans. This change will be ef-
fective for taxable years ending after the
date of enactment of the act.

Third. Exclusion of certain rents from
personal holding company income: This
amendment provides, for taxable years
beginning after the date of enactment of
the act—and certain earlier years at the
election of the taxpayer—that rent re-
ceived from the lease of tangible per-
sonal property manufactured by a tax-
payer is not to be treated as personal
holding company income.

Fourth. Straddles: This amendment
provides that, with respect to straddle
transactions entered into after January
25, 1965, the income from the lapse of
an option which originated as part of a
straddle is to be treated as a short-term
capital gain—instead of ordinary in-
come. This permits it to be netted
against any capital loss which may re-
sult from the exercise of the other option
in the straddle while retaining what in
most respects is ordinary income treat-
ment for any excess of net short-term
;:apital gain over net long-term capital
0sS.

Fifth. The taxation of per-unit retain
allocations of cooperatives: This amend-
ment clarifies present law dealing with
the taxation of cooperatives and patrons
to assure that a current single tax is
paid, at either the cooperative or patron
level, with respect to per-unit retain
certificates. In so doing, the amendment
makes the treatment of these certificates
generally comparable to the treatment
<])f patronage dividends under present
aw.

Sixth. The excise tax on hearses: This
amendment provides that the sale of an
amublance, hearse, or combination am-
bulance-hearse vehicle is to be considered
to be the sale of an automobile chassis
or automobile body—rather than a truck
[P. 45729}
chassis or body—for purposes of deter-
mining the manufacturers excise tax on
motor vehicles. This change applies
with respect to articles sold after the
date of enactment of the act.

Seventh. Interest equalization tax—
raw material source loans: Subsequent
transfers of debt obligations to. assure
raw material sources are to be exempt
from the interest equalization tax where
the indebtedness is acquired without an
intent on the part of the purchaser to
sell it to other U.S. persons. This change
is to be effective with respect to acquisi-
tions of debt obligations made after the
date of enactment.

Eighth. Interest equalization tax—
certain acquisitions by insurance com-
panies in developed countries: The pres-
ent exemption for reverse asset pools of
U.S. insurance companies is extended to
allow the establishment of reserve asset
pools where a U.S. insurance company
commences activities in a developed
country or where a less-developed coun-
try is designated as a developed country.
This amendment is to take effect on the
day after the date of enactment.

Ninth. Interest equalization tax—
Euro-dollars: The President is given the -
authority to exempt from the interest
equalization tax U.S. dollar loans of more
than 1 year made by the foreign branches
of U.S. banks. This change is to apply
to acquisitions of debt obligations made
after the date of enactment.

Tenth. Treasury bonds or certificates
payable in foreign currency: This
amendment expands the debt manage-
ment authority of the Secretary of the
Treasury to permit the issuance of U.S.
notes payable in foreign currencies. This
authority already exists in the case of
bonds and certificates of indebtedness.

Eleventh. Reports on Federal contin-
gent liabilities and assets: This amend-
ment—as modified in conference—re-
quires the Secretary of the Treasury to
submit a report to the Congress each year
indicating the full contingent liabilities
of the Federal Government and the as-
sets of the Federal Government which
might be made available to liquidate such
liabilities. The report is to be made on
the first day of each regular session of
the Congress with respect to the close
of the preceding June 30—beginning
with June 30, 1967.
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SENATE COMMITTEE ON FINANCE SUMMARY OF
PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN FUND ACT OF 1966
(TITLE III OF PUBLIC LAW 89-809)
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RUSSELL B. LONG, LA., CHAIRMAN
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mmmm COMMITTEE ON FINANCE
PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN FUND ACT
OF 1966
(Title III of Public Law 89-809)
Background

In the past, political campaigns for the Presidency (and the Vice Presidency) have been financed
generally through voluntary contributions by individuals and corporations. In some instances devices
have been perfected to disguise these voluntary contributions as trade or business expenses in order to
obtain a tax deduction for the amounts involved. Each time one of these devices has been detected
Congress has acted to prevent its continuation, and, conversely, each time Congress has acted it has made
political campaign financing more difficult.

Against this background, it has become increasingly clear that new methods of financing political
campaigns must be found.

General Description

The Presidential Election Campaign Fund Act of 1966 authorizes individual taxpayers to designate
on their annual tax returns that $1 of their income tax may be placed in a presidential election campaign
fund for the purpose of defraying expenses incurred by political parties in running candidates for Presi-
dent and Vice President. Under the act, only political parties whose candidates received at least 5 mil-
lion votes in the preceding presidential election are eligible for payments from the fund.

The reimbursement rules are different under the act for major parties and minor parties, but they
have three common features. First, all parties are to be subject to a $5 million floor, for which no re-
imbursement is to be allowed. Second, payments to any political party are to be limited solely to reim-
bursement of presidential (and vice-presidential) campaign expenses actually incurred by the party in
connection with a current election. Third, payments in every case are calculated on the basis of votes
cast in the prior presidential election.

A minor party (one whose candidate for President polled more than 5 million but less than 15 mil-
lion votes in the prior election) is to be eligible for reimbursements from the fund up to $1 for each
vote in excess of 5 million that its candidate received in the preceding presidential election.

A major party (one whose candidate polled 15 million votes or more in the preceding presidential
election) is to be eligible for reimbursement from the fund of up to $1 times the number of votes cast for
the presidential candidates of all the major parties in the preceding election, divided by the number of
major parties. As in the case of minor parties, the amount actually paid over to any major party is to
be reduced by $5 million.

On the basis of the 1964 presidential election, only two major parties would be entitled to reimburse-
ments with respect to their 1968 campaigns. Approximately 70 million votes were cast for their candi-
dates in 1964, and after a reduction of $5 million for each major party, the maximum reimbursable
amount would be fixed at approximately $60 million. Each party would be eligible for reimbursement
of up to $30 million of expenses it actually incurs during the 1968 presidential campaign.

The Comptroller General of the United States is authorized to determine the campaign expenses of
the political parties and to determine the amounts which may be paid to them. An advisory board is
established to advise and assist the Comptroller General with his duties under this act.

Transfers to the Fundl

Space will be provided on the income tax return forms to permit each individual taxpayer (other
than a nonresident alien or an estate or trust) to designate, if he so desires, that $1 of his tax is to
be paid into the Presidential Election Campaign Fund. The voluntary act of a taxpayer will thus deter-
mine the size of the fund; and, unless he chooses to have a portion of his tax used for financing political
campaigns, none of his tax will go into the fund.

Any taxpayer who shows an income tax liability of at least $1 on his return for the year may make
an assignment. On joint returns, both husband and wife may designate provided the tax liability shown
on the return is at least $2. The election is to be made at the time of filing the return or at such later
time as may be provided in regulations (such as at the time of making a claim for refund of an over-
payment of tax).
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Payments From Fund

Under the act the amount to be available for reimbursing a political party for its presidential (and
vice-presidential) campaign expenditures will be determined by the number of votes cast in the immedi-
ately preceding presidential election. The votes cast in the current election wili determine the account
to be available for these purposes in the next presidential election. The rules for payments from the
fund differ for major parties and minor parties.

Minor Party.—A political party whose candidate for President received more than 5 million votes in
the preceding presidential election but less than 15 million votes will be reimbursed from the fund an
amount equal to the lesser of (a) its actual campaign expenses, or (b) $1 times the number of votes
in excess of 5 million that its candidate received in the preceding election.

Major Party.—A political party whose candidate for President received 15 million votes or more
in the preceding election is to be reimbursed on a different basis. An amount equal to $1 for each vote
received by all major parties in the last election reduced by $5 million for each such major party, is
to be divided equally between (or among) them. However, payments to any one party cannot exceed
the expenses it incurs in the current campaign.

Example—The preceding rules can be illustrated by assuming that 80 million popular votes are
cast for candidates for President in the 1972 elections. These votes fix the amount in the fund to be
available during the 1976 presidential campaign.

The votes are divided in this manner: 40 million for the candidate of party A; 30 million for the
candidate of party B; and 10 million for the candidate of party C. Under the law parties A and B are
“major parties,” while party C is a “minor party.” In 1976, party C would be eligible to receive from
the Presidential Election Campaign Fund $5 million—$1 per vote in excess of 5 million votes cast for its
candidate in 1972. In 1976, parties A and B would each be eligible to receive $30 million from the fund.
This is calculated by dividing (a) the total votes cast for major party candidates in the 1972 presidential
election (70 million) by (b) the number of major parties (2) and then subtracting $5 million from the
amount for each of the major parties.

Administrative—The payments will be made at times to be determined by Treasury regulations, but
no payment for a given presidential election campaign can be made before September 1 of the year the
election is held. Nor will there be any reimbursement for expenses related to a presidential primary cam-
paign or to seeking nomination as a presidential candidate.

The Comptroller General is charged with the responsibility for certifying to the Secretary of the
Treasury the amounts payable to eligible political parties, and the Secretary will disburse these amounts.
In this certification the Comptroller General will take into account information supplied him by the
treasurers of each political party regarding presidential campaign expenses incurred. Reimbursement
may not be made for any item related to a candidate for any office other than President or Vice President.
Nor will the expenses of a joint appearance with a candidate for another office be allowed if a principal
purpose of the joint appearance is to further the campaign of the other candidate. The Comptroller
General is also to certify the total vote received by each party in the preceding presidential election and
his decision in this respect is to be final.

If, at the time payments are made, there is an insufficient amount in the fund to reimburse the parties
for their allowable expenses, payments to all entitled parties will be reduced pro rata, and the additional
amounts will be paid out in later years as the fund is replenished by new assignments.

Conversely, if an amount remains in the fund after all authorized payments have been made with
respect to a presidential election, or if the fund exceeds the maximum amount which may be authorized
for payment, the excess amount is to be returned to the general fund of the Treasury.

Advisory Board

A Presidential Election Campaign Fund Advisory Board is established to advise and assist the
Comptroller General in connection with his duties under this act. The Board is to consist of two members
from each major political party, to be appointed by the Comptroller General upon recommendations
submitted by the parties, and three additional members selected by a majority of the Board’s political
party members.

The first Board is to serve until 60 days after the 1968 presidential election. Subsequent Boards
will be appointed to serve for 4-year terms ending 60 days after each succeeding presidential election.
Board members will be compensated at the rate of $75 a day for the period they are actually engaged
in performing the duties and functions of the Board. They will also receive travel expenses and a per
diem in lieu of subsistence (at rates authorized for persons in intermittent Government service) when
engaged in work away from their homes or regular places of business.

Effective Date

The designation is to be permitted with respect to income tax liability for each taxable year begin-
ning after December 31, 1966. For most taxpayers this means calendar year 1967. Accordingly, income
tax returns which must be filed on or before April 15, 1968, will be the first to contain a space in which the
taxpayer may indicate whether he chooses to have $1 of his tax used for presidential campaign purposes.
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STATEMENT ON THE CONFERENCE REPORT
Novembes 10, 1966
RUSSELL B. LONG, Chairman .

Let me turn now to the area of political campaign contributions.

First, let me make it clear that this is an area on which the Senate Finance Committee has held
hearings. An earlier version of the amendment adopted by the committee was presented in these hear-
ings for consideration by the committee. This is also true of various other plans, including the tax
deduction plan favored by the Senator from Delaware (Mr. Williams). I might also add that the prob-
lem of political campaign contributions has been discussed on the Senate floor not merely in connection
with this bill, but also in connection with earlier legislation. At the time we last raised the debt limita-
tion, the Senator from Delaware (Mr. Williams) sought to amend that bill with his provision providing
for political contribution deductions. The matter was extensively considered by the Senate at that time
and rejected. However, this proposal was analyzed in hearings on political contributions held by the
committee as I promised at the time.

This is a matter which has been considered extensively, not only in the current year, but in past
years as well. As the Senator from Tennessee (Mr. Gore) indicated, this is a problem which he had
under study some 10 years ago. The problem with these past studies, however, is that they were just
studies—no action was taken. I can well understand this, because the area of political campaign contri-
butions is a multiple problem. It is a problem which, in part, is appropriately considered by one com-
mittee and, in part, by other committees. In the past it has been difficult to obtain action on this
problem because of the feeling that it was impossible to act on any one of these problems until action
had been completed on the others. This, in turn, prevented action by all of the committees. Senator
Clark made this aspect of the situation quite clear in his discussion of the Presidential Election Cam-
paign Fund Act.

. I should make it clear that I do not consider the Long Act as a full answer to all of the problems
in connection with political campaign contributions. First of all, this deals only with presidential cam-
paigns. It may well be that after we see how this provision works in the case of presidential campaigns
we may want to extend either this provision or some modified version of it, to cover congressional elec-
tions, I do not know the answer to this, and I think it would be unfortunate for us to reach an inflexible
position in this regard until after we have tried this provision for a period of time in the case of presi-
dential campaigns.

Second, I want to make it clear that in my view this bill does not replace the need for additional
legislation regulating political contributions or requiring disclosure of the source of political campaign
contributions. Moreover, this does not deal with other issues which we may have to face with respect
to the division of television time or what organizations can properly make campaign expenditures. These
are all issues, however, as to which it will be easier to come up with specific answers after my amend-
ment is a part of the law, because it will give assurance of adequate financing for the most important
of all political campaigns.

Nor do I contend that my provision itself even in the limited area in which it is intended to operate
is, in all respects, necessarily a perfect answer to the problem. I am sure that modifications will be
necessary as we gain experience under this provision. Nevertheless, I view the Long Act as major legis-
lation which will give assurance that presidential candidates are not necessarily obligated to any fi-
nancial interests as a result of the necessity to raise funds to finance their campaigns. There are sizable
groups of citizens in our country who suspect that these financial contributions have influenced gov-
ernmental decisions. We should remove this shadow and prevent the possibility of anything like this
in the future. To me this is the most important aspect of my amendment.

I realize that some say, “But you haven’t prevented the other campaign contributions from being
made in addition to the funds provided by your bill.” I have two answers to this: first, as 1 have already
indicated, this is not the last time that I expect legislation to be passed with respect to political campaign
contributions. I will be prepared to support limitations to outlaw private contributions to presidential cam-
paigns when such legislation is before the Senate, and now that we have assurance of adequate financ-
ing for presidential campaigns, it will, for the first time from a practical point of view, really be possible
to consider limitations such as I have referred to.

Obtaining funds on a very small basis from a very wide group of our citizens is the best possible
way of being sure that no financial group can be said to have gained undue influence. Others have tried
to find a way of obtaining this broad participation through tax deductions or credits. However, the
effort which would be required to obtain these contributions in amounts as small as $1 from so many
people raises the collection costs under these other devices to such an extent as to make them impracti-
cal. Moreover, a tax deduction or even a tax credit tends to provide more of an incentive for those in the
higher income grouns to make contributions than for taxpayers of more modest means. This is a kind
of selection that I think is undesirable in attempting to influence political contributions.
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Some have objected to my plan because it requires individuals to check a box on their tax return.
What are the alternatives that we most frequently hear? The suggestions most usually made are for
a tax deduction or tax credit. These involve not merely a checkmark on the tax return but also the
recording of specific contributions made, and still leaves us with the auditing problem of determining
whether, in fact, the contributions were made. The tax problems in these alternative solutions are much
more complex and difficult than the simple checkmark on the tax return which the amendment provides.
Moreover, a tax deduction or credit to be verified must be checked with the party to whom the contribu-
tion was given. Who wants the internal revenue agents in examining his return to obtain information
on his political affiliation?

In the absence of finding any other basis for objection to the Long Act, it is sometimes claimed that
this is undesirable because individuals under this system are, in effect, designating how governmental
funds are to be spent. To me the interesting thing about this argument is that those who make this
charge fail to recognize that deduction or tax credit for political contributions just as effectively takes
money which would otherwise go into the Public Treasury and diverts it to another purpose. The only
difference I can see in this regard is that the tax deduction or tax credit schemes divert the money just
before it reaches the Treasury. Moreover, instead of diverting the money to the political campaigns,
these deductions or credits merely recompense the taxpayer for part of the contribution he has already
made. Moreover, frequently they repay the taxpayer needlessly for contributions he would have made
in any case. There is no such waste under the amendment in this bill.

I have explained the mechanics of the Long Act previously, so I see no need to repeat it here. How-
ever, there are a few points that I would like to emphasize:

First. This amendment treats equally all parties receiving 15 million votes or more. As a result,
this will not favor the party in power.

Second. Provision is made for minority parties under this bill. Any party receiving 5 million
votes or more—a 5 million deduction is provided not only for minority parties but for major parties
as well—receives political campaign funds based upon its vote over 5 million, and if it reaches the 15
million vote level, it is treated equally with the major parties. This is an honest attempt to give proper
recognition to minority parties in this area of political contributions but not at the same time be un-
realistic and treat fragment parties on the same basis as major parties. I believe that this represents
a fair solution to this problem, but I am certainly willing to consider modifications in the future should
the need to do so be established.

Third. This amendment is limited in several respects. Major parties cannot receive more than an
equal share of the funds based upon the vote in the last presidential election. Therefore, even if tax-
payers should check their tax returns freely in this regard, only limited funds would be available for
expenditure. The funds are available only for presidential campaigns, and the Comptroller General is
specifically authorized to examine the statements presented to him and to audit the books of the poltical
parties to be sure that the contributions are spent for presidential campaigns and not for congressional
or gubernatorial campaigns, and not for personal use, distinct from political purposes.

Fourth. It has been said that this provision runs contrary to the limitation in present law limiting
contributions to political committees to $3 million in any year. Those who say this cannot have ex-
amined the bill or present law very closely. Present law refers to contributions to political commit-
tees. The bill actually has nothing to do with contributions. The term “contribute” means to give or
supply in common with others; to share in a joint effort. The financing by the Government after the
passage of this bill is not a voluntary, joint effort to give funds. Rather, it is an appropriation of
funds. Rather, it is an appropriation of funds to which the parties have a right. Moreover, it is not
part of a joint effort. As a result, it is not a contribution and, therefore, does not come under the limi-
tation of present law. Moreover, it involves a payment to political “parties” not payments to political
“committees.” As a result, it should be clear the present $3 million limitation does not apply.

Fifth. Some have objected to the fact that the contribution in this case is divided between, or
among, the major parties. Some have indicated that they would prefer making all of their contribu-
tion to one party or the other. This, of course, is not the way to assure good government. It may bea
way of electing one party over another—Dby supplying it with a better financial base—but it does not as-
sure good government. The way to assure good government is to be sure that sufficient campaign funds
are available to both, or all, major parties, so that their positions can be fully understood by the elec-
torate. It is only a well-informed electorate that can assure the continuation of our representative form
of government.

Sixth. It has been suggested that there are no safeguards to prevent misuse of the funds made
available to the political parties by this provision. Actually, present law provides about as strict a fraud
statute as can be imagined. Section 1001 of title 18 of the code specifies :

Whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of any department or agency of the United
States knowingly and willfully falsifies, conceals or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a
material fact, or makes any false, fictitious or fraudulent statements or representations, or
makes or uses any false writing or documents knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement or entry shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than
five years, or both.
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Certainly I would not object to other safeguards being written into the law to prescribe even more
definitely how these funds may be used and how they may not be used, but I do feel that those who say
there presently are no safeguards have overstated their case.

b Contrary to the general impression that some have tried to create, this is not a hastily concocted
scheme.

It has long been suggested that Government should find some way to help finance the cost of these
campaigns. Theodore Roosevelt suggested nearly 60 years ago that this should be done with public
funds. Later the Special Committee To Investigate Campaign Expenditures of presidential, vice-presi-
dential, and senatorial candidates in 1936 suggested that private contributions to political campaigns be
prohibited entirely and that instead all election expenses should be defrayed from public funds. In
1959, Jasper B. Shannon, professor of political science at the University of Nebraska, recommended
a similar plan in his book “Money and Politics.” Earlier this year Prof. John Kenneth Galbraith sug-
gested, in connection with State offices, that the Government “provide every regularly nominated can-
didate with a public grant of sufficient size to enable him to get his name, merit if any, and platform
before the people. These grants would be available to candidates for statewide office, the general court
and for the senate and house of representatives.”

I introduced a bill on June 15 of this year to provide funds from the Treasury to help defray the
cost of presidential campaigns. In doing this I was largely implementing a thought which had been
before the people for discussion for nearly 6 decades. This is a matter which I have been studying for
over a year, and it is a matter which has been thoroughly analyzed by the Senate Finance Committee.
The best minds of the staff of the Finance Committee and the staff of the Joint Committee on Internal
Revenue Taxation, the Senate Legislative Counsel, the experts of Treasury, as well as other advisors
to the President and the senior members of the House Committee on Ways and Means have all contri-
buted meaningfully to the effort to find a proper answer. This is an important building block on which
we can build a proper system for controlling political campaign contributions. Moreover, it is the first
answer to this problem of financing political campaigns for which it has been possible to obtain ma-
jority support from Congress. This in itself is an important achievement in such a controversial field
as this.

Let me lude my ts on the presidential. political campaign financing by saying that 1
consider this one of the most important and constructive pieces of legislation passed by Congress this
year. I believe time will show that what I have said is true.
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APPENDIX

TEXT—PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN FUND ACT
(Title III of Public Law 89-809)

Sec. 301. SHORT TITLE.
This title may be cited as the “Presidential Election Campaign Fund Act of 1966.”

Sece. 302. AUTHORITY FOR DESIGNATION OF $1 OF INCOME TAX PAYMENTS TO PRESIDENTIAL
ELECTION CAMPAIGN FUND.
(a) Subchapter A of chapter 61 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to returns and
records) is amended by adding at the end thereof the following new part:

“Part VIII—Designation of Income Tax Payments to Presidential Election Campaign Fund
“SEC. 6096. Designation by individuals.

“Sec. 6096. DESIGNATION BY INDIVIDUALS.

“(a) IN GENERAL.—Every individual (other than a nonresident alien) whose income tax liability
for any taxable year is $1 or more may designate that $1 shall be paid into the Presidential Election Cam-
paign Fund established by section 303 of the Presidential Election Campaign Fund Act of 1966. .

“(b) INCOME TaAX LIABILITY.—For purposes of subsection (a), the income tax liability of an indi-
vidual for any taxable year is the amount of the tax imposed by chapter 1 on such individual for such
taxable year (as shown on his return), reduced by the sum of the credits (as shown in his return)
allowable under sections 32(2), 33, 35, 37, and 38.

“(c) MANNER AND TIME OF DESIGNATION.—A designation under subsection (a) may be made with
respect to any taxable year, in such manner as the Secretary or his delegate may prescribe by
regulations—

“(1) at the time of filing the return of the tax imposed by chapter 1 for such taxable year, or
““(2) at any other time (after the time of filing the return of the tax imposed by chapter 1 for
such taxable year) specified in regulations prescribed by the Secretary or his delegate.”

(b) The table of parts for subchapter A of chapter 61 of such Code is amended by adding at the
end thereof the following new item:

“Part VIII. Designation of income tax payments to Presidential Election Campaign Fund.”

(c) The amendments made by this section shall apply with respect to income tax liability for
taxable years beginning after December 31, 1966.

Sec. 303. PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN FUND.

(a) ESTABLISHMENT.—There is hereby established on the books of the Treasury of the United
States a special fund to be known as the ‘“Presidential Election Campaign Fund” (hereafter in this
section referred to as the “Fund”). The Fund shall consist of amounts transferred-to it as provided
in this section.

(b) TRANSFERS TO THE FUND.—The Secretary of the Treasury shall, from time to time, transfer
to the Fund an amount equal to the sum of the amounts designated by individuals under section 6096
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 for payment into the Fund.

(c) PAYMENTS FROM FUND.—

(1) IN GENERAL.—The Secretary of the Treasury shall, with respect to each presidential cam-
paign, pay out of the Fund, as authorized by appropriation Acts, into the treasury of each political
party which has complied with the provisions of paragraph (3) an amount (subject to the limitation
in paragraph (3) (B)) determined under paragraph (2).

(2) DETERMINATION OF AMOUNTS.—

(A) Each political party whose candidate for President at the preceding presidential
election received 15,000,000 or more popular votes as the candidate of such political party
shall be entitled to payments under paragraph (1) with respect to a presidential campaign
equal to the excess over $5,000,000 of—

(i) $1 multiplied by the total number of popular votes cast in the preceding presi-

dential election for candidates of political parties whose candidates received 15,000,000

or more popular votes as the candidates of such political parties, divided by

(ii) the number of political parties whose candidates in the preceding presidential
election received 15,000,000 or more popular votes as the candidates of such political
arties.

IZB) Each political party whose candidate for President at the preceding presidential
election received more than 5,000,000, but less than 15,000,000, popular votes as the candidate
of such political party shall be entitled to payments under paragraph (1) with respect to a
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presidential campaign equal to $1 multiplied by the number of popular votes in excess of

5,000,000 received by such candidate as the candidate of such political party in the preceding

presidential election.

(C) Payments under paragraph (1) shall be made with respect to each presidential cam-
paign at such times as the Secretary of the Treasury may prescribe by regulations, except that
no payment with respect to any presidential campaign shall be made before September 1 of
the year of the presidential election with respect to which such campaign is conducted. If at
the time so prescribed for any such payments, the moneys in the Fund are insufficient for the
Secretary to pay into the treasury of each political party which is entitled to a payment under
paragraph (1) the amount to which such party is entitled, the payment to all such parties at
such time shall be reduced pro rata, and the amounts not paid at such time shall be paid when
there are sufficient moneys in the Fund.

(8) LIMITATIONS.—

(A) No payment shall be made under paragraph (1) into the treasury of a political party
with respect to any presidential campaign unless the treasurer of such party has certified to
the Comptroller General the total amount spent or incurred (prior to the date of the certifica-
tion) by such party in carrying on such presidential campaign, and has furnished such records
and other information as may be requested by the Comptroller General.

(B) No payment shall be made under paragraph (1) into the treasury of a political party
with respect to any presidential campaign in an amount which, when added to previous
payments made to such party, exceeds the amount spent or incurred by such party in carrying
on such presidential campaign.

(4) The Comptroller General shall certify to the Secretary of the Treasury the amounts pay-
able to any political party under paragraph (1). The Comptroller General's determination as to
the popular vote received by any candidate of any political party shall be final and not subject to
review. The Comptroller General is authorized to prescribe such rules and regulations, and to
conduet such examinations and investigations, as he determines necessary to carry out his duties
and functions under this subsection.

(5) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this subsection—
(A) The term “political party” means any political party which presents a candidate for
election to the office of President of the United States.
B) The term “presidential campaign” means the political campaign held every fourth
year for the election of presidential and vice presidential electors.
(C) The term “presidential election” means the election of presidential electors.

(d) TRANSFERS TO GENERAL Funp.—If, after any presidential campaign and after all political
parties which are entitled to payments under subsection (c) with respect to such presidential campaign
have been paid the amounts to which they are entitled under subsection (c), there are moneys remaining
in tﬁe %md, the Secretary of the Treasury shall transfer the moneys so remaining to the general fund
of the Treasury.

Sec. 304. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADVISORY BOARD.

(a) There is hereby established an advisory board to be known as the Presidential Election Cam-
paign Fund Advisory Board (hereafter in this section referred to as the “Board”). It shall be the duty
and function of the Board to counsel and assist the Comptroller General in the performance of the duties
imposed on him under section 303 of this Act.

(b) The Board shall be composed of two members representing each political party whose candidate
for President at the last pyesxdentlal election received 15,000,000 or more popular votes as the candidate
of such political party, which members shall be appointed by the Comptroller General from recommenda-
tions submitted by each such political party, and of three additional members selected by the members so
appointed by the Comptroller General. The term of the first members of the Board shall expire on the
60th day after the date of the first presidential election following the date of the enactment of this Act
and the term of subsequent members of the Board shall begin on the 61st day after the date of a presi-
dential election and expire on the 60th day following the date of the subsequent presidential election.
The Board shall select a Chairman from among its members.

(¢) Members of the Board shall receive compensation at the rate of $75 a day for each day they
are engaged in performing duties and functions as such members, including travel time, and, while
away from their homes or regular places of business, shall be allowed travel expenses, including per
diem in lieu of subsistence, as authorized by law for persons in the Government service employed
intermittently. .

(d) Service by an individual as a member of the Board shall not, for purposes of any other law of
the United States, be considered as service as an officer or employee of the United States.

Sec. 305. APPROPRIATIONS AUTHORIZED.

There are authorized to be appropriated, out of the Presidential Election Campaign Fund, such
sm{ﬁ a,sAmay be necessary to enable the Secretary of the Treasury to make payments under section 303
of this Act.
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SUMMARY OF THE FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF
1966; PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN FUND ACT;
AND OTHER AMENDMENTS (H.R. 13103, 89TH CONG.,,
PUBLIC LAW 89-809)

The four titles of H.R. 13103, as enacted, contain provisions dealing
with the tax treatment of nonresident aliens and foreign corporations,
the establishment of a presidential election campaign fund, the amend-
ment of various other tax provisions, and amendments for other pur-

oses. The more important provisions of the act are summarized as
ollows:

A. The Foreign Investors Tax Act

Interest on deposits in foreign branch banks of domestic corpora-
tions and partnerships—Interest on deposits with foreign branch
banks of U.S. corporations or partnerships is to be treated as foreign
source income, and thus is to be free of U.S. income tax when paid to
nonresident aliens and foreign corporations.

Source rules for bank deposit interest and similar income—
After December 31, 1972, all interest on U.S. bank deposits (other
than those described above), whether or not effectively connected with
a U.S. business, is to be treated as U.S. source income (and subject
to U.S. income tax; in the case of nonresident aliens and forei
corporations. Until then, this interest on bank deposits, interest paid
on accounts with mutual savings banks, domestic building and loan
associations, ete., and interest on amounts held by insurance companies
on deposit also are to be treated as foreign source income (unless
effectively connected with a U.S. business) and thereby free of U.S.
income tax.

Rules for determining the source of dividends and interest from
foreign corporations—The source rules with respect to dividends and
Interest paid by foreign corporations are amended to provide that
dividends and interest received from a foreign corporation are to be
considered as having a U.S. source only if 50 percent of the corpo-
ration’s gross income for the prior 8 years was effectively connected
with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

Compensation ﬁor personal services.—The existing special source
rule, providing that certain payments of compensation for services
performed in the United States by a nonresident alien are treated as
foreign source income (and therefore free of U.S. tax) if the services
are performed for certain foreign persons or a foreign office of a U.S.
corporation, is extended to services performed for a foreign office of
a proprietor who is a citizen or resident of the United States or for
the foreign office of a domestic partnership.

Trading in stocks or securities or in commodities—Except in the
case of dealers and certain investment companies, trading in stocks or
securities in the United States for one’s own account, whether by a
foreign investor physically present in the United States, through an

1

1993



2 FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966

employee located here, or through a resident agent (whether or not
the agent has discretionary authority) is not to constitute a trade or
business in the United States for income tax purposes. A parallel
rule is provided for those trading in commodities.

Income effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business
in the United States—The benchmark to be used in determining
whether income is to be subject to a flat 30-percent rate or taxed sub-
stantially the same as income earned here by a U.S. citizen or domestic
corporation is whether or not the income is effectively connected with
a U.S. business. In the case of investment and other fixed or determin-
able income and capital gains from U.S. sources the income is to be
treated as effectively connected with a U.S business if the income is
derived from assets used or held for use in the conduct of a U.S. busi-
ness or if the activities of the U.S. business are a material factor in
the realization of the income. All other types of U.S. source income
are to be considered to be effectively connected if there is a U.S. busi-
ness. Income from sources without the United States is not to be
treated as effectively connected with a U.S. business unless the nonresi-
dent alien or foreign corporation has a fixed place of business in the
United States and the income is attributable to that place of busi-
ness. Moreover, in general only rents and royalties from licensing,
certain income from banking and so forth, and sales income are to be
taken into account for this purpose and only to the extent the income
is not “subpart F” income or income derived from a foreign corpora-
tion 50 percent owned by the nonresident alien or foreign corporation
receiving the income. Also excluded from the definition of “effectively
connected” foreign source income is (2) income derived from a trans-
action in which the U.S. office was not a material factor, (&) income
not derived from the usual business activities of the U.S. office, and
(¢) income not properly allocable to the U.S. office. Additionally,
a U.S. office is defined to exclude the office of certain agents. See also
the related foreign tax credit provision.

Income tax on nonresident alien individuals.—The income of non-
resident aliens which is effectively connected with a U.S. business is
to be taxed at the regular graduated rates applicable to individuals
and all income not so connected is to be taxed at a flat 30-percent rate
(or lower applicable treaty rate). U.S. source capital gains of a non-
resident alien not engaged in business in the United States are to be
taxed only if the alien was in the United States for 183 days or more
during the year. Deductions are allowable only to the extent allocable
to income which is effectively connected to a U.S. business. Also, an
election is provided which allows an alien to treat income from real
property as U.S. business income in order to take deductions allocable
to it.

Expatriation to avoid income tax—U.S. source income and the
effectively connected income of a citizen received for 10 years after
expatriation is, in most cases, to be taxed at the regular U.S. tax rates
if a principal purpose of the expatriation was the avoidance of U.S.
income, estate, or gift taxes.

Withheld taxes and declarations of estimated income tax.—The
Treasury Department is authorized to require payment of amounts
withheld from nonresident aliens and foreign corporations on a more
current basis, rather than the annual basis previously provided. Non-
resident aliens who receive income which is effectively connected with
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FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966 3

the conduct of a U.S. business are to be required to file declarations of
estimated tax.

Income tax on foreign corporations—The regular corporate in-
come tax is to apply to income of foreign corporations which is effec-
tively connected with a U.S. business. U.S. source income which is not
so connected is taxable at a flat 30-percent rate (or at a lower treaty
rate). Foreign corporations are given an election to treat real prop-
exl'py income as business income similar to that afforded nonresident
aliens.

Foreign corporations carrying on insurance business in the United
States—A foreign corporation carrying on a life insurance business
within the United States is to be taxed under the existing special
insurance company provisions on its income effectively connected with
a U.S. business. The remainder of the income of this type of corpora-
tion from sources within the United States is to be taxed in the same
manner as income of other corporations which is not effectively con-
nected ; that is, at a flat 80-percent rate. An adjustment also is made
to avoid double taxation which might result from the interaction of
the minimum surplus provision for life insurance companies under
existing law and the new method of taxing foreign life insurance
companies.

Discrimination and more burdensome taxes by foreign countries.—
The act authorizes the President to reinstate the income, estate, or
gift tax provisions in effect prior to the enactment of this act with
respect to foreigners upon a determination that the foreign country in
which they are residents or were incorporated is imposing more bur-
densome taxes on U.S. citizens or domestic corporations on income
from sources within the foreign country than the U.S. tax on similar
U.S. source income of foreigners. - An additional amendment provides
the President with authority in the case of discrimination by a for-
eign government against U.S. persons, to take such action as is neces-
sary to raise the effective rate of U.S. tax on income received by na-
tionals or corporations of that other country to substantially the same
effective rates as are applied in the other country on income of U.S.
citizens or corporations.

Foreign community property income—A TU.S. citizen who is
married to a nonresident alien and resident in foreign country with
community property laws, is to have an election for post-1966 years
to treat the community income of the husband and wife as income of
the person who earns 1t or, in the case of trade or business income, as
income of the husband unless the wife manages the business. Income
from separate property is to be treated as income of the person owning
the property. All other community income is to be governed by the
applicable foreign community property law. For open pre-1967 years,
an election may also be made and the rules set forth above govern ex-
cept that the other community income is to be treated as the income of
the person who had the greater income from the other community
income categories plus separate income.

Foreign tax credit—A foreign tax credit is to be allowed non-
resident aliens and foreign corporations with respect to foreign taxes
on foreign source income which is effectively connected to the conduct
of a U.S. business. This provision includes, as creditable taxes, both
income taxes imposed by the country of the source of the income and
the country of the residence of the business.
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4 FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966

Similar income taw credit requirement—Under prior law a for-
eign tax credit has been denied to citizens of a foreign country who
were resident in the United States if the foreign country did not allow
a similar credit to U.S. citizens who were resident in the foreign coun-
try. In the future the credit is to be denied only where the President
finds that this is in the public interest and the foreign country refuses
to orant U.S. citizens such a credit when requested to do so.

eparate foreign tax credit limitation.—The 10-percent exception
to the separate application of the limitation on the foreign tax credit
for interest income was amended so as to apply to a U.S. corporation
which directly or indirectly owns 10 percent of the foreign corpora-
tion from which the interest is derived, or is a member of an affiliated
group of corporations which has such ownership.

State tax rates, ewemptions, and returns—A separate schedule of
estate tax rates is made applicable to estates of nonresident aliens.
The rates are graduated from 5 percent on the first $100,000 of a tax-
able estate to 25 percent on the portion which exceeds $2 million.
The exemption also is raised from $2,000 to $30,000. These two meas-
ures accord approximately the same tax treatment in the case of the
estate of a nonresident alien as is accorded a similarsized estate of a
citizen eligible for a marital deduction. The filing requirement for
returns for the estates of these nonresident aliens also is raised from
$2,000 to $30,000.

Situs rule for bonds—For purposes of the tax imposed on the
estates of nonresident aliens, bonds of a U.S. person, the United States,
a State, or political subdivision owned by a nonresident not a citizen
of the United States, are to be considered property within the
United States and therefore subject to U.S. estate tax. This rule al-
ready applies in the case of other forms of debt obligations.

Situs rule for bank deposits—U.S. bank deposits of nonresident
aliens are to be treated as property within the United States and
therefore subject to U.S. estate tax after 1972.

Situs rule for deposits in foreign branch banks—Deposits in a
foreign branch bank of a U.S. corporation or partnership are to be
treated as property without the United States and therefore not
includible in a foreigner’s U.S. estate tax base.

Ezxpatriation to avoid estate tax.—The estate of a nonresident alien
is to be taxed at the regular U.S. estate tax rates if, within 10 years
of his death, the alien has expatriated from the United States with a
principal purpose of avoiding U.S. taxes. ‘

Tax on gifts of nonresident aliens—Transfers of intangible prop-
erty by nonresident aliens are not to be subject to gift tax whether
or not they are engaged in business in the United States. However,
gifts of intangibles made by citizens who become expatriates within
10 years of making the gift are to be subject to gift tax if the avoidance
of 1ncome, estate or gift taxes was a principal purpose for their becom-
ing an expatriate. In the case of a person who expatriated for tax
avoidance reasons, debt obligations of a U.S. person, or of the United
States or a State or political subdivision, are to be treated as having a
situs in the United States.

Treaty obligations—No amendment made by this act is to apply
in any case where its application would be contrary to any treaty ogli—
oation of the United States. However, the granting of a benefit pro-
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vided by an amendment made by this act is not to be considered to
be contrary to a treaty obligation. Thus, even though a nonresident
alien or foreign corporation has a permanent establishment in the
United States, income which is not effectively connected with this busi-
ness is to be taxed at the applicable treaty rate rather than at the
regular individual or corporate rate.

B. Other amendments to the Internal Revenue Code

Application of the investment credit to certain property in U.S.
possessions—The investment credit is extended to property located
in U.S. possessions provided the property is owned by a U.S. com-
pany or citizen, subject to U.S. tax on its income from possessions,
would otherwise have qualified for the investment credit, and is not
owned or used by U.S. persons who are presently exempt from U.S.
tax under certain sections of the code. This amendment is effective
with respect to property placed in service after December 31, 1965.

Corporate acquisition of assets of another corporation—(a) Pur-
chase of stock—Under existing law, the purchase from an unrelated
party by one corporation of at least 80 percent of the stock of another
corporation followed by the liquidation of the acquired corporation
within 2 years is treated as a purchase of the assets of the acquired
corporation. The definition of “purchase” in this provision is extended
to include the purchase of stock from a 50-percent owned subsidiary if
stock in the 50-percent owned subsidiary was also acquired by purchase.
The change is to be effective with respect to acquisitions of stock made
after December 31, 1965.

(b) Installment notes—When installment notes are transferred in
the type of purchase and liquidation described above, gain is to be
recognized to the distributing corporation in the same manner as if it
had sold the notes.

Swap funds, ete—The act provides that no gain or loss is to be
recognized with respect to property that is transferred to an invest-
ment company in what constitutes an exchange of investment interests
on or before June 30, 1967, if the registration statements of the in-
vestment company (where such statements are required) are filed with
the SEC before January 1, 1967, and the property is deposited with
the investment fund before May 1, 1967.

Removal of certain limitations to the deductibility of contributions
to self-employed individuals’ pension plans—The act repeals the pro-
vision which limited the deduction from gross income which self-
employed individuals could take with respect to contributions on their
own behalf to a retirement plan to 50 percent of the contributions.
Thus, self-employed persons may deduct the entire amount of their
contributions subject to the limitation that the contributions cannot
exceed the lesser of 10 percent of earned income or $2,500. This pro-
{ii)%i’?n is to be effective for taxable years beginning after December 31,

The act also permits a self-employed individual to include in his
earned income all of his net profits (rather than not over 30 percent)
when his income is derived from a business in which both the per-
formance of personal services and capital are material income-produc-
ing factors. In such cases, however, the personal services provided by
the self-employed person must clearly be a material income-producing

factor.
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6 ’ FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966

Self-employed persons retirement plans: certain income of authors,
investors, and so forth.—The act amends prior law relating to self-
employed individuals’ retirement plans to permit authors, inventors,
and so forth, to include gains (other than capital gains) from sales
and other transfers of their works in their earned income base for
the purpose of computing deductions for contributions to such plans.

Exclusion of certain rents, from personal holding company in-
come.~This amendment provides, for taxable years beginning after
the date of enactment (and certain earlier years at the election of
the taxpayer), that rent received from the lease of tangible personal
property manufactured by a taxpayer (where he still is manufacturing
similar property) is not to be treated as personal holding company
income.

Percentage depletion in the case of certain clay-bearing alumina.—
A percentage depletion rate of 23 percent (rather than 15 percent) is
to be allowed for alumina and aluminum compounds extracted from
domestic deposits of clay, laterite, and nephelite syenite.

Percentage depletion rate for clam and oyster shells—Mollusk
shells (including clam and oyster shells) are to be allowed percentage
depletion at the rate of 15 percent unless they are used as riprap,
ballast, road material, concrete aggregate, etc., in which case the per-
centage depletion rate is to remain 5 percent.

Percentage depletion rate for shale, clay, and slate—The depletion
rate is raised from 5 percent to 714 percent for clay or shale used in
making sewerpipe and brick and for clay, shale, or slate sintered or
burned and used as light-weight aggregates.

Straddles—With respect to straddle transactions entered into after
January 25, 1965, the income from the lapse of an option which orig-
inated as part of a straddle is to be treated as a short-term capital
gain (instead of ordinary income). This permits this income to be
netted against any capital loss which may result from the exercise of
the other option in the straddle while retaining what in most respects
is ordinary income treatment for any excess of net short-term capital
gain over net long-term capital loss.

The taxation of per-unit retain allocations of cooperatives—The
act_clarifies existing law dealing with the taxation of cooperatives
and patrons to insure that a current single tax is paid, at either the
cooperative or patron level, with respect to per-unit retain certificates.
In so doing, the amendment makes the treatment of these certificates
generally comparable to the treatment of patronage dividends.

The excise tax on hearses—This act provides that the sale of a
hearse or combination ambulance-hearse vehicle is to be considered
to be the sale of an automobile chassis or automobile body (rather
than a truck chassis or body) for purposes of determining the manu-
facturers’ excise tax on motor vehicles.

Interest equalization tax: raw material source loans—Subse-
quent transfers of debt obligations to assure raw material sources are
to be exempt from the interest equalization tax where the indebtedness
is acquired without an intent on the part of the purchaser to sell it to
other U.S. persons. This change is to be effective with respect to
acquisitions of debt obligations made after the date of enactment.

Interest equalization tax: certain acquisitions by insurance com-
panies in developed countries—The existing exemption for reserve
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asset pools of U.S. insurance companies is extended to allow the estab-
lishment of reserve asset pools where a U.S. insurance company
commences activities in a developed country or where a less-developed
country is designated as a developed country. This amendment is to
take effect on the day after the date of enactment.

Interest equalization taw: Euro-dollars—The President is given
the authority to exempt from the interest equalization tax U.S. dollar
loans of more than 1 year made by the foreign branches of U.S. banks.
This change is to apply to acquisitions of debt obligations made after
the date of enactment.

O. Presidential Election Campaign Fund Act

This title provides for public support of presidential election cam-
paign financing. Individual taxpayers are to be able to designate
on their annual tax returns that $1 of their income tax liability is
to be placed in a presidential election campaign fund. The amounts
in the fund are to be made available to defray the expenses incurred
by political parties in presenting candidates for President and Vice
President. Amounts will only be paid to those political parties whose
cimdidates received at least 5 million votes in the preceding presidential
election.

Any major political party (one whose candidate polled 15 million
votes or more in the preceding presidential election) is to be eligible to
receive a payment from the fund computed on the following basis:
$1 times the number of votes cast for the presidential candidates of the
major political parties in the preceding presidential election divided
by the number of such major political parties and the result then re-
duced by $5 million. A minor party (one whose candidate polled
more than 5 million but less than 15 million votes) is to be eligible to
receive a payment from the fund equal to $1 for each vote in excess of
5 million votes that its candidate received in the preceding presiden-
tial election. The payment received by any political party is to be
limited, however, to reimbursement of presidential campaign expenses
actually incurred by the party in connection with the current presiden-
tial election.

The Comptroller General is authorized to determine the campaign
expenses of the political parties and to determine the amounts which
may be paid to such parties. An advisory board is established to
advise and assist the Comptroller General with his duties under this
act.

D. Miscellaneous provisions A

Treasury bonds or certificates payable in foreign currency.—This
amendment expands the debt mangament authority of the Secre-
tary of the Treasury to permit the issuance of U.S. notes denominated
in foreign currencies. This authority already exists in the case of
bonds and certificates of indebtedness.

Reports on Federal contingent liabilities and assets—This amend-
ment requires the Secretary of the Treasury to submit, on the first day
of each regular session of the Congress, a report to the Congress indi-
cating the full contingent liabilities of the Federal Government and
the assets of the Federal Government which might be made available
to liquidate such liabilities, as of the preceding June 30. The first
such report to be submitted is the report as of June 30, 1967.

1999






I. EXPLANATION OF PROVISIONS

A. Foreien INvesTors Tax Act
1. INCOME TAX SOURCE RULES

a. Rules for determining source of certain interest payments (sec.
102(a) (1) of the act and secs. 861 (a) and (¢) of the code)

Prior law.—Prior law provided that interest on deposits paid to
foreign persons not engaged in trade or business in the United States
was to be treated as income from sources without the United States
and therefore not subject to U.S. tax if the interest was paid by a
U.S. bank. The Internal Revenue Service interpreted this rule
to apply, in addition to banks, to certain deposits with some types of
State-chartered savings and loan associations. However, the Serv-
ice did not interpret this provision as extending to interest paid on
deposits with all savings and loan associations or all types of deposits.
Additionally, interest on similar deposits with insurance companies
was not accorded the benefits of this special rule.

Ewplanation of provision—The act amends prior law to provide
that after December 31, 1972, interest on deposits with U.S. banks paid
to nonresident alien individuals or foreign corporations is to be
treated as income from sources within the United States and there-
fore subject to U.S. tax. A provision was also added which subjects
interest on deposits with U.S. branch banks of foreign corporations to
these provisions. Therefore, until 1973 only bank interest received
by nonresident aliens or foreign corporations which is effectively con-
nected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States
will be subject to U.S. tax.! In addition, during the intervening 6-
year period the act extends the application of the foreign source rule
of prior law to interest (or so-called dividends) paid on deposits (or
withdrawable accounts) with all chartered and supervised savings
and loan associations or smilar institutions, to the extent these amounts
are deductible (determined without regard to section 265) in com-
puting the taxable income of these institutions. Similar institutions
for this purpose include mutual savings banks, cooperative baniks,
and domestic building and loan associations. Also, during this 6-
year period, this special foreign source rule is to be applicable to in-
terest on amounts held by insurance companies under an agreement
to pay interest. The amounts paid by insurance companies to which
this rule is extended include: (1) interest paid on policyholder divi-
dends left with the company to accumulate; (2) interest paid on pre-
paid insurance premiums; (3) interest paid on proceeds of policies
left on deposit; and (4) interest paid on overcharges of premiums.

Effective date—Except for the provision repealing the special for-
eign source ruie for certain interest as of December 31, 1972, these

1The term ‘“effectively connected” is explained subsequently in No. 2(b) below.
9
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amendments are effective with respect to taxable years beginning after
December 31, 1966.

b. Interest on deposits in foreign branch banks of domestic corpora-
tions and partnerships (sec. 102(a) (2) of the act, sec. 861(a)
(2) (F) of the code)

Prior law.—Prior law provided that interest paid to nonresident
alien individuals or foreign corporations on deposits with foreign
branches of U.S. banks, although paid by the foreign branch situated
abroad, is treated as from sources within the United States if the
recipient of the interest was engaged in a trade or business in the
United States.

Explanation of provision—The act provides that the interest on
deposits paid by foreign branch banks of U.S. corporations and
partnerships is to be treated as foreign source income. Thus, non-
resident aliens and foreign corporations will not be subject to U.S.
tax on this type of interest income.

Effective date.—This amendment is effective with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966.

c. Foreign central banks and the Bank for International Settlements
(sec. 102(a) (4) (A) of the act and sec. 895 of the code)

Prior law—Under existing law interest received by a foreign cen-
tral bank of issue from obligations of the U.S. Government is exempt
from U.S. tax unless the obligations are used by the central bank in
commercial transactions. In addition foreign central banks of issue
and the Bank for International Settlements are not subject to tax on
interest income from their U.S. bank deposits since bank-deposit inter-
est received by nonresident aliens and foreign corporations not en-
gaged in a trade or business within the United States is deemed to be
from sources without the United States.

The central banks of issue are generally the custodians of the bank-
ing reserves of their countries and usually carry on most of the mone-
tary functions of their countries in much the same way as our Federal
Reserve Board. The Bank for International Settlements is an inter-
national organization, in practice used primarily to aid European cen-
tral banks of issue in their international financial operations, to
promote cooperation among these central banks and to act as trustee
in regard to certain international financial settlements. At present,
all the central banks of Europe, except that of the Soviet Union, be-
long to the Bank for International Settlements and over 90 percent
of the Bank’s deposits are owned by these central banks.

Explanation of provision—The act specifically exempts from U.S.
tax interest received by foreign central banks of issue and the Bank
for International Settlements from U.S. bank deposits unless the de-
posits are held in connection with commercial transactions of these
banks. Therefore, after 1972, this will distinguish their tax treatment
for interest on bank deposits from that accorded other foreign persons.
Amendments were also made which would exempt interest received
by the Bank for International Settlements from U.S. Government
obligations. In addition, an amendment was adopted extending the
governmental obligation rule to include obligations of agencies or
instrumentalities of the United States (including beneficial interests,
participations, and other instruments issued under sec. 302(c) of the
Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act).
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Effective date—These amendments are effective with respect to tax-
able years beginning after December 31, 1966.

d. Rules for determining the sources of dividends and interest from
foreign corporations (secs. 102(a) (2), (a) (3),and (b) of the Act
and secs. 861 (a) (1) (B), (C), and (D), and (2) (B) of the code)

Prior law.—Prior law provided that all, or a portion of dividends
paid by a foreign corporation to nonresident aliens or foreign corpora-
tions was considered to be from U.S. sources and therefore subject to
U.S. tax if 50 percent or more of the income of the foreign corporation
making the distribution was derived from sources within the United
States during the preceding 8-year period. A similar rule provided
that all the interest paid by a foreign corporation engaged in trade or
business in the United States was considered to be U.S. source income
and therefore subject to U.S. tax if 20 percent or more of the income
of the foreign corporation paying the interest was from U.S. sources
during the preceding 3-year period.

The portion of the dividend treated as being from U.S. sources,
where the 50-percent test referred to above was met, was equal to that
proportion of gross income from all sources that was derived from
U.S. sources during the immediately prior 3-year period. However,
in the case of this type of interest income there was no apportionment
provision and therefore all of the interest paid by a foreign corpora-
tion meeting the 20 percent rule was treated as being from U.S. sources
notwithstanding the proportion of the corporation’s income which was
from U.S. sources.

Explanation of provision—The act amends the source rules with
respect to dividends and interest paid by corporations to provide that
no portion of the dividend or interest received from a foreign corpo-
ration is to be considered to be from U.S. sources unless 50 percent
or more of the corporation’s gross income for the 3-year period preced-
ing the year in which the dividends or interest payments are made
was effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in
the United States. Also, the portion of the dividend or interest
treated as being from U.S. sources is to be the same proportion of the
dividend or interest which the effectively connected income of the
foreign corporation during the immediately prior 3-year E)eriod is
of its gross income from all sources for that period. Thus, when com-
pared to prior law, the effect of these amendments is to decrease the
amount of dividends and interest likely to remain subject to U.S. tax.

The act also contains a transitional rule providing that, in applying
the new 50-percent test, any gross income of the foreign corporation
from U.S. sources, for any period before the first taxable year begin-
ning after December 31,1966, is treated as effectively connected income.
A special rule for determining the source of interest or dividends
paid by newly incorporated corporations was also added.

Effective date—These amendments are effective with respect to
dividends received after December 31, 1966.

e. Compensation for personal services (secs. 102(c) and (&) of the act
and secs. 861 (a) (3) (O) (i) and 864 (D) (1) of the code)

Prior law —Existing law provides that payments of compensation
for services performed in the United States generally are treated as
U.S. source income. An exception to this rule is provided for com-
pensation received by a nonresident alien where certain conditions are
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met. Thus, payments for personal services received by a nonresident
alien are treated as foreign source income if (1) he was temporaril
present in the United States for not over 90 days during the year; (237
the compensation does not exceed $3,000; and (38) the services are per-
formed for a foreign employer not engaged in a trade or business in
the United States or for a domestic corporation if the services are
performed for an office or place of business it maintains in a foreign
country or U.S. possession. Also, existing law provides that the
rendering of personal services in the cases described above is not to
constitute engaging in a trade or business in the United States."

Ewxplanation of provision.—The act amends the source rule of exist-
ing law relating to personal service income to provide that income
from services performed by a nonresident alien temporarily present
in the United gtates for not over 90 days in a year, if not in excess of .
$3,000, is to be treated as foreign source income (and not subject to
U.S. tax) not only in cases where the employer with the foreign office
is a foreign person or a domestic corporation but also where such an
employer is a U.S. citizen or resident or a domestic partnership.
Similar changes are also made in the definition of a “trade or business
within the United States” to provide that this term does not include
personal services performed for employers who are U.S. citizens or
residents or for domestic partnerships where the conditions set forth
above are met.

Effective date—These amendments are applicable with respect to
taxable years beginning after December 31,1966.

2. DEFINITIONS USED IN DETERMINING TAXABLE STATUS OF INCOME

a. Trading in stocks or securities or in commodities (sec. 102(d) of the
act and sec. 86/,(b) (2) of the code)

Prior law—Prior law specifically excluded from the activities which
constitute engaging in a trade or business within the United States
the trading activities conducted by a nonresident alien in stocks, secu-
rities, or commodities in the United States through a resident broker,
commission agent, or custodian. This rule also applied with respect to
foreign corporations. However, under prior law, the granting of dis-
cretionary authority to the broker or agent may have prevented a non-
resident alien or foreign corporation from qualifying for this exclu-
sion, with the result that income arising from these transactions and
all other U.S. source income was subject to U.S. tax at the regular in-
dividual or corporate rates (based on a determination that such ac-
tivities constitute carrying on a trade or business in the United States).

Explanation of provision—Prior law was amended to provide
specifically that the trading in stocks, securities, or commodities in the
United States, for one’s own account, whether by a foreign person
physically present in the United States, through an employee located
here, or through a resident broker, commission agent, custodian, or
other agent—whether or not that agent has discretionary authority—
does not constitute a trade or business in the United States. This
treatment, hbwever, does not apply to dealers in stocks, securities, or
commodities or to a foreign investment corporation if it has its prin-
cipal office here.

It is not intended that as a result of this provision a foreign invest-
ment company (other than a corporation which is, or but for section
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542(c) (7) or 543(b) (1) (C) would be, a personal holding company)
is to be permitted to locate its general business activities in the United
States and avoid taxation at the regular corporate rates on its income
and gains effectively connected with its business in this country. How-
ever, a foreign investment company conducting its general business
activities in a foreign country (i.e., having its principal office there)
can conduct trading activities in the United States through an agent
with discretionary authority, without being considered as conducting
a trade or business in the United States.

Whether a corporation’s principal office is in the United States is to
be determined by comparing the activities (other than trading in
securities) which the corporation conducts from an office located in the
United States with the activities it conducts from offices located out-
side the United States. For example, a corporation which carries on
most or all of its stock and securities transactions through an agent
with discretionary authority in the United States but maintains a gen-
eral business office outside the United States in which its management
is located and from which it communicates with its shareholders and
the general public, solicits sales of its own stock, and maintains its
corporate records and books of accounts, is not to be considered as
having its principal office in the United States.

Although, under this provision, a dealer is specifically excluded
from those who may grant discretionary authority and not be deemed
to be conducting a business in the United States, he may trade in
securities or commodities, for his own account, through an independent
U.S. agent without being considered to be conducting a business in the
United States. However, this rule does not apply if at any time dur-
ing the year he has an office or place of business in the United States
through which, or by the direction of which, transactions in stocks,
securities, or commodities are effected.

Even t‘l,lough this provision does not free some dealers in stocks, se-
curities, or commodities, and investment companies from the possi-
bility that they may be considered as engaged in a trade or business
in the United States, this does not mean that all such dealers or invest-
ment companies are so engaged. In such a situation, the question of
whether a dealer or investment company is conducting a trade or
business in the United States remains a question of fact to be deter-
mined under the rules of existing law.

Effective date—These amendments apply with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31,1966.

b. Income %fectivel connected with the conduct of a trade or business
in the United States (sec. 102(d) of the act and sec. 864 (c) of the
code)

Prior law—Under prior law nonresident aliens and foreign corpo-
rations were generally taxable at the regular individual or corporate
rates on all their U.S. source income if they were engaged in trade or
business in the United States and were taxable at a flat 30-percent
rate (or lower treaty rate) on all fixed or determinable income if not so
engaged. This difference in treatment applied whether or not there
was any relationship between the different types of incomes (business
and investment) derived from the United gtates.

Ezplanation of provision.—As a general rule, the act provides that
income of a nonresident alien or foreign corporation will be subject
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to the flat 30-percent (or lower treaty) rate if it is not effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United
States. The regular individual or corporate rates apply to income
which is effectively connected to the conduct of a U.S. trade or busi-
ness. A foreigner may elect to treat real property income as if it were
income effectively connected with a U.S. business so that the deduc-
tions attributable to this real property income can be deducted from it.
The application of the effectively connected concept to different types
of income is set forth below.

(2) Income from U.S. sources treated as “effectively connected.”—
In determining whether periodical income such as interest, dividends,
rents and wages, and capital gains is effectively connected with the
conduct of a trade or business within the United States two principal
factors are to be taken into account. First, is the income derived from
assets used or held for use in the conduct of the trade or business in the
United States? Thus, for example, are the assets being held for fu-
ture, or remittant, use in the business? In this regard, particular at-
tention will be given to the relationship between the asset and the needs
of the business. Second, were the activities of the trade or business
a material factor in the realization of the income? Thus, in the case
of this second factor, is there an immediate relationship between the
income in question and the U.S. business activities of the foreign cor-
poration? Also to be taken into account in weighing the relationship
of the investment income to the trade or business, but not to be a con-
trolling factor by itself, is whether or not the assets or income are
accounted for through the U.S. trade or business.

All other income from sources within the United States (that is,
other than the periodical income and capital gains described above)
isto be treated as “effectively connected.”

(¢) Income from sources without the United States—(A) Gen-
eral Rules—Income from sources without the United States is not
to be treated as “effectively connected” with the conduct of a trade or
business within the United States unless the nonresident alien or for-
eign corporation has a fixed place of business in the United States and
the income, gain or loss is attributable to that place of business. Also,
this provision applies to only three types of income from sources with-
out the United States.

A foreign corporation which to a minimal extent, or occasionally,
uses the U.S. office of a related corporation will not be treated as hav-
ing a fixed place of business here. Moreover, the fact that top man-
agement decisions are made in the United States will not of itself
mean that the foreign corporation has an office or fixed place of busi-
ness here. For example, a foreign sales corporation which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of a domestic corporation will not be considered to
have a U.S. office because of the presence here of the officers of its
domestic parent who are generally responsible only for its policy
decisions, provided the foreign sales corporation has a managing di-
rector that conducts its day-to-day business from a foreign office.
This person may or may not be an officer of the U.S. corporation.
Also, in such a case, the managing director could regularly confer
with the officers of the domestic parent and if necessary occasionally
visit the U.S. offices of the domestic parent and, during such visits,
temporarily conduct the business of the foreign subsidiary out of the
domestic parent’s office without thereby establishing a U.S. office.
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As indicated above, this provision applies only to three specific types
of income from without the United States. Furthermore,in no event
does it apply with respect to income which is “subpart F”” income or to
dividend, interest or royalty income derived from a foreign corpora-
tion more than 50 percent owned by a nonresident alien or foreign
corporation receiving the income. Of course, the subpart F income
exception extends to income which is subpart F income but is ex-
cepted from its taxing provisions by the minimum distribution and
export trade exceptions. The three types of income with respect to
which this provision applies are:

(i) Rents and royalties derived from the active conduct of a
licensing business;

(ii) Dividends, interest, or gain from stock or bond or debt
obligations derived in the active conduct of a banking, financing
or similar business; and

(iii) Certain sales income attributable to a U.S. sales office.

The sales income referred to above is not to be considered as “effec-
tively connected” to a U.S. trade or business if the property is sold for
use outside the United States and an office of the foreign person out-
side the United States contributes materially to the sale. In the case
of foreign source income where the products are destined for the United
States, the income will be treated as effectively connected with a U.S.
business to the extent the sales activity is carried on by the U.S. office.

(B) Determining Factors—This provision also contains rules re-
garding what is to be considered a sufficient nexus for assertion of U.S.
tax jurisdiction as well as what foreign source income is to be subject
to U.S. tax. In general, for purposes of determining whether a for-
eign corporation or nonresident alien has an office, the office or other
fixed place of business of an agent is to be disregarded unless the agent
is other than an independent agent operating in the ordinary course
of his trade or business and unless he either has authority (regularly
exercised) to negotiate binding contracts or has a stock of merchandise
from which he regularly fills orders. This agency concept regarding
the degree of economic activities which will subject a foreign corpora-
tion or nonresident alien to U.S. taxation on foreign source income is
substantially similar to the permanent establishment concept present
in many of the existing income tax treaties. It is not intended, how-

- ever, that the interpretation of this provision be limited by the judicial
decisions of foreign governments regarding such treaty provisions.

With respect to the determination of the income to be subject to U.S.
tax, the rules provide that foreign source income will not be considered
to be effectively connected with a U.S. business of a foreign corpora- .
tion or nonresident alien if (@) a U.S. office of that business was not a
material factor in the production of the income, (b) the income was
not derived from the usual business activities of the U.S. business or
(¢) the income was not properly allocable to the activities of the U.S.
business.

These rules delimit the application of the general rules of this pro-
vision, thereby subjecting to U.S. tax only income which has its eco-
nomic genesis in the United States. For purposes of this provision,
the activities of the U.S. office will not be considered to constitute a
“material factor” unless it provides a significant contribution to the
production of the income. Thus, the activities of the U.S. office must
be an essential economic element in the production of the income.
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Therefore, the fact that the board of directors of the foreign corpora-
tion meets in the U.S. office will not subject the worldwide sales income
of that foreign corporation to U.S. taxation. On the other hand, the
activities of the U.S. office need not necessarily be a major factor in the
production of the income.

The requirement that the income must be derived from the usual
business activities of the U.S. office, in effect, provides a de minimus
exception. It is intended that this rule will exclude from U.S. tax
jurisdiction all foreign income derived from casual sales. Thus, if the
foreign corporation is engaged solely in a manufacturing business in
the United States, the income derived by the U.S. plant as a result of
an occasional foreign sale will not come within the ambit of the foreign
source effectively connected rule where the sales operations for the
products of the U.S. plant are located outside the United States. On
the other hand, if a foreign corporation establishes a U.S. sales office to
sell goods produced in Africa in the Western Hemisphere, occasional
sales income derived from parts of the world other than the Western
Hemisphere would not be excluded under this casual sales rule. In
other words, the nature of the U.S. business would be the primary
determinative factor for purposes of this exception.

(C) Foreign Tax Credit—The act extends a foreign tax credit
(sec. 906) to foreign source effectively connected income but only
with respect to foreign taxes paid on non-U.S. source. A further dis-
cussion of this amendment is provided in the foreign tax credit portion
of this summary.

(D) Foreign Insurance Companies—In the case of a foreign cor-
poration having a life insurance business in the United States, the act
provides that income from sources without the United States is to be
treated as effectively connected with the conduct of the business within
the United States if the income is attributable to its U.S. life insurance
business. This rule merely continues the treatment of existing law
under which income of a foreign corporation from its U.S. life insur-
ance business is subject to tax whether the income is from sources
within or without the United States.

Effective date—This amendment applies with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966. For purposes of determin-
ing whether foreign source sales income from a binding contract,
entered into on or before February 24, 1966, is attributable to a U.S.
office, none of the activities in the United States on or before that
date, which were related to the negotiation or effectuation of the
binding contract are to be taken into account. As a result in many

“cases the sales income from foreign sources under binding contracts
entered into before February 25, 1966, will not come within the ambit
of this provision. :

3. TAXATION OF NONRESIDENT ALIENS

a. Income tax on nonresident alien individuals (Sec. 103(a) of the
act and sec 871 of the code)

Prior law.—Prior law provided different tax treatment for non-
resident alien individuals according to whether they were, or were
not, engaged in a trade or business in the United States. Also, those
not engaged in a trade or business in the United States were provided
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different treatment according to whether their income was under or
over $21,200.

Nonresident alien individuals not engaged in trade or business in
the United States whose annual U.S. source income of the types
specified below was $21,200 or less were taxed at a flat rate of 30
percent (or lower applicable treaty rate), on certain specified items
of U.S. source income. This tax was in lieu of the regular U.S.
graduated rates applicable to individuals. The items of income in-
cluded were interest, dividends, rents, salaries, wages, and other
fixed or determinable annual or periodical gains, profits, and income.
Also specifically included in the income taxable at the flat 30-percent
rate were certain amounts otherwise treated in the same manner as
capital gains; namely, lump-sum distributions from exempt em-
ployees’ trusts (sec. 402(a) (2)) ; amounts paid to beneficiaries under
qualified annuity plans (sec. 403(a) (2)); timber, coal, and iron ore
royalities (sec. 631 (b) and (c)); and amounts received on transfers
of patent rights (sec. 1235).

Nonresident alien individuals not engaged in trade or business in
the United States but with an annual U.S. source income of the types
indicated above, of more than $21,200, were taxed under prior law
(in the absence of an applicable treaty provision) at whichever of the
following produced the higher total tax; the regular U.S. rates appli-
cable to individuals, or the flat 30-percent rate. In computing the
tax at the regular graduated rates, such a nonresident alien was
allowed deductions to the extent they were properly allocable to the
income on which he was taxable.

Nonresident aliens not engaged in a trade or business in the United
States—whether their income was over or under $21,200—were subject
to tax on regular capital gains only if one of two conditions existed :
(1) if they were physically present in the United States at the time
the capital gain was realized or (2) if they were present in the United
States for a period or periods totaling 90 days or more during the year.
These capital gains were taxed at the flat 30-percent rate if the indi-
vidual’s income from U.S. sources was $21,200 or less. If his income
from U.S. sources exceeded this amount, the regular capital gains tax
rate applied, but only if the regular individual income tax rates (in-
cluding the capital gains tax) on all the taxpayer’s U.S. source income
resulted in a higher tax than the flat 30-percent tax.

Nonresident alien individuals engaged in trade or business in the
United States were taxable at the regular U.S. graduated (and capital

ains) rates on their income derived from sources within the United
tates. In computing the tax, an alien in this category was allowed
deductions to the extent attributable to his U.S. source income.

Explanation of provision—The act substantially revises the prior
income tax treatment of nonresident alien individuals by dividing their
income, for tax purposes, into two basic categories according to wheth-
er or not the income is effectively connected with a U.§. trade or
business.

(4) Income mot effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S.
business—Income of a nonresident alien individual which is fixed or
determinable (substantially the same categories referred to under prior
law) and which is not effectively connected with the conduct of a
trade or business in the United States is to be taxed at a flat 30-percent
rate (or lower treaty rate).
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Generally, the fixed or determinable income referred to here, as under
prior law, includes such income as interest, dividends, rents, salaries,
annuities, and certain income accorded capital gain treatment. The
act adds two items not included in the list contained in prior law and
has slightly modified the language of prior law so as to clarify this pro-
vision as it relates to certain amounts received from pensions or an-
nuity plans, and certain timber, iron ore, and coal royalties. The two
new items added to the list by the act are (1) certain gains with respect
to the sale of a patent or other intangible property and (2) amounts
received on retirement or exchange of bonds and other evidences of in-
debtedness issued after September 28, 1965, which are treated as gains
from the sale of property which is not a capital asset. The reference
in the act to section 1232 refers only to original issue discount on evi-
dences of indebtedness held by a taxpayer for more than 6 months.
Also, income constituting original issue discount received on the re-
tirement or sale or exchange of bonds is to be considered as having the
same source as interest paid by the corporation issuing the bonds.

The provision of the act regarding gains realized on the sale of a
patent or other intangible property provides that gains realized on the
sale of a patent or other intangible property, where the income from
the sale is derived as a result of the use of such property in the United
States, is not to be subject to U.S. tax as “fixed and determinable in-
come” (taxed at 30 percent or lower treaty rate) unless a part of the
income derived from the sale is contingent. If part of the profits from
such sale are contingent, the amount subject to U.S. tax in any year
would be the contingent amount, or if this contingent amount exceeds
50 percent of the total amount paid in any 1 year, the total amount
will be taxed to the extent this amount represented gain realized on
the sale of the property. For purposes of determining the source of
this income the source rule for rentals, royalties, or other intangible
property is to be used. This provision is to apply to gains derived
from sales made after October 4, 1966. The provisions of prior law
will continue to apply to transfers of patents made before that date.

In the case of a nonresident alien’s net U.S. source capital gains
(other than those specifically included in the list as taxable at the
30-percent rate) which are not effectively connected with the conduct
of a trade or business within the United States, the act provides that
no U.S. tax is to be imposed unless the nonresident alien has been
present in the United States for at least 183 days during the taxable
year. Prior law provided a 90-day test. For purposes of applying
the 183-day test an alien will be treated as being on a calendar year
basis unless he has previously established a different taxable year.
The requirement of prior law which taxed capital gains when the alien
was physically present in the United States at the time of realization
was dropped entirely.

(B) Income effectively connected with the conduct of U.S. busi-
ness—Income of a nonresident alien individual that is effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States,
is taxable at the regular U.S. graduated rates applicable to individuals.
Thus, this income is taxed the same as under prior law although
the category itself is more limited since it only applies to income which
is effectively connected to a T.S. trade or business instead of including
all U.S. source income of an alien with such a trade or business. For
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purposes of determining whether or not income is effectively connected
with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States, the rules
discussed above in connection with the definition of effectively con-
nected income apply.

(C) Miscellaneous types of income receiving special treatment.—
Under prior law certain types of income were provided special treat-
ment. The act revises and extends these categories as indicated below.

(i) Participants in exchange programs—The act retains the rule
in prior law which treated nonresident aliens temporarily in the United
States as part of a cultural exchange or training program as engaged
in a trade or business in the United States even though they are
actually not so engaged. The provision was modified by the act, how-
ever, to provide in such cases that this type of income is effectively
connected to a U.S. trade or business. The effect of treating these cate-
gories of income as effectively connected to a U.S. trade or business
(or under prior law as derived from a U.S. trade or business) is to
impose the regular U.S. income tax on these aliens on the taxable
portion of their scholarship or fellowship grants and certain other
amounts incident to these grants. In this computation one exemption
(except in the case of residents or contiguous countries) and the
deductions allocable to this income are allowed. In the absence of
this special provision, these aliens would be taxed on these grants
(and amounts incident thereto) at the flat 30 percent rate. In most
cases the 30 percent tax would substantially exceed the regular tax
on this income.

The types of income referred to under prior law and the act as
scholarship or fellowship grants, if received by a nonresident alien
individual temporarily present in the United States as a nonimmi-
grant (under subpar. (F) or (J) of sec. 101(a) (15) of the Immigra-
tion and Nationality Act) or received by a citizen or resident, are, sub-
ject to a dollar limitation, exempt from U.S. tax.

Prior law also excluded from gross income compensation paid by
a foreign employer to a nonresident alien for the period he was
temporarily present in the United States as a nonimmigrant for the
purposes of participating in a cultural or training program. Under
prior law this was available where the “foreign employer” was a for-
eign person or a domestic corporation with an office in a foreign coun-
try or U.S. possession. The act extends this provision to cover an
employee of a domestic partnership or a U.S. citizen or resident with
such a foreign office.

(ii) Income from real property—Under prior law, it was not clear
what situations or arrangements for the ownership by a nonresident
alien of real property located in the United States would cause the
nonresident alien to be considered as engaging in a trade or business
within this country. This, of course, was important since the ques-
tion of whether or not the alien was engaged in a trade or business in
the United States determined whether his U.S. source capital gains
were subject to U.S. tax and whether his other U.S. source income was
taxable at the regular individual income rates, with allocable deduc-
tions, or at the flat 80-percent rate on the gross amount. Taxing in-
come on real property at a flat 30-percent rate without the allowance
of allocable deductions—which in the case of this type of income may
be relatively large—may have resulted in quite heavy tax burdens on
this type of income.
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The act deals with the problem described above by providing that
nonresident aliens deriving income from real property held for the
production of income and located in this country, or from an interest
in this type of real property located in this country, may elect to treat
all the income as effectively connected to the conduct of a U.S. trade
or business. This permits the nonresident alien to utilize the deduc-
tions attributable to this real estate income and be taxed on only his
net income from these sources.

The election is applicable with respect to gains from the sale or
exchange of real property held for the production of income (or an
interest therein) and rents or royalties from mines, wells, or other
natural deposits, as well as certain timber, iron ore, and coal royalties.
The election is not applicable to income not specifically covered by
these provisions, such as distributions by real estate investment trusts.
If the election is made, it applies to all the alien’s income from
U.S. real property for the taxable year which is not otherwise “effec-
tively connected” with the conduct of a trade or business in this coun-
try. The election applies for all subsequent taxable years until revoked
and can be revoked only with the consent of the Secretary of the
Treasury or his delegate.

If the election is revoked, a new election may not be made for 5 years
unless the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate consents to an
earlier reelection.

(iii) Certain pension income.—Under prior law a nonresident alien
receiving pension or annuity income from a plan located in the United
States was subject to U.S. tax (flat 30 percent or lower treaty rate) on
the interest portion of the pension income notwithstanding
the fact that the services qualifying the nonresident alien for the pen-
sion were entirely rendered outside the United States. This amend-
ment exempts from U.S. tax the type of pension income described
above if 90 percent of the persons under the plan are U.S. citizens. It
is the understanding of the Congress that in general the regulations
will provide that the plan paying the pension will be entitled to rely
upon information presented by the annuitant or employer to deter-
mine whether or not the annuitant qualifies under this provision.

(iv) Bond income of residents of the Ryukyw Islands, etc—At the
present time the Ryukyu Islands (including Okinawa) are governed
by the United States and large numbers of the individuals of these
islands are in the employ of the U.S. Military Establishment. As
such, their savings have frequently been invested in series E or H
U.S. savings bonds. Interest income on U.S. savings bonds is, of
course, U.S. source income. As a result, under prior law the resi-
dents of the Ryukyu Islands, as well as the Trust Territory of the
Pacific Islands, were subject to a flat 30-percent tax on the income from
these bonds. The act excludes from gross income subject to U.S. tax,
income derived by nonresident aliens from U.S. savings bonds (series
E or H) if the alien at the time of acquiring the bonds was a resident
of the Ryukyu Islands or the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands.

Effective date—These amendments apply with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966.

b. Deductions (sec. 103(c) of the act and sec. 873 of the code)

Prior law.—In the case of a nonresident alien individual, prior
law generally allowed deductions to the extent they were properly al-
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locable to income from sources within the United States but only if
the alien’s U.S. income was subject to the regular income tax. How-
ever,where the regular income tax applied, the deduction of losses was
allowed even though they were not connected with a U.S. trade or
business if they were incurred in transactions entered into for profit
provided that the transaction, had it resulted in a profit, would have
been subject to U.S. tax. Also allowed were property losses not con-
nected with a trade or business arising from certain casualties or
thefts if the loss was of property located within the United States.

Explanation of provision—The act generally limits the allowance
of deductions in case of a nonresident alien individual to deductions
allocable to income which is effectively connected with the conduct of
a trade or business in the United States. The allowance of deduc-
tions is limited in this manner, since it is only effectively connected in-
come which under the act is subject to the regular income tax.

In addition, the act deletes the provision relating to the deduction
of losses not connected with a trade or business but incurred in trans-
actions entered into for profit since the criteria for the allowance of
deductions under the act is whether or not they are effectively con-
nected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States.
However, the casualty loss deduction is to be available even if the
property which gives rise to the loss is not effectively connected with
the conduct of a trade or business in the United States if the property
is located in this country. Also, the charitable contribution deduc-
tion is available even though not related to the trade or business.

Effective date—These amendments apply with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966.

c. Ewxpatriation to avoid taw (sec. 103(f) of the act and new sec. 877
of the code)

Prior law—The U.S. individual income tax applies to U.S. citi-
zens, U.S. residents, and to nonresident aliens, but in this latter case,
generally only with respect to income derived from sources within
the United Sfates. Under prior law, if an individual who had been
a U.S. citizen gave up this citizenship and became a nonresident, no
tax was then imposed with respect to income he derived from sources
without the United States. Moreover, under prior law the regular
graduated rates applicable to a citizen applied in the case of an expa-
triate only if he was engaged in a trade or business in the United
States or his income exceeded $21,200.

Explanation of provision.—The act added a new section to the code
which, in general, taxes both effectively connected income and any
other U.S. source income of an expatriate at regular income tax rates,
if he surrendered his citizenship within 10 years of the taxable year in
question (and after March 8, 1965) and if one of the principal pur-
poses of the expatriation was the avoidance of U.S. income, estate, or
gift taxes. This treatment is not to apply if it results in a smaller U.S.
income tax than would otherwise be imposed.

In addition, the new section contains special source rules to be used
in determining an expatriate’s U.S. source income. These rules pro-
vide that gains from the sale or exchange of property (other than stock
or debt obligations) located in the United States, and gains on the
sale or exchange of stock of a domestic corporation or debt obligations
of U.S. persons or of the United States, a State or political subdivision,
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»r the District of Columbia are to be treated as income from sources
within the United States regardless of where the sale or exchange
oceurs or title is transferred. Deductions are to be allowed only to the
extent they are properly allocable to the gross income of the expatriate,
determined under the above described provisions (except that the
capital loss carryover provision is not to apply).

The new sectlon contains a special rule with respect to the burden
of proving the existence or nonexistence of U.S. tax avoidance as one
of the principal purposes of the expatriation. Under this provision,
the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate must first establish that
it is reasonable to believe that the expatriate’s loss of U.S. citizenship
would (but for the application of these special provisions) result in a
substantial reduction 1n his taxes based on the expatriate’s probable
income for the taxable year.

If this is established, then the expatriate must carry the burden of
proving that the loss of citizenship did not have, for one of its prin-
cipal purposes, the avoidance of U.S. income, estate, or gift taxes.
However, the new section excepts-persons whose loss of citizenship
oceurs under circumstances where it is unlikely that tax avoidance was
a principal purpose. For example, this provision does not apply
where the person acquired dual citizenship at birth and loses his U.S.
citizenship by residing, for a certain period, in the foreign country
of which he is also a citizen by birth.

Effective date—This amendment applies for taxable years begin-
ning after December 31, 1966. :

d. Partial ewxclusion of dividends from gross income (sec. 103(g) of
the act and sec. 116(d) of the code)

Prior law allowed a nonresident alien the $100 dividends received
exclusion only if the individual was taxable on U.S. source dividends
at the regular graduated rates applicable to individuals. The act
amends this provision, effective for taxable years- beginning after
December 31, 1966, by limiting the availability of the exclusion to
dividends which are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade
or business in the United States. The exclusion is also allowed in the
case of an expatriate subject to tax under new section 877.

-e. Withholding of tax on nonresident alien individuals (secs. 103 (h)
and (k) of the act and secs. 1441 and 3401 of the code)

Prior law—Prior law generally required the withholding of tax
in the case of a nonresident alien on U%. source fixed or determinable
income from U.S. sources (of the types previously described). The
withholding was at a 30-percent rate (except in the case of certain
treaty rates) and applied whether or not the flat 30-percent tax ap-
plied to the individual.2 Thus it applied not only in the case of a
nonresident alien with a gross income of $21,200 or less who was not
engaged in a trade or business in the United States but also in the
case of a nonresident alien with a larger gross income or to one who
was engaged in a trade or business in the United States.

Explanation of provisions.—The act adds a new provision to the
existing nonresident alien withholding provisions. Under the new
provision, withholding is not required on payments to nonresident

2For a limiied category of scholarship and fellowship income and related income the
withholding rate was 14 percent.
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alien individuals with respect to any item of income (other than com-
pensation for services) which is effectivel connected with the conduct
of a trade or business within the United States. It is the understand-
ing of the Congress that the person required to withhold will be
relieved of any liability for failure to withhold if the failure was in
reliance upon information as to whether or not the income was effec-
tively connected, furnished (in accordance with regulations to be
issued) by the person entitled to the receipt of the income. The act
specifically provides for withholding on the following additional types
of income: (1) the contingent income derived from the sale of patents
and other intangibles; (2) a foreign partner’s share of the U.S. income
of a domestic partnership which is not effectively connected with the
partnership’s business; and (3) amounts received on retirement or
exchange of bonds issued after September 28, 1965, which are treated
as ga),ins from the sale of property which is not a capital asset (sec.
1232).

In the case of salary and wage income, the act also correlates the
30-percent-withholding rate applicable to nonresidents aliens with the
domestic graduated withholding rates. Thus, the act amends present
law to provide that the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate may,
by regulations, exempt, compensation for services performed by non-
resident aliens from the 30-percent withholding and require with-
holding at the domestic graduated withholding rates.

The act also makes amendments of a technical nature to conform
the language of the withholding provisions to the language used in
the other taxing provisions.

Effective date—The amendment relating to the 30-percent with-
holding rule applies with respect to payments. made in taxable years
beginning after December 81, 1966. The amendment relating to
domestic wage withholding applies with respect to remuneration paid
after December 31, 1966.

f. Withheld tawes and declarations of estimated income tax (secs. 103
(i) and (§) of the act and secs. 1461 and 6015 of the code)

Under prior law, persons who were required to withhold on amounts
paid to nonresident aliens and forei corporations were required to
file a return and remit the taxes withheld during any calendar year
by March 15 of the following year. This procedure was unusual since
all other withheld taxes, such as the employees’ social: security taxes
and domestic wage withholding, are required to be remitted (together
with the return) at least quarterly.

The act amends prior law to provide the Treasury Department with
the authority to require more current remittance of the taxes withheld
on nonresident aliens and foreign corporations. This amendment is
effective with respect to payments macﬁa after December 31, 1966.

The act also amends the provisions of prior law which require indi-
viduals to file declarations of estimated tax. The amendment con-
tinues prior law which includes nonresident aliens within the category
of individuals required to file these declarations. However, the
application of this provision to nonresident aliens is limited to those
who receive income which is effectively connected with the conduct of
atrade or business within the United States.

These amendments are effective with respect to taxable years begin-
ning after December 31, 1966.
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g. Foreign estates or trusts (sec. 103 (e) and (1) of the act and secs.
876 and 7701a(a) (81) of the code)

Prior law defined the terms “foreign trust” and “foreign estate”
tomean a trust or estate whose income from sources without the United
States was not included in gross income for U.S. income tax purposes.
The act amends this definition to conform it to the effectively connected
concept. Asamended, the terms refer to estate or trusts whose income
from sources without the United States, other than income which is
effectively connected .with the conduct of a trade or business within
the United States, is not included in gross income for U.S. income
tax purposes. This amendment applies for taxable years beginning
after December 31, 1966.

Another amendment imputes the business activities of a trust or
estate to its beneficiaries. In other words, if a trust, whether a foreign
or a domestic trust, is engaged in a trade or business in the United
Eta,j:es, its beneficiaries are deemed to also be engaged in that trade or

usiness.

h. Citizens of possessions of the United States (sec. 103(m) of the act
and sec. 932(a) of the code)

Under prior law, individuals who were citizens of possessions of the
United States but not otherwise citizens of the United States, were
taxed as nonresident aliens on their U.S. source income. This provi-
sion was amended by the act, effective for taxable years beginning after
December 31, 1966, to conform to the changes made to the taxation
of nonresident aliens generally.

4. TAXATION OF FOREIGN CORPORATIONS

a. Income tax on foreign corporations (secs. 104 (a) and (b) of the act
and secs. 881 and 882 of the code) :

Prior law.—Prior law taxed foreign corporations not engaged in a
trade or business in the United States at a flat rate of 30 percent on
fixed or determinable income from sources within the United States.
These items, which, with a few exceptions were the same as those pre-
viously taxed at the 30-percent rate to nonresident alien individuals not
engaged in a trade or business in the United ‘States, included : interest,
dividends, rents, salaries, wages, premiums, annuities, compensations,
remunerations, emoluments or other fixed or determinable annual or
periodical gains, profits, and income (including certain timber, coal,
and iron ore royalties).

The U.S. source income of a foreign corporation engaged in business
in the United States was taxed at the regular corporate rates. In
computing the tax, deductions generally were allowed to the extent
that they were properly allocable to the U.S. source income if a true
and accurate return was filed by the corporation.

Explanation of provision—The act substantially revises the income
tax treatment of foreign corporations. Under the act the income of a
foreign corporation is divided into two classifications.

(A) Income not effectively connected.—Fixed or determinable in-
come of a foreign corporation from sources within the United States
which is not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or busi-
ness within the United States is taxable at a flat 30-percent rate (or
lower treaty rate). The types of fixed or determinable income speci-
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fied are the same as under prior law with the same two additions pro-
vided in the case of nonresident aliens: (1) contingent income received
from the sale of patents and other intangibles, and (2) amounts of
original issue discount which are treated as ordinary income received
on retirement or sale or exchange of bonds or other evidences of indebt-
edness issued after September 28, 1965. As indicated in the case of
the taxation of nonresident aliens, the source of this original issue dis-
count is to be determined by the same rules as those applicable to
interest income. As a result, if the corporation with respect to whose
bonds the original issue discount arises is a domestic corporation which
for the 3-year period preceding the year of redemption derives 80
percent or more of its income from foreign sources, then the original
1ssue discount (interest), at the time of the retirement or sale or ex-
change of the bonds, also will be considered as foreign source income.

The act also clarifies the language of existing law which includes
certain timber, coal, and iron ore royalties in the 30-percent list.

(B) Income effectively connected.—Income of a foreign corpora-
tion which is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or busi-
ness within the United States is taxable, under the act, at the regular
corporate income tax rates. In determining “taxable income” for this
purpose, gross income includes only gross income which is “effectively
gonnected” with the conduct of the trade or business within the United

tates.

(C) Income from real property—Under prior law (as explained
with respect to nonresident alien individuals) it was not clear what
situations or arrangements for the ownership by a foreign corporation
of real property located in the United States would cause the foreign
corporation to be considered as engaging in a trade or business within
the United States. This was important because if a foreign corpora-
tion not engaged in a trade or business in the United States received
rents from U.S. real property, this rental income was taxable at
the flat 30-percent rate {or applicable treaty rate) on the gross amount
of such rents, without the allowance of any deductions attributable
to the rental income. Consequently, the tax liability generated by
this rental income might have exceeded the net rental income the
corporation received.

Since the provisions of this amendment parallel the amendment pro-
vided in the case of real estate income of nonresident alien individuals,
the explanation is not repeated here (see No.3(a) (C) (ii) ).

(D) Certain interest received by banks in U.S. possessions—The
act provides that interest received by banks located in a U.S. posses-
sion from U.S. Government obligations will be treated as effectively
connected with a U.S. trade or business whether or not the bank has
such a business. Consequently, the interest received by a bank in
a possession from U.S. Government obligations will be taxed on a net
basis—gross interest income less allocable expenses.

(E) Deductions—Deductions are allowed in computing the tax
imposed at the regular corporate rates only to the extent that they
are properly attributable to income which is effectively connected with.
the conduct of a trade or business within the United States. The
deduction for charitable contributions, however, is allowed whether
or not attributable to income which is effectively connected. Gen-
erally. as under prior law, deductions are permitted only if a true
and accurate income tax return is filed.
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Effective date—These amendments apply with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966.

b. Withholding of tax on foreign corporations (sec. 104(c) of the
act and sec. 1442 of code)

Under prior law, the fixed or determinable U.S. source income of
a foreign corporation not engaged in trade or business in the United
States, like that of a nonresident alien not engaged in a trade or busi-
ness in the United States, was subject to & withholding tax of 30

ercent. However, foreign corporations engaged in trade or business
in the United States were not subject to the withholding tax.

The act amends the withholding provisions of prior law to con-
form to the effectively connected concept. Thus, under the act a
withholding tax at the 30-percent rate will apply in the case of a
foreign corporation to items of fixed or determinable U.S. source
income which are not effectively connected with the conduct of a
trade or business in the United States. It is the understanding of
the Congress that the person required to withhold will be relieved
of any liability for failure to withhold if the failure is due to reliance
upon information (as to whether or not the income was effectively
connected) furnished (in accordance with regulations to be issued)
by the foreign corporation entitled to the receipt of the income. This
30-percent withholding provision is not to be applied if the Secretary
of the Treasury determines that the withholding requirements impose
an undue administrative burden and that the collection of the tax
will not be jeopardized by an exemption.

¢. Deduction for dividends received from foreign corporations (sec.
104 (d) and (e) of the act and sec. 245 (a) and (b) of the code)

Prior law.—In general, existing law allows corporations an 85-per-
cent dividend-received deduction for dividends received from domestic
corporations. Under prior law, in order for this deduction to have
been available in the case of dividends from a foreign corporation,
the latter must have been engaged in a trade or business in the United
States for an uninterrupted period of at least 3 years and 50 percent
of its gross income must have been from U.S. sources during that
period. Where these conditions existed, an 85-percent dividend-re-
ceived deduction was available for the same proportion of the dividend
as the corporation’s gross income, which was tprom U.S. sources, was
of its total gross income.

Ezplanation of the provision.—The act substantially conforms the
dividends-received deduction to the effectively connected concept.
Under the act 50 percent or more of the foreign corporation’s gross
income for the uninterrupted period must be from income effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United
States for the deduction to be available. Also, the deduction is lim-
ited to 85 percent of the same proportion of the dividend as the foreign
corporation’s gross income, which is effectively connected with a U.S.
trade or business, is of that corporation’s total gross income from all
sources.

In uddition, a 100 percent dividends-received deduction is pro-
vided to u domestic corporation for dividends received from a wholly
owned foreign subsidiary which has a 100 percent effectively con-
nected income. In such a situation a foreign corporation is subject
to U.S. tax on all of its income, just as is a domestic corporation.
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The act also contains a transitional rule which makes it unnecessary
to apply the effectively connected income concept when any of the
years which is taken into account for the 50-percent test is a pre-1967
year. This rule provides that, for purposes of computing this deduc-
tion, all of a foreign corporation’s U.S. source income, for any period
before its first taxable year beginning after December 31, 1966, is to
be considered to be effectively connected income.

Effective date—These amendments apply for taxable years be-
ginning after December 31, 1966.

d. Unrelated business tavable income of certain foreign charitable
organizations (sec. 104(g) of the act and sec. 512(a) of the code)
Under prior law the unrelated business taxable income of foreign
charities was subject to tax if it was derived from sources within the
United States.

The act conforms this provision to the effectively connected con-
cept by providing that the unrelated business taxable income of a for-
cign charity is to be subject to tax only if it is effectively connected
with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

This amendment applies for taxable years beginning after Decem-
ber 31, 1966.

e. Foreign corporations subject to personal holding company tax (sec.
104(h) of the act and sec. 542(c), 543(b), and 646 (@) and (d)
of the code)

Prior law.—Under prior law any foreign corporation with U.S.
investment income, whether or not doing business here, could be taxed
as a personal holding company unless all its outstanding stock was
owned (directly and indirectly) by nonresident alien individuals and
its U.S. source gross income was less than 50 percent of its total gross
income for that year. If taxable as a personal holding company the
foreign corporation was subject to a special 70-percent tax on its un-
distributed U.S. source personal holding company income in addition
to the flat rate 30-percent tax (or possibly the regular corporate tax).
Also, if a foreign corporation was determined to constitute a personal
holding company and the foreign corporation had not filed a return
or had not filed a true and accurate return, the 70-percent personal
holding company tax was assessed without allowance of the dividends
paid deduction. In such cases, the combination of the regular 30-
percent tax and the 70-percent personal holding company tax could
have constituted a tax of about 80 percent of the income of the foreign
corporation.

Explanation of provision—The act modifies the provision in prior
law excluding from the personal holding company definition only those
foreign corporations whose U.S. source gross income was less than 50
percent of their total gross income and all of whose stock was held di-
rectly or indirectly by nonresident aliens. It substitutes a broader
exemption which applies to any foreign corporation all of whose out-
standing stock during the last half of its taxable year is owned by non-
resident alien individuals (directly or indirectly through foreign
estates, trusts, partnerships, or other foreign corporations).

This general rule contains three refinements. The first provides that
the general exclusion from the personal holding company provision
is not to be available to a foreign personal holding company if it has
income from personal services which is personal holding company
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income described in section 543(a) (7). In such a case the personal
holding company tax is to be assessed on that personal service income.
The second provides a deminimus rule under which foreign corpora-
tions with only 10 percent or less U.S. ownership are to be assessed
the personal holding company tax only on the corporation’s undis-
tributed personal holding company income attributable to the U.S.
shareholders’ interest. The final refinement provides that a foreign
corporation can claim all appropriate deductions in computing its
personal holding company tax notwithstanding the general rule dis-
allowing deductions where no return is filed. However, a 10-percent
addition to taxes otherwise due is to be assessed. ,

Effective date—This amendment applies with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 81, 1966.

f. Foreign corporations carrying on insurance business in the United
States (sec. 104(2) of the act and secs. 819, 821, 822, 831, 832, 841
and 842 of the code)

Prior law.—Prior law taxed a foreign life insurance company
carrying on a life insurance business in the United States on all its
income attributable to that business in substantially the same manner
as a domestic life insurance company.? Foreign insurance companies
carrying on life insurance businesses in the United States generally
interpreted this as providing they were not taxable on U.S. source
income which was not income of the U.S. life insurance business of
the company. However, a special rule was provided where the sur-
plus of a foreign life insurance company held in the United States was
less than a specified minimum figure. This figure was expressed as the
same percent of the foreign life insurance company’s liabilities on U.S.
business as the average surplus of domestic corporations was of their
total liabilities. The Secretary of the Treasury determined this ratio
each year. If the foreign insurance company’s surplus held in the
United States was less than this proportion of the taxpayer’s total
insurance liabilities on U.S. business, then the policy and other con-
tract liability requirements, and the required interest for computing
gain from operations, were reduced by this deficiency multiplied by
the rate of earnings on investments. This provision was designed
to prevent foreign insurance companies doing business in the United
States from avoiding tax that they would otherwise have had to pay
to the United States merely by not holding a sufficient amount of
surplus attributable to the U.S. business. )

Ezplanation of provisions—The act provides that a foreign corpo-
ration carrying on an insurance business within the United States is
to be taxable in the same manner as domestic companies carrying on
a similar business with respect to its income which is effectively con-
nected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United
States. The remainder of the U.S. source income of this type of a
corporation is to be taxed in the same manner as income of other
foreign corporations which is not effectively connected with a U.S.
trade or business; that is, at a flat 80 percent (or lower treaty) rate.
The determination of whether a foreign insurance company qualifies
for the special domestic insurance treatment is to be made by con-
sidering only the income of the corporation wihch is effectively con-

3 A foreign life insurance company that is not carrying on a life insurance business in
the Unitedg States is taxable under the provisions applicable to foreign corporations
generally.
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nected with the conduct of its insurance business carried on in the
United States.

For purposes of determining whether or not income of a foreign
life insurance company is effectively connected with the conduct of
its U.S. life insurance business, the annual statement of its U.S. busi-
ness on the form approved by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners will usually be followed. Also, certain foreign casualty
insurance companies use this form to indicate their U.S. business
connected investment income, and it is expected that this statement
will continue to be utilized to reflect the effectively connected income
of these companies. It is noted that all the income effectively con-
nected with the foreign life insurance company’s U.S. life insurance
business, from whatever source derived, comes within the ambit of this
provision. This a continuation of existing law.

It has been pointed out that the special rule in prior law referred
to above with respect to foreign life insurance companies—where these
companies held a lower ratio of surplus for their U.S. business than
that held by the average domestic companies—could have lead to what
in effect would have been a double tax. To meet this problem the act
adds a paragraph to the provision described above which has the
effect of reducing the income subject to the flat 30-percent tax (or
lower treaty rate) by the amount by which the deductions under this
special provision are reduced as the result of the application of the

~Secretary’s ratio. This is accomplished by allowing a credit against
the 30-percent tax (or lower treaty rate) for the tax levied on the hypo-
thetical income attributed to the U.S. life insurance company business.

Effective date—These amendments apply with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966.

g. Subgaa)"t F income (sec. 104(7) of the act and sec. 952(b) of the
code

Prior low.—Under existing law certain portions of the undistrib-
uted income of a controlled foreign corporation are taxed currently
to its U.S. shareholders having a 10 percent or greater voting in-
terest. This undistributed income so taxed is termed “subpart F in-
come.” In determining “subpart F income,” there was, under prior
law, an exclusion for income of a foreign corporation from U.S.
sources which already was taxed by the United States because the cor-
poration was engaged in trade or business in the United States. Prior
law was interpreted in the income tax regulations as not excluding
from “subpart F” income, income exempt from U.S. tax, or subject to
a reduced rate of tax, in accordance with a treaty.

Exzplanation of provision—The act amends prior law to provide
that in determining “subpart F income” there is to be excluded only
those items of income effectively connected with the conduct of a trade
or business within the United States. It also makes it clear that “sub-
part F income” includes items exempt from U.S. tax or subject to a
reduced rate of tax pursuant to a treaty.

Effective date—This amendment applies with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1966.

h. Gain from certain sales or exchanges of stock in certain foreign
corporations (sec. 104(k) of the act and sec. 1248(d) of the code)

Prior law—Prior law treated the gain realized by a 10-percent
U.S. shareholder from the sale or exchange of stock of certain for-
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eign corporations as a dividend, to the extent the post-1962 earnings
and profits of the corporation were attributable to the shares being sold
or exchanged. In determining the earnings and profits to be taken
into account in determining this gain, prior law excluded U.S.
source income of a foreign corporation engaged in a U.S. trade or
business. Consistent with the interpretation of similar language ap-
plicable to the determination of “subpart F income” explained above,
these earnings and profits have been construed by the regulations as
including income exempt from U.S: tax or subject to a reduced rate
by treaty.

Explanation of provision.~This amendment provides that for tax-
able years beginning on or after January 1, 1967, the earnings and

rofits of the foreign corporation (for purposes of sec. 1248) are not to
include income effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or
business within the United States. In addition, the amendment makes
it clear that the exclusion does not apply to income which is exempt
from tax, or subject to a reduced rate of tax, pursuant to a treaty.

Effective date—This amendment applies to sales or exchanges oc-
curring after December 31, 1966.

5. MISCELLANEOUS INCOME TAX PROVISIONS, ETC.

a. Income affected by treaty (sec. 105(a) of the act and sec. 894 of
the code)

Prior laww—Existing income tax treaties generally provide that the
exemptions from tax, or the reduction in rates of tax, provided for
in their provisions apply only to persons who do not have a permanent
establishment in the United States. The “permanent establishment”
concept of the treaties serves a purpose similar to the “engaged in a
trade or business in the United éjtates” concept of U.S. tax law. The
effect of such a provision in a treaty, therefore, is to deny the benefits
of a treaty exemption or reduced rate to a nonresident alien individual,
or a foreign corporation, engaged in a trade or business in the United
States through a permanent establishment.

Explanation of provision—Under the tax treatment provided for
such persons by the act, the “engaged in trade or business in the
United States™ criterion is no longer the sole determinant of the
method of taxing particular items of a nonresident alien individual’s,
or a foreign corporation’s, U.S. source income. The act seeks to tax
all such persons alike on their noneffectively connected U.S. source
income whether or not they also are engaged in a trade or business in
the United States. This result would net be achieved under treaty
provisions if some aliens or foreign corporations, because they have a
permanent establishment in the United States, are denied the benefits
of treaty rates or exemptions. :

The act adds to the code a new subsection providing that for purposes
of applying any exemption from, or any reduced rate of, tax granted
by a treaty to which the United States is a party, with respect to in-
come which is not effectively connected with the conduct of a trade
or business within the United States, a nonresident alien individual or
foreign corporation shall be deemed not to have a permanent establish-
ment in the United States at any time during the taxable year. In
other words, with respect to investment income not effectively con-
nected with a trade or business, a nonresident alien or foreign cor-
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poration will be taxed at the lower treaty rate if one is provided. This
provision does not apply in computing the special tax applicable to
U.S. citizens who become expatriates with a primary purpose of
avoiding tax.

Effective date—This new provision is effective for taxable years
beginning after December 31, 1966.

6. Adjustment of tax on nationals, residents, and corporations of
certain foreign countries (sec. 105() of the act and new sec. 896
of the code)

Explanation of provisions—(A) Imposition of more burdensome
taxes—To prevent a deterioration in our position in negotiating
treaties as a consequence of revising these statutory provisions, the act
has added a provision to the tax laws which generally grants to the
President the authority to apply the income tax law without regard
to the amendments-which this or later acts make to the provisions
relating to the taxation of foreigners (including corporations) in the
case of any country which imposes more burdensome taxes on U.S.
citizens and corporations than the United States does on nonresident
aliens and foreign corporations.

The new section gives special authority to the President where he
finds that—

(1) under the laws of any foreign country, citizens of the
United States (not residents of the foreign country) or U.S. cor-
porations are being subject to more burdensome taxes on any item
of income from sources within the foreign country than those im-
posed by the United States on similar U.S. source income of resi-
dents or corporations of the foreign country; )

(2) the foreign country has not acted upon a request to revise
or reduce its taxes to eliminate this condition ; and

(8) it is in the public interest to reimpose the pre-1967 income
tax provisions.

Where these conditions exist, the President may proclaim that the tax
on similar income derived from U.S. sources by residents or corpora-
tions of the foreign country for taxable years beginning after the proc-
lamation is to be determined by disregarding the amendments to the
income tax law, as it relates to nonresident aliens and foreign corpora-
tions, made by this act or by subsequent acts.

If, after such a proclamation, the foreign country modifies the
offending provisions of its tax law so that the President finds they
are no longer more burdensome, he may proclaim that the U.S. tax on
similar items of income derived from U.S. sources by residents or
corporations of the foreign country, for taxable years beginning after
such proclamation, is to be determined by taking into account the
amendments made to the income tax provisions of the code relating
to nonresident aliens and foreign corporations by this and later acts.
Before the President makes a proclamation under this new provision
he is to give the Congress 30 days notice of his intention so to do.

(B) Imposition of discriminatory taxes by foreign country—This
provision granting the President the authority to take such action
as is necessary to raise the effective rate of U.S. tax on income received
by nationals, residents, or corporations of a discriminating country to
sglast&mtially the same rates as are applied in the other country was
added.
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Effective date—These provisions are effective for taxable years be-
ginning after December 31, 1966.

c. Foreign community property income (sec. 105(e) of the act and
new sec. 981 of the code)

Prior law.—The general income tax provisions provide, in effect,
that the worldwide income of a U.S. citizen is subject to tax from
whatever source derived. In a recent case,* it washeld that an Ameri-
can citizen who acquired residence in a foreign country with com-
munity property laws, and who married a nonresident alien, had a
sufficient interest in one-half of the marital partnership income—
even though earned by the husband foreigner—to render her subject to
U.S. taxation on that income.

Explanation of provisions—The act provides U.S. citizens who are,
during the periods involved, married to nonresident aliens with two
separate elections, one for post-1966 years and one for pre-1966 years.

If an election is made for post-1966 years, the community income
of husband and wife are to be treated as follows:

(1) Earned income (sec. 911(b)) is to be treated as income of
the spouse who rendered the personal services. .

(2) Trade or business income is to be treated as income of the
husband unless the wife exercises substantially all the manage-
ment and control over the business. Also, a partner’s distributive
share of income is to be wholly attributed to him (same as self-
employment rules under section 1402(a) (5)).

(3) Other community income which is derived from separate
property of one spouse is to be treated as income of that spouse.
‘What is “separate property” for this purpose is to be determined
under the applicable foreign community property law.

(4) All other community income is to be treated as provided in
applicable foreign community property law.

For pre-1967 years the treatment of income of the types set forth
in categories (1), (2), and (3) above is to be the same as described
above, but the income described in category (4) above is to be treated
as income of the spouse who, for the year involved, had the greater
amount of income described in (1), (2), and (3) plus separate income.
Thus, category (4) income is attributed to the marital partner whose
earnings or property were most likely to have given rise to this income.

For purposes of this provision, the treatment of deductions is to be
compatible with that accorded the income to which the deductions are
attributable. In other words deductions are to follow the income they
generate.

This provision provides qualified taxpayers with two elections, one
for pre-1967 years and one for future years. Either election can be
made for any year, at any time, so long as the year is still open. How-
ever, these elections are binding—if the election is exercised for any
post-1967 year the treatment provided by this provision applies not
only to the year of election but also to all years subsequent, which are
open and, if made for pre-1967 years, this provision applies for all
open years prior to that date. It should be noted that either election
can be made separately.

+ Katrushka J. Parsons v. Commissioner, 43 T.C. 331 (1964).
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Generally, the election must be made by both spouses. However,
with respect to the pre-1967 election, the foreign spouse need not join
if the g()acreba,ry of the Treasury determines that (1) an election
would not affect the U.S. tax liability of the foreign spouse for any
taxable year, or (2) that the foreign spouse’s U.S. tax liability for pre-
1967 years cannot be ascertained and that to deny the election to the
U.S. citizen would be inequitable and cause undue hardship. If either
election is made, a period of 1 year is provided with respect to all open
years for the making of assessments and the claiming of refunds.
However, this 1-year period applies only if the deficiency or refund is
attributable to the election. Also, no interest is cue on a deficiency or
refund resulting from the election for any period up to 1 year after the
filing of the election.

d. Foreign tax credit—foreign corporations and nonresident aliens
(s(eio.)IOG (@) of the act and secs. 874, 901, and new sec. 906 of the
code

Prior law.—Prior law did not grant a foreign tax credit to foreign
corporations or nonresident aliens since such persons were subject to
U.S. tax only on their U.S. source income. However, the code did
provide a tax credit to U.S. persons with respect to foreign taxes on
foreign income subject to U.S. tax. :

Ezplanation of provision—The act adds a new section to the code
(sec. 906) to allow a foreign tax credit to nonresident aliens and for-
eign corporations with respect to foreign source income which is sub-
ject to tax in the United States because 1t is effectively connected with
the conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

The credit is allowed under the existing foreign tax credit provision
and is subject to the existing “per country” or “overall” limitation.
The “per country” limitation restricts the credit to the proportion of
the U.S. tax which the taxpayer’s taxable income from sources within
the particular country bears to his entire taxable income for the year.
Similarly the “overall” limitation restricts the credit to the proportion
of the U.S. tax which the taxpayer’s taxable income, from sources
without the United States, bears to his entire taxable income for the
year. In determining the credit allowable to a nonresident alien indi-
vidual or a foreign corporation under these limitations, the individ-
ual’s or corporation’s taxable income is to include only the taxable
income effectively connected with the taxpayer’s conduct of a trade or
business within the United States. . The credit is not allowable against
U.S. taxes imposed at the flat 80-percent rate on income not effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

Under some circumstances, existing law treats a portion of the for-
eign taxes paid by certain foreign subsidiaries of a domestic corpora-
tion as having been paid by the domestic corporation for purposes of
computing its foreign tax credit. The act accords this same treat-
ment to foreign corporations, but its application is limited to income
effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within
the United States.

Effective date—These amendments apply for taxable years begin-
ning after December 81, 1966. In applying the foreign tax credit
carryback and carryover provisions of present law to nonresident
aliens and foreign corporations no amount may be carried to or from
a taxable year beginning before January 1, 1967.
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e. Similar credit requirement (sec. 106(b) (2) and (3) of the act and
secs. 901 (¢) and 2104 (a) and new (h) of the code)

Prior law.—Under prior law, the foreign tax credit for income, etc.,
or death taxes are allowable to an alien who is a resident of the United
States (or Puerto Rico) only if the foreign country in which the alien
is a citizen or subject, in imposing its income, etc., or death taxes, al-
lows a similar credit to citizens of the United States residing in such
country.

Ezxplanation of provision—~The act modifies the provision of
prior law which in all cases denies a credit for citizens of a foreign
country if it does not provide reciprocity for U.S. citizens residing
there. Under the act the President is given some discretion as to the
disallowance of the credits in such cases. The act provides that the
President is to deny a foreign tax credit to residents who are sub-
jects of a foreign country if he finds: (1) That a foreign country, in
imposing income, war profits, and excess profits taxes or death taxes
does not allow U.S. citizens residing in that country a credit for any
taxes paid or accrued to the United States or any foreign country,
similar to the foreign tax credit allowed by the United States to sub-
jects of that foreign country residing in the United States; (2) that
the foreign country, when requested to do so, has not acted to provide
a similar credit to U.S. citizens residing in that foreign country; and
(3) that it is in the public interest to allow the U.S. foreign tax credit to
citizens or subjects of the foreign country who reside in the United
States only if the foreign country allows such a similar credit to citi-
zens of the United States residing in the foreign country.

The disallowance of the credit in any such case is to apply for tax-
able years beginning while a Presidential proclamation denying the
credit is in effect.

7. Separate foreign tax credit limitation (sec. 106(c) of the act and
sec. 904(f) of the code)

Prior low.—Generally, under existing law the limitation on the al-
lowable foreign tax credit must be computed separately for all interest
income on a “per country” basis. Prior to this act, the exceptions to
this general rule were:

(1) Interest derived from any transactions directly related to
the active conduct of a trade or business in a foreign country or
U.S. possession ;

(2) Interest derived in the conduct of a banking, financing, or
similar business (such as an insurance company business) ;

(8) Interest received from a corporation in which the taxpayer
owned at least 10 percent of the voting stock; and

(4) Interestreceived on obligations acquired as the result of the
disposition of a trade or business actively conducted by a taxpayer
in a foreign country or as a result of a disposition of stock or obli-
gations of a corporation in which the taxpayer owned at least 10
percent of the voting stock.

Explanation of provision—The Act amends the 10-percent excep-
tion in (3) above to provide that the special limitation on interest from
foreign corporations is not to apply with respect to interest income re-
ceived by a U.S. lending corporation which directly or indirectly owns
at least 10 percent of the foreign corporation from which the interest
is derived. TFor purposes of this provision stock owned directly or
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indirectly by or for a foreign corporation is to be considered as owned
proportionately by its shareholders.

Effective date—The amendments made by this provision apply to
interest received after December 31, 1965, in taxable years ending
after that date.

g. Amendment to preserve existing law on deductions under section
931 (sec. 107 of the act and sec. 931 (d) of the code)

Under existing law, U.S. citizens or domestic corporations earning
income in possessions of the United States generally are taxable only
on their U.S. source income (plus amounts received in the United
States) if they meet certain requirements.> In general, these require-
ments are that the citizen or corporation derive 80 percent of its gross
income from sources within such a possession and 50 percent of its
gross income from the active conduct of a trade or business within
such a possession (both of these tests being applied with respect to
income received in the prior 3 years).

A U.S. citizen or domestic corporation which qualifies for this treat-
ment may exclude from its U.S. tax base gross income from sources
without the United States (in the same way as nonresident aliens and
foreign corporations not engaged in trade or business within the United
States). The deductions allowed a U.S. person who qualifies for this
exclusion are those which were allowable under prior law to nonresi-
dent aliens and foreign corporations engaged in trade or business in
the United States. In general, these deductions were: (1) Those con-
nected with U.S. source income, (2) those allocated or apportioned
under regulations with respect to deductions related to income which
is partially from within and without the United States, (3) losses
not connected with the trade or business but incurred in transactions
entered into for profit (if the profit, had the transaction resulted in
a profit, would have been taxable by the United States), (4) casualty
losses (if the loss is of property within the United States), and (5)
the charitable contribution deduction.

Exzplanation of provision—The act does not change the tax treat-
ment of income qualifying for the exclusion relating to income from
U.S. possessions but because it allows deductions to nonresident aliens
and foreign corporations engaged in a trade or business in the United
States only where the deductions are allocable to income effectively
connected with this trade or business, it is now necessary in this provi-
sion to specify the deductions which may be taken. The act therefore
makes applicable to U.S. citizens and domestic corporations engaged
in trade or business in possessions, who qualify for the special tax
treatment under existing law, the provisions of prior law which allow
deductions to nonresident aliens or foreign corporations engaged in
trade or business in the United States.

This amendment is effective for taxable years beginning after De-
cember 31, 1966.

6. ESTATE TAX PROVISIONS

. Est(éte tax rates (sec. 108(a) of the act and sec. 2101 (a) of the
code)

Prior laow.—Under existing law and that in effect prior to this act,
the estate of a nonresident alien is taxed only on the transfer of prop-

5 Possession for purposes of this provision does not include the Virgin Islands or, in the
case of U.S. citizens does not include Puerto Rico.
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erty situated or deemed to be situated in the United States at the time
of his death. While under prior law, the tax rates were the same as
for citizens and residents of the United States, the deductions, credits,
and exemptions were different: No martial deduction was allowed
with respect to the estate of a nonresident alien ; the specific exemption
in determining the taxable estate was $2,000 instead of the $60,000
applicable in the case of U.S. citizens; no credit was allowed for for-
elgn death taxes paid; and deductible expenses, losses, etc., were gen-
erally limited to the same proportion of these expenses which the
alien’s gross estate situated within the United States was of his entire
gross estate.

Explanation of provision—The act establishes a new schedule of
graduated estate tax rates applicable to estate of nonresident aliens
which will impose a tax on the U.S. estates of these persons in an
amount which is generally equivalent to the tax imposed on an estate
of similar value of a U.S. citizen with the maximum marital deduc-
tion. (As is explained subsequently the act also increases the specific
exemption available with respect to estates of nonresident aliens.)

The new schedule of rates applicable to estates of nonresidents not
citizens is as follows:

If the taxable estate is: The tax shall be:

Not over $100,000. : 5 percent of the taxable estate.

Over $100,000 but not over $500,000____ $5,000, plus 10 percent of excess over
100,000.

Over $500,000 but not over $1,000,000__ $4g,000, plus 15 percent of excess over
500,000.

Over $1,000,000 but not over $2,000,000__ $120,000, plus 20 percent of excess

over $1,000,000.
Over $2,000,000 $320,000, plus 25 percent of excess

over $2,000,000.

Table 1 shows a comparison of the effective rates for estates of non-
resident aliens provided by this new schedule with the effective rates
under prior law for nonresident aliens and U.S. citizens with and
without a marital deduction. It will be noted that the effective rates
resulting from the new schedule closely approximate those applicable
in the case of the estate of a U.S. citizen with a marital deduction.

TABLE 1.—Effective rates of U.S. tax on U.S. estates of nonresident aliens under
prior law and under the act and on U.S. citizens under cxisting larw

Effective rate of tax
U.S. gross estate Prior Tax treatment U.S. citizen
treatment of of nonresident
nonresident alien provided
alien by act 2 With marital | Without marital
deduction deduction

N ok
SEBRER
WO WO WLNI~I©

1 For purposes of these computations it is assumed 10 percent of gross estate is deducted for funeral and
other expenses both in the case of U.S. citizens and nonresident aliens.
2 Takes into account the increase in the exemption from $2,000 to $30,000.
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Effective date—These new rates are to be effective with respect to
estates of decedents dying after November 13, 1966.

b. Limitation on credit for State death taxes (sec. 108(b) of the act
and sec. 2102 of the code)

Prior law—Under prior law, the estate of a nonresident alien
was allowed a credit against its U.S. estate tax for death taxes it paid
to any of the States of the United States. The only death tax
some of the States impose is a so-called pickup tax, that is, a tax equal
to the maximum credit for State death taxes allowable against the
Federal estate tax. Other States impose a pickup tax in addition to
their regular death taxes. 4

Ezplanation of provisions—The act amends prior law to provide
that the maximum credit for State death taxes allowable aganst the
Federal estate tax imposed on estates of nonresidents not citizens is to
be an amount which bears the same ratio to the credit (computed with-
out regard to this limitation) as the value of the property upon which
the State death taxes are paid (and which is includible in the gross
estate) bears to the total gross estate for Federal tax purposes.

Effective date—This amendment applies with respect to estates
of decedents dying after November 13, 1966.

¢. Bond situs rule (sec. 108(c) of the act and sec. 2104 of the code)

Prior law—Under existing law, a nonresident alien is subject to
the U.S. estate tax only with respect to property which is situated
in the United States at the time of his death. The code provides
so-called situs rules for determining under what conditions various
types of property are to be considered as having a U.S. situs and
therefore includible in the estate tax base of a decedent. Under
these rules stock of a domestic corporation owned by a nonresident
alien is considered to be property within the United States regardless
of the location of the share certificates. In the case of bonds issued
by U.S. corporations, no such statutory situs rule exists. Instead,
under prior law, for Federal estate tax purposes, the debt represented
by a bond of a domestic corporation was considered to be situated at
the location where the certificate was held. Other intangible debt
obligations of U.S. obligors have been treated as being situated within
the United States.

Explanation of provision—The act adds a new provision to the
law providing that for purposes of the tax imposed on the estates of
nonresidents not citizens, all debt obligations (including bonds) of a
U.S. person, the United States, a State or political subdivision of a
State, or of the District of Columbia owned and held by a nonresident
not a citizen of the United States are to be deemed to be property
situated within the United States. An exception to this rule is provided
for debt obligations of U.S. corporations which have derived less than
20 percent of their gross income from U.S. sources for the 3 years
prior to the nonresident’s death. In such cases these debt obligations
are to be considered as having a foreign situs. For purposes of this
provision U.S. currency is not to be considered a debt obligation of the
United States.

Effective date—This amendment applies with respect to estates of-
decedents dying after November 13,1966.
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d. Deposits in U.S. banks or foreign branch banks of U.S. corpora-
tions (sec. 108(d) of the act and sec. 2105 of the code)

Prior law—Prior law provided that, for purposes of estate tax,
the deposits of nonresident aliens with U.S. persons carrying on the
banking business were not considered to have had a situs within the
United States if the decedent was not engaged in a trade or business
in the United States at the time of his death. This rule applied to
deposits in foreign branch banks of U.S. corporations as well as to
deposits in domestic branches. ) )

Ewplanation of provision—The act provides that after 1972 deposits
of nonresident aliens and foreign corporations with U.S. persons car-
rying on the banking business will be considered to have a situs within
the United States. The 1973 effective date conforms this estate tax
provision to the effective date of the income tax provision which taxes
the interest derived from these deposits beginning after 1972. Also,
the new situs rule provides that for purposes of the U.S. estate tax on
estates of nonresident aliens, deposits in a foreign branch bank of a
U.S. corporation or partnership, if the branch is engaged in the com-
mercial banking business, are not to be deemed to be property within
the United States. Therefore these deposits will not be included in
the foreigner’s taxable U.S. estate.

Effective date—This amendment is applicable to the estates of
decedents dying after November 13, 1966.

e. Definition of tawable estate (sec. 108(e) of the act and sec. 2106
(@) (3) of the code)

Prior law.—Under existing estate tax law, the estate of a citizen
of the United States is entitled to a $60,000 exemption. In the case
of the estate of a nonresident alien, however, prior law allowed only
a $2,000 exemption. In the case of decedents who were residents of
U.S. possessions at the time of death and were citizens of the United
States solely by reason of being a citizen of the possession, or by reason
of birth or residence in the possession, the exemption provided by prior
law was the greater of $2,000, or the proportion of the $60,000 exemp-
tion which the value of that part of the decedent’s gross estate which
was situated in the United States bore to the value of his entire gross
estate.

Ewplanation of provision—Under the act, the estate of a nonresi-
dent not a citizen is allowed to deduct a $30,000 exemption in comput-
ing the taxable estate. The exemption which the estate of a resident of
a U.S. possession to which the special rule applies is allowed, under the
act, 1s to be the greater of $30,000 or the proportion of the $60,000
exemption allowable under existing law.

FEffective date—~These amendments apply to estates of decedents
dying after November 13, 1966.

f. Expatriation to avoid tax (sec. 108(f) of the act and new sec. 2107
of the code)

Prior law.—The U.S. estate tax applies to U.S. citizens and U.S.
residents with respect to their estate no matter where situated. How-
ever, a foreign estate tax credit is allowable with respect to foreign
death taxes paid in the case of property having a situs outside of
the United States. In the case of nonresident aliens, prior law pro-
vided that the U.S. estate tax applied but only with respect to prop-
erty having a U.S. situs. Under prior law, if an individual who had
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been a U.S. citizen gave up this citizenship and became a nonresident
alien, no tax was imposed with respect to his estate to the extent the
property was situated outside of the United States.

Ewzplanation of provision—The act adds a new section to the code
which imposes the regular U.S. estate tax rates on the U.S. estate of
a nonresident alien dying within 10 years after losing U.S. citizenship
if one of the principal purposes of the loss of citizenship was the
avoidance of U.S. income, estate, or gift taxes. This provision is not
to apply to those who lost their citizenship on or before March 8,
1965. It also does not apply in the case of decedents dying on or before
November 13, 1966.

In determining the value of the gross estate of such an expatriate
(as in the case of nonresident aliens generally) only property situated
in the United States that was owned by him at the time of his death
is included. However, the U.S. estate tax base of these expatriate
decedents is expanded in certain respects to prevent him from avoiding

"U.S. tax on his estate by transferring assets with a U.S. situs to a
foreign corporation in exchange for its stock. Such a transfer by
a nonresident alien would reduce the portion of his gross estate hav-
ing a U.S. situs, since the stock of a foreign corporation has a foreign
situs even though the assets of the foreign corporation are situated
in the United States. The new provision specifies, if certain stock
ownership tests are met, that the value of the expatriate’s gross U.S.
estate is to include the same proportion of the value of the stock-
holdings of the expatriate in the foreign corporation as its property
having a U.S. situs bears to all its property.

The ownership tests that must be met for this special provision
to apply are:

(1) The decedent must have owned at the time of his death
10 percent or more of the voting power of all classes of stock of
the foreign corporation. Ownership for this test includes direct
ownership and indirect ownership through another foreign cor-
poration or through a foreign partnership, trust, or estate.

(ii) The decedent must have owned, at the time of his death,
more than 50 percent of the total voting power of all classes of
stock of the foreign corporation. Ownership for purposes of this
test is ownership as described in (i) above plus ownership attrib-
uted to the expatriate under certain attribution rules of existing
law (sec. 958(b) of the code). In general, these rules attribute to
an individual ownership of stock held by members of his family, as
well as by partnerships, trusts, estates, or corporations in which
the individual has certain interests.

In addition, in determining whether the ownership tests are met, and
in determining the portion of the U.S. situs property owned by the
foreign corporation that must be included in computing the value of
his gross estate, the expatriate is treated as owning the stock of a
foreign corporation (at the time of his death) which he transferred
during his life but which under U.S. estate tax law generally is not
effective in excluding property from a gross estate. There transfers
are:

(1) Transfersin contemplation of death (sec.2035).

(1) Transfers with retained life estate (sec. 2036).

(ii1) Transferstaking effect at death (sec.2037).

(iv) Revocable transfers (sec. 2038).
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In computing the estate tax under this new provision the expatriate’s
estate is allowed the credit for State death taxes, the credit for gift
tax, and the credit for tax on prior transfers.

The new section excepts from its application certain expatriates
whose loss of U.S. citizenship occurs under circumstances which would
make the application of the special taxing provisions inappropriate.
These are the same exceptions provided with respect to the income tax
expatriation provision (see No. 3(c) above). .

The new provision, like the comparable income tax provision, con-
tains a special rule dealing with the burden of proving the existence
or nonexistence of U.S. tax avoidance as one of the principal purposes
of the expatriation. Under this provision, the Secretary of the
Treasury or his delegate must establish that it is reasonable to believe
that the expatriate’s loss of U.S. citizenship would (but for the appli-
cation of this new provision) result in a substantial reduction in the
estate, inheritance, legacy, and succession taxes.

If this is established, then the administrator of the expatriate’s
estate must carry the burden of proving that the loss of citizenship
did not have -as one of its principal purposes the avoidance of U.S.
income, estate, or gift taxes.

Effective date—This new provision is effective with respect to
estates of decedents dying after November 13, 1966. Tt does not apply,
however, to expatriates who lost their citizenship on or before March
8,1965.

g. Application of pre-1967 estate tax provisions (sec. 108(f) of the
act and new sec. 2108 of the code)

The unilateral reduction of estate tax rates applicable to nonresident
aliens by this act may have the effect of making it more difficult to
negotiate estate tax treaties. This is comparable to the similar prob-
lem arising from the revision of the income tax provisions applicable
to nonresident aliens. As in the case of the income tax provisions
therefore, the act has added a new provision which gives authority to
the President to apply certain provisions of the estate tax law relating
to estates of nonresidents not citizens without regard to the amend-
ments made to these provisions by this, or any subsequent, act in the
case of estates of residents of any country which imposes more bur-
densome death taxes with respect to estates of U.S. citizen decedents,
not residents of that country, than does the United States on estates of
residents of such a country, not citizens of the United States.

The new provision gives special authority to the President where
he finds that:

(1) Under the laws of a foreign country a more burdensome
tax is imposed on the estates of U.S. citizens, not residents of the
country, than is imposed on the estates of residents of that country
by the United States;

(2) The foreign country, when requested so to do, has not re-
vised its taxes to eliminate this extra burden; and

(3) It is in the public interest to reimpose the pre-1967 estate
tax provisions.

Where these conditions exist the President may proclaim that the U.S.
tax on estates of residents of the foreign country is to be determined
under certain provisions of U.S. estate tax laws (secs. 2101, 2102, 2106,
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and 6018) as in effect prior to amendment by this or any subsequent
act. Such a proclamation is to apply to the estates of decedents dying
after the date of the proclamation.

If after making such a proclamation the President finds that the
laws of the foreign country have been revised to alleviate the excess
burden on the estates of U.S. citizens he may proclaim that the tax
on the estates of residents of the country is to be determined by taking
into account the amendments made by this act, and any subsequent act.
Such a proclamation is to be effective with respect to estates of de-
cedents dying after its date.

Before issuing a proclamation under the new provision the President
is required to give 80 days notice of his intent so to do to the Senate
and the House of Representatives.

This new section is applicable with respect to estates of decedents
dying after November 13, 1966.

h. Estate tax returns (sec. 108(g) of the act and sec. 6018 of the
code)

Under prior law the executor of the estate of a nonresident alien
was required to file a U.S. estate tax return if the U.S. estate exceeded
$2,000. The filing of returns with respect to these estates of over
$2,000 was required because only a $2,000 exemption was granted to the
estates of nonresident aliens. Since the act has increased the $2,000
exemption to $30,000, the return filing requirement is likewise increased
by the act from $2,000 to $30,000. This amendment applies with re-
spect to estates of decedents dying after November 13, 1966.

7. GIFT TAX PROVISIONS

a. T'ax on gifts of nonresidents not citizens (sec. 109(a) of the act and
sec. 2501 of the code)

Under prior law a gift of intangible property having a U.S. situs
by a nonresident alien who was engaged in trade or business in the
United States was subject to U.S. gift tax.

In practice this rule proved to be impossible to enforce, since
there was no practical way for the Internal Revenue Service to find out
when these gifts were made. Moreover, it did not occur to many non-
resident aliens that these transfers were subject to U.S. gift tax. Thus
the revenue significance of this provision was minimal.

The act amends prior law to provide that gifts of intangible prop-
erty by nonresident aliens are not to be subject to the U.S. gift tax.

To prevent this new rule from becoming a means of tax avoidance
by U.g. citizens, the act also provides that the rule is not to apply to
gifts by donors who within tge 10 years immediately before the gift
became expatriates of the United States with a principal purpose of
avoiding U.S. income, estate, or gift taxes.

As in the case of similar amendments with respect to the income
and estate taxes, the new provision provides a special rule relating to
the burden of proof. Under this rule if the Secretary of the Treasury
or his delegate establishes that it is reasonable to believe that the in-
dividual’s loss of U.S. citizenship will result in a substantial reduction
in the gift tax payable by the donor, the burden of proving that tax
avoidance was not one of the principal purposes rests with the donor.
Certain types of losses of citizenship, as in the case of similar income
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and estate tax provisions, are not to result in the application of this
provision.

This amendment applies with respect to the calendar year 1967 and
all calendar years thereafter.

b. Sttus of bonds given by expatriates (sec. 109(d) of the act and sec.
2611 of the code)

Under prior law bonds issued by U.S. persons, unlike other debt
obligations, were considered to be situated where the instrument was
located for purposes of the gift tax applicable to nonresident aliens.
Under that rule, a citizen who became an expatriate with a principal
purpose of avoiding U.S. taxes escaped U.S. gift taxation. To pre-
vent this result, the act amends the present gift tax laws to provide
that debt obligations of a U.S. person, or of the United States, a State
or political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia which are
owned by such expatriates are deemed to be situated in the United
States. This amendment applies with respect to the calendar year
1967 and all calendar years thereafter.

8. TREATY OBLIGATIONS

No amendment made by this act is to apply in any case where its
application would be contrary to any treaty obligation of the United
States. However, for purposes of this provision, the granting of a
benefit provided by any amendment made by this act will not be con-
sidered to be contrary toatreaty obligation. :

B. OtHER AMENDMENTS TO THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

1. Application of investment credit to property used in U.S. posses-
stons (sec. 201 of the act and sec. }8(a) (2) of the code)

In general, under prior law the investment credit was not available
for property located outside the United States. Therefore, with lim-
ited exceptions, property used in a possession was not eligible for the
investment credit.

This amendment extends the application of the investment credit
provision to property used in a possession by a U.S. person, or by a
corporation organized in a possession, provided the property would
otherwise have qualified for the investment credit. This rule is not
extended if the property is owned or used in the possession by U.S.
persons who are presently exempt from U.S. tax due to the application
of the special provisions of the code which exempt U.S. persons who
derive substantially all their income from a U.S. possession (secs. 931,
932, 933, or 934(b) ).

This amendment is effective with respect to taxable years ending
after December 31, 1965, but only with respect to property placed
in service after that date. Additionally, for purposes of computing a
carryback of investment credit, the amount of any investment credit
generated by this provision is to be disregarded.

2. Basis of property received in liguidation of subsidiary (sec. 202
of the act and sec. 334(b) (2) and (3) and sec. 453(d) of the code)

(@) Purchase of stock.—Under existing law, if one corporation pur-
chases 80 percent or more of the stock of another within a 12-month
period and then causes the corporation acquired to be liquidated within
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2 years of the last purchase, the basis of all the assets received is the
amount paid for the stock. Under prior law, however, in order to
revent manipulation, stock purchased from a person related to the
uyer by the attribution rules (under section 318) was not treated as
stock “purchased.”

Cases have been cited where it is necessary to acquire control of one
corporation in order to obtain an 80 percent or greater stock interest
in another corporation. For example, assume that one corporation
desires to purchase the stock of a second corporation and does in fact
purchase 45 percent of its stock directly. However, 40 percent of the
stock of the second corporation is owned by a third corporation, and
the third corporation does not wish to sell the stock of the second cor-
poration. In order to acquire the stock of the second corporation,
therefore, the first corporation purchases over 50 percent of the third
corporation’s stock and then causes this third corporation to sell to it
the 40 percent of the stock of second corporation owned by the third.
Under prior law, since at the time of the sale the first corporation
owns more than 50 percent of the stock of the third corporation, the
two corporations would have been classified as related under the attri-
bution rules (sec. 318) and the first corporation would not have been
treated as the purchaser of more than 80 percent of the stock of the
second although it acquired directly or indirectly all of this stock for
cash within a 12-month period. :

The act amends present law to provide that stock purchased from
a related corporation (after control of it is acquired) is to be treated
as purchased if the stock of the related corporation (representing a
controlling interest) was purchased within the specified period. The
amendment provides that the 12-month period within which the
desired stock must be acquired begins with the date of the first direct
acquisition by purchase of such stock, or the date on which 50 percent
of the stock of the corporation holding such stock was acquired,
whichever is earlier.

The new definition of purchase applies with respect to acquisitions
of stock after December 31, 1965. The provision for measuring the
time period of stock acquisition applies with respect to distributions
made after November 13, 1966.

(b) Installment notes—When one corporation buys more than 80
percent of the stock of another within 12 months and causes the cor-
poration acquired to be liquidated within 2 years of the last acquisition
of stock, generally no gain is recognized to the distributing corpora-
tion (unless it is a corporation which elected sec. 341 (f) treatment to
avoid danger of being treated as a collapsible corporation, or unless
the sections dealing with the recapture of depreciation apply).

Under prior law, if the property received on a liquidation of the
type described above (to which sec. 334(b) (2) applies) consisted of
installment notes, then the gain which would normally be taxed on
the sale or collection of such notes might, in part or in whole, perma-
nently escape income taxation. This resulted where the basis of such
notes were raised to the amount paid for them by the acquiring cor-
poration even though no gain was recognized to the distributing
corporation.

The act provides that installment notes transferred in a liquidation
of the type described above are to be treated as “disposed of” for
purposes of the installment sale provision (sec.453(d)). Asa result,
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gain is to be recognized to the distributing corporation, in the same
manner as if it had sold the notes. '

This amendment is effective with respect to distributions made after
November 13, 1966.

3. “Swap funds” (sec.203 of the act and sec. 351 of the code)

Prior law.—Under section 351 of the Internal Revenue Code, the
transfer of property to a corporation by one or more persons in ex-
change for stock in the corporation is not to result in gain or loss if,
immediately after the exchange, the person or persons in question are
“in control” of the corporation.

In 1960 the Internal Revenue Service issued a limited number of
rulings to the effect that no tax resulted from the exchange of appreci-
ated stock for shares in an investment fund where, immediately after
the exchange, the persons who transferred the stock to the corporation
were in control of the corporation. Investment funds organized in
this way have become known as “swap funds.” In 1961, the Service
stopped issuing these rulings and subsequently (in Rev. Proc. 62-32)
announced that it would not issue rulings mn this area. Notwith-
standing this change in position, new swap funds continued to be
formed, relying on the advice of private tax counsel that the exchange
of stock for stock in these cases was nontaxable. ’

On July 14, 1966, the Treasury issued a proposed regulation to the
effect that this type of exchange would be taxable. At the same time
it offered to enter into closing agreements with existing swap funds
which would provide that section 351 would be applied to past trans-
If)ers; for all purposes under the code, including the determination of

asis.

Explanation of provision—The act provides that no gain or loss is
to be recognized with respect to property that is transferred to an
investment company on or before June 30, 1967, if the transfer is solely
in exchange for stock or securities in the investment company and im-
mediately after the exchange the transferor or transferors are in con-
trol of the corporation. Gain or loss will be recognized, however, with
respect to such transfers made after June 30, 1967.

For the purposes of this provision a transfer of property will only
be considered as made on or before June 30, 1967, if—

(i) The registration statement of the investment company is
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission before Janu-
ary 1, 1967, and the aggregate issue price of the stock and securi-
ties of the company which are issued in the transaction does not
exceed the amount specified in the registration statement as of the
close of December 81,1966,

(i1) The transfer of property to the investment company in-
cludes only property deposited before May 1, 1967, and

(iii) The transfer itself is made on or before June 30, 1967.

Effective date—This provision applies with respect to transfers
of property to investment companies made before, on, or after the
date of enactment.

4. Removal of certain limitations to deductibility of contributions to
self-employed individuals’ pension plans (sec. 204 of the act and
secs. 401 and }0/ of the code)

Prior law.—Self-employed individuals may establish retirement
plans and may deduct from their gross incomes contributions made to
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these plans. Employees with more than 3 years of service must be
covered, and contributions on their behalf are fully deductible.

Under prior law, a self-employed individual could deduct from his
gross income 50 percent of the contribution on his own behalf, and the
contribution was limited to the smaller of 10 percent of his earned
income or $2,500. Accordingly, the maximum deduction allowed to a
self-employed person with respect to his own contribution was $1,250.

Earned income for this purpose was defined as the income received
from the performance of personal services. When capital as well as
personal services was a material factor in the production of the income,
earned income could not exceed 80 percent of the net profits from the
business (except that where an individual rendered personal services on
a substantially full-time basis, this 80-percent rule could not reduce the
net profits considered as earned income below $2,500).

Explanation of provisions—The act removes two limitations to the
deduction.

First, the limitation of the deduction on behalf of a self-employed
person to 50 percent of the contribution (10 percent of earned income
up to a maximum of $2,500) is repealed. This will permit the self-
employed individual to deduct from his gross income the full amount
of this contribution toward his own retirement, in the same manner as
he does the full contribution he makes for his employees eligible for
coverage. No change, however, is made in the limitation on the size
of his contribution for himself; it remains at 10 percent of his earned
income or $2,500, whichever is smaller.

Second, the restriction is removed which limited the share of income
considered “earned,” where both personal services and capital are
important income-producing factors. The entire amount of net profits
in such cases may be considered “earned.” It is provided, however,
that in such cases the net profits involved with respect to any self-
employed person are to be treated as earned income only in the case
of a trade or business in which the personal services of the particular
self-employed individual involved are a material income-producing
factor. By this, it is contemplated that substantially full-time em-
ployment will be treated as a material income-producing factor. In
the case of less than full-time employment, in determining whether
the personal services of the taxpayer are a material income-producing
factor there is to be taken into account the respective contribution
made by his personal services and by his capital.

Effective dates—The removal of the 50-percent limitation on the
deductibility of contributions is to be effective with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1967. No specific effective date
was provided in the act for the provision regarding the treatment of
earned income.

5. Treatment of certain income of authors, inventors, etc., as earned
income for retirement plan purposes (sec. 205 of the act and sec.
401 (¢) (2) of the code)

Prior law—Under the provisions which permit self-employed per-
sons to deduct contributions (within specified limits) made to pension
or profit-sharing plans for the benefit of themselves and other em-
ployees covered by a voluntary retirement plan, coverage depends on
“carned income,” and such income is the basis for computing deductible
contributions. This term includes professional fees and other com-

2037



46 FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966

pensation for personal services from a trade or business (but does
not include amounts which constitute a return on capital invested in
the trade or business).

With respect to authors, the Internal Revenue Service took the
position that if an author contracted to write articles for a given period
or a book for a publisher who copyrighted the literary material and

aid the author a stipulated amount of cash, plus a percentage of the
income derived from the material, the consideration was for the
author’s personal services and constituted earned income. However,
where the consideration received by an author was derived either from
the sale, leasing, or renting of the author’s writing, the consideration
was held to be paid for the use or sale of property and not to constitute
earned income. A similar position was taken by the Service with
respect to inventors and others who created property through the
application of their personal efforts.

Explanation of provision—The act amends the self-employed in-
dividuals retirement plan provisions to provide that “ecarned income”
includes gains (other than capital gains) and net earnings derived
from the sale or other disposition of, the transfer of any interest in, or
the licensing of the use of property (other than good will) by an
individual whose personal efforts created the property.

FEffective date—This amendment applies to taxable years ending
after November 13, 1966.

6. Ewclusion of certain rents from personal holding company income
(sec. 206 of the act and sec. 543 of the code)

Under prior law, if a company manufactured property and leased
it to customers, the rents were treated as personal holding company
income (unless the adjusted income from rents from all sources con-
stituted 50 percent or more of the adjusted ordinary gross income and
unless the sum of the dividends paid during the year had reduced the
other personal holding company income below 10 percent of the ordi-
nary gross income). However, where the property manufactured by
the taxpayer was sold instead of leased, the income from the sale was
not treated as personal holding company income.

The act provides that compensation for the use of any tangible per-
sonal property manufactured or produced by the taxpayer is not to be
treated as rental income under the personal holding company provi-
sions if the taxpayer during the taxable year is engaged in manufac-
turing the same type of property from which he is receiving the rents.
The effect of this is to treat this income (after it is reduced by appli-
cable depreciation, taxes, rent, and interest paid) as ordinary busi-
ness income in determining whether or not the corporation is a per-
sonal holding company. It is intended, in order for the provision to
be applicable, that the manufacturing or production activity be sub-
stantial and more than minor assembly processes. (Tangible personal
property here has the same meaning as in the case of the investment
credit provision.)

The amendments apply to taxable years beginning after date of
enactment, but taxpayers may elect to have the amendments apply to
years beginning on or before that date if such years end after Decem-
ber 81,1965. '
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7. Percentage depletion rate for certain clay bearing alumina (sec. 207
of the act and sec. 613 of the code)

This provision raises the percentage depletion rate from 15 to 23
percent in the case of domestic deposits of clay, laterite, and nephelite
syenite (to the extent alumina or aluminum compounds are extracted
therefrom). This is the same rate of percentage depletion which is
now allowed to domestic deposits of bauxite.

This provision is applicable only to taxable years beginning after
November 13, 1966.

8. Percentage depletion rate for clam and oyster shells (sec. 208 of the
_act and sec. 613 of the code)

The act provides that in the case of clam shells and oyster shells
(as well as other mollusk shells), a percentage depletion rate of 15 per-
cent generally is to apply (rather than the 5 percent rate of prior
law). However, as is true under existing law in the case of limestone
and other calcium carbonates, a 5-percent rate is applicable if the
shells are used, or sold for use, as riprap, ballast, road material, rubble,
concrete aggregates, or for similar purposes.

The provision is applicable to taxable years beginning after Novem-
ber 13, 1966.

9. Percentage depletion rate for certain clay, shale, and slate (sec. 209
of the act and sec.613 of the code)

Under prior law a 5 percent depletion rate was provided for clay
used or sold for use in the manufacture of brick or sewerpipe, for shale,
and for clay or slate used or sold for use as concrete aggregate or for
similar purposes.

The act raises the depletion rate to 714 percent for clay or shale used
or sold for use in the manufacture of sewerpipe and brick, and for
clay, shale or slate used or sold for use as sintered or burned light-
weightaggregates.

This provision applies to taxable years beginning after Novem-
ber 13,1966.

10. Income from the lapse of straddle options (sec. 210 of the act and
sec. 1234(c) of the code) :
Nature of straddles.*—Straddles are one form of an option ; namely,
an offer both to purchase and to sell a specified amount of property
at a stated price for a limited period of time. Options to sell securities
are known as “puts”—i.e., the purchaser of the option can “put” his
shares to the writer or issuer of the option at the stated price. Options
to purchase are known as “calls”—i.e., the purchaser of the option can
“call” the shares from the writer at the stated price. A “straddle” is
a combination of a put and call, with respect to the same security, for
the same quantity, at the same purchase or sale price and available for
the same period of time. ,

Straddles are likely to be written by persons with holdings of a
security who believe that in the long run, the price of the stock will
not vary greatly from its present price. Their inducement for writing
the straddle is the receipt of a premium. Straddles generally are

¢ Much of the material presented in this part was derived from the “Report on Put and
Call Options,” a report published in August 1961 by the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, on the basis of an extensive study by the SEC’s Division of Trading and Exchanges.

2039



48 FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966

granted to brokers or dealers who, in turn, customarily sell the put
and call components to different purchasers. The majority of puts
and calls originate in straddles. While the use of puts and calls is
not a new development in the securities markets, their significance
is relatively limited ; for example, the total number of shares covered
by options sold in recent years on the New York Stock Exchange has
rarely exceeded 1 percent of the total shares sold.

Normally either (not both) the put or the call component of the
straddle is exercised by the purchaser shortly before the end of the
term for which the straddle 1s written. Frequently this is 6 months
and 10 days after the straddle is issued. Which component of the
straddle is exercised depends upon the market conditions at the time
of exercise vis-a-vis market conditions at the time the straddle was
written. If the market in that security has risen, the securities are
likely to be “called” from the writer ; if the market has fallen, the stock
is likely to be “put” to the writer. While in the great majority of the
cases, one component of the straddle is exercised and the other is
allowed to lapse, occasionally (perhaps 10 to 15 percent of the time)
neither option is exercised and in a few other cases (less than 1 percent
of the cases) both components of the straddle are exercised.

Although options are purchased for hedging and other similar pur-
poses by some investors, their primary use probably is as a method of
mvesting by individuals with small amounts of money.

Prior low.—Under the 1939 code, premium income received from
the writing of an option which lapsed without either the put or call
being exercised was treated as a short-term capital gain (sec. 117(g) (2)
of the 1939 code). When one component of the straddle was exercised,
however, straddle writers generally allocated the entire straddle pre-
mium to the component option which was exercised. This practice ap-
parently was not challenged by the Internal Revenue Service prior to
the issuance of a revenue ruling in 1965 (Revenue Ruling 65-31).
Since one component or the other of a straddle is exercised in the bulk
of the cases, the fact that the premium in the case of the lapse of an
option was treated as short-term capital gain was of relatively little
significance. The important aspect was the treatment of the premium
in connection with the portion of the straddle which was exercised.

When all of the premium is allocated to the component which is
exercised and this is the “put,” the premium decreases the cost or basis
of the stock put to the writer of the straddle. As a result, it increases
his capital gain only when he disposes of the stock put to him. Gen-
erally, this results in a long-term capital gain (unless he holds the
stock for less than 6 months). Where the call component is exercised
and all of the straddle premium is allocated to it, the premium increases
the income received by the writer at the time the stock is called from
(1.e., sold by) him. As a result in this cases also, the total premium
increases the writer’s capital gain (or decreases his capital loss) and
if the writer has held the stock for more than 6 months, the gain (or
loss) is long term.

The 1989 code provision treating income from the lapse of an option
as a short-term capital gain was not included in the 1954 code. As a
result, where both options were permitted to lapse, the total straddle
preminm was reported as ordinary income. However, in the usual
case where one option lapsed and the other was exercised, the practice
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of allocating the straddle premium income to the side exercised was
continued.

In the ruling (Revenue Ruling 65-31) issued on January 22, 1965,
the Internal Revenue Service held that the premium for a straddle
must be allocated between its put and call components on the basis of
the relative market values of each. In a later technical information
release, the Service announced that it would accept allocations of
55 percent of each straddle premium to the call component and 45
percent to the put component.’

Under the ruling, the part of the premium which arose from the
writing of a single straddle could result in ordinary income (the por-
tion of the premium allocated to the lapsed component) while the
remaining portion of the premium could result in either a capital gain
or a capital loss, which in the usual case would be a long-term gain
or loss.

The manner in which prior law was applied under the ruling can be
illustrated by the following example. Assume that a straddle writer
issued a straddle for a stock when its price was $100 a share and this
was the option price. Assume that the straddle premium was $8 per
share. Assume further that the put component of the straddle was
exercised by the purchaser when the price of the stock was $80 per
share. As'a result, the writer of the straddle had to buy stock at a
price of $100 per share when its market value was $80 per share. If
the straddle premium allocable to the put component was $3.60 per
share, the short-term capital loss for the writer of the straddle was
$16.40 per share if he disposed of the stock shortly after receipt, when
the market price was still $80 per share. At the same time, the re-
mainder of the straddle premium, $4.40 a share, was allocated to the
call component, which in such a case presumably was allowed to lapse.
The $4.40 per share was ordinary income while the capital loss of
$16.40 a share attributable to the put side of the option resulted in a
short-term capital loss, which, except to the extent of the $1,000 a year,
could not be mnetted with the ordinary income- attributable to the
premium income of the other side of the straddle.

Explanation of provision—The amendment adds a new subsec-
tion (c) to section 1234 of the code which provides that gain derived
from the lapse of an option written as a part of a straddle (as defined
in new section 1234 (c) (8)) is, in effect, to be short-term capital gain.
Thus, such gains will be added to any other short-term capital gains,
to be netted against short-term capital losses, with the excess to be
netted against any net long-term capital losses. Any remaining short-
term capital gains will generally be taxed as ordinary income. This
provision does not apply to a person who holds securities (including
options to acquire or sell securities) for sale to customers in the ordi-
nary course of his trade or business.

The new subsection defines a “straddle” as a simultaneously granted
combination of an option to buy (a “call”) and an option to sell (a

" Rev. Proc. 65-29, issued on Nov. 15, 1965. This 55-45 ratio was selected because it
repre“senteg a rounded approximation of relative market prices of separately written ‘‘puts”
and “calls” of the same length for securities of approximately equal price. -The revenue
procedure concluded with the statement that “If a taxpayer does not use this method for
a taxable year, then the allocation based on relative market values required by Revenue
Ruling 65-31 must be used.”
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“put”) the same quantity of a security at the same price during the
same period of time.

If a person grants a multiple option (a put plus a call plus one or
more additional puts or calls) it is intended that the grantor of the
multiple option must identify in his records which two of the compo-
nent options constitute the straddle, if it is not clear from the options
themselves. It is contemplated that the method of identification will
be specified in regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury or
his delegate. If there is no identification by the writer, this provision
relating to straddles is not to apply. As a result, in such a case the
gain on the lapsed option (or options) would result in ordinary in-
come.

A corporate security for purposes of the definition of a straddle is
the same as defined in section 1236(c) of the code—i.e., stocks, bonds,
notes, etc. Accordingly, the term securities does not include com-
modity futures.

Effective date—The amendments described above are to apply to
straddles written after January 25, 1965, in taxable years ending
after such date.

11. Tawx treatment of per-unit retain allocations (sec. 211 of the act
and secs. 1382, 1383, 1385, 1388, and 6044 of the code)

Prior law—Although the practices of cooperatives are not uni-
form in this regard, generally a per-unit retain certificate is issued
by a cooperative to a patron to reflect the retention by the coopera-
tive of a portion of the proceeds from the marketing of products for
the patron. These amounts are retained pursuant to an authorization
(usually in the bylaws of the cooperative) and are computed on the
basis of units of products marketed.

Prior to 1962, the Internal Revenue Code permitted cooperatives
to deduct amounts paid to patrons as patronage dividends. Patron-
age dividends are limited by definition to amounts which are “deter-
‘mined with reference to the net earnings” of the cooperative. The
treatment of per-unit retains, however, was not specifically dealt
with in the code. The Revenue Act of 1962 substantially revised the
income tax treatment of cooperatives and their patrons but the new
provisions by their terms were applicable only to “patronage divi-
dends.” Because per-unit retain allocations are determined on the
basis of units of products marketed for the patrons rather than with
reference to net earnings, the new provisions were generally considered
as not being applicable to them. However by re, ﬁxtions issued on Oc-
tober 14, 1965, the Treasury Department provided for the income tax
treatment of per-unit retain certificates in a manner that was in many
respects parallel to the treatment prescribed in the Revenue Act of 1962
with respect to patronage dividends.

The per-unit retains may be considered as contributions to capital
by patrons. For this to be true they first must have been considered as
paid out by the cooperative. However, because the per-unit retain
certificates issued by cooperatives may have a fair market value con-
siderably less than their face amount, and in some cases have only a
negligible fair market value, it was questioned whether they may be
considered as paid out by the cooperatives and whether the patrons
can be required to include them in their gross income.
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Ewnplanation of provisions—Thé bill amends present law to provide
tax treatment with respect to per-unit retain certificates which paral-
lels, in general, the tax treatment applicable with respect to patronage
dividends. Providing essentially the same treatment for per-unit re-
tain certificates means, generally, that they are to be treated as income
to the patron in the year in which the certificates are issued, if the pa-
trons give their consent in writing to the inclusion of the face amount
of these certificates in their income or if there is a provision in the by-
laws or charter of the cooperative indicating that membership in the
cooperative represents consent to such treatment. Under the amend-
ment, the cooperative is permitted to take a deduction in arriving at
gross income for a per-unit retain certificate when issued, but only
when the certificate qualifies for the treatment specified above in the
hands of the patron. Otherwise, the amount involved is deductible
by the cooperative only at the time the certificate is redeemed.

Adoption of this provision is not intended to reflect on the validity
of the regulations recently issued by the Treasury Department with
respect to per-unit retain certificates, nor is it intended to reflect on
the deductibility in the past of per-unit retain certificates to coopera-
tives or the includibility in the past of such certificates in the income
of patrons.

(1) Treatment of per-unit refains by cooperatives—The amendment
provides that no decrease is'to be made in the gross income of a co-
operative because of per-unit retain allocations to patrons excegt for
amounts Paid in “qualified per-unit retain certificates” or in redemp-
tion of “nonqualified per-unit retain certificates.” (Both of these
terms are explained subsequently.) 8 If a cooperative has no taxable
income for the year in which it redeems nonqualified per-unit retain
certificates, the cooperative will, in effect, be permitted to carry back
the deduction or exclusion to the year in which the certificate was
issued.

(ii) Zreatment of per-unit retains by patrons—Under the amend-
ment, a patron is required to include in his gross income the amount
paid to him in qualified per-unit retain certificates and the amount
received by him on the redemption, sale, or other disposition of non-
qualified per-unit retain certificates.

(iii) Definitions and special provisions.—The amendment provides
definitions of the terms used in providing for the treatment of per-unit
retains. Under the first of these, the amount considered paid by a
cooperative and received by a patron as a result of the issuance of a
qualified per-unit retain certificate is to be the certificate’s stated dol-
lar amount. The term “per-unit retain allocation” is defined, in gen-
eral, as an amount paid (except amounts paid in money or other prop-
erty) to patrons with respect to products marketed for them which is
fixed without regard to the net earnings of the cooperative. The term
“per-unit retain certificate” is defined to mean any written notice which
discloses to the recipient the stated dollar amount of a per-unit retain
allocation. The term “qualified per-unit retain certificate” is defined
to mean a per-unit retain certificate which the patron has agreed to
include in his income at the stated dollar amount. For this purpose, a

8 A special rule permits cooperatives to continue their existing practices with respect to
the timing of the issuance of per-unit retain certificates for products marketed under a
pooling arrangement and to take the tax deduction at the time the certificates are issued.
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cooperative may enter into individual agreements with each of its
patrons, or the agreement may be contained in a bylaw, a written notice
and copy of which is given to each of the members. In general, agree-
ments once made are effective for all subsequent years until revoked.
A “nonqualified per-unit retain certificate” is defined to be any per-
unit retain certificate other than one which is “qualified.”

The amendment also requires the reporting by the cooperative of
information with respect to per-unit retain allocations comparable to
the reporting requirements with respect to patronage dividends under
present law.

Effective dates and transition rule—The amendments which relate
to the substantive tax treatment of per-unit retains are to apply, gen-
erally, for taxable years of cooperatives beginning after April 30,
1966, and the information reporting provisions are to apply for cal-
endar years after 1966.

If a cooperative has entered into individual agreements with its
patrons with respect to per-unit retain allocations in compliance with
the existing income tax regulations, new agreements would not be
required under the amendment. Existing bylaw agreements with re-
spect to per-unit retain allocations adopted under the Treasury regu-
lations are to be effective for taxable years beginning before May 1,
1967. For years beginning after that date a bylaw agreement which
conforms to the new statutory provisions is required.

12. Ewcz’(-zse)taw rate on hearses (sec. 212 of the act and sec. 4062 of the
code

A 10 percent excise tax is imposed on the sale by the manufacturer,
importer, or producer of bodies and chassis of trucks. A rate of 7
percent is imposed on automobiles.?

Under prior law there was no statutory classification of hearses,
ambulances, or combination ambulance-hearse vehicles for purposes of
this excise tax. However, since 1921 the Internal Revenue Service,
by administrative interpretation, had classified hearses as trucks while
treating ambulances and combination ambulance-hearse vehicles as
automobiles for the purpose of determining the appropriate excise
tax rate.

The act classifies hearses, ambulances, and combination ambulance-
hearses as automobiles (and not as trucks) for purposes of the excise
tax on the sale of these vehicles by the manufacturer, producer, or im-
borter.

! This amendment is effective with respect to vehicles sold after
November 13,1966.

13. Interest equalization tax; loans to insure raw material sources (sec.
213 of the act and sec. 4914 of the code)

The interest equalization tax, in general, is a tax imposed on Ameri-
cans with respect to the purchase of foreign securities. In the case
of debt the tax rate varies with the period of time to maturity; in the
case of stock the tax rate is 15 percent. The tax is designed to increase
capital costs in the United States for foreigners by about 1 percent
a year.

9 This 7-percent rate is scheduled for reduction to 2 percent effective Apr. 1, 1968, and
to lfpegcent effective Jan. 1, 1969. The 10-percent tax on trucks and hearses is a perma-
nent rate.
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Presently there is an exemption from the interest equalization tax—
as the equivalent to a direct investment—for loans made by U.s.
lenders to foreign subsidiaries of U.S. corporations producing forei
ores and minerals in short supply in the United States where the
financing is secured by a so-called “take or pay” contract entered
into between the foreign subsidiaries and the U.S. parent. However,
under prior law these loans became subject to the interest equalization
tax when and if they were subsequently transferred by the lender to
another U.S. person, regardless of the intent of the investor at the
time of acquisition.

This amendment provides that transfers by the original lender, sub-
sequent to the original acquisition of the indebtedness which is ex-
empted under this provision, will not be subject to tax where the
indebtedness was originally acquired by the lender without an intent
to sell the indebtedness to other U.S. persons (such as a bona fide in-
vestment representation). However, where in fact more than one sale
of the indebtedness occurs after the debt is held by the initial lender,
then for each such sale to be exempt the indebtedness must be purchased
without any intent to resell. This amendment is to be effective with
respect to debt obligations acquired after November 13, 1966.

14. Interest equalization tax; insurance company reserve funds (sec.
21}, of the act and sec. 4914(e) of the code)

The interest equalization tax provisions presently provide a limited
exception for acquisitions of otherwise taxable securities made to
maintain the reserve assets of a U.S. insurance company doing an in-
surance business in foreign currencies abroad in developed countries.
In addition, an exception for investments generally is provided with
respect to those in “less developed countries.” Under prior law, in
order to claim the exemption for life insurance companies operating in
developed countries a company must “establish” a fund of assets
for each developed country for which it does business without
exception. However, the establishment of such a fund could only be
made under prior law during the “initial” designation period which
was the 30-day period between the enactment of the act, September 2,
1964, to October 2,1964.

This amendment permits a U.S. insurance company commencing
activities in a developed country to establish a fund with respect to
that country provided it was ineligible to make an initial designation
prior to October 2, 1964. The amendment also permits the establish-
ment of a fund for a country if the status of that country was changed
from a less developed country by an Executive order.

15. Interest equalization tax; dollar loans of foreign branches of U.S.
banks (sec. 215 of the act and sec. 4931 (a) of the code)

Prior to this act only foreign currency loans and dollar loans of less
than one year made by foreign branches of U.S. banks were exempt
from the application of the interest equalization tax.

This amendment authorizes the President to exempt from the in-
terest equalization tax U.S. dollar loans made by the foreign branches
of U.S. banks (regardless of the maturities involved). To the extent
that this authority is exercised, the President subsequently may with-
draw or modify the exemption in the event he determines such with-
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drawal or modification is necessary to preserve the effectiveness of
the interest equalization tax.

This amendment is to be effective with respect to acquisitions of debt
obligations after November 13, 1966. :

C. PresipENTIAL Erection Campaiey Funp Act

Under prior law no provision was made for taxpayers to set aside
any portion of their tax payments as a contribution to a political party.
Nor was there any provision for an income tax deduction for political
campaign contributions. The act under certain conditions, described
below, provides taxpayers the opportunity to have limited amounts of
their income tax payments set aside for the use by the political parties
in presidential campaigns.

1. Designation of income tax payments to presidential election cam-
paign fund (sec. 302 of the act and sec. 6096 of the code)

Space is to be provided on the income tax return forms to permit
each individual taxpayer (other than a nonresident alien or an estate
or trust) to designate, if he so desires, that $1 of his income tax pay-
ment be appropriated from general revenues and paid into the presi-
dential election campaign fund. All taxpayers who show an income
tax liability of at least %1 for the year are to be permitted to make a
designation. On joint returns, both husband and wife are to be per-
mitted to make a designation provided the tax liability shown on the
return is at least $2. The designation is to be made at the time of filing
the return or at such later time as may be provided in regulations (such
as at the time of making a claim for refund of an overpayment of tax).
The designation is to be permitted with respect to income tax liability
for each taxable year beginning after December 31,1966.

2. The presidential election campaign fund and payments there-
from (sec. 303 of the act) ‘

Amounts are only to be paid out of the presidential election cam-
paign fund to reimburse certain political parties for expenses in-
curred in presenting candidates for President and Vice President in
presidential elections. .

Only those political parties whose candidates for President received
at least 5,000,000 votes in the preceding presidential election will be
eligible to receive payments from the fund.

A political party whose candidate received more than 5,000,000 votes
in the preceding presidential election but less than 10 million votes will
be authorized to receive from the fund an amount equal to the lesser
of its actual campaign expenses or an amount equal to $1 times the
number of votes 1n excess of 5,000,000 that its candidate received in
the last presidential election.

A political party whose candidate for President received 15 million
votes or more in the preceding presidential election is to be reimbursed
on a different basis. An amount equal to $1 for each vote in excess
of 5,000,000 received by each major party in the last election is to
be divided equally between (or among) them, with the limitation that
payments to any one party cannot exceed the expenses incurred by
the party in the current campaign. :
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Expenses will only be reimbursed to the extent that they are in-

curred for political purposes. Personal expenses will not be reim-
‘bursed. Furthermore, the expenses must be incurred predominantly
for the purpose of furthering the candidacy of the presidential and
vice presidential nominees. Expenses incurred predominantly to sup-
port candidates for other offices will not be reimbursed, even if in-
curred by these nominees. This rule is not intended, however, to pre-
clude the endorsement by presidential and vice-presidential candidates
of candidates for other offices as long as the primary purpose of their
appearance is to further their own candidacies. Finally, expenses
will not be reimbursed unless sufficient proof is supplied to establish
that th(g were actually made.

_ The Comptroller General is charged with the responsibility for cer-
tifying to the Secretary of the Treasury the amounts payable to eligible
political parties. In this certification he will take into account in-
formation supplied him by the treasurers of each political party re-
garding ca.mpalgn expenses incurred and on the basis of the votes
cast in the preceding presidential election. The Comptroller General’s
decisions are to be final.

The payments will be made at times to be determined by Treasury
regulations, but no payment for a given presidential election campaign
can be made before September 1 of the year the election is held.

If at the time payments are made, there are insufficient moneys in the
fund to meet the amounts specified under the rules set forth, payments
to all entitled parties will be reduced pro rata, and the additional
amounts paid out of later additions to the fund.

If any moneys remain in the fund after all the payments authorized
have been made with respect to a given presidential election, or if the
fund exceeds the maximum payments which may be authorized, the
amount remaining is to be returned to the general fund of the
Treasury.

3. The Advisory Board (sec.30/} of the act)

The bill establishes the Presidential Election Campaign Fund Ad-
visory Board to advise and assist the Comptroller General in con-
nection with his duties under this act. The board is to consist of
two members from each political party whose candidate received 15
million or more votes in the last presidential election plus three addi-
tional members selected by a majority of the political party members.
The first members of the board are to be appointed by the Comptroller
General after the date of enactment of this act and their term will
expire 60 days after the date of the first presidential election held
after the date of enactment of this act. The next and succeeding
boards will then serve 4-year terms ending 60 days after the date of
each succeeding presidential election. Board members will be com-
pensated at the rate of $75 a day for each day they serve and will re-
ceive travel expenses and a per diem in lieu of subsistence (at rates
authorized for persons in intermittent Government service) when
engaged in work away from their homes or regular places of business.
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D. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

1. Treasury notes payable in foreign currency (sec. 401 of the act)

Bonds or certificates of indebtedness may be issued by the Secretary
of the Treasury payable both as to principal and interest in any for-
eign currency. However, under prior law there was no authorization
for the Secretary of the Treasury to issue notes in foreign currency
(31U.S.C.766).

The act contains an amendment to the Second Liberty Bond Act
authorizing the Secretary of the Treasury to issue notes as well as
bonds and certificates of indebtedness in foreign currencies. Notes
are evidences of indebtedness issued by the Treasury Department with
a maturity of from 1 to 5 years from date of issue.

8. Reports on Government contingent liabilities and assets (sec. 408
.of the act)

This amendment requires the Secretary of the Treasury to submit,
on the first day of each regular session of the Congress, a report to the
Congress showing the amount (both on an aggregate and on an indi-
vidual basis) of the contingent liabilities and the unfunded liabilities

of the Federal Government, determined as of the close of the preceding
June 30.

The contingent liabilities referred to by the amendment include
(1) liability of the Government under its various trust funds (such as
the old age and survivors insurance trust fund and the highway
trust fund); (2) liabilities of Government-sponsored corporations
(for example, the Commodity Credit Corporation) ; (8) indirect
liabilities of the Federal Government not included as part of the pub-
lic debt, such as Federal Housing Administration debentures; and
(4) liabilities of Federal insurance and annuity programs.

Data with respect to these insurance and annuity progranis (which
include the civil service retirement system, veterans’ pension, and war
risk insurance programs) are to include information regarding their
actuarial status. S

The report is also to indicate the, collateralpledged, or the assets
available (or to be realized) as seeurity for'the’specified liabilities.
Thus, for example, in the case of federally insured home mortgages
the assets available on foreclosures may, under favorable circum-
stances, offset the potential Federal liability. But the reporting of
assets is not to stop with a recording of assets related to the liabilities.
Under the amendment the Secretary of the Treasury is to set forth all
other assets which would be available to liquidate liabilities of the
Federal Government.

Tn order to provide flexibility and to prevent data included in the
report from being misconstrued or misleading, the amendment pro-
vides that the Secretary of the Treasury may set forth such explana-
tory material (including such analysis of the significance of the liabili-
ties in terms of past experience and probable risk) as he determines
to be necessary or desirable. Under this provision, if he believes
particular data are likely to lead to improper conclusions he may
qualify these data sufficiently to negate such conclusions.
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II. ReveNuE EFrFECT

The following table presents estimates of the revenue effect, based
on current income levels, of various provisions of the Foreign Inves-
tors Tax Act of 1966 :

Estimated revenue increase (+), revenue decrease (—), and expenditure increase (—)
in the first full year under H.R. 13108 as reported by the Ways and Means Com-
mittee and passed by the House of Representatives, as reported by the Senate Finance
Commiltiee, as passed by the Senate, and as reported by the conference

[Millions]

As reported
by the Ways
and Means | Asreported
Committee, by the As passed | Asreported
- Item Apr. 26, 1866, Senate by the by the
and passed Finance Senate, conference,
by the House | Committee, | Oct. 13, 1966 | Oct. 19, 1966 !
of Represent-| Oct. 11, 1966
atives,
June 15, 1966

A. FOREIGN INVESTORS TAX ACT OF 1966

1. Elimination of progressive taxation of U.S.
source income of nonresident alien indi-
viduals not engaged in trade or business .
in the United States. —$1 -$1 —$1 —$1

2. Estate tax at top rate of 25 percent on tan-
gibles and intangibles with $30,000 ex-
emption -3 -3 . -3

3. 1. Tax on excluded bank deposits.__. +@® +@® “+@® +@

4. Taxation of foreign life insurance company
income from nontrusted investments in
the United States. ..o cooeomomoameae +3 +3 +3 +3

6. Saving in interest cost to U.S. Government
resulting from quarterly payment of

withheld taxes?. +2 +2 +2 +2
6. Tax on capital gains - - - -
7. Total +1 +1 +1 +1
B. PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION CAMFAIGN FUND
ACT OF 1966

8. Payments to political parties, for incurred
Presidential election expenses, out of a
fund into which individuals have desig-
nated that $1 of their income tax liability .
be paid 5-70 =70 §—60

C. PROVISIONS REGARDING PERCENTAGE DEPLE-
TION AND MINING TREATMENT PROCESSES

9. Increasing from 5 to 15 percent the percent-

~ age depletion rate for clay or shale used in

the manufacture of sewer pipe and brick | ... oo feemaemanioaos -3 )

10. Mining . process designation for sintering

and burning of shale, clay, and slate to .

roduce lightweight aggregates. ... .- _|-ccccace. —ooo )

11. Mining process designation for processes de-
riving alumina or aluminum compounds

from clay, laterite, and nephelitesyenite..|............_.|} |l = |emeeeeeemae-

12. Increasing from 5 to 15 percent the percent- -1 -1

age depletion rate for clam and oyster

shells used for their calcium carbonate

CONEBNE e e oo oo e | -

13. Increasing from 15 to 23 percent the percent-

age depletion rate for alumina-yielding

clay, laterite, and nephelite syenite......_|-ccccoc.ooo._ -1

14. Increasing from 5 to 7} percent the percent-

age depletion rate for clay and shale used

in the manufacture of sewer pipe and

brick and for clay, shale, or slate sintered

or burned to prociuee lightweight aggre-

gates. - R 0]

15. - Total..ceeeme--. -1 —4 -1

See footnotes at end of table.
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Estimated revenue increase (+), revenue decrease (—), and expenditure increase (—)
in the first full year under H.R. 13103 as reported by the Ways and Means Com-
mittee and passed by the House of Representatives, as reported by the Senate Finance
Committee, as passed by the Senate, and as reported by the conference—Continued

[Millions]

As reported
by the Ways
and Means | Asreported :
. Committee, by the “ As passed | Asreported
Item Apr. 26, 1966, Senate by the * by the
and passed Finance Senate, conference,
by the House | Committee, | Oct. 13, 1966 | Oct. 19, 1966 !
of Represent-| Oct. 11, 1966

atives,
June 15, 1966

D. OTHER. PROVISIONS

16. Removal of special limitations regarding
deductibility of contributions to pension
plans by self-employed individuals

I .- —$30to —$45 | —$30 to —$45

H.R. 10)..-

17. Elimination of 3 percent and 1 percent floors
under medical and drug expense deduc-
tions of the aged for taxable years be-
ginning after Dec. 31, 1966 - .| .. ______ —180 |. —180 |-comomeeees

18. Coverage of certain drug expenses under
supplementary medical insurance bene-

ts.. S S P - 8 —200 8200 |-cooooeo

19. Preservation from reduction of certain .
widows’ benefits under title II of Social
Security Act e R P S
20. Increasing from $2,500 to $6,600 the mini-
mum amount treated as earned income
for retirement plans of self-employed -
persons.___. . LS P B N P
21. Application of investment credit to prop-
erty used in possessions of the United

ates. . .

. Amending the basis of property received on
liquidation of subsidiary...._.__..______ P
Retention of tax-free status of transfers of
stock and securities to corporations con-
trolled by transferors_ ... _______|__._._______.
. Treatment of certain income of authors,
inventors, etc., asearned income for retire-
ment plan purposes. . __.___._ I I
25. Exclusion of ‘certain rents from personal .
holding company income. . -
26. Treatment ofincome from lapse ofa straddle
optidn as a short-term capital gain________[__________.___
27. Insuring that current single tax is paid with —4
respect to per unit retain certificates of
cooperatives. J (R —4
28. Treating, for purposes of manufacturers’ —4
excise tax, sale of hearse, ambulance, or
ambulance-hearse as sale of automobile
chassis and body (rather than truck
chassis and body) - -« .
. Applicability of exclusion from interest
equalization tax of certain loans to assure
raw material sources.
30. Exclusion from interest equalization tax of
certain acquisitions by insurance com-
panies. .
31. Exclusion from interest equalization tax of
certain acquisitions by foreign branches
of domestic banks._. - R

32. Authorization of issuance of Treasury notes

payable in foreign currency.-. .. ______|..____________
33. Requiring Secretary of Treasury to submit
an annualreport to Congress setting forth
theamount of contingent and of unfunded
liabilities of the Federal Government.._._{._._._..___.__

34. Total . feemeiooos —384 |—414to —440 | —34to—49
35. Grand total ... +1 —454 |—487 to —502| —94to —109

2;
23.

[

2

-

[
<o

)

1 And enacted into law on Nov. 13, 1966 (Public Law 89-809).
2 Less than $500,000.
936 ?uatterly payment of withheld taxes is estimated to result in a revenue gain of $22,500,000 in fiscal year

1967.

4 Negligible.

5 This is a quadrennial expenditure occurring in each presidential election year.

6 See item 14.

7 See items 9 and 10.

8 Other estimates have placed this figureat $100,000,000.
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[For immediate release Nov. 13, 1966, Office of the White House Press Secretary
(Fredericksburg, Tex.)]

STATEMENT BY THE PRESIDENT UPON SiGNING THE FOREIGN
InvesTors Tax Act or 1966—H.R. 13103

I have today signed the Foreign Investors Tax Act of 1966.

This law ends the confusion and complexity that have long plagued
our system of taxing the foreign investor. It makes our tax rules
fairer and simpler, brings them up to date, and removes those tax
roadblocks which have discouraged foreign investments in this country.
The law will help to improve our balance-of-payments position and
will thus strengthen our economy.

The act is the first major revision of the foreign investors tax
structure in more than 30 years. It is the product of a task force of
distinguished bankers and businessmen headed by Secretary of the
Treasury Henry H. Fowler.

An important addition to this act breaks new ground in the financing
of Presidential election campaigns. :

As a Nation, we have long been concerned with the way Presidential
campaigns are financed. More than 60 years ago, Theodore Roosevelt
observed that the Federal Government should help pay the expenses
of a man running for the Presidency to eliminate tﬁe danger of undue
influence by wealthy campaign contributors.

In recent years, soaring political campaign costs have intensified
our concern and our search for solutions.

The approach adopted by this act allows the individual taxpayer—
voluntarily—to have $1 of his tax payment placed into a Presidential
campagin election fund.

Congress has wisely chosen the Comptroller General and a bi-

artisan advisory board to safeguard and supervise the fund, which
1s held in trust for all Americans.

Presidential candidates will no longer have to rely on special interest
groups and the rich to meet the heavy financial burden of a campaign.

Instead, they will rely on all Americans from every walk of life—
the ideal way in a free country.

b AI}id thus our deeply rooted system of free elective government will
enefit. . :

The new law is only a beginning. It underscores the pressing need
to reform our antiquated Federal laws on the disclosure and regulation
of campaign financing. Indeed, that task must be pursued with even
greater urgency.

Last May I recommended that the Congress enact the Election
Reform Act of 1966. That proposal was aimed at modernizing,
correcting, and systematically overhauling our campaign financing
laws—which are now more loophole than law. It sought full dis-
closure by Members of Congress of gifts and income.

Next year, I shall call upon Congress again to consider these positive
and corrective measures to insure public confidence in the elective
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process. There is no higher duty of a democratic government than
to insure that confidence.

I am also asking a bipartisan group of our very best political
scientists and experts—headed by Prof. Richard Neustadt, of Har-
vard—to see how the promise of the new Presidential campaign fund
law can be fully realized and to review the problems of election reforms
and campaign financing in non-Presidential elections.

The Foreign Investors Tax Act contains a variety of other amend-
ments. Many of these are minor technical changes usually dealt
with by separate bills.

Others are more important. Several of these do not promote a fair
and sound tax system. Instead they confer special tax windfalls
and benefits upon certain groups. I deeply regret that these riders
have been engrafted on this vital legislation. ‘

However, the act’s comprehensive and long overdue revision of our
system of taxing foreign investors (thus helping our balance of pay-
ments position) and its precedent-setting provision for financing Presi-
ential campaigns are far too important to all the people of America
to be delayed until future years. It is because these provisions are
of overriding significance to the public interest that I have signed
the act into %aw today.
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APPENDIX 1
H.R. 10

TO AMEND THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1954
TO PERMIT PENSION AND PROFIT-SHARING PLANS
TO PROVIDE CONTRIBUTIONS OR BENEFITS ON A
NONDISCRIMINATORY BASIS FOR CERTAIN SELF-
EMPLOYED INDIVIDUALS WITHOUT SPECIAL LIMITA-
TIONS ON THE AMOUNT OF CONTRIBUTIONS
(Sec. 204 of Public Law 89-809)
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IN THE HOUSE OI' REPRESENTATIVES

JANUARY 4,1965

Mr. Krocu introduced the following bill; which was referred to the Com-

mittee on Ways and Means

A BILL

To amend the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to permit pension

I T T =" BT Y JCRE O Y

and profit-sharing plans to provide contributions or benefits
on a nondiscriminatory basis for certain self-employed indi-
viduals without special limitations on the amount of con-

tributions.

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-
tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
That (a) paragraph (10) of scction 404 (a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to special limitation on
amount allowed as deduction for self-employed individuals for
contributions to certain pension, etc., plans) is repealed.

(b) (1) Iach of the following provisions of section 401

of such Code is amended by striking out “(determined
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without regard to scction 404 (a) (10))” ecach place it
appears:

(A) Subsection (a) (10) () (ii).

(B) Subparagraphs (A) and (B) of subsection

() (5).

(¢)

(D) Subparagraphs () and (B) (i) of subsec-

tion (e) (1).
- (E)

Subparagraph (A) of subsection (d) (6).

Subparagraphs (B) and (C) and the last

sentence of subseetion (e) (3).

(2) Subparagraph {A) of section 404 (¢) (2) of such
Code is amended by striking out ““ (determined without re-
gard to subsection (a) (10) 7.

(3) Subparagraph (B) of seetion 4()4(0) (2) of such
Code is amended hy striking out “ (determined without re-
gard to paragraph (10) thereof)”.

SEC. 2. (a) So mueh of subsection (¢) of secetion 404
of the Tnternal Revenue Code of 1954 (velating to speeial
limitations for scli-employved individuals) as precedes para-
graph (2) is amended to read as follows:

“(¢) Srecian LivrrarTioNs ror Prorrizror Wio
Dors Nor ILave EMPLOYEES.—

“(1) Ix GENERAL.—Tn the case of a plan included
in subsection (a), (1), (2), or (3), which provides

contributions or henefits only for an individual who is
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1 an owner-employee within the meaning of section
2 401 (¢) (3) (A), the amounts deductible under sub-
3 section (a) in any taxable year with respect to con-
4 tributions on behalf of such owner-employee shall, sub-
5 jeet to the provisions of paragraph (2), not exceed
G $2,500, or 10 pereent of the earned income derived hy
7 him from the trade or business with respeet to which the
8 plan is established, whichever is the lesser.”

9 (b) Subparagraph (A) of section 404 (e) (2) of such
10 Code (relating to overall limitation in case of contributions

11 made under more than one plan) is amended by inserting
12 “referred to in paragraph (1) after “individual”.
13 (¢) Section 401 (¢) of such Code (relating to excess

14 contributions on hehalf of owner-employees) is amended—

15 (1) by imserting “and” at the end of clause (i) and
16 at the end of clanse (i) of paragraph (1) (B), and by
17 striking ont elauses (iii) and (iv) of such subparagraph,
18 and

19 (2) Dby striking out “subparagraphs (B) (ii),
20 (iii), and (iv)” in the last sentence of paragraph (3)
21 and inserting in licu thereof “subparagraph (B) (ii)”,
22 and by striking out “such subparagraphs” in such last
23 sentenee and inserting in lien thereof “such sub-
24 paragraph”.
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1 SEcC. 3. The amendments made by this Act shall apply
2 to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1963.
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SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

The following report was prepared by the Department of the
Treasury in response to the request of the Committee on Ways and
Means on September 30, 1965.

DATA ON SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION FOR
TAXABLE YEAR 1964

Under the provisions of Public Law 87-792, enacted in 1962, self-
employed individuals may set up qualified retirement plans and deduct
contributions (within specified limits) to the plans. A self-employed
person establishing a plan for himself under this provision is required
to provide comparable coverage in the plan for all his full-time em-
ployees with more than 3 years of service.

For a self-employed person, the contribution with respect to which
a deduction may be claimed is limited to 10 percent of earned income,
or $2,500, whichever is less. The annual deduction from gross income
for amounts contributed on behalf of the self-employed person is
limited to 50 percent of the contributions to such plans for himself
up to a maximum of $1,250. Qualifying contributions for his em-
ployees are deductible in full.

1. The present study

Preliminary data are available from individual tax returns for
1964, filed during 1965. This permits an estimate of the total use for
1964 of the self-employed retirement deduction (covered in section 2
and table 1). These data are based on the regular sample drawn for
Statistics of Income (SOI) for 1964, to the extent the returns were
available near the end of 1965. The coverage in the preliminary data
is relatively reliable in middle- and low-income levels where an ade-
quate sample can be drawn from returns on hand. The data are
more subject to change in the high-income brackets where the regular
SOI, when it appears, will be based on 100 percent coverage.

A’ more detailed source of data on the self-employed retirement
deduction is available from those returns in the SOI sample which
had the form 2950-SE attached. This form should have been filed
by all persons claiming the self-employed retirement deduction. A
copy is attached.

Based on the preliminary data on tax returns, about 38,300 returns
claimed self-emplioyed retirement deductions in 1964 in an amount of
$26.3 million. The number submitting the form 2950-SE was only
about 25,600 claiming deductions of $20.7 million.

It should be kept in mind that the entire SOI tabulation is based
upon unaudited data. It may be that some of the returns claiming
the self-employed retirement deduction but not submitting the form
2950-SE will, on audit, prove to be ineligible for the deduction. There
is no way to estimate this.

1
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2 SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

The various tables, other than table 1, are based upon analysis of
a sample of returns which submitted form 2950-SE. In general,
these figures understate the magnitudes involved because not all
returns claiming the deduction filed a form 2950-SE. Most of the
understatement occurs in the lower income brackets. This is illus-
trated by the following comparison of the estimated distribution by
income classes of returns which filed form 2950-SE with the estimated
distribution of all returns with the deduction (reported on line 4,
pt. II1, p. 2 of the return): . E

Returns with form 2950-SE | Allreturns reporting deductions

AGI class

Number of Percent of Number of Percent of
returns total returns total

Under $5,000. 11,200 4.7 14,573 11.9
$5,000 to $10,000_ - oo 2,403 9.4 7,971 20.8
$10,000 t0 $25,000. - oo 8,445 33.0 11,436 29.8
$25,000 t0 $50,000- - _ oo 9,844 38.5 10,487 27.4
$50,000 and over. 3,673 14.4 , 870 10.1
Total. 25, 569 100.0 38,337 100.0

1 Includes nontaxables.

All data, particularly those based on the special tabulation from
form 2950-SE, are subject to deficiencies resull)ting from omission of
SOI sample returns which could not be obtained in time for this study.
In many cases the actual number of returns used in the special tabu-
lation to produce the frequency estimates was very small. The
estimates of both number of returns and corresponding amounts are
subject to high sampling variability.
2. Taxpayers benefiting and amount of deduction

Preliminary data from individual income tax returns for 1964, filed
during 1965, indicate that the self-employed retirement deduction
was taken on 38,300 returns (table 1). (The number of self-employed
individuals benefiting from the deduction is somewhat greater than
the number of returns, since on joint returns the spouse may also be
covered as a separate self-employed person). Self-employed indi-
viduals taking advantage of the retirement deduction constituted only
about one-half of 1 percent of the total number of self-employed.  In
1964, the self-employment tax for social security purposes was reported
on an estimated 6.3 million returns, and this did not include 0.2
million self-employed doctors who were not then covered by social
security. :

As is indicated in table 1, the self-employed retirement deduction is
not widely used by those in the lower income brackets. Only 30
percent of the taxable returns taking the deduction in 1964 had ad-
justed gross income of less than $10,000, while 73 percent of returns
with self-employment tax had incomes below this level. Almost 40
percent of the returns with the self-employed retirement deduction
were in the $25,000 and over income class, while only 6 percent of the
returns with self-employment tax are at this level. , o

Of the total amount deducted for contributions to self-employed
retirement plans in 1964, only 11 percent was accounted for by the
under $10,000 income group, and more than 60 percent by the $25,000
and over group.
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SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION 3

The special tabulation of forms 2950-SE shows for various occupa-
tion groups the total amount of earned income reported by individuals
using the self-employed retirement deduction in 1964. A compari-
son of the average earned income of individuals in these occupation
groups who use this deduction with the average net profit of all sole
proprietorships in these same groups indicates that those in the higher
income brackets make more use of the deduction. Table 2 shows, for
example, that the average earned income of physicians using the de-
duction is $35,000 compared with average net profits of $20,000 for all
physicians filing business tax returns with net profit. For lawyers the
average earned income of those using the deduction is $31,000 com-
pared with average net profits of $9,000 for all lawyers filing business
tax returns with net profit.

In using these figures it should be kept in mind that they are based
on forms 2950-SE. There were a relatively larger number of tax-
payers in the low income brackets who took the self-employment
retirement deduction but did not file a form 2950-SE. If these could
be allocated to occupation groups, the average incomes shown in the

third column of table 2 might tend to be lower. :

3. Eutent to which occupation groups benefit

The special tabulation indicates that in 1964 the largest group of
taxpayers taking advantage of the self-employed retirement deduc-
tion was “physicians, surgeons, optometrists, and other medical
services.” 'This group accounted for 46 percent of the total returns
“ﬁth this deduction and 60 percent of the total amount deducted by
all groups.

The t?vo next largest groups were (1) lawyers and (2) those engaged
in retail, wholesale, and manufacturing trade, each of which accounted
for about 10 percent of the returns with the deduction. The extent
to which the various occupation groups made use of the deduction
is summarized below:

Returns with self-employed retirement deduction, 1964

Percent of Percent of

Occupation returns with | deduction
deduction taken

Physicians, surgeons, optometrists, and other medical services....._.---—---- 46.1 60.4
Legal services. ... 9.5 10.0
Retail, wholesale, and manufacturing. .. 9.4 7.6
Dentists and dental surgeons._.- 5.8 6.0
Accounting and auditing_ 4.6 3.2
Finance, insurance, and real estate. . 4.0 2.5
All other occupati 20.5 10.3

Total returns with deduction........_..__.__ 100.0 100.0

The participation rates in self-employed retirement plans in various
occupations cannot be calculated directly. Some evidence is sug-
gested by table 2 which indicates participation by about 8 percent of
self—empﬂ)yed physicians, 2 percent of self-employed dentists, 2 percent
of self-employed lawyers, 1 percent of self-employed accountants, and
one-quarter of 1 percent of self-employed individuals in finance, insur-
ance, and real estate, etc. These numbers, it should be recalled, are
based on the special tabulation of returns filing forms 2950-SE.
They would be higher if the returns claiming a self-employed retire-
ment deduction, but not filing form 2950-SE, could be a]ﬁ)cated to the
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4 k SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

various professions. Available data provide no basis for allocating the
returns of the nonfilers of form 2950-SE.

4. Type of plan and method of funding A

About 65 percent of the returns with self-employed retirement de-
duction designated their plans as pension or annuity plans, 18 per-
cent were profit-sharing plans, and the remaining 17 percent did not
indicate the type of plan.

A number of choices are available as to the manner in which a self-
employed retirement plan can be funded. As is indicated in table 3,
the most common method of funding (used by approximately one-
third of all plans) is a trust. Approximately 20 percent of the plans
use custodial accounts, 15 percent are insured plans, and 10 percent
invest in U.S. Government retirement plan bonds. Almost 20 per-
cent of returns did not indicate the type of plan used. )

&. Size of deduction

Table 4 shows the size of deduction by income classes based upon
the special tabulation of forms 2950-SE. This would tend to over-
state the typical deduction claimed. On all returns claiming the
deduction, the average size of deduction was $687. On the returns
submitting form 2950—SE the average deduction was $808.

As indicated by table 4, nearly 30 percent of the returns involved a
deduction of less than $500, and one-third involved a deduction of
$1,250, the maximum allowable. As income increases, the size of the
deduction also increases. In the $25,000 and over classes, the vast
majority of the returns took the maximum deduction of $1,250.

The distribution by size of deduction for the various occupation
groups is shown in table 5. This breakdown by occupational groups
1s subject to high sampling variability. For some of the groups the
classification by size of deduction is based on a very small sample
of returns. It is useful, however, as a general indication of the extent
to which the maximum deduction is used by various occupational

roups. Of the returns of physicians with a self-employed retirement

eduction, 55 percent took the $1,250 maximum deduction, and these
returns accounted for almost two-thirds of the total deduction taken
by this group. More than one-third of the lawyers with the deduc-
tion took the $1,250 maximum, and these returns accounted for more
than half of the total deduction taken by this group. .

On the other hand, a deduction of less than $1,250 was taken by
more than 75 percent of two groups: (1) dentists and dental surgeons,
and (2) retail, wholesale, and manufacturing, and about 90 percent
of those engaged in (1) accounting and auditing services and (2)
finance, insurance, and real estate.

Table 6 shows for returns with a retirement deduction of less than
$1,250 the relationship of the deduction to earned income.! Under
the law, the deduction may not exceed 5 percent of earned income.
For 45 percent of these returns, the deduction was between 4 and 5
percent ot eained income. For 13 pércent of returns, it was between
3 and 4 percent of earned income, and for 33 percent of returns it
was less than 3 percent of earned income.

Table 7 shows by adjusted gross income classes the distribution
of (1) returns with a deduction equal to 5 percent or more of earned
income and (2) returns with a deduction of $1,250 and over. These

1 Where the deduction is $1,250 or more, the relation of the deduction to earned i isirrelevant because
the $1,250 limitation applies at all income levels above $25,000.
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two types of returns represent those which took the maximum allow-
able retirement deduction.

Because of high sampling variability, a detailed breakdown cannot
be shown for income classes below $25,000. However, for three
income groups between $5,000 and $25,000, a total of only 11 percent
of the returns took the maximum allowable deduction. In the $25,000
to $50,000 group (which constitutes about 40 percent of the returns
in the special tabulation), the maximum deduction was taken by 60
percent of the returns. In the $50,000 to $100,000 group, 79 percent
took the maximum deduction.

6. Extent of coverage of employees

The special tabulation indicates that self-employed retirement plans
cover few employees. As is indicated in table 8, 20,000 of the 25,000
returns, or 80 percent of the total, had no covered employees. Con-
tributions by the self-employed on behalf of covered employees
amounted to less than 6 percent of the total contributions reflected in
the returns. This total includes the actual amounts contributed on
behalf of their covered employees plus the amounts (up to $2,500)
contributed on behalf of themselves which serve as a basis for the 50
percent deduction. It does not include amounts in excess of $2,500
which may have been contributed by self-employed but which do not
enter into the computation of the deduction.

Plans are permitted to exclude employees with a period of employ-
nient of less than 3 years and employees who are not full-time em-

oyees. .

P In the aggregate, sole proprietorships and partnerships in 1963 paid
wages and salaries to employees of $44.3 billion. The aggregate
proprietorship-partnership income was $50 billion. In terms of de-
ductions, covered on forms 2950-SE, $20.7 million was deducted with
respect to self-employed individuals, and $2.4 million was deducted
with respect to employees. In view of the rule that only 50 percent
of the contributions of the self-employed on behalf of themselves are
deductible, the fact that deductions for employees were about one-
tenth of deductions for employers would suggest that contributions
must have been 20 times larger for employers than for employees.
This contrasts with the fact that the aggregate intome of proprietors
in the whole area of unincorporated business is only about 1.1 times
larger than the aggregate compensation of employees, and part of
the proprietor income 1s a property return which would not be eligible
for use as a basis for a self-employed retirement deduction.

In terms of numbers of employees, the aggregate wages and salaries
of employees of sole proprietorships and partnerships would suggest
that there must be about 9 million such employees in 1963, of which
6,700 were covered under self-employed retirement plans.! This
represents about 0.07 of 1 percent of all employees of sole proprietor-
ships and partnerships in 1963. The 25,000 employers claiming the
deduction, however, represent about four-tenths of 1 percent of all
of the individuals who filed self-employment tax returns in 1963.

These data cited above cover all types of employees of all unincor-

orated business. Under the law, full-time employees with at
east 3 years of service must be covered if the self-employed person is
to claim a deduction, and other employees may be excluded. The
1 There are no comparable data readliy available on the number of employees of all unincorporated busi-

nesses that would permit direct comparison with the figures on covered employees. Aggregate data do
permit some inferences.
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6 SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

data on forms 2950-SE suggest that these rules permitting exclusion
of certain employees, where plans exist, result in exclusion of about 60
percent of employees of self-employed persons taking the retirement
deduction.

The covered and noncovered employees and their compensation as
reported on the 1964 forms 2950-SE of self-employed taking the retire-
ment deduction was as follows:

Covered employees:

Number of returns reporting covered employees._..______. —_— 5, 059
Number of returns reporting compensation. ... _________ 4, 357
Number of employees_ - - . 6, 719
Amount of eompensation. . __________________ $26, 384, 000
Noncovered employees:
Number of returns reporting no covered employees. ... ___.. 20, 510
Number of returns reporting compensation. . _....____________ 3,774
Number of employees_ - - __ .. 10, 552
Amount of compensation . ... oo ___ $17, 177, 000

The reporting of employees, however, is clearly incomplete. Of
the 26,000 returns, 5,000 reported covered employees, but only about
4,400 reported compensation of covered employees; 21,000 showed no
covered employees, and only about 3,800 showed compensation of
noncovered employees. This implies that 17,000 persons claiming the
deduction had no employees. This seems unlikef)y. It appears that
reporting of both noncovered employees and compensation paid to
them is incomplete.

The total number of covered and noncovered employees, as reported,
.was 17,000 of which only about 40 percent were covered. The cov-
erage percentage would be lower if there is more nonreporting of non-
covered employees than there is of covered employees. ~ The following
table shows for selected occupations the reported coverage of employ-
ees of self-employed claiming the retirement deduction:

Percent of total number of
: R employees reported on form
Occupation of self-employed . 2050-SE

Covered Noncovered

Physician 41 59
Dentists. 24 76
Legal services.. .. 45 55
Finance, insurance, and real estate___. 24 76
Retalil, wholesale, and manufacturing. ... 52

Total T 39 61

The table below indicates the average number of covered employees
of the self-employed who take the deduction.

Average number of employ-

ees reported on form

Occupation :

Covered Total

Physicians..__. ' 0.4 0.
Dentist: : ) .3 1.
Legal services... .4 L
Accounting and auditing. . .2 .

worno
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SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION 7

Further information on the number of employees of self-employed
in selected occupation groups is summarized 1n table 9. It indicates,
on the basis of the 1962 Statistics of Income, ‘Business Tax Returns,”
the number of self-employed (including sole proprietors plus the num-
ber of partners) in various occupational groups. These totals can be
compared with Bureau of the Census data on number of employees in
these occupational groups. In the groups which make much use of
the self-employed reticement deduction the average number of em-
ployees is not much different for persons reporting on form 2950-SE
than it is for the occupational group as a whole (see table 9).

TABLE 1.—Returns with self-employment tax! and returns with self-employed
retirement deduction for 1964; number of returns and amount of deduction by
adjusted gross income classes

Returns with self- Returns with self-employed retirement
employment tax 2 deduction
AGI class N k .
. Percent of . Amount of | Percent of | Percent of
: Number taxable Number | deduction |, taxable total .
returns ‘ returns | amount
- : : deducted
Taxable returns: Thousands
35.0 3,037 $529 8.2 2.0
000 37.7 7,971 2,416 21.6 9.3
X K 000 215 11,436 7,175 3L.1 27.5
$25,000 to $50,000. 000 4.7 , 487 11, 204 28.5 43.0
$50,000 and over. 55, 000 1.2 3,87 4,733 10.5 18.2
Total oo eee 4,700, 000 100.0 36,801 26, 057 100.0 100.0
Nontaxable 1,800,000 |- ... 1, 536 1 -
Grand total.. ._....... 6,500,000 | __...oooo. 38,337 26,348

1 The latest available data are for 1963. The figures given are an estimate for 1964, with provision made for
coverage of approximately 170,000 self-employed physicians who are now subject to self-employment tax.

2 The number of self-employed here shown is understated because it does not include (1) individuals with
self-employment income who also have wages and salaries equal to or more than the $4,800 maximum base
for social security withholding in 1963 and (2) individuals with a net loss from self-employment who are
not liable for self-employment tax.

Source: Statistics of Income 1963, and Advance Data from Individual Income Tax Returns for 1964,
filed during 1965. The self-employed retirement deduction is reported on line 4, pt. III, p. 2 of form 1040.

TABLE 2.—Average earned income of returns with self-employment retirement deduc-
tion and average net profit on business tax returns of various occupation groups

Returns with self-employed Returns of sole proprietorship
retirement deduction, 1964 1 with net profit, 1962 2
Occupation
Number Total Average Number Net Average
of returns earned earned of profit net
income income | businesses profit
. Thousands Thousands
All returns, 25, 569 $680, 400 $26,614 | oo
Physician 11,809 419, 428 35,518 143,747 | $2, 905,699 $20,214
1,475 37,257 25, 259 80,620 | 1,094,906 13, 581
gt - 2,438 76, 582 31,412 121,149 | 1,100,007 9,080
Accounting and asuditing...... 1,180 22, 568 19,125 90, 385 347,274 3,842
Finance, insurance and real
estate. 1,017 16, 631 16, 353 301,224 | 1,768,651 4,521

1 Special tabulation by Internal Revenue Service based on a sample of returns used in compiling “Advance
Data from Individual Income Tax Returns for 1964, filed during 1965.”” The sample was drawn from
returns which had the special form 2950-SE attached.

2 Statisties of Income, 1962, Business T'ax Returns, table 3, Sole Proprietorships. Data for later years
are not available.
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8 SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

TaBLE 3.—Self-employed retirement plans: Number of returns and amount of
deductron—By type of plan and method of funding

Number | Amount Percent Percent
of of of total of
returns | deduction | returns | deduction
Type of plan: Thousands
Pension or annuity. - 16,646 $12,422 65.10 60.11
Profit sharing..____. - 4,670 , 255 18.26 20. 59
Not indicated...__ , 2 3,988 16. 64 19.30
Total.____... 25, §69 20, 664 100. 00 100.00
Method of funding:
Trust. . - 8,278 7,398 32.38 35.80
Custodial account. ..o 5, 567 4,608 21.77 22.74
Insured. . 3,729 2,022 14. 59 9.79
- U.8. Government Retirement Plan Bond........__ 2, 569 1,852 10. 05 8.96
ther. - - 588 297 . 1.44
Not indicated - 4,836 4,397 3 21.28
Total 25, 569 20, 664 100. 00

100. 00

Source: Special tabulation by Internal Revenue Service based on a sample of returns used in compiling
The sample was drawn

‘“Advance Data from Individual Income Tax Returns for 1964, filed during 1965.”’

from returns which had the special form 2950-SE attached.
NortE.—Detail may not add to total because of rounding.
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SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION 11

TABLE 6.—Self-employed retirement deduction as a percent of earned income where
deduction is less than $1,260—Returns with self-employed retirement deduction
under $1,260 :

Percent of total
Deduction as a percent of Number Earned | Amountof
earned income of returns | income | deduction

Nuinber Earned | Amount of
of returns income | deduction

Thousands | Thousands

2,445 $68, 424 $1, 040 14.48 23.79 10.79
3,000 66,728 1,665 18.31 23.20 17.27
2,165 35, 412 1,229 12.77 12,31 12.75
7,636 106, 088 5,074 45,24 36.88 52.63
1,554 11,008 633 9.21 3.8 6. 57
16,880 287, 660 9, 641 100 100 100

Source: Special tabulations by Internal Revenue Service based on a sample of returns used in compiling
“Advance Data From Individual Income Tax Returns for 1964, filed during 1965.”” The sample was drawn
from those returns which had the special form 2950-SE attached.

TABLE 7.—Returns with self-employed retirement deduction of 5§ percent or over of
earned income, or $1,250 or over, by adjusted gross income classes !

Returns with self-employed retirement deduction
Returns Percent of
A GI classes with deduc- Returns [Total returns| returns with
Total tion of § with deduc- | with the the
number of | percent or |tion of $1,250 | maximum maximum
returns over of or over allowable allowable
earned deduction deduction
income
1,200 [ N IO @ ®
2,403
2,958 1,227 ® 1,299 11
5,487
9,844 194 5,769 5,053 60
3,362 [©) 2,630 2,642 79
311 1 228 229 74
25, 569 1,554 8,689 10,243 40

1 This breakdown is subject to high sampling variability. Many of the income class figures are based on a
smallsample of returns, The table is useful only as a general indication of the importance of the maxima.

2 Estimate is not shown separately because of high sampling variability. However, the data are included
in the appropriate totals.

3 Percent is not shown for the reason stated in footnote 1.

NorE.—Detail may not add to total because of rounding.

Source: Special tabulation bg Internal Revenue Service based on a sample of'returns.used in compiling
«“Advance Data From Individual Income Tax Returns for 1964, filed ‘during 1965.” The sample was
drawn from returns which had the special Form 2950-SE attached.
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12 SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

TABLE 8.—FEuxtent to which employees of self-employed' benefit under the self-
employed retirement deduction—Returns with self-employed retirement deduction

Number of Contributions
Numberof | covered
returns | employees

Amount | Percentage

Self-employed: Thousands
Total returns. - - .o oecocaieoaes 25,569 |ooeooool 1$41,328 94.4
With no covered employees. . ..o ... 20,510 | ____._ 130,963 |_cococemaaon
With covered employees. .. ... oo ... 5,059 | 110,365 | -coeooeees
1 to 2 covered employees. ... ...
More than 2 covered employees.
Covered employees of self-employed_......._._..__ 6, 719 32,451 5.6

Total...... - 43,779 100.0

! This figure does not represent total contributions which self-employed made themselves to retirement
plans set up under this provision. It was obtained by doubling the amount of the retirement deduction
shown on the returns of self-employed. The permissible ann deduction is 50 percent of contributions
up to $2,500. Self-employed who are not owner-employees, however, are not subject to the $2,500 limit
with respect to contributions (although the annual amount deductible may not exceed $1,250, or 50 percent
of $2,500), and contributions which were made in excess of $2,500 are not taken into account here.

2 This amount represents the actual amount of the employer’s contribution for covered employees in-
cluded in the retirement plan.

Source: Special tabulation by Internal Revenue Service based on a sample of returns used in compiling
‘‘Advanced Data From Individual Income Tax Returns for 1964, filed during 1965.”” The sample was
drawn from returns which had the special form 2950-SE attached.

TaBLE 9.—Estimates of number of self-employed and employees of self-employed
. selected occupational groups, 1962 :

Number of | Number of Average
Occupation self- employees of | number of
employed ! self- employees
employed 2
Phiysicians. . oo eemecceeee 180, 000 266, 000 15
Dentists..__. SN 86, 000 96, 000 11
Legal Services. ... e cmcccameae 197,000 159,000 | . .8
Accounting, auditing and bookkeeping...... ... _____________ 123, 000 110, 000 .9

1 Sum of sole proprietors and partners, ‘‘Statistics of Income, Business Tax Returns,’’ 1962.
2 Bureau of Census, ‘“County Business Patterns,” 1962. ('Physicisms, includes osteopaths and chiro-
practors.) 3
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vonm 2050 SE SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

IIS Treasury Depariment . r PR,
aternal Revenue Service profit-sharing, annuity or band purchase plan for self-employed individuals)

(Statement in support of deduction for payment to a qualified pension, ]964

Name and address (Please print or type)

1. Name of plan

2. Is your plan part of a master or prototype plan? 3. Type of plon

[ Yes [] No. It “Yes,” give IRS serial number {7 Pension or annuity ] Profit-sharing
4. Name and address of trustee, dian, or
5. Effective date of your glan | 6. If a favorable determination letter or Form 3673 has been ived irdicating that this plan qualifi

under section 40! of the Code, give date of the most recent determination and District Director’s otfice.

7. Medium of funding: 8. COVERAGE: Sell-empioyed Other
(A), Trust . ... Total number covered
O insurance Years of
) General investments Number service
Other excluded | Part.time or
(B) Custodial account b“;’““ temporary
O Mutual funds ’ Other (specily)
[ insurance
(C) Insured 9. COMPENSATION (or earned income):
O Group contract (a) Covered $ $
[J Individual contract (b) Excluded
(D) U.S. Government Retirement Plan Bonds -_ :
(B) Other (specify) (] . @ TOTAL - ) s
10. (a) Employer contributions made on-behalf of who are not self-employed (enter here and | 10. (b) Dates paid
on line 20, Schedule C of Form 1040; or col. 3, Part Ill, Schedule F of Form 1040; or line 24,
Form 1065). ... vvueneeetuiaieieeeenaeiaeeiienienienieaeiieeens seeese veeo 3
11. (a) Employer contributions made on bahol! o( se“emplayed lndwnduul(:) 11. (d) Dates paid
(b) Less amount allocable to (see i O..... .

(c) Net contributions. . .... e eeeeieieiieeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiens

COMPUTATION OF ALLOWABLE DEDUCTION FOR EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS MADE ON BEHALF OF SELF EMPLOY%D INDIVIDUAL

(If more than one plan is involved, combine amounts for line 12 for all plans and enter result on one form onl

12. (@) 50% of line 11(c)........
(b) Earned income (see instruction D)..

(©) 10% of line 12(b) . ... eeenneennnnnnnnns

{d) 50% of line 12(c) not to exceed $1,250.....

(o) Amount allowable as a deduction (line 12(a) or 12(d), whlchcver is lesser) Enter here and on line 4, Part 111,
page 2, Form 1040......

INFORMATION RELATING TO PRIOR YEARS
Total accumulated contributions in prior years made on behalf of self-employed indlviduul D oM —

1t loyed

Total accumulated deductions on Form 1049 in prior years on behalf of ploy i I

SCHEDULE A—SUMMARY OF TRUST OR CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT

1. Balance at beginning of year
2. (a) Employer contributions dunnqth'yocr.........
(b) Employee contributions duringthe year...........c....
(C) EQInINGS . ..o eeeeseerirorerorsorsorssssssavennnes

(d) Adjustments (attach schedule).....
3. TOTAL (add lines 1 and 2) ....
4. Less distributions for the year ...

Balance atend cf year ..
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14 SELF-EMPLOYED RETIREMENT DEDUCTION

INSTRUCTIONS

{References are to the Internal Revenue Code)

. A. Who Must File.—Self-employed individuals (in-
cluding partners) and partnerships claiming a deduc-
tion for contributions to a qualified; pension, profit-
sharing, annuity, or bond purchase plan where such
plan includes self-employed individuals must file this
form to substantiate the deduction. For plans which
do not include self-employed individuals, file Form

A self-employed individual is an individual or part-
ner who has earned income as described in instruction
D from an unincorporated trade, business or profession.

B. Filing of Return.—File this form with your tax
rTh{rn eéor the taxable year in which a deduction is
ciaimed. .

A separate Form 2950 SE must be filed for each plan.
However, where more than one form is required, the
over?ll limitation in item 12 need be completed on only
one form.

If a favorable determination letter has not been re-
ceived with respect to your plan and your glan is not
part of a master or prototype plan, in addition to filing
Form 2950 SE, you must submit the information required
by Section 1.404(a)-2, Income Tax Requlations, to the
extentapplicable for the first year adeduction is claimed.

1f your plan has been amended since the last favor-
able determination letter was received, and your plan
is not part of a master or prototype plan, in addition to
filing Form 2950 SE, you must submit the information
required by paragraph (b)(1) of Section 1.404(a)-2,
Income Tax Regulations.

Partnershipsi—Partnerships need complete only items
1 through 11, and Schedule A.

Partners.—A partner who is covered only by a
}l)gr(nership plan need complete only items 1, 11 and

A partner who is covered by more than one plan
must file a form for each plan. Complete lines 1 and
11 for each partnership plan and‘lines 1 through 11
and Schedule A for each individual plan. The overall
limitation as computed on line 12 need-only be sum-
marized on one form for all the plans.

C. Amount of Deduction.—You may deduct con-
tributions for employees, only to the extent that they are
ordinary and necéssary trade or business expenses and
;oo‘l}he extent they are within the limitations of section

Contributions allocable to insurance protection.—For
purposes of determining the amount deductible with

respect o conlributicns on
individual, amounts allccable to thi hase of life,
accicert, health, or other insurarce protection shall
not be taken into account. Enler such amecunts on
line 11(b). The amount of a contributioir aticcable to
jnsurance shall be an amourt equal to a reasonable
net premium cost for such amourt of insurance for the
appropriate pericd. .

of a selfemployed

X\

D. Earned Income.—In general, earned income
means net earnings from self-emplcyment if personal
services are actually rendered.

However, for this purpose doctors of medicine, and
Christian Science practitioners; duly ordained, com-
missioned or licensed ministers of churches in the
exercise of their ministry and members of religious
orders; and certain individuals, excluded for self-
employment tax purposes under section 1402, shall
compute their earned income in the same manner as
if they were included under such section.

(1) Personal services only.—If personal services are
the only material factor in the production of income
from a trade or business, then, in general—

Earned income is 100 percent of net earnings

{rom self-employment.

(2) Personal services and capital.—I1f both personal
services and capilal are material factors in the pro-
duction of income from a trade or business, then,

if total net prolits are: earned income is:

0 to $2500 actual net profits

$2500 to $8333.33 $2500

not in excess of 305, of
your share of net prolits

over $8333.33

(3) Personal services plus personal services and cap-
ital—If you are engaged in one or more trades or
businesses in which only personal services are a ma-
terial income-producing factor, and you are also en-
gaged in one or more trades or businesses in which
both perscnal services and capital are material income-
producing factors, then earned income is determined
under the provisions of section 401(c)(2)(B) and the
requlations thereunder. A :

For a more detailed explanation of earned income,
see section 401(c) and the regulaticns thereunder.
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| Union Calendar No. 698
S CONGRESS H.R. 10

[Report No. 1557]

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

) JANUARY 4,1965
Mr. KEOGH introduced the following bill; which was referred to the Com-
mittee on Ways and Means
Max 26,1966 v
Reported with an amendment, committed to the Committee of the Whole House
: on the State of the Union, and ordered to be printed

[Strike -out all after the enacting clause and insert the part printed in italic]

A BILL

To amend the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to permit pension
and profit-sharing plans to provide contributions or benefits
on a nondiscriminatory basis for certain self-employed indi-
viduals without special limitations on the amount of con-

tributions. ‘ ‘ .

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-
tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
That &) peragraph (10} of seetion 404{a) of the Internal
eontributions to eertain pension; ete; plans) is repealed:

0 1 O G Bmx W N M
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2
without regerd o seetion 404-{a}-{10})}2 each place i ap-
pears:

. A} Subseetion <H{10-{A){ib)

{B) Subparegrephs {A) end {B) of subseetion
-5~

{C) Subperagraph (A} of subseetion {d)-{6}-

+D) Subparagrephs (A} and (B} of subsee-
tion {e}-{1)=
sentenee of subseetion {e}{3)-
{2} Subparagraph {A) of seetion 404(e}{(2) of sueh
Code is amended by shriking out “{determined withous re-
gord to subseetion ()16}~

{8 Subparagraph (B} of scetion 404{e}-2} of sach
gard to Paragraph (10} thereof]~

Sre: 2. {a) Se much of subseetion (o} of seetion 404
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 -{relating to speeial
graph {2} is amended to read as follows:

“le} Sprerat LRMITATIONS FOR ProprmzronR WaHo
Doss Nox Havs EMPLOTESS.—

“(1) In eBNBRAL.—In the ease of & plan included
eontributions or benefits only for an individuel whe is
2080
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3

an owner-employee within the meaning of seetion
dOH{e}{3){A); the amounts deduetible under sub-
scetion {a) in eny taxable year with respeet o con-
tributions on behalf of sueh owner employee shell; sub-
jees to the provisiens of paragraph {2} met exeeed
him from the trade or business with respeet to which the
plan is established; wwhichever is the lesser”

{b) Subparagraph {A)- of seotion 404{e)}{2} of such

Code relating to 1l Lnitation in ease of contibu
m&de&ndefmefe%hﬁﬁeﬁe?laﬂ—}}s&meﬁéedbymsemﬁg

{e) Seetion 401{e} of such Code {relating to exeess

1) by inserting “and” ot the end of elause {i) and
at the end of elause (i) of paragraph (1B} end by
striking eut elauses (it} and {iv} of sueh subparagraph;
and

{2) by suiking out “subparographs B} i)
sentence and inserting in liew thereof “sueh sub-

71-297 O-67-pt. 2—59 2081
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Sue: 3 The amendments made by this Aet shell apply
That (a) paragraph (10) of section 404(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to special limitation on
amount allowed as deduction for self-employed individuals
for contributions to certain pension, etc., plans) is repealed.

(b)(1) Each of the following provisions of section 401
of such Code is amended by striking out “‘(determined with-
out regard to section 404(a)(10))” each place it appears:

(4) Subsection (a)(10)(4)(i).
(B) Subparagraphs (A) and (B) of subsection

(d)(5).

(C) Subparagraph (A4) of subsection (d)(6).
(D) Subparagraphs (A) and (B)(i) of subsec-

tion (e)(1).

(E) Subparagraphs (B) and (C) and the last

sentence of subsection (e)(3).

(2) Subparagraph (A) of section 404(e)(2) of such
Code is amended by striking out ““(determined without re-
gard to subsection (a)(10))”.

(3) Paragraph (1) and subparagraph (B) of' para-
graph (2) of section 404(e) of such Code are each
amended by striking out ““(determined without regard to

paragraph (10) thereof)”.
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Sgc. 2. Section 401(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue:

2 Code of 1954 (rclating to definition of earned income for:

3 certain pension and profit-sharing plans) is amended to read

4 as follows:

5

© o =9 o

10
1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

23

“(2) EARNED INCOME.—The term ‘earned income’:

means the net earnings from self-employment (as de-
fined in section 1402(a)), but such met earnings shall

be determined—

“(A) only with respect to a trade or business
in which personal services of the taxpayer are a ma-
terial income-producing factor,

“(B) without regard to paragraphs (4) and
(5) of section 1402(c),

“(C) in the case of any indwidual who 1is
treated as an employee under sections 3121(d)(3)
(4), ( C), or (D), without regard to paragraph
(2) of section 1402(c), and

“(D) without regard to items wﬂich are not
included in gross income for purposes of this chapter,
and the deductions properly allocable to or charge-

able against such items.

For purposes of this paragraph, section 1402, as in
effect for a tazable year ending on December 31, 1962,

2083



6
1 shall be treated as.having been in effect for all taxable
2 years ending before such date.”
3 SEc. 3. The amendments made by this Act shall apply
4 with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31,
5 1965.
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89t Concress | HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES { RepORT
2d Session No. 1557

CONTRIBUTIONS BY SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUALS TO
PENSION PLANS, ETC.

May 26, 1966.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State
of the Union and ordered to be printed

Mr. KeoGH, from the Committee on Ways and Means, submitted
the following

REPORT

[To accompany H.R. 10]

The Committee on Ways and Means, to whom was referred the bill
(H.R. 10) to amend the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 to permit
pension and profit-sharing plans to provide contributions or benefits
on a nondiscriminatory basis for certain self-employed individuals
without special limitations on the amount of contributions, having
considered the same, report favorably thereon with an amendment
and recommend that the bill as amended do pass.

The amendment is as follows:

Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert:

That (a) paragraph (10) of section 404(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954
(relating to special limitation on amount allowed as deduction for self-employed
individuals for contributions to certain pension, etec., plans) is repealed.

(b) (1) Each of the following provisions of section 401 of such Code is amended
by striking out ‘“‘(determined without regard to section 404(a)(10))”’ each place
it appears: ’

(A) Subsection (a)(10) (A) (ii).

(B) Subparagraphs (A) and (B) of subsection (d)(5).

(C) Subparagraph (A) of subsection (d)(6).

(D) Subparagraphs (A) and (B) (i) of subsection (e)(1).

(E) Subparagraphs (B) and (C) and the last sentence of subsection (e)(3).

(2) Subparagraph (A) of section 404(e)(2) of such Code is amended by striking
out ““(determined without regard to subsection (a)(10))”’.

(3) Paragraph (1) and subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2) of section 404(e) of
such Code are each amended by striking out ‘“(determined without regard to
paragraph (10) thereof)’. .

Sec. 2. Section 401(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to
definition of earned income for certain pension and profit-sharing plans) is
amended to read as follows:
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A 2 SELF-EMPLOYED PENSION PLANS

“(2) EARNED INcOME.—The term ‘earned income’ means the net earnings
from self-employment (as defined in section 1402(a)), but such net earnings
shall be determined—

““(A) only with respect to a trade or business in which personal services
of the taxpayer are a material income-producing factor.
“(B) without regard to paragraphs (4) and (5) of section 1402(c),
“(C) in the case of any individual who is treated as an employee under
sections 3121(d)(3) (A), (C), or (D), without regard to paragraph (2)
of section 1402(c), and
“(D) without regard to items which are not included in gross income
for purposes of this chapter, and the deductions properly allocable to or
chargeable against such items. :
For purposes of this paragraph, section 1402, as in effect for a taxable year
ending on December 31, 1962, shall be treated as having been in effect for all
taxable years ending before such date.”
Sec. 3. The amendments made by this Act shall apply with respect to taxable
years beginning after December 31, 1965.

I. SUMMARY

Your committee’s bill provides for the repeal of two limitations
on the deduction from gross income a self-employed individual may
take with respect to contributions on his own behalf to a retirement
plan. First, the bill repeals the provision which limits the deduction
to 50 percent of the contribution. However, your committee has
retained the provision restricting the contribution for self-employed
persons to the lesser of 10 percent of earned income or $2,500. Second, |
the bill also permits a self-employed individual to include in earned
income all of his net profits when his income is earned from a business
in which both the performance of personal services and capital are
material income-producing factors. However, in such cases the
personal services of the self-employed person involved must be material
income-producing factors.

The provisions of H.R. 10 are to be effective for taxable years
beginning after December 31, 1965.

II. BACKGROUND AND REASONS FOR THE BILL

Under present law, self-employed individuals may establish retire-
ment plans and may deduct from their gross incomes contributions
made to these plans. Employees with more than 3 years of service
must be covered, and contributions on their behalf are fully de-
ductible.

The self-employed individual may deduct from his gross income 50

ercent of the contribution on his own behalf, but the contribution is
Fimited to the smaller of 10 percent of his earned income or $2,500.
Accordingly, the maximum deduction allowed to a self-employed
person with respect to his own contribution is $1,250.

Earned income for this purpose is defined as the income received
from the performance of personal services. When capital, as well as
personal services, is a material factor in the production of the income,
earned income may not exceed 30 percent of the net profits from the
business (except that where an individual renders personal services on
a substantially full-time basis, this 30-percent rule cannot reduce the
net profits considered as earned income below $2,500).

Tge Self-Employed Individuals Tax Retirement Act of 1962 was
enacted in order to give self-employed individuals an opportunity to
defer tax on a portion of their income set aside for retirement purposes
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in much the same way as they and others could already do for their
employees under the provisions of the then existing law. Congress
provided this deferral for the self-employed individual at that time in
order to remove this discrimination in tax treatment against the self-
employed. However, the response of the self-employed to the tax
deferral provided by this act has been exceedingly small so far. While,
of course, to some extent this may occur because the deferral privilege
for the self-employed still is relatively new (and, undoubtedly, the
number covered by this will increase as more self-employed begin a
plan of setting aside amounts for retirement), nevertheless, the extent
to which this plan has been used to date has been disappointing.
A report by the Treasury Department with respect to the self-
employed retirement deduction in the taxable year 1964 shows that
only about one-half of 1 percent of the self-employed individuals took
advantage of this deduction in that year.

Your committee believes that Congress intended that this tax
deferral should be available for self-employed individuals for their
retirement in a comparable manner to that for employees. However,
your committee has concluded that the two limitations described
above are thwarting this objective of Congress. This is indicated by
the fact that when the Self-Employed Individuals Tax Retirement
Act of 1962 was enacted, the Treasury Department estimated that
the cost of the act in the first full year of operation would be $115
million; yet, the actual cost as late as 1964 amounted to only $9
million. ~Certainly, this demonstrates that the act, as finally approved,
did not carry out the objectives of the original act.

The requirement that a self-employed individual must not only
provide a pension plan for his employees of more than 3 years, but
also must tie up twice as much for his own retirement as he receives a
tax deduction for, has discouraged the self-employed from making
provision for their own retirement. The 50-percent requirement
was added as a means of equating the tax treatment of the self-
employed with employees covered by contributory plans. How-
ever, in fact, most employees are not covered under contributory
plans. In 1965, 25 million employees were covered under the 34,110
corporate pension plans filed with the Secretary of Labor. Nearly
three-fourths of these—72.9 percent—were financed entirely by em-
ployer contributions covering an estimated minimum of 18.5 million
employees. On the other hand, only an estimated 5.8 million em-
ployees are covered under plans requiring contributions from employers
and themselves. Moreover, over the past several years the trend
has been away from contributory. pension plans. Thus, requiring
self-employed pension plans to be contributory, in reality, creates
discrimination against the self employed, vis-a-vis employees, rather
than removing 1t. For this reason, your committee has concluded
that the 50-percent requirement should be removed. Not only
will this remove discrimination against the self-employed, but it
should also encourage them to make provision for their own old age,
which was a principal objective of the 1962 act.

Your committee also believes that the 30-percent limitation on
income derived from a mixture of capital and personal services repre-
sented too restrictive a rule with respect to the income likely to be
attributable to personal services. Therefore, this limitation also has
tended to discourage small proprietors, and especially farmers, from
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making provision for their retirement through the deduction for
amounts set aside for their retirement plans.

Therefore, your committee concluded that where both capital and
personal services were material income-producing factors, it would
be better to permit the self-employed individuals in most cases to
treat the entire amount as earned income for purposes of deductions
for these retirement plans. Your committee in arriving at this con-
clusion took into account the fact that, in any event, only 10 per-
cent of this earned income, not to exceed $2,500, would be available
as a deduction. Your committee recognized, however, that in some
cases there is a mixture of capital and personal services producing -
the income where the taxpayer contributes very little, if anything,
to the income in the form of rendition of personal services. ~Situa-
tions of this type are likely to arise, for example, in the case of silent
partners, absentee landlords, etc. To forestaﬁ) the treatment of what
is essentially a return on capital from being used by these individuals
as earned income giving rise to deductions for retirement plans, your
committee has defined earned income for this purpose so as not to
include those cases where personal services of the taxpayer were not
a material income-producing factor.

III. REVENUE EFFECT

The revenue loss from enactment of this bill is estimated to be
$20 to $30 million arising from income in 1966 and $35 to $60 million
in 1967. The greater range of the estimates in 1967 and the increase
over 1966 reflect the possibility of larger growth of self-employment
retirement plans stimulated by the amendments in this bill as more
time elapses after the adoption of these amendments and more self-
employed come under the plan. The range in estimates for both years
reflects varying assumptions as to the number who will avail them-
selves of the deductions. The range of $20 to $30 million for 1966
income assumes coverage of 1 to 1.5 percent of the self-employed.
The range of $35 to $60 million for 1967 income assumes coverage
of 1.5 to 3 percent of the self-employed.

Estimating the revenue loss from the provisions of this bill involves
more uncertainty than usual. Presently, there is information avail-
able concerning covera?e under these retirement plans for 1963 and
1964. This is too brief a ?eriod to offer even a satisfactory base for
projecting a normal rate of increase in coverage under the provisions
of present law. - In addition, neither this base of information nor the
detailed information that it contains furnishes a very reliable startin
point for estimates of the revenue effect of the amendments in the bil
or the increased coverage that can follow its enactment.

IV. GENERAL EXPLANATION

For the reasons given above, the bill as amended makes two amend-
ments to the provisions of present law relating to retirement plans
for the self-employed. The bill removes from these provision two
limitations which seriously discourage broader use of the deduction
for amounts set aside for retirement.

First, the present limitation of the deduction on behalf of a self-
employed person to 50 percent of the contribution (10 percent of
earned income up to a maximum of $2,500) is to be repealed. This

2088



SELF-EMPLOYED PENSION PLANS 5

will permit the self-employed individual to deduct from his gross
income the full amount of this contribution toward his own retirement,
in the same manner as he does the full contribution he makes for his.
employees eligible for coverage. No change, however, is made in the
limitation on the size of his contribution for himself; it remains at
10 percent of his earned income or $2,500, whichever is smaller.

Second, your committee has removed the restriction which limits
the share of income considered ‘‘earned,” where both personal serv-
ices and capital are important income-producing factors. Presently,
only 30 percent of net profits in such cases may be considered “earned”
in determining the allowable size of the contribution except that the
amount so treated is not to be less than $2,500 in the case of sub-
stantially full-time employment. In removing the restriction which
limits the share of income treated as earned where both personal
services and capital are important income-producing factors, your
committee’s bill, nevertheless, imposes a restriction designed to pre-
vent those who are not contributing significant personal services from
receiving retirement plan deductions with respect to what is, in
reality, income from their capital. This is accomplished by providing
in such cases that the net profits involved with respect to any self-
employed person are to be treated as earned income only in the case
of a trade or business in which the personal services of the particular
self-employed individual involved are a material income-producing
factor. By this, it is contemplated that substantially full-time em-
ployment will be treated as a material income-producing factor. In
the case of less than full-time employment, in determining whether
the personal services of the taxpayer are a material income-producing
factor there is to be taken into account the respective contribution
made by his personal services and by his capital.

The provisions of this bill are to be effective for taxable years be-
ginning after December 31, 1965.

V. CHANGES IN EXISTING LAW MADE BY THE BILL,
AS REPORTED

In compliance with clause 3 of Rule XIII of the Rules of the House
of Representatives, changes in existing law made by the bill, as
reported, are shown as follows (existing law proposed to be omitted is
enclosed in black brackets, new matter is printed in italic, existing
law in which no change is proposed is shown in roman):

INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1954
* R * * * * *®

SEC. 401. QUALIFIED PENSION, PROFIT-SHARING, AND STOCK
BONUS PLANS.

(a) REQUIREMENTS FOR QUALIFICATION..—A trust created or orga-
nized in the United States and forming part of a stock bonus, pension,
or profit-sharing plan of an employer for the exclusive benefit of his
employees or their beneficiaries shall constitute a qualified trust
under this section—

% * * * * * *
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(10) In the case of a plan which provides contributions or benefits
for employees some or all of whom are owner-employees (as defined
in subsection (c¢)(3))—

(A) paragraph (3) and the first and second sentences of para-
graph (5) shall not apply, but—

(1) such plan shall not be considered discriminatory within
the meaning of paragraph (4) merely because the contribu-
tions or benefits of or on behalf of employees under the plan
bear a uniform relationship to the total compensation, or
the:l basic or regular rate of compensation, of such employees, -
an

(ii) such plan shall not be considered discriminatory within
the meaning of paragraph (4) solely because under the plan
contributions described in subsection (e)(3)(A) which are in
excess of the amounts which may be deducted under section
404 [(determined without regard to section 404(a)(10))]}
for the taxable year may be made on behalf of any owner-
employee; and

(B) a trust forming a part of such plan shall constitute a
qualified trust under this section only if the requirements in
subsection (d) are also met. ’

* * * * * * *

(c) DerinitioNns AND Rures ReraTiNG TO SELF-EMPLOYED INDI-
vipuaLs AND OwNER-EMPLOYEES.—For purposes of this section—

(1) EmproyeE.—The term ‘“‘employee’” includes, for any tax-
able year, an individual who has earned income (as defined in
paragraph (2)) for the taxable year. To the extent provided in
regulations prescribed by the Secretary or his delegate, such term
also includes, for any taxable year—

(A) an individual who would be an employee within the
meaning of the preceding sentence but for the fact that the
trade or business carried on by such individual did not have
net profits for the taxable year, and

(B) an individual who has been an employee within the
meaning of the preceding sentence for any prior taxable year.

[(2) EARNED INCOME.—

[(A) In ceENnEraL.—The term ‘“‘earned income’’ means the net earn-
ings from self-employment (as defined in section 1402(a) ) to the extent
that such net earnings constitute earned income (as defined in section
911(b) but determined with the application of subparagraph (B) ), but
such net earnings shall be determined—

L(i) without regard to paragraphs (4) and (5) of section 1402(c),

[@i) in the case of any individual who is treated as an employee
under sections 3121(d)(3) (A), (C), or (D), without regard to
paragraph (2) of section 1402(c), and

[@Gii) without regard to items which are not included in gross
income for purposes of this chapter, and the deductions properly
allocable to or chargeable against such items.

For purposes of this subparagraph, sections 911(b) and 1402, as in
effect for a taxable year ending on December 31, 1962, and subpara-
graph (B), as in effect for a taxable year beginning on January 1, 1963,
shall be treated as having been in effect for all taxable years ending
before such date.
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[(B) EARNED INCOME WHEN BOTH PERSONAL SERVICES AND CAPITAL
ARE MATERIAL INCOME-PRODUCING FACTORS.—In applying section
911(b) for purposes of subparagraph (A), in the case of an individual
who is an employee within the meaning of paragraph (1) and who is
engaged in a trade or business in which both personal services and
capital are material income-producing factors and with respect to
which the individual actually renders personal services on a full-time,
or substantially full-time, basis, so much of his share of the net profits
of such trade or business as does not exceed $2,500 shall be considered
- as earned income. In the case of any such individual who is engaged
in more than one trade or business with respect to which he actually
renders substantial personal services, if with respect to all such trades
or businesses he actually renders personal services on a full-time, or
substantially full-time, basis, there shall be considered as earned
income with respect to the trades or businesses in which both personal
services and capital are material income-producing factors—

[() so much of his share of the net profits of such trades or
businesses as does not exceed $2,500, reduced by
[Gi) his share of the net profits of any trade or business in
which only personal services is a material income-producing factor.
The preceding sentences shall not be construed to reduce the share of
net profits of any trade or business which under the second sentence
of section 911(b) would be considered as earned income of any such
individual.] ,

(2) Earvep ivcome.—The term ‘“‘earned income” means the net
earnings from self-employment (as defined in section 140%(a)), but
such net earnings shall be determined—

(A) only with respect to a trade or business in which personal
services of the taxpayer are a material income-producing factor,
(B) without regard to paragraphs (4) and (8) of section 1402(c),
(O) in the case of any indwidual who is treated as an employee
under sections 3121(d)(3) (A), (C), or (D), without regard o
paragraph (2) of section 1402(c), and
(D) without regard to items which are mot included in gross
income for purposes of this chapter, and the deductions properly
allocable to or chargeable against such items.
For purposes of this paragraph, section 1402, as in effect for a tazable
year ending on December 31, 1962, shall be treated as having been in
effect for all taxable years ending before such date.

(3)" OwNER-EMPLOYEE.—The term ‘“‘owner-employee”’ means an

employee who—
- "(A) owns the entire interest in an unincorporated trade or
business, or
(B) in the case of a partnership, is a partner who owns more
than 10 percent of either the capital interest or the profits interest
in such partnership.
To the extent provided in regulations prescribed by the Secretary or
his delegate, such term also means an individual who has been an
owner-employee within the meaning of the preceding sentence.

(4) EMpLOYER.—An individual who owns the entire interest in an
unincorporated trade or business shall be treated as his own employer.
A partnership shall be treated as the employer of each partner who
is an employee within the meaning of paragraph (1).
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(5) CONTRIBUTIONS ON BEHALF OF OWNER-EMPLOYEES.—The term
“contribution on behalf of an owner-employee’” includes, except as
the context otherwise requires, a contribution under a plan—

(A) by the employer for an owner-employee, and
(B) by an owner-employee as an employee.

(d) AppiTioNalL REQUIREMENTS FOR QUALIFICATION OF TRUSTS
AND PrLANs BENEFITING OWNER-EMPLOYEES.—A trust forming part .
of a pension or profit-sharing plan which provides contributions or
benefits for employees some or all of whom are owner-employees shall
constitute a qualified trust under this section only if, in addition to -
meeting the requirements of subsection (a), the following require-
ments of this subsection are met by the trust and by the plan of which
such trust is a part:

* * * * * % *

- (5) The plan does not permit—
(A) contributions to be make by the employer on behalf of any
owner-employee in excess of the amounts which may be deducted
under section 404 [(determined without regard to section
404(a)(10))] for the taxable year;
(B) in the case of a plan which provides contributions or
benefits only for owner-employees, contributions to be made on
behalf of any owner-employee in excess of the amounts which
may be deducted under section 404 [(determined without regard
to section 404(a)(10))] for the taxable year; and
(C) if a distribution under the plan 1s made to any employee
and if any portion of such distribution is an amount described in
section 72(m)(5)(A)(i), contributions to be make on behalf of
such employee for the 5 taxable years succeeding the taxable year
- in which such distribution is made.
Subparagraphs (A) and (B) shall not apply to any contribution which
is not considered to be an excess contribution (as defined in subsection
(e)(1)) by reason of the application of subsection (e)(3).
(6) Except as provided in this paragraph, the plan meets the
requirements of subsection (a)(4) without taking into account for
any purpose contributions or benefits under chapter 2 (relating to
tax on self-employment income), chapter 21 (relating to Federal
Insurance Contributions Act), title IT of the Social Security Act,
as amended, or any other Federal or State law. If—
(A) of the contributions deductible under section 404 [(deter-
mined without regard to section 404(a)(10))}, not more than -
one-third is deductible by reason of contributions by the employer
on behalf of owner-employees, and T
(B) taxes paid by the owner-employees under chapter 2
(relating to tax on self-employment income), and the taxes which
would be payable under such chapter 2 by the owner-employees
but for paragraphs (4) and (5) of secton 1402(c), are taken into
account as contributions by the employer on behalf of such owner-
employees,
then taxes paid under section 3111 (relating to tax on employers)
with respect to an employee may, for purposes of subsection (a)(4), be
taken into account as contributions by the employer for such employee
under the plan.

* * * * * * *
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(e) Excess CoNTRIBUTIONS ON BEHALF oF OWNER-EMPLOYEES.—

(1) ExcEss cONTRIBUTION DEFINED.—For purposes of this section,
the term “excess contribution” means, except as provided in para-
graph (3)—,

(A) if, in the taxable year, contributions are made under the
plan only on behalf of owner-employees, the amount of any
contribution made on behalf of any owner-employee which
(without regard to this subsection) is not deductible under
section 404 [(determined without regard to section 404(a)(10))]
for the taxable year; or

(B) if, in the taxable year, contributions are made under
the plan on behalf of employees other than owner-employees—

(i) the amount of any contribution made by the employer
on behalf of any owner-employee which (without regard
to this subsection) is not deductible under section 404
[(determined without regard to section 404(a)(10))] for
the taxable year; :

(ii) the amount of any contribution made by any owner-
employee (as an employee) at a rate which exceeds the rate
of contributions permitted to be made by employees other
than owner-employees; A

(iii) the amount of any contribution made by any owner-
employee (as an employee) which exceeds the lesser of
$2,500 or 10 percent of the earned income for such taxable
year derived by such owner-employee from the trade or
business with respect to which the plan is established; and

(iv) in the case of any individual on whose behalf con-
tributions are made under more than one plan as an owner-
employee, the amount of any contribution made by such
owner-employee (as an employee) under all such plans
which exceeds $2,500; and

(C) the amount of any contribution made on behalf of an
owner-employee in any taxable year for which, under paragraph
(2)(A). or (E), the plan does not (for purposes of section 404)
‘meet the requirements of subsection (d) with respect to such
owner-employee.

For purposes of this subsection, the amount of any contribution

which is allocable (determined in accordance with regulations pre-

scribed by the Secretary or his delegate) to the purchase of life,

accident, health, or other insurance shall not be taken into account.
% * * * Lk * *

(3) CONTRIBUTIONS FOR PREMIUMS ON ANNUITY, ETC., CONTRACTS.—
A contribution by the employer on behalf of an owner-employee shall
not be considered to be an excess contribution within the meaning of
paragraph (1), if—

(A) under the plan such contribution is required to be applied
(directly or through a trustee) to pay premiums or other con-
sideration for one or more annuity, endowment, or life insurance
ccl)ntracts on the life of such owner-employee issued under the
plan,

(B) the amount of such contribution exceeds the amount de-
ductible under section 404 [(determined without regard to sec-
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tion 404(a)(10))] with respect to contributions made by the
employer on behalf of such owner-employee under the plan, and
(C) the amount of such contribution does not exceed the
average of the amounts which were deductible under section
404 [(determined without regard to section 404(a)(10))J, with
respect to contributions made by the employer on behalf of such
owner-employee under the plan (or which would have been de-
ductible under such section if such section had been in effect) for
the first 3 taxable years (i) preceding the year in which the last
such annuity, endowment, or life insurance contract was issued
under the plan and (ii) in which such owner-employee derived
earned income from the trade or business with respect to which
the plan is established, or for so many of such taxable years as
such owner-employee was engaged in such trade or business and
derived earned income therefrom.
In the case of any individual on whose behalf contributions described
in subparagraph (A) are made under more than one plan as an owner-
employee during any taxable year, the preceding sentence shall not
apply if the amount of such contributions under all such plans for
such taxable year exceeds $2,500. Any contribution which is not
considered to be an excess contribution by reason of the application
of this paragraph shall, for purposes of subparagraphs (B)(i), (iii),
and (iv) of paragraph (1), be taken into account as a contribution
made by such owner-employee as an employee to the extent that the
amount of such contribution is not deductible under section 404
[(determined without regard to section 404(a)(10))] for the taxable
year, but only for the purpose of applying such subparagraphs to
other contributions made by such owner-employee as an employee.
* * * * * % *

SEC. 404. DEDUCTION FOR CONTRIBUTIONS OF AN EMPLOYER
TO AN EMPLOYEES’ TRUST OR ANNUITY PLAN AND
COMPENSATION UNDER A DEFERRED-PAYMENT PLAN,

(a) GeneErAL RurLe—If contributions are paid by an employer to
or under a stock bonus, pension, profit-sharing, or annuity plan, or if
compensation is paid or accrued on account of any employee under
a plan deferring the receipt of such compensation, such contributions
or compensation shall not be deductible under section 162 (relating
to trade or business expenses) or section 212 (relating to expenses for
the production of income); but, if they satisfy the conditions of
either of such sections, they shall be deductible under this section,
subject, however, to the following limitations as to the amounts
deductible in any year:

* * * * * * *

[(10) SPECIAL LIMITATION ON AMOUNT ALLOWED AS DEDUCTION
FOR SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUALS.—Notwithstanding any other pro-
vision of this section, the amount allowable as a deduction under
paragraphs (1), (2), (3), and (7) in any taxable year with respect to
contributions made on behalf of an individual who is an employee
. within the meaning of section 401(c)(1) shall be an amount equal to
one-half of the contributions made on behalf of such individual in
such taxable year which are deductible under such paragraphs (deter-
mined with the application of paragraph (9) and of subsection (e) but
without regard to this paragraph). Xor purposes of section 401, the.
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amount which may be deducted, or the amount deductible, under
this section with respect to contributions made on behalf of such
individual shall be determined without regard to the preceding
sentence.]

* * * * * * *

(e) SpeciaL LiMiTATIONS FOR SELF-EMPLOYED INDIVIDUALS.—

(1) I~ ¢eENERAL.—In the case of a plan included in subsection (a) (1),
(2), or (3), which provides contributions or benefits for employees some
or all of whom are employees within the meaning of section 401(c)(1),
the amounts deductilﬁe under subsection (a) [(determined without
regard to paragraph (10) thereof)] in any taxable year with respect
to contributions on behalf of any employee within the meaning of sec-
tion 401(c)(1) shall, subject to the provisions of paragraph (2), not
exceed $2,500, or 10 percent of the earned income derived by such
employee from the trade or business with respect to which the plan
is established, whichever is the lesser. ’

(2) CONTRIBUTIONS MADE UNDER MORE THAN ONE PLAN.—

(A) OVERALL LIMITATION.—In any taxable year which amounts
are deductible with respect to contributions under two or more
plans on behalf of an individual who is an employee within the
meaning of section 401 (c) (1) with respect to such plans, the aggre-
gate amount deductible for such taxable year under all such plans
with respect to contributions on behalf of such employee [(deter-
mined without regard to subsection (a) (10)3] shall not exceed
$2,500, or 10 gercent of the earned income derived by such em-
ployee from the trades or businesses with respect to which the
plans are established, whichever is the lesser.

(B) ALLOCATION OF AMOUNTS DEDUCTIBLE.—In any case in
which the amounts deductible under subsection (a) (with the
application of the limitations of this subsection) with respect to
contributions made on behalf of an employee within the meaning
of section 401(c)(1) under two or more plans are, by reason of
subparagragh (A), less than the amounts deductible under such
subsection determined without regard to such subparagraph, the
amount deductible under subsection (a) [(determined without
regard to paragraph (10) thereof)] with respect to such contri-
butions under eacg such plan shall be determined in accordar: =
with regulations prescribed by the Secretary or his delegate.

(3) CONTRIBUTIONS ALLOCABLE TO INSURANCE PROTECTION.—For
purposes of this subsection, contributions which are allocable (deter-
mined under regulations prescribed by the Secretary or his delegate)
to the purchase of life, accident, health, or other insurance shall not
be taken into account.

* * * * * * *

2095



VI. SUPPLEMENTAL VIEWS OF CONGRESSMAN THOMAS B.
CURTIS

Although I strongly support the bill and disagree with the conclu-
sions contained in the Treasury report on H.R. 10, I feel that it should
be made a part of the official committee report. Therefore, I am set-
ting it forth in my supplemental views.

TrREASURY DEPARTMENT,
Washington, D.C., May 26, 1966.
Hon. WiLsur D. MiLLs,
Chairman, Committee on Ways and Means,
House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.

Dzrar Mg. CuairmMAN: This report sets forth the views of the Treas-
ury Department on the bill, H.R. 10, which has been ordered reported
by your committee. The Department strongly objects to this bill.

H.R. 10, as amended and ordered reported by your committee,
would liberalize the tax benefits applicable to self-employed pension
and profit-sharing plans in two respects:

(1) The present law permits a self-employed individual to contribute
each year for himself up to 10 percent, or $2,500 (whichever is less)
of his earnings to a ﬁension or profit-sharing plan, but limits his tax
deduction to one-half of his contribution. HI.)R. 10 would eliminate
the one-half limitation and permit a tax deduction for the full con-
tributions of the self-employed. '

(2) Under the basic framework of the present law, the 10-percent
limitation on the amount a self-employed may contribute each year to
a pension plan is applied against his earnings from personal services.
If the individual is in a business where both personal services and
capital are material factors, no more than 30 percent of the profits
from the business, subject to a minimum of $2,500, may be treated as
personal service earnings for this purpose. H.R. 10 would permit the
individual in this situation to apply the 10-percent against the entire
net profits from the business.

The Treasury Department strongly opposes the enactment of H.R.
10 for the following basic reasons:

(a) Revenue.—The bill would involve an estimated revenue loss
for fiscal year 1967 of $20 to $30 million, of which $18 to $27 million
would be attributable to the first amendment and $2 to $3 million to
the second. For fiscal year 1968, the estimated revenue loss would
increase to $35 to $60 million; with $30 to $50 million attributable
to the first amendment and $5 to $10 million to the second.

The upper end of the revenue loss range for fiscal year 1968 is
based on the assumption that 3 percent of the self-employed will be
participating in pension plans as of the end of 1967. The annual
revenue loss could increase substantially if the amendments encourage

"a larger percentage of the self-employed to adopt pension plans.
For instance, if 5 percent of the self-employed participate, the annual
revenue loss would increase to an estimated $120 million.

i2

2096



SELF-EMPLOYED PENSION PLANS 13

The revenue loss from H.R. 10, especially for 1967, is completely
inconsistent with the recent actions which have been taken in light
of Vietnam and the economic situation. These include the postpone-
ment of excise tax reductions and the adoption of graduated income
tax withholding and the other provisions in the Tax Adjustment Act
of 1966 which put the payment of individual and corporate taxes on a
more current basis.

In this regard, the President has stated: ‘“Against a background
calling for fiscal restraint, I cannot this year endorse any specific
legislative measure, however meritorious, involving significant net
tax reduction.” Certainly the needs of the self-employed who would
be benefited by H.R. 10 are not so pressing as to override the need for
fiscal festraint. ;

(b) Benefits would mainly go to high-paid doctors, dentists, and
lawyers.—Most (315 to $20 million) of the 1967 revenue loss from the
first amendment would represent an automatic tax reduction for the
year 1966 for those self-employed already participating in pension
plans since, without any change in their contributions, their tax
deductions will double. Over 75 percent of this benefit—an automatic
1966 tax reduction of $11 to $15 million—will go to doctors, lawyers,
and dentists, and, indeed, almost one-half of the total will go to mdi-
viduals in these professions with incomes over $25,000.

Moreover, it is very likely that the liberalizations will only serve to
attract more of the same class of high-income self-employed into
pension plans. This is because, by its very nature, this type of pen-
sion plan requires that the individual have savings that he can afford -
to devote to a long-term nonliquid financial investment. Individuals
in businesses that require capital, such as farmers and retailers, usually
must reinvest much of their earnings in their businesses. In addition,
many lower and middle income professional people will find that their
social security tax payments are all they can afford to devote to their
retirement; their remaining savings being necessary to meet other
commitments, such as the education of their children, life insurance,
and mortgage payments on their homes. The result will be that the
additional revenue devoted to self-employed pension plans through
this bill will accrue mainly to higher income professional people,
a small minority of the total self-employed and an even smaller
minority of all taxpayers.

The fact that self-employed pension plans are attractive primarily
to higher income people is clearly shown by the advance data for
1964. - This data indicates that only 11.3 percent of self-employed
pension deductions in 1964 were taken by individuals with adjusted
gross incomes of $10,000 or less. On the other hand, almost 43 percent
were taken by self-employed with adjusted gross incomes of between
$25,000 and $50,000 and over 18 percent by individuals with incomes
of $50,000 and over, making a total of 61 percent taken by those with
incomes of $25,000 and over.

Even aside from the current fiscal considerations, piecemeal legis-
lation for this restricted group is highly undesirable. The matter
" of the tax treatment of self-employed pension plans should not be
taken up except in the context of an overall reevaluation of the private
retirement system where many basic issues are involved.

(¢) Removal of 30-percent rule permits contributions from investment
income.—The special tax treatment for pensions has historically
been limited to pension contributions out of wages and earnings from

71-297 O-67-pt. 2—60 2097
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personal services. It represents a method for deferring tax on part of
an individual’s earnings until after retirement. Where an individual
invests both his time and capital in a business, the profits consist
of both compensation for his services and a return on his investment.
By permitting a self-employed individual to make pension contri-
butions out of the entire net profits from his business, H.R. 10 in
effect would allow him to defer tax on investment income. This is
inconsistent with the basic concept of the pension provisions. If
anything is to be done in this area, it should be to raise the minimum
amount which may be treated as personal service earnings—perhaps
from $2,500 to $6,600, the social security tax base for the self-employed.
There is attached a memorandum which more fully discusses the
amendments and the reasons for the Treasury’s opposition to them.
The Bureau of the Budget has advised the Treasury Department
that there is no objection from the standpoint of the administration’s
program to the presentation of this report.
Sincerely yours,
STANLEY S. SURREY,
Assistant Secretary.

May 25, 1966.

Memoranpum on H.R. 10

H.R. 10, as ordered reported by the Ways and Means
Committee, includes two liberalizing amendments to the tax
provisions applicable to pension plans of the self-employed.
These amendments are separately discussed below.

I. REMOVAL OF 50-PERCENT DEDUCTION LIMITATION

A. Description of amendment

The first amendment would increase the amount which a
self-employed individual may claim as a tax deduction with
respect to his contributions to a qualified pension or profit-
sharing plan. A self-employed individual who participates
in a tax qualified pension or profit-sharing plan may, each
year, contribute to the plan (on his own behalf) amounts up
to 10 percent of his earned income or $2,500, whichever is
the lesser. Under present law, only one-half of any such
contribution is allowed as a tax deduction to the self-
employed individual. This amendment would remove this
“one-half” limitation, with the result that a self-employed
individual would be allowed to deduct the full amount of his
contribution within the above-described limits. In other
words, under this amendment, a self-employed individual
would be permitted a tax deduction for contributions up to
10 percent of his earned income or $2,500, whichever is the
lesser, instead of 5 percent or $1,250, as under present law.
The amendment would become applicable with respect to
deductions for taxable years beginning after December 31,
1965.

This revenue loss is entirely inconsistent with the recent
actions which have been taken by both the Congress and
the administration to meet the current fiscal and economic
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situation. In this regard, Congress, on the recommendation
of the administration, recently enacted the Tax Adjustment
Act of 1966 which postponed certain excise tax reductions
and instituted. a graduated income tax withholding system
and other provisions to put the payment of individual and
corporate taxes on a more current basis. A tax reduction
for self-employed people—in the nature of larger tax de-
ductions for their retirement savings—would seem clearly
inappropriate in this context. ’

It is important to note in this respect that, while the pur-
pose of the amendment is to encourage increased participa-
tion by the self-employed in retirement plans, most ($15 to
$20 million) of the estimated 1967 revenue loss would be in
the nature of an automatic tax reduction for those self-
employed who are already participating in pension plans.
This is because, without any change in their pension contri-
butions, their tax deduction will automatically double. Ac-
cording to the available data,' over 75 percent of the deduc-
tions are now taken by professional doctors, lawyers, and
dentists. Thus, this group would be the beneficiary of an
immediate tax reduction of $11 to $15 million. Looking at
individual cases, the amendment would result in an addi-
tional $400 of tax savings in 1967 for a $25,000 a year
married doctor with a pension plan; for a $50,000 a year
doctor, the additional annual tax savings would be $625.

- B. Treasury Department position

The Treasury Department is strongly opposed to this
amendment for the following reasons:

(1) Revenue loss inappropriate at this time.—1t is estimated
that this amendment would produce an $18 to $27 million
revenue loss for fiscal year 1967 and a $30 to $50 million
revenue loss for fiscal 1968. The lower end of the range for
fiscal year 1967 assumes that 1 percent of the self-employed
will participate while the upper end of the range assumes
that 1.5 percent participate. In the case of the loss for
fiscal year 1968, the lower end of the range assumes par-
ticipation by 1.5 percent of the self-employed and the upper
end of the range assumes participation by 3 percent of the
self-employed.

The annual revenue loss could increase substantially over
the next few years if the liberalized tax benefits result in a
higher percentage of the self-employed participating in pen-
sion or profitsharing plans. If the participation rate rises
to 5 percent, the annual loss would be $120 million; whereas,
if 10 percent participate, the annual loss would jump to
$260 million.

Finally, in his Economic Report, President Johnson stated:
“ Against a background calling for fiscal restraint I cannot this
year endorse any specific legislative measure, however meri-
torious, involving significant net tax reduction.” Certainly,
the needs of this high-income group are not so pressing as to
override the need for fiscal restraint. .

1 Data on Self-Employed Retirement Deduction for Taxable Year 1965, p. 3.
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(2) Benefits of amendment would accure primarily to high
income professional people—The apparent purpose of the
increased tax benefits under the amendment is to encourage
broader participation by the self-employed in retirement
programs. While the present provisions have not had the
widespread attraction that was contemplated, the Treasury
Department is of the opinion that increased tax deductions will
not materially alter this situation. Rather, the basic frame-
work of the self-employed pension provisions is such as to
make them usable mainly by only a narrow class of high-
income professional people with the result that the increased
tax benefits will accrue primarily to this group.

First, the existing provisions require that the self-employed
place his savings in financial investments under what is
intended to be a long-term, nonliquid retirement program.
This immediately eliminates many self-employed individuals
in businesses which require significant amounts of capital
investment since they usually must reinvest their earnings
to keep up with competition. For example, a farmer may
have to reinvest all his earnings in his farm through buying
land, buildings, and equipment. This, in turn, will give him
an equity which he can lease or sell when he is ready to retire.
This is one reason why it is so conspicuous in the data that
the pension plan provisions appeal to doctors, lawyers, and
dentists and why there are so few retailers, wholesalers,
and farmers covered. Because of this characteristic, removal
of the deduction limitation will simply increase the inherent
discrimination in these provisions rather than bring in new
classes of the self-employed.

Second, even among the professional group, pension plans
of the type involved are, and will in all likelihood remain,
attractive only to higher income people. For middle and
lower income people, social security tax payments represent
a significant financial outlay toward retirement. For
example, a self-employed person with earnings of $6,600 must,
in 1967 and 1968 pay 6.4 percent of his income toward
social security and medicare. A $10,000 a year man must
devote 4.2 percent of his income for this purpose. These
percentages will rise to 7.1 and 4.7, respectively, in 1969.
It is doubtful that many individuals at these income levels
can afford to devote appreciably more to their retirement
in the form of a long-term program.

Moreover, at these income levels, total savings as a per-
cent of income are much lower than they are for people
with higher incomes. For example, according to computa-
tions by the Survey Research Center, individuals at the
$6,000 income level on the average devote only 8.8 percent
of their income to savings while people with incomes of
815,000 and over save on the average of 23.8 percent of .
their income. Furthermore, much of these savings are,
of course, not available for retirement plans of the type
involved here. Instead, they must be used for other needs,
such as insurance, mortgage payments, and college education
of children.
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Finally, as is generally the case, tax deductions for pension
savings are per se more valuable to higher income people
by virtue of their higher marginal tax brackets.

Therefore, despite liberalized tax deductions, self-em-
ployed pension plans will undoubtedly remain a vehicle
primarily for the retirement savings of only the high-paid
professional class. This is a very narrow group and it seems
highly inappropriate to devote substantial Federal tax
revenues to 1t, especially at this time.

Moreover, there are much broader issues that should be
considered in the pension field as a whole. Instead of tak-
ing piecemeal action at this time for a very limited group,
the Treasury Department believes that any changes in the
present self-employed pension provisions would best be
considered in the context of congressional consideration of
the overall pension recommendations outlined in the report
of the President’s Committee on Corporate Pension and
Other Private Retirement and Welfare Programs. )

(3) Self-employed not comparable to corporate employees.—
Supporters of the amendment contend that a professional who
works for a corporation now has an advantage over the self-
employed professional in that, when the professional works
for a corporation, the pension plan contributions made for
him are entirely excludable from his income, whereas the
equivalent pension provision by the self-employed profes-
sional is only 50 percent deductible. This is given as a
rationale for the removal of this 50-percent limitation. This
comparison is not essentially valid. More often than not,
the contribution for the corporate employee is not vested
and may not become vested unless he remains with the com-
pany until retirement. Thus, he may never get the pension
or he may get the pension only at the cost of giving up
highly attractive opportunities to change employment. On
the other hand, when the self-employed individual makes a
pension contribution he is investing his own money and has
vested rights to it. He can invest it in any way that he
wants. He can select the pension plan that he wants. For
the employed professional, he can only take the pension
plan that is already available whether or not it fits his needs.

In the other words, for the self-employed, a pension plan
is in many respects comparable to individual retirement sav-
ings or employee contributions to a pension plan, neither
of which are tax deductible. The present 50-percent deduc-
tion rule treats a self-employed as both an employer and
employee with respect to his pension contributions. It is
comparable to the ratio in which the employer and employee
contribute under the civil service retirement plan and the
social security system. When viewed in this context, it is
a rational rule. Removal of the 50-percent limitation would
be inconsistent with this and cannot be justified on the
grounds of equality with corporate employees.

2101
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I1. REMOVAL OF LiMITATION ON COMPUTING EARNED INCOME

A. Description of amendment

This amendment would increase the amount which self-
employed individuals in businesses involving both capital
and services may contribute on their own behalf to qualified
pension or profit-sharing plans. The 10-percent limitation
on the amount a self-employed individual may contribute to
a qualified pension or profit-sharing plan is applied against
his “earned income.” Section 401(c)(2) of the Internal
Revenue Code presently defines the ‘‘earned income’” of a
self-employed individual for pension plan purposes to mean
his net earnings from self-employment (as defined in section
1402(a)) to the extent that tuch net earnings constitute
earned income (as defined in section 911(b)). The amend-
ment would revise this definition of ‘“earned income’” to
mean a self-employed individual’s net earnings from self-
employment without regard to what part of such net earnings
constitutes earned income under section 911(b). The
amendment would apply to taxable years beginning after
December 31, 1965.

The amendment would primarily concern self-employed
individuals who are engaged in a trade or business in which
both personal services and capital are material income-pro-
ducing factors. At present, section 911(b) provides that
such a self-employed individual may not treat more than 30
percent of the net profits from his trade or business as
“‘earned income.” Under a special provision, the 30-percent
limitation does not operate, however, to reduce a self-
employed individual’s earned income below $2,500 for pen-
sion plan purposes. The amendment would have the effect
of removing this 30-percent limitation with the result that a
self-employed individual could treat the entire net profits
from his trade or business as earned income for purposes of
computing the amount he may contribute to a qualified
pension or profit-sharing plan.

B. Treasury position

The Treasury Department is opposed to the amendment
in this form.

Where both capital and personal services are material
income-producing factors in a trade or business, it logically
follows that a portion of the net profits from that trade or
business represents a return on the individual’s investment
in the business. Historically, the primary purpose for the
special tax provisions applying to pension and profit-sharing
plans has been to permit individuals to defer tax on part of
their wages or personal service income until after retirement.
It Wouh% be inconsistent with this to permit self-employed
individuals to contribute and take tax deductions with re-
spect to amounts which represent a return on their invest-
ment rather than compensation for personal services. More-
over, such a provision would give self-employed people a °
decided tax advantage over corporate employees who cannot
take their investment income into account under pension
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plans. The amendment would not, therefore, be a desirable
extension of the provisions applying to pension and profit-
sharing plans of self-employed people.

Moreover, the amendment would involve an estimated
revenue loss of $2 to $3 million for fiscal year 1967 and
$5 to $10 million for fiscal 1968. As indicated above, such a
loss in Federal revenues is not appropriate at this time.

It is our understanding that the primary purpose of this
amendment is to permit self-employed individuals in small
businesses to make significant contributions to pension plans.
This objective coulg more appropriately be achieved by
raising the present $2,500 minimum amount which may be
treated as earned income. A reasonable figure might be
$6,600, the present self-employment tax base for social
security purposes. It is estimated that an amendment of
this type would reduce the 1967 revenue loss to less than
$0.3 million and the 1968 loss to less than $1 million.

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY.
OFFIcE OF Tax LecisLATIVE COUNSEL. ;
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(Signed) Taomas B. CurTis.

2103



{ Fune 6, 19661
[P. 11672]

CONTRIBUTIONS BY SELF-EMPLOY-
ED INDIVIDUALS TO PENSION
PLANS, ETC.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, I move to
suspend the rules and pass the bill (H.R.
10) to amend the Internal Revenue Code
of 1954 to permit pension and profit-
sharing plans to provide contributions
or benefits on a nondiscriminatory basis
for certain self-employed individuals
without special limitations on the amount
of contributions, with the committee
amendment printed in the bill,

The Clerk read as follows:

’ HR. 10

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of
Representatives of the United States of Amer-
ica in Congress assembled, That (a) para-
graph (10) of section 404(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to special
limitation on amount allowed as deduction
for self-employed individuals for contribu-
tions to certain pension, etc.,, plans) 1is
repealed.

(b) (1) Each of the following provisions of
section 401 of such Code is amended by
striking out “(determined without regard to
section 404(a) (10))” each place it appears:

(A) Subsection (a) (10) (A) (ii).

{P. 11673}
(B) Subparagraphs (A) and (B) of sub-

section (d) (5).
(C) Subparagraph (A) of subsection (d)

6).
¢ (D) Subparagraphs (A) and (B) (1) of sub-
section (e) (1).

(E) Subparagraphs (B) and (C) and the
last sentence of subsection (e) (3).

(2) Subparagraph (A) of section 404(e)
(2) of such Code as amended by striking out
“(determined without regard to subsection
(a) (10))". -

(3) Paragraph (1) and subparagraph (B)
of paragraph (2) of section 404(e) of such
Code are each amended by striking out *“(de-
termined without regard to paragraph (10)
thereof)”,

Sec. 2. Section 401(c) (2) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954 (relating to definition
of earned income for certain pension and
profit-sharing plans) is amended to read as
follows:

“(2) (EARNED INCOME.—The term ‘earned
income’ means the net earnings from self-
employment (as defined in section 1402(a)),
but such net earnings shall be determined—

“(A) only with respect to a trade or busi-
ness in which personal services of the tax-
payer are a material income-producing factor,

“(B) without regard to paragraphs (4)
end (5) of section 1402(c),

“(C) in the case of any individual who is
treated as an employee under sections 3121
(d)(3) (A), (C), or (D), without regard to
paragraph (2) of section 1402(c), and

“(D) without regard to items which are
not included in gross income for purposes
of this chapter, and the deductions properly
allocable to or chargeable against such items.
For purposes of this paragraph, section 1402,
as in effect for a taxable year ending on De-
cember 31, 1962, shall be treated as having
been in effect for all taxable years ending be-
fore such date.”

Sec. 3. The amendments made by this Act
shall apply with respect to taxable years
beginning after December 31, 1965.

The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr,
Boees). Is a second demanded?

Mr. BYRNES of Wisconsin. Mr,
Speaker, I demand a second.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. With-
out objection, a second will be considered
as ordered.

There was no objection.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr., Speaker, I yield
myself such time as I may consume,

(Mr. KEOGH asked and was given
permission to revise and extend his
remarks.)

GENERAL LEAVE TO EXTEND

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, I ask
unanimous consent that all Members
may have 5 legislative days within
which to extend their remarks on this
bill.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Is there
objection to the request of the gentle-
man from New York,

‘There was no objection.

Mr, KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, the 6th
day of the 6th month in the 66th year is
a rather appropriate day that, by your
grace, the House considers the amend-
ments to H.R. 10, for it will have been
exactly 15 years ago tomorrow, from
June 7 of 1951, when those who sought
to achieve a degree of equity and justice
for the self-employed professional and
businessmen of the country caused to be
introduced the first form of the biil
which eventually became the Self-
employed Individual’'s Tax Retirement
Act of 1962.

By your grace, Mr. Speaker, yes, it is
today.

I acknowledge dutifully my apprecia-
tion to you for having scheduled this im-~
portant bill today. Included in my ex-
pressions of appreciation are the ma-
jority leader; the majority whip, who is
a cosponsor of the bill; and, last but not
least, the great and able chairman of
the Committee on Ways and Means,
without whose cooperation we would not
here be marching forward taking an-
other step in the direction of making
the practice of one’s private profession
or the engaging in one’s own business
something that is truly American, some-
thing that is more constructive, and
something that provides a greater in-
centive for the maintenance of those 10
million people who with their approxi-
mately 10 million employees constitute
as they do the bulk of the great middle
class of this country, the very existence
of which distinguishes this great coun-
try from so many others in the Western
World and all of those in the Eastern
World.

The pending bill is HR. 10 amended,
Mr. Speaker, but it might very well be
any one of the following bills intro-
duced by distinguished Members of this
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body on both sides of the aisle. Those

bills are:

Bills introduced in the House of Represenia-
tives similar to the Keogh-Waits-Byrnes
bill, H.R. 10

KeoGH (D., New YOrK)aceaoo-o H.R. 10.
BYRNES (R., Wisconsin) ... H.R. '7588.
Watrs (D., Kentucky) ccceeueax H.R. 8023.
LovE (D., OhiO) e H.R. 8247.
CAREY (D., New YOrk) ecvecmeaa H.R. 9162.
| FocarTY (D. Rhode Island).... H.R. 9453.
BrOYHILL (R., Virginia)..e.-._. H.R. 10033.
LirscoMB (R., California)o-.. H.R. 10070.
HorTON (R., New YOrk) ... -~ H.R. 10643,
CRAMER (R., Florida) aceeceaaao HR. 10777.
Porr (R., Virginia) ccaeeccceaao HR. 11173.
v AsBrrT (D., Virginia) ceceeeeooo HR. 11242,
Berrs (R., Ohlo) ool HR. 11299,
JENNINGS (D., Virginia) aeo_o.- H.R. 11326.
ROSTENEKOWSKI (D., Illlnoi.s)-_-- HR. 11337.
Steep (D., Oklahoma)eae--o-_- H.R. 11694.
WryaTT (R., Oregon)._s--c—-—__ H.R. 11786.
ROGERS (D., COlOrado) ccccaueaax H.R. 12795.
DERWINSKI (R., Illinois)...._. H.R. 12926.
ScHNEEBELI (R., Pennsylvania) .. H.R. 12944,
May (R., Washington)...._... H.R. 14084.
Boces (D., Ioulsiana)_.....___ H.R. 14452.
VANIK (D., OhO) oo H.R. 14475.
Burke (D. Massachusetts) ... H.R. 14670.
KARSTEN (D., Missourl) ... -H.R. 14686,
FortoN (D. Tennessee).—----- H.R. 14729.
HaLL (R., Missourl) —ceccmaao H.R. 15168.
KurFERMAN (R., New York) ... H.R. 15246.

This bill comes to you with the active
support of a long, distinguished list of
national small business, professional and
farm. associations. I do not intend to
list them for fear of omitting and offend-
ing the many who might unintention-
“ally not be included.

During the past 15 years I have been
privileged to have as cosponsors from
the other side of the aisle, several of the
finest gentlemen to ever grace the House
of Representatives. I regret the absence
today from our body of the late distin-
guished members, Mr. Reed of New York,
Mr. Jenkins of Ohio, and Mr. Simpson
of Pennsylvania, all of whom contrib-
uted immeasurably as pioneers in the
sponsorship of this legislation. In the
87th Congress, I was joined by the very
%ble Congressman. from California [Mr.

TT].

The ranking minority member of our
Committee on Ways and Means, the gen-
tleman from Wisconsin [Mr. BYRNES],
and the energetic committee member,
the gentleman from KXentucky [Mr.
Wartrs], have added great prestige to
this legislation by their sponsorship. I
would be remiss in my duty if I did not
at this time also pay tribute to the in-
valuable assistance given me by the
highly competent staff of the Committee
on Ways and Means—Chief Counsel, Leo
Irwin, Assistant Chief Counsel, John M.
Martin, Jr.

Mr. Speaker, H.R. 10 is a familiar des-
ignation to many in this chamber today
who commenced with me over 15 years
ago in an endeavor to do a modicum of
justice to the self-employed people of
this country with respect to their estab-

lishment of voluntary retirement plans. -

It will be recalled that in the course of
that protracted and arduous effort, the
House on three occasions passed legisla-
tion to make available tax deferral bene-
fits to self-employed indlviduals on a
basis comparable to that afforded em-
ployees.

Our perserverance, persistence, and
patience were finally rewarded, Mr.
Speaker, when the other body  ap-
proved—with extensive amendments,
however—H.R. 10 of the 87th Congress,
the Self-Employed Individuals Tax Re-
tirement Act of 1962.”

Members of the House will recall that
the Senate version of that measure was
far more restrictive than the bill as
passed by the House. In the conference
that followed the Senate passage, the
House conferees, of which I was privi-
leged to be a member, were only partially
successful in removing some of the more
controversial and confining Senate
amendments. The measure that was
finally approved admittedly fell short of
measuring up to the relief that would
have been provided in the House bill.

It was the price that had to be palid,
Mr. Speaker, to initially insert in the tax
statutes recognition and adoption of a
policy that would seek to afford self-em-
ployed citizens access to retirement plans
on a basis similar to that given employees
whose' employers had established for
their benefit pension, profit-sharing, or
stock bonus plans.

Many of us in this Chamber were con-
vinced at the time of the final enact-
ment of H.R. 10 of the 87th Congress—
and so stated on the floor of the House—
that the amendments of the other body
were unnecessarily restrictive and might
effectively thwart the objectives of that
legislation. Experience over the past 4
years has reinforced, substantiated and
vindicated our convictions in this regard.

Today we bring to the. floor of the
House a bill, overwhelmingly approved
by the Committee on Ways and Means,
to remove two of these limitations from
the law.

Mr. Speaker, the bill, HR. 10, the bill
before the House, as amended and re-
ported by the Committee on Ways and
Means, would repeal two limitations on
the deduction from gross income that a

[P. 11674]

self-employed individual may-take with
respect to contributions on his own be-
half to a retirement plan. The first of
these limitations to which I refer is the
provision of present law that limits the
actual tax deductioh to 50 percent of
the self-employed persons’ contributions

to his retirement plan. It will be re-

called that a self-employed individual
may contribute up to 10 percent of his
earned income or $2,500, whichever is the
lesser, to his retirement plan. His de-
duction is limited to one-half of his con-
tribution, however, and thus the maxi-
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mum deduction allowed to a self-em-
ployed person with respect to his own
contribution is $1,250 under present law.
HR. 10 would remove this 50-percent
limitation, and the deduction in such a
case would under the bill simply be 10
percent of earned Income or $2,500,
whichever is the lesser.

The second limitation that would be
removed by the pending bill is that which
restricts the amount of income that is
considered as earned income in situa-
tions where both personal services and
capital are material income producing
factors in a business. Presently, only
30 percent of net profits in such cases
may be considered earned income in de-
termining the allowable size of the an-
nual contribution, except that in the case
of substantially full-time employment,
the amount so treated is not to ‘be less
than $2,500. H.R. 10 would remove this
30-percent limitation and would allow a
self-employed individual to include in
his earned income all of his net profits
so long as his personal services are a
material income producing factor in his
business.

Mr. Speaker, the Self-Employed Indi-
viduals Tax Retirement Act of 1962 was
enacted in order to give self-employed
individuals an opportunity to defer tax
on a portion of their income set aside
for retirement purposes in much the
same manner as they and others could
already do for their employees under the
provisions of the then existing law. It
was Intended to encourage the self-em-
ployed to make adequate provision for
their old age.

That these objectives have been foiled
and frustrated by certain limitations in
that act, Including the two restrictive
provisions that would be removed by the
pending bill, is beyond peradventure or
question. A report of the Department
of the Treasury with respect to the use
of the self-employed retirement deduc-
tion in the taxable year 1964 shows that
only about one-half of 1 percent of self-
employed individuals took advantage of
this deduction in that year. Moreover,
when the 1962 legislation was originally
enacted the Department estimated that
the cost of the act in the first full year
of operation would be $115 million,
whereas the dctual cost as late as 1964
turned out to be only $9 million.

The Committee on Ways and Means,
after careful study of the operation of
this law and the statistical information
furnished by the Department of the
Treasury relative to its use, has concluded
that there is no justification for the two
limitations” which I have discussed and
which would be removed by the pending
bill. Furthermore the committee is con-
vinced that these restrictive provisions
have been major contributors to the dis-
couragement of self-employed individ-
uals, particularly small proprietors and
farmers, in claiming the tax benefits that

were intended in the enactment of the
1962 legislation.

I firmly believe that we have traveled
too far down the road of the obviously
sound, basic philosophical concept that
the workers of this -country should be
able adequately to provide for their
superannuation to turn back. No one
can take exception to the oft-repeated
statement that pension plans promote
the general welfare not only by helping
to meet the individual’s material needs
in old age, but also by making the Na-
tion’s elderly a positive force in the
economy, rather than a negative force or
burden upon it.

Millions of words have been said and
written about this legislation both in and
outside the Congress. One of the most
articulate, yet briefest paragraphs on
this subject appeared in the 1965 hear-
ings of the Subcommittee on Employ-
ment and Retirement incomes to the spe-
cial Senate Committee on Aging:

A private pension plan is attractive to an
employee because it assures him of greater
independence in his retirement years. He is
assured -of greater freedom of choice as to
how he lives and spends his money. Pen-
slon plans help employers to maintain an
efficlent work force with good morale and
help to assure an effective market for goods
and services among the retired population.
Private pension plans advance the govern-
ment's objective of a growing, yet stable pri-
vate enterprise type of economy for the bene-
fit of all citizens.

In 1942, the 77th Congress enacted an
amendment that gave use to the tre-
mendous growth of qualified private
pension plans approved by the Treasury
Department. Prior to this step, there
were approximately 4 million covered;
today the figure is 25 million and ac-
cording to' a recent Federal report the
total by 1980 should be in the neighbor-
hood of 42 million covered employees.
‘We provided the impetus in 1942 and the
American business community respond-
ed by approximately 1 million new faces
annually.

I was privileged to cast an affirmative
vote on that momentous day in 1942.
June 6, 1966, is an eventful day for the
self-employed and their employees, be-
cause today this distinguished body will
extend to them a'privilege which is pres-
ently enjoyed by over 25 million cor-
porate employees.

Recent Treasury statistics indicated
that approximately 39,000 self-employed,
or less than'one-half of 1 percent, were
covered in 1964. Today we have an op-
portunity similar to the one we experi-
enced in 1942; only this time we are go-
ing to provide the impetus for the self-
employed. Granted it is 24 years later
and the beneficiaries of the future will
be the sons and daughters of those who
were unintentionally excluded in 1942.

So, Mr. Speaker, joined as I am today
by a distinguished roster of men and
women in this body on both side of the
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alsle, I say that these amendments are
amendments that - we contemplated
would normally and naturally be neces-
sary by reason of the restristive vote that
the basic act took in 1962. It is doing no
violence to the fiscal policies of the
United States. It is not doing any more
than just achieving a slight degree of
equity for those who work proudly for
| themselves.

The pending measure is just, meri-
torious, anti-inflationary, and a savings
incentive. It removes an obvious in-
equity’ and should receive the over-

~ whelming support of this House.

Mr. HORTON. Mr. Speaker, will the
gentleman yield?

Mr. KEOGH. I will be delighted to
yield to the distinguished gentleman
from New York.

Mr. HORTON. Mr. Speaker, I want
to commend the gentleman for his
efforts in this Congress to get these
amendments to the present act. I also
want to commend him and the other
members of the committee for institut-
ing this program. I can tell him from
the personal knowledge I have of my dis-
trict and the many people I have talked
to who have benefited from this present
bill that they are indeed grateful for his
personal efforts and the efforts of the
others on this committee in order to
make this program possible. Through-
out my journeys in the 36th District of
New York I have found there has been
a real need for amendments to this act.
I think the amendments proposed here
today are good ones and that the gentle-
man from New York [Mr. KeocH] should

* be commended in the twilight of his
career. in the House for providing these
benefits for the self-employed.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, if I may
delay my taking my seat for just a
moment, I appreciate my friend’s obvi-
ously able and astute evaluation of the
commendation that I deserve, but I
hasten to tell him that the form of the
pending bill is one that combines the
bills of the very able and distinguished
minority member of the Committee on
Ways and Means, the gentleman from
Wisconsin [Mr. Byrnes], and another
bill by Representative WarTs of the
Commonwealth of Kentucky. It is to
them that the major portion of the com-
mendation should go today. Without
their able, active, and intelligent assist-~
ance in the committee, we would not
have reached this point in the parlia-
mentary process.

Mr. HORTON. Mr. Speaker, will the
gentleman yield further?

Mr. KEOGH. I have no choice but to
submit to yielding to the gentleman from
New York.

Mr. HORTON. Mr. Speaker, I cer-
tainly would want to include in my re-
marks the tribute that is needed to be
paid to the gentleman from Wisconsin
[Mr. Byrnes] and all of those others

who have worked on this bill. However,
I want to emphasize again that I think
the gentleman’s diligence and willing-
ness to spearhead these efforts has meant
a great deal, first of all, to getting the
program started and also toward making-
these very vital amendments to the
program.

Again I want to say also, as one who
sponsored legislation in this fleld for
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amendments to this act, I am grateful to
the gentleman and the others on the
committee who have made it possible for
us today to vote on this legislation.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, I refuse
further to resist the gentleman’s insist-
ence and I appreciate his kind remarks.

(Mr. HORTON asked and was given
permission to revise and extend his re-
marks and include extraneous matter.)

Mr. HORTON. Mr. Speaker, it is with
a great sense of accomplishment that I
participate today in approving H.R. 10,
to eliminate the discriminatory effect
of Internal Revenue laws on the retire-
ment pension funds of self-employed
persons.

In 1962, Congress acted to allow pen-
sion-fund deductions to self-employed
individuals. But the limitations imposed
in the 1962 act were so stringent, that
it is estimated that less than one-half
of 1 percent of self-employed individuals
in the Nation have utilized the new law.
Today, we are acting, in line with our
original intent, to encourage participa-
tion in such plans by self-employed per-
sons by removing some of these unat-
tractive limitations and restrictions. As
the sponsor of H.R. 10643, a bill similar
to that before us today, I am particu-
larly pleased to remove the 50 percent
deduction limitation so that 100 percent
of funds contributed will be ‘deductible
from taxable gross income.

Throughout my years in the House of
Representatives, few proposals have won
the wide-spread constituent support that
has been given H.R. 10. With this sup-
port behind me, coming from nearly
every vocation from farming to law and
medicine, I join with my colleagues in
giving my unqualified approval to this
measure.

With the permission of my colleagues,
I would like to insert the following sam-
pling of correspondence on this measure
into the CONGRESSIONAL RECORD:

Hon. FRANE HORTON,

House of Representatives,
Rayburn Building,
Washington, D.C. .

DeAR CONGRESSMAN: Our association in-
itially sponsored and has continued to sup-
port the principle of H.R. 10.

Understand this coming up for vote Mon-
day, June 6. Sincerely urge your presence
and support of bill on Monday.

JorN E. BERRY,
Ezecutive Director,
New York State Bar Association.
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AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION,
Washington, D.C., October 29, 1965.
Re H.R. 10643.
Congressman FRANK HORTON,
House Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEeArR Mr. HORTON: You may be interested
in the enclosed copy of the ABA Washing-
ton Letter which is sent to several thousand
bar leaders throughout the country. I
call your attention particularly to page two
regarding your legislation to improve the
opportunity for self-employed individuals to
participate in retirement plans.

The improvements which are being sought
are of utmost concern to lawyers and other
professional individuals as well as to small
businessmen and farmers. Your active lead-
ership on behalf of this legislation is greatly
appreciated.

Sincerely,
Donarp E. CHANNELL.

Enclosure.

cc: New York State Bar Association, As-
sociation of the Bar of the City of New York.

NEw YORK FARM BUREAU,
Ithaca, N.Y., June 2, 1966.
Hon. FraNnk J. HORTON,
House Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DeAr MRr. HorToN: Knowing that you have
introduced a bill relative to retirement pro-
grams for self-employed persons which is
similar to H.R. 10, you will be interested in
the enclosed copy of letter which is going
to the entire New York State delegation.

Yours sincerely,
NEwW YORK FARM BUREAU,
C. K. BULLOCE,
Director, Commodity Department.
“NEw YORK FArRM BUREAU,
“Ithaca, N.Y., June 2, 1966.
“Re: H.R. 10.
“To: New York Congressmen.

“GENTLEMEN: It is our understanding that
the above bill is scheduled for consideration
on the floor of the House early next week.

“The Self-Employed Individuals Tax Re-
tirement Act of 1962 was aimed at correcting
discrimination that had previously existed
with regard to types of self-employed. How-
ever, 1t has failed to correct inequities exist-
ing with farmer ‘owner-employees.’ The
earnings of such farmers are a joint product
of personal services and invested capital, and
under the 1962 Act earned income is con-
sldered to be not more than the larger of
$2,500 or 309% of the taxpayers’ earnings
from self-employment. .

“The 1962 Act also limits tax deferral to
50% of the contributions. This results in a
serious inequity with respect to self-employed
retirement programs with a consequence that
very few retirement programs have been
established.

“We urge your support of HR. 10 when
it comes up for consideration on the House
Floor. We believe it would correct major
inequities in existing law and would result
in self-employed farmers being able to estab=-
lish their own retirement system, which I am
sure you will agree is highly desirable.

“Yours sincerely,
“NEW YORK FARM BUREAU,
“C. K. BULLOCK,
“Director, Commodity Department.”

MEDICAL SOCIETY
oF THE COUNTY OF MONROE, INC.,
Rochester, N.Y., January 17, 1966.
Hon. FRANK J. HORTON,
New House Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR FRANK: Just a brief note on behalf of
the Legislative Committee of the Medical So-
ciety of the County of Monroe thanking you
for your interest and your proposal to amend
the Keogh Bill.

We are, of course, heartily in support of
any endeavor which will place the self-em-
ployed in a favorable tax position comparable
to that enjoyed by corporate and institu-
tlonal employees. If you have any sugges-
tions by which we may be of assistance in
obtaining this improved legislation, we would
be most happy to cooperate.

Sincerely yours,
MEDICAL SOCIETY OF THE COUNTY
OF MONROE, INC.,
DonNALD M, IrISH,
Ezecutive Director.

ROCHESTER, N.Y,
June 1, 1966.
Hon. FRANK J. HORTON,
House of Representatives,
Capitol Building,
Washington, D.C.

Dear Sir: This is written to urge your ac-
tive support for H.R. 10 as recently reported
by the House Ways and Means Committee.
This bill would permit self-employed individ-
uals a full deduction for amounts con-
tributed to retirement plans established by
them. Present law permits deduction for
only one-half of contributions and is thus in-
equitable to self-employed individuals.
Proposed H.R. 10 would remove this inequity
and would encourage self-employed individ-
uals to provide for their own retirement.

Respectfully,
D. RoBERT NICHOLSON.
New Yorxg, N.Y.,
May 27, 1966.
FrANK J. HORTON,
Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.:

On behalf of our State society membership
of 15,000 certified public accountants in New
York State respectfully urge your support of
H.R. 10 as reported by House Ways and Means
Committee. This amended version of H.R. 10
calls for full deduction of allowable money
contributed by self-employed individuals.
This bill is a further step toward establish-
ing tax equity for hundreds of thousands of
professional men and women and self-em-
ployed individuals. It is squarely in the pub-
Hc interest and we urge your full support.

WmLiaM P. STOWE,
President, New York State Society of
Certified Public Accountants.

ROCHESTER, N.Y.,
May 31, 1966.
Hon. Congressman FRANK HORTON,
House of Representatives,
Capitol Building,
Washington, D.C.

Dear FraNk: This is written to urge your
active support for H.R. 10 as recently re-
ported by the House Ways and Means Com-=-
mittee. This bill would permit self-employed
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individuals a full deduction for amounts
contributed to retirement plans established
by them. Present law permits deduction for
only one-half of contributions and is thus in-
equitable to self-employed individuals. Pro-
posed H.R. 10 would remove this inequity and
would encourage self-employed individuals
to provide for their own retirement.
Sincerely,
WirLiAM D. GASSER.

Mr. Speaker, at this point, I want to
publicly express my gratitude to one of
the leading attorneys in Rochester, N.Y.,
who worked tirelessly to bring the facts
.~ on H.R. 10 to the attention of his col-

* leagues, and to seek removal of the re-

strictions I have spoken of. Scott Stew-
art, Esq., of Nixon Hargrave, Devons &
Doyle, deserves the thanks of all self-
employed persons who will benefit from
HR. 10.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, I now yield
to the Representative of the Common-
wealth of Kentucky [Mr. WarTs].

Mr. WATTS. Mr. Speaker, I certainly
rise in support of HR. 10. I, too, would
like to add my commendations to the
gentleman from New York. This is a
matter that has been very close to his
heart for a number of years. He is to
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be congratulated not only by the House
but by the whole country for taking the
attitude he has in trying to provide some
type of retirement for folks who have
been left out heretofore. I had a small
portion of this bill which dealt with the
inequity imposed on small business peo-
ple and farmers.

(Mr. WATTS asked and was given
permission to revise and extend his re-
marks.) '

Mr. WATTS. Mr. Speaker, I believe its
passage is a matter of urgent necessity if
we are to remove basic injustices in our
tax laws.

An inequity existed as to the tax treat-
ment accorded- self-employed persons
who desired to establish private retire-
ment plans. Employer contributions to
retirement plans have been tax deduc-
tible for some time and nontaxable to the
employees until retirement benefits are
actually received. The law discriminated
against self-employed persons by requir-
ing them to pay taxes on income they set
aside for retirement. Farmers, ranchers,
and other small businessmen make up a
large portion of this group.

Congress recognized that discrimina-
tion did exist and enacted the Self-Em-
ployed Individuals Tax Retirement Act
of 1962. This measure has tended to re-
duce the discrimination, but it has fallen
demonstrably short of achieving its ob-
jective, especially with respect to farm-
ers and other small businessmen.

Under the Self-Employed Individuals
Tax Retirement Act of 1962, most farm-
ers are classified as “owner-employees.”
Owner employees are authorized to con-

tribute up to 10 percent of their earned
income but not more than $2,500 per
year, to a retirement plan and to claim a
Federal tax deferral for 50 percent of
such contributions.

However, in the case of farmers, the

benefits of this act are drastically limited
by a restrictive definition of “earned in-
come.” If the earnings of an “owner-
employee” are a joint product of personal
services and invested capital, as is the
case with most farmers, not more than
the larger $2,500 or 30 percent of the
taxpayer’s earnings from self-employ-
ment may be treated as “earned in-
come.”
T Limiting the deferral to 50 percent of
the contributions has retained a serious
inequity with respect to self-employed
retirement programs. Consequently,
very few retirement programs have been
established. The restriction that earned
income must be arbitrarily computed at
30 percent of net earnings has made the
program meaningless to farmers and
other self-employed who must invest
capital as well as labor in their enter-
prises.

I do not believe thab farmers should
be penalized because they must invest
capital as well as labor into their farm-
ing operations. That is why I introduced
H.R. 8023 during the first session of this
Congress.

The Ways and Means Committee has
given careful consideration to this mat-
ter, and I am pleased that the decision
was made to include the provisions which
I introduced in H.R. 10, as reported by
the committee. The effect of these pro-
visions quite simply is to permit—not
force—farmers and others who must in-
vest capital in their enterprises to par-
ticipate in self-help retirement programs
on the same basis as other self-employed.
This law does not provide a subsidy; it
does not provide tax abatement; it
simply permits all self-employed to con-
tribute 10 percent of their net earnings
to a qualified retirement program and
defer tax payments until the benefits of
such a program are received. At last,
we will be giving the self-employed the
same opportunity as the employee of a
corporation.

Mr. Speaker, some misinformed peo-
ple have commented that the Self-
Employed Individuals Tax Retirement
Act has operated for the benefit of only
those with very large incomes. The fact
of the matter is that, because of the
restrictive provisions in the act, the pro-
gram has been virtually inaccessible to
the average self-employed. It is by re-
moving these arbitrary and unrealistic
restrictions that we open the door of op-
portunity to the individual with an
average income so that he, too, can pre-
pare for his retirement years.

H.R. 10, as reported by this committee,
is a bill designed to help farmers and
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other small businessmen; or more ac-
curately—it is a bill to permit them to
help themselves. I believe its passage
will be a matter of pride for every
Member of this Congress.

Of special interest to’the House is the
recommendation of the Subcommittee on
Employment and Retirement Income to
the Special Subcommitte on Aging of the
U.S. Senate made just last June:

Recommendation No. 3. The subcommit-
tee recommends that the Internal Revenue
Code be amended to eliminate or liberalize
the provision specifying that where both
capital and personal services are material
income-producing factors in a trade or
business, not more than 30 percent of the
self-employed taxpayer's net income from
the trade or business may qualify as “earned
income” (Internal Revenue Code, sec-
401(c) (2) (B)).

Where this provision is applicable, the
self-employed individual’s net earnings must
be at least $83,333.33 for the year if he is to
make the maximum pension contribution of
$2,500 (30 percent of $83,333.33) is $25,000;
10 percent of $25,000 is $2,600). One of the
largest occupational groups which are
severely handicapped by this provision in
taking advantage of the Smathers-Keogh
Act are farmers. Testimony of the American
Farm Bureau Federation showed how un-
reasonable and inflexible the arbitrary
30-percent provision is with reference to
American farms, on many if not most of
which the percent of net income attributable
to operator labor is considerably over 30
percent. The subcommittee feels that this
arbitrary concept® should be eliminated or
that, at the very least, the inflexible percent-
age should be ralsed to a more reasonable
figure than 30 percent .

Incidentally, making it possible for more
farmers to obtain self-employment pension
coverage would assist in solving the Nation's
farm problems and in providing better op-
portunities for younger farmers. In a letter
reproduced in the hearings record, Dr. John
A. Schnittker, who was then Director of Agri-
cultural Economics of the Department of
Agriculture (now Under Secretary of Agri-
culture), said: “the fact that many continue
to farm past the age of 656 indicates that more
attractive plans are needed. Pensipn plans
based on voluntary contributions of farmers
have promise. However, they probably eould
not be made sufficiently attractive to have
much impact unless present tax laws were
changed. Only small numbers take advan-
tage of the present tax exemptions permitted
for pension plans of the self-employed. If at-
tractive to farmers, this type of plan could
make a contribution to releasing resources to
other farmers because there would likely be
greatest participation among those farmers
who have relatively high sales and who con-
trol much land * * * a program designed to
be attractive to older farmers on larger farms
would allow an impressive fraction of farm
resources to become avallable to younger op-
erators, including a small number of ‘new’
farm operators.

“Your committee might be interested in re-
viewing the experience of the Netherlands,
which relies on programs to induce early re-
tirement of farmers as a major instrument of
achieving needed structural adjustments in
the agriculture of the country.”

Further along this line, the American Farm
Bureau Federation sald in its testimony:

“The technological revolution has combined
with the initiative and accomplishments of
American farmers to bring about the most
efficient agriculture in the world. In order
to cope with what many consider an -over-
expanding plant, numerous proposals have
been and are being made for land retirement
programs. While such programs can be help-
ful, they require considerable Federal ex-
penditures and deal with only one factor
of agricultural production. As fewer and
fewer farmers are capable of 'producing a
greater and greater amount of food and fiber,
1t seems obvious that we must make allow-
ance for human retirement as well as land
retirement.”

Needless to say, this improvement would
also extend pension coverage in other oc-
cupational groups in which both capital and
personal services are material income-pro-
ducing factors.

The  purposes of this recommendation
would be accomplished by enacting either
8. 1939 (Talmadge) or H.R. 8023 (Watts).

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, the gen-
tleman from Kentucky had much more
than a small portion of the pending bill.
He has furnished a great deal of leader-
ship in bringing us to the point on the
road at which we have arrived.

Now, Mr. Speeker, I hope I can reserve
the balance of my time.

Mr. BYRNES of Wisconsin.
Speaker, I yield myself 5 minutes.

Mr. Speaker, this bill merely car-
ries out the basic intention of the House
of Representatives when back in 1961 we
passed H.R. 10 to set up this system so
that the self-employed would have an
opportunity to provide for their own re-
tirement and that of their employees on
a basis somewhat analogous to the pen-
sion plans that corporations could set
up for their officers and employees. As
originally enacted by the House, I think
that purpose could more nearly have been
accomplished than is the situation to-
day under the law as it was amended by
the Senate. As a result of action in the
other body there was adopted—and the
conferees accepted it as a part of a com-
promise—an amendment which not only
adopted the $2,500 maximum amount
that could be contributed by the em-
ployer on his own behalf, but limited
the deduction to one-half of the amount
contributed.

That is the principal limitation which
we seek to eliminate now by the passage
of this legislation, because that amend-
[P. 11677}

ment, adopted in the other body and
accepted by the conference, really left
very little incentive in the bill.

Mr. Speaker, I pointed this fact out
at the time the conference report came
to the House, and subsequent events have
confirmed this conclusion. Since that
time there have been a number of plans
developed. Some 40,000 self-employed
employers have established plans but, in
the words of the committee report, this
has been a great disappointment. You
will find that it is only those with a high

Mr.
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income—and one or two employees—that
have adopted these plans. The individ-
ual with a  small business finds this
limitation particularly onerous.

Mr. Speaker, the bill which we are con-
sidering today seeks to narrow the gap
between what is available to corpora-
tions in making provisions for their of-
- ficers and employees and what is avail-
able to the self-employed in providing
for the retirement of himself and his
employees.

Mr. Speaker, the bill would still retain
the maximum limitation of $2,500 on
the amount which the self-employed can
contribute -on his own behalf, a limita-
tion which does not apply to corporate
contributions on behalf of its officers.
However, the bill would permit the self-
employed to deduct the full amount of
that contribution, just as he deducts the
full amount of the contribution on be-
half of his other employees.

Mr. Speaker, in addition to removing
the 50-percent limitation upon the
amount the self-employed can deduct,
the bill also amends the definition of
“self-employed income,” in order to con-
form to the definition used in the social
security law. - Under existing law, where
capital, as well as personal services, is
a material income-producing factor,
earned Income is limited to 30 percent
of the net profits of the business. This
means that in addition to all other lim-
itations, only 30 percent of the profits
of such an unincorporated business can
be treated as self-employment income.
The remaining 70 percent must be treat-
ed as investment income, not subject to
the provisions of H.R. 10. For all prac-
tical purposes, unincorporated farmers
were thus precluded from setting up
pension plans for themselves and their
employees. Adoption of the social secu-
rity rule removes another impediment to
the more widespread use of self-employ-
ment retirement plans.

Mr. Speaker, also, let us not forget that
whenever an employer adopts such a plan
to protect himself against his old age and
retirement, he is also extending that
same protection to his employees. So by
this method a large group of employees
in this country who today are without
this added protection can be brought in
and given this protection. We are not
talking just about the self-employed in-
dividual himself.

Now, Mr. Speaker, it should be quite
clear to all the Members of the House
that the Department of the Treasury op-
poses this bill.

The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr.
Boces). The time of the gentleman
from Wisconsin has expired.

Mr. BYRNES of Wisconsin. Mr.
Speaker, I yield myself 3 additional
minutes.

.. The SPEAKER pro tempore. The
gentleman from Wisconsin is recognized
for 3 additional minutes.

Mr. BYRNES of Wisconsin. But, Mr.
Speaker, let it be remembered that the
Department of the Treasury has opposed
legislation in this field from the very be-
ginning. It opposed the original legis-
lation when it was pending before the
House of Representatives. It was the
Department of the Treasury that suc-
ceeded, in a sense, in almost gutting the
bill when it was pending 4 years ago be-
fore the other body. And, Mr. Speaker,
I have no doubt that they will probably
attempt to load' the bill down with crip-
pling amendments when it gets into the
other body again. But this time, how-
ever, I would hope that when the House
of Representatives reiterates its position,
as I fully expect it will today, that our
conferees will stand firm and I think the
other body should be on notice that the
House of Representatives does not intend
to have these kind of limitations put
upon this program.

Of course, when one says the Treasury
opposes the bill and did oppose it before,
I do not think that should necessarily
have an influence on this House in this
instance. I would cite just a little exam-
ple of a situation earlier this year when
the Treasury and the administration
fought almost to the dying end to pre-
vent the inclusion in the Tax Adjustment
Act of 1966 of a provision for social secu-
rity payments to those people over 72
years of age under the Social Security
Act. But, when the bill got down to the
White House to be signed, the President
was all for it—and the administration
claimed great credit for having that en-
acted into law. Yet it was enacted into
law only over the vigorous objection of
the Treasury Department and of the ex-
ecutive agencies concerned.

So, I would hope that on this bill, we
might have a similar experience—that
although the Treasury opposes it today,
when it goes to the President that then
the administration will be all for it.

Mr. Speaker, it is indeed anomalous
that this administration which purports
to have such great interest in the aged,
and we heard considerable about that
over the weekend, should oppose this leg-
islation when its purpose is to provide a
system whereby individuals can take care
of themselves and take care of their em-
ployees in their older age and in their
retiremment.

There has been and there must con-
tinue to be expansion in the service
trades. More and more of our workers
will be in the service industries. It it in
this area that the small businessman
with a few employees—the self-em-
ployed—can make the greatest contri-
bution to our economy. We should en-
courage them and not penalize them.
We should encourage the skilled workers
to prefer to run their own business rather
than to work for the larger corporate
establishments.
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This is not exclusively, as the Treas-
ury would have us believe, a doctor’s and
lawyer’s bill. In a sense, Mr. Speaker,
this can be considered a plumber’s bill,
and a painter’s bill—a bill to help the
an electrician’s and a carpenter’s bill,
small shopkeeper and the small inde-
pendent farmer—to help these people
who are self-employed set aside some-
thing for their old age and retirement.
This is good bill and it deserves the
unanimous support of the House of Rep-
resentatives.

The SPEAKER. The time-of the gen~
tleman has expired.

(Mr. DON H. CLAUSEN (at the request
of Mr. KEoGH) was granted permission
to extend his remarks at this point in the
RECORD.)

Mr. DON H. CLAUSEN. Mr. Speaker,
we have before the House today H.R. 10,
a bill to amend the Internal Revenue
Code of 1954 to permit pension and profit-
sharing plans to provide contributions or
benefits on a nondiscriminatory basis for
certain self-employed individuals.
‘While this bill is on the consent calendar,
indicating no substantial opposition to
passage, I want to raise my voice, never-
theless, to extol the virtues of this pro-
posal.

HR. 10 is an attempt to do what the
Congress tried to do in 1962, and I hope
this time we will fully succeed. As the
Members will recall, Mr. Speaker, the
Congress passed the Self-Employed In-
dividuals Tax Retirement Act of 1962 for
the purpose of encouraging employers to
set up retirement programs for them-
selves in much the same way as they and
others .could already do for their em-
ployees under provisions of the law.
However, although these employees could
defer profit taxes on the entire amount
they set aside in retirement plans for
their employees, they were restricted to
deferring the tax on only half of the
amount they set aside for their own re-
tirement. The results, as indicated in
Government reports, showed that less
than 1 percent of self-employed individ-
uals availed themselves of this new pro-
vision and, as a result, we can only con-
clude that the intent of the Congress was
not successful.

The amendments before us today would
permit these self-employed individuals to
defer the tax on all of the funds they set
aside for their own retirement up to $2,-
500 per year, or 10 percent of their earned
income, whichever is smaller. In addi-
tion, it permits self-employers whose in-
come is derived from both services and
capital to have the same deferment privi-
lege providing they are contributing sig-
nificant personal services in earning their
income.

It is my hope, Mr. Speaker, that these
amendments will encourage self-em-
ployed persons to take advantage of the
congressional intent to motivate self-

employers in providing for their own
retirement. The philosophy behind the
1962 act was very good, in my opinion,
but it did not succeed in motivating self-
employers to provide for their own fu-
tures. This philosophy is most gratify-
ing, Mr. Speaker, in that it does not take
the hard line in requiring small business-
men and other self-employers to shoulder
an extra load imposed by the Govern-
ment, via taxes, in order to provide for
their own retirement. Instead, 1t per-
mits them to defer the tax on the amount
they pay in for their own retirement just
as the tax is deferred on the amount they
pay in for their employees. It has long
been my own philosophy that the tax
system of the United States can be used
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as a most effective and donstructive tool
to encourage taxpayers to meet their own
responsibilities, rather than a destructive
tool to weigh them down and discourage
responsibility. The latter course can

. only hasten the day when the Govern-

ment may have to be responsible for
those things which a little encourage-
ment now may solve.

Mr. Speaker, this is a fine example of
putting the tax structure to work for us
and encouraging individuals to meet
their own responsibilities, and I whole-
heartedly congratulate the Committee on
Ways and Means and the gentleman
from New York [Mr. KeoGH] for their
fine work on this bill.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr.,Speaker, we have
no further request for time.

Mr. BYRNES of Wisconsin. Mr.
Speaker, I yield 5 minutes to the gentle-
man from Missouri [Mr. CurTis].

(Mr. CURTIS asked and was given per-
mission to revise and extend his re-
marks.)

Mr., CURTIS. Mr. Speaker, this bill
comes before the House under very un-
usual circumstances.

First, I want to apologize to the House
for the fact that the hearings in execu-
tlve session which were taken down are
not available to the House. I think if is
wrong not to have this material avail-
able to the House. Incidentally, I feel
these hearings should never have been
in executive session. This has to do with
some basic procedures.

I am very concerned over the kind of
procedures that we have been follow-
ing and increasingly so here in the House
of Representatives. I happen to favor
this legislation and I am very strongly
in favor of it. But I think it is about
time that those of us who favor some-
thing recognize that if there is going to
be honest deliberation and debate that
those who disagree with us should be
glven an opporunity to have their dis-
agreement considered.

If the hearings were available, the
membership would read some very
strange remarks. For after the commit-
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tee unanimously voted out the bill, and
for the reasons that the gentleman from
New York has given and for the reasons
given by the gentleman from Wisconsin
with which I agree—after this was done
the Assistant Secretary of the Treasury,
Mr. Stanley S. Surrey, said, “I want it
to be known that the administration is
strongly opposed to this bill.”

Of course, the administration spokes-
men made their opposition quite clear
as we developed these issues during the
executive session. I think the gentleman
from Wisconsin [Mr. Byrnes] and I en-
gaged in colloquy somewhat along the
lines—well after all, the committee re-
port accompanying the bill will contain
the administration’s point of view and
the reasons for it opposing the bill.
Then it was developed that this was not
necessarily so, and apparently it is not
the procedure in our committee neces-
sarily to print the administration’s views
in opposition.

I think it should be. It is not, but I
said in a half-joking fashion, “Mr. Sec~
retary, of the 17 Democrats on the com-
‘mittee, all you have to do is to get one
of them to have supplemental views, and
even though he disagrees with you, he
will put the administration remarks in

" the committee report.”

The statement was, Well, he was not
quite sure whether he could get one of
the 17 Democrat members to do this.
Then he turned to me and asked me,
Would I put the Treasury views in the
committee report if he could not get one
of the 17 Democrats to do so. This
shocked me a little bit, but when I
thought it over I said, “Yes.” To my
amazement, I was taken up on this. I
got a call from the Secretary of the
Treasury asking me if I would do that.

If Members will turn to page 12 of the
committee report, they will find my sup-
plemental views. I want to read them:

Although I strongly support the bill and
disagree with the conclusions contained in
the Treasury report on H.R. 10, I feel that
it should be made a part of the official com-~
mittee report. Therefore, I am setting it
forth in my supplemental views.

So that any of you who would be in-
terested in knowing why the adminis-
tration is opposed can have the benefit of
their logic. I do not agree with their
logic.

Mr. KEOGH. Mr. Speaker, will the
gentleman yield?

Mr. CURTIS. I yield to the gentle-
man from New York.

Mr. KEOGH. I simply wanted to say
that this is another example of the great
service which the gentleman from Mis-
souri performs. What you have done has
been done in the regular, orderly way.
If anyone should inquire of you as to why
you took that action, I suppose the best
answer would be that when one has no
one on his side, he will take help from
wherever he can get it.

Mr. CURTIS. I think the gentleman
has stated it correctly.

71-297 O-67-pt. 2—61

The issue I wanted to point out stated
by the administration in its views is that
the revenue loss from H.R. 10—talking
about $30 million and $35 million in
fiscal year 1966 to $60 million in fiscal
1968—the revenue loss, especially from
19617, is “completely inconsistent with the
recent actions which have been taken
in light of Vietnam and the economic
situation.” There is no question that
this revenue loss has not been budgeted.

I have been trying to fight for the
President’s budget. In fact, I think it is
too much and we need to cut it. This
means a great deal to me. Therefore, I
have to determine in my own thinking,
in terms of priorities. What is the sig-
nificance of this $30 million in relation
to other expenditure programs that we
have? Does this assume a great priority
in my judgment? Indeed it does. I think
we have continued too long with this
very serious imbalance that exists be-
tween the corporate form of doing busi-
ness and the professional form of doing
business and in respect to the self-em-
ployed. It has been damaging to the
professions; and to small business, farm-
ers and entrepreneurs. Every year this
inbalance has been in the law corpora-
tions have been able to deduct from
taxes that which they put in their ap-
proved pension plans for their employees,
but private practitioners—lawyers, doc-
tors, dentists and the self-employed—
could not do this for themselves or their
employees, and this has been an under-
lying economic evil.

This is a matter of tax equality. So
my disagreement with the President is
not the disagreement that we badly need
every penny of revenue that we can get,
and that we need to hold expenses down.
My argument is that this does take pri-
ority over a great deal that is in the
budget. The President should have
budgeted this program, in my opinion.
If this becomes law it will become neces-
sary for the President to cut other ex-
penditures out to make way for this par-
ticular program because it should be-
given the highest priority.

Mr. TEAGUE of California. Mr.
Speaker, will the gentleman yield? °

Mr. CURTIS. 1Iyield to the gentleman
from California. :

Mr. TEAGUE of California. Mr.

'Speaker, I congratulate the gentleman

from Missourl [Mr. CurTis] for having
been the recipient today in the Washing-
ton Post of a highly complimentary and
well deserved editorial, complimenting
him on his attitude and his findings con-
cerning our trade problems. It is not
very often the Washington Post has a
kind word to say about a Republican,
particularly one who generally is in the
conservative camp. I congratulate the
gentleman.

-Mr. CURTIS. I thank the gentleman.
I hope I still am in the conservative
camp.
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Mrs. MAY. Mr. Speaker, will the
gentleman yield?

Mr. CURTIS. I yield to the gentle-
woman from Washington.

(Mrs. MAY asked and was given per-
mission to revise and extend her re-
marks.)

Mrs. MAY. Mr. Speaker, I also add
my congratulations to those of my col-
league from California, to my good
friend from Missourd.

Also at this time I rise in support of
H.R. 10 and offer my commendation to
the gentleman from New York [Mr.
KeocH] and to the gentleman from Wis-
consin [Mr. Byrnes] and the gentleman
from Missouri [Mr. CurTis] and to all
those who have had a part in bringing
this legislation before us.

As a long-time cosponsor of H.R. 10, I
supported the original version of H.R. 10
when it passed the House in 1962. As
you know, the Senate managed to weaken
the legislation before it was sent to the
President for signature, and the legisla-
tion before us today, which I am also
pleased to cosponsor, will correct this
inequity.

Today’s version of H.R. 10 will extend
to an estimated 10 million of our citi-
zens—many of them middle income
small businessmen—the chance to set
aside retirement funds for themselves,
the same as they are now required to do
for their employees. 'This will be ac-
complished by repeal of the two amend-
ments added to the original 1962 ver-
sion of H.R. 10 after it left the House.
The amendments, as time has now
proven, were of such nature that a very
small number of self-employed individ-
uals have chosen to make use of the pro-
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visions enacted in 1962. The report be-
fore us today, I believe, estimates that
only about one-half of one percent of
self-employed individuals made use of
the . deduction in 1964. On the other
hand, it is estimated that the bill before
us today will greatly improve this dis-
appointing situation by encouraging
participation as much as sixfold by 1967.

This is a good bill, worthy of the sup-
port of the Congress, and one in which I
am proud to be a cosponsor on behalf of
the many, many small businessmen and
farmers of my district.

When the gentleman from Wisconsin
was speaking, he pointed out that this
was not just a bill for professional peo-
ple, that it certainly-is a bill for elec-
tricians and plumbers and small busi-
ness employers, but he left out one very
important group, and that is our
farmers.

Mr. CURTIS. The gentlewoman Iis
correct.

Mr. BYRNES of Wisconsin, Mr.
Speaker, I yield 1 minute to the gentle-
man from Missouri [Mr. HaLLl.

(Mr. HALL asked and was given per-

mission to revise and extend his re-
marks.)

Mr. HALL. Mr. Speaker, I want to join

in the accolade to my colleague from Mis-
souri, extended by the gentleman from
[Mr. Teacuel, and the gentlewoman
from Washington [Mrs. May], concern-
cerning the gentleman from Missouri
[Mr. Curtisl, and his statement on our
economy and our trade and his findings,
as reported in the editorial in this morn-
ing’s Washington Post.

"Mr. Speaker, I rise in support of H.R.
10, to permit pension and profit-sharing
plans to provide contributions or benefits
on a nondiscriminatory basis, for certain
self-employed individuals, without spe-
cial limitations on the amount of con-
“tributions. I speak of one who would be
participating if still in professional prac-
tice, but being here am not eligible.

Earlier this year, I introduced similar
legislation, H.R. 15168, in recognition of
the unequal tax treatment that exists
today between self-employed persons and
those who work for corporations.

Thelegislation has two basic purposes:
to eliminate the provision allowing ‘de-
duction of only 50 percent of the self-
employed’s contribution, and to remove
the crippling 50-percent limitation on
the maximum percentage of earned in-
come which might be set aside annually.

This bill is of particular significance to
lawyers, accountants, engineers, archi-
tects, doctors, dentists, and other self-
employed people.

This law is needed to correct the in-
equities that were added in the Senate
to the original Keogh bill, and which lim-
ited annual contributions on behalf of
the self-employed to one-half of 10 per-
cent of earned income, or $2,500, which-
ever was less.

Recently, the American Bar Associa-
tion reported that less than 1 percent of
its members have elected to participate
in that association’s retirement plan.

Other professions have had similar ex-
periences, and it surely is time to correct
these inequitable and unfounded limita-
tions that are frustrating the worthwhile
goal of the Self-Employed Individuals
Retirement Act. This bill provides that
an owner-employee may deduct the full
amount of such contributions, up to a
maximum of 10 percent of his earned in-
come, but not to exceed $2,500 in any one
year. Thus, within that limitation, the
tax incentive for him to establish retire-
ment plans for himself and his employees
would be increased twofold, as compared
with existing law.

The self-employed and the owner-em-
ployed will be called upon to a greater
and greater degree to provide additional
jobs for our growing work force. At a
time when there is a growing trend on the
-part of young people to go to work for
others, I think it is important that we
do everything we can to encourage the
independent entrepreneur to strike out
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on his own. Their independence is a
valuable asset to our society.

The self-employed individual, as an
employer of his own services, occupies
the same position as the manager of a
small business owned by a corporation.
There is no reason, as a matter of equity,
why that portion of his compensation,
which is committed for the provision of
retirement income, should not be treated
exactly alike in both cases. Removal of
the present inequitable treatment would
do much to encourage the extension of
pension coverage to both the self-em-
ployed and their employees.

The list of assoclations endorsing this
legislation includes: The American Bar
Association, the National Society of Pro-
fessional Engineers, the National Milk
Producers Association, National Society
of Public Accountants, American Op-
tometric Association, American Medical
Association, American Dental Associa-
tion, the American Hotel & Motel Asso-
ciations, the National Livestock Tax
Committee, and the Authors League of
America, Inc.

I commend the members of the Ways
and Means Committee, on both sides
of the aisle, for their hard work on this
.measure, and I urge its adoption.

Mr. POFF. Mr. Speaker, I would like
to underscore the need for this legisla-
tion on the grounds of equity.

Under legislation passed by the Con-
gress in 1942, corporation employers and
other employers who have purchased
supplemental retirement programs for
their workers are permitted to deduct
the full amount of the premiums paid as
business operating costs. Until 1962,
self-employed people, such as farmers,
lawyers, accountants, doctors, dentists,
engineers and small businessmen, had no
equivalent opportunity. In that year,
Congress graciously granted them half a
loaf. Although the House had passed
legislation granting a whole loaf, the
other body adopted an amendment which
said in effect that a self-employed work-
er could deduct only 50 percent of the
amount he invested in a retirement pro-
gram up to 10 percent of his earned in-
come, or $2,500, whichever is less.

Now, Mr. Speaker, if the Congress ac-
knowledged the existence of an inequity,
how can Congress remain content to ig-
nore half the inequity? It is time now
to do a complete justice. The 50-percent
limitation must be lifted.

It think it is important also to empha-
size that this legislation can function as
an important weapon in the war against
inflation. Essentially, payments into
the type of retirement program eligible
under this statute are the same as depos-
its in savings accounts. They have the
effect of reducing total currency in cir-
culation and this tends to bring the sup-
ply of goods and services into better bal-
ance with the supply of money. This
in turn helps to promote the integrity

of the dollar and stabilize the purchas-
ing power of the paycheck.

Accordingly, I earnestly trust that this
legislation will. be promptly approved
here and in the other body.

Mr. ABERNETHY. Mr. Speaker, there
are a great many farmers and-small busi-
nessmen in my congressional district
and State who come under the category
of self-employed persons. They will
benefit from this bill.

Under the Self-Employed Individuals
Tax Retirement Act of 1962 most farm-
ers are classified as “owner-employees.”
As such they are authorized to contribute
up to 10 percent of their earned income,
but not more than $2,500 per year, to a
retirement plan and claim a Federal tax
deferral for 50 percent of such contribu-
tions. However, in the case of farmers,
the benefits of this act are drastically
limited by a restrictive definition of
“earned income.” If the earnings of an
“owner-employee” are a joint product of
personal services and invested capital, as
is the case with most farmers, not more
than the larger of $2,500 or 30 percent
of the taxpayer’s earnings from self-
employment may be treated as “earned
income.”

Limiting the deferral to 50 percent of
the contributions has retained a serious
inequity with respect to self-employed
retirement programs. The "restriction
that earned income must bé arbitrarily
computed at 30 percent of net earnings
has made the program meaningless to
farmers and other self-employed who
must invest capital as well as labor in
their enterprises.

This bill removes both the 50-percent
and 30-percent limitations. I have long
felt that this inequity should be elim-
inated and want to commend the Com-
mittee on Ways and Means for reporting
H.R. 10, which will be a major step in
assisting the self-employed, particularly
our farmers and small businessmen, to
set up retirement programs.

Mr. KUPFERMAN. Mr. Speaker,Iam
pleased to support this bill, HR. 10,
based upon legislation originally intro-
duced by the gentleman from New York
[Mr. KeocH] as a beneficial and neces-
sary change in our present tax law.and
designed to encourage the self-employed
individual

Mr. Speaker, in 1942 our tax laws were
changed to offer substantial tax benefits
to corporations and their employees in
the field of pension and profit-sharing
plans. Corporate -employers were al-
lowed 100-percent tax deductions for
contributions when made to retirement
plans. AS a result of the 1942 legisla-
tion, self-employed persons and their
employees were discriminated against.
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In 1962, the original H.R. 10 was passed
by Congress—Public Law 87-792, 76 Stat.
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809—and, for the first time, recognition
was given to the problem of tax discrim-
ination and unfair treatment offered the
self-employed individual.

The Self-employed Individual’s Tax
Retirement Act of 1962 was a substan-
tial step in the right direction, but it
did not fully -accomplish the needed tax
encouragement of the many professional
persons, small businessmen and even
farmers which come within the scope
and meaning of self-employed persons.
For example, under existing law—sub-
section 404(a) (10) Internal Revenue
Code of 1954—the deduction which may
be taken for amounts contributed to a
qualified retirement plan by any self-
employed individual for his own benefit
g limited to 50 percent of such contribu-

on.

Mr. Speaker, I have introduced H.R.
15246, which would amend the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954 to remove the 50-
percent limitation and would permit the
self-employed person to deduct the en-
tire-amount of the contribution made in
his behalf to a retirement plan.

In addition, my bill would change the
definition of “earned income” applicable
with respect to the retirement plan so
as to eliminate the ceiling on deductible
contributions that could be placed in the
retirement plan.

Mr. Speaker, among those individuals
who would benefit most from the legis-
lation which I have introduced, H.R.
15246, and from the substantially sim-
ilar bill—H.R. 10—before us today, are
the members of the medical and dental
profession. As self-employed individuals,
they are presently permitted by our tax
laws to deduct- only 50 percent of the
contributions made in their behalf to a
retirement plan.

In addition to repealing the limita-
tions upon the contribution made by the
self-employed, the legislation being con-
sldered today would permit a self-em-
ployed individual to include in earned
income all of his net profits when his
income is earned from a business in
which both the performance of personal
services and capital are material income-
producing factors. In this way, medical
and other professional and self-employed
persons would be given the same or equal
treatment as our tax laws presently af-
ford corporations and their employees.

Mr. Speaker, I fully support H.R. 10,
and hope that my colleagues will give
every consideration to its passage.

Mr. Speaker, I would like at this point
in the CoNGRESSIONAL RECORD to0 include a
statement regarding H.R. 10, written by
the Honorable Edward W. Kuhn, pres-
ident of the American Bar Association,
which appeared in the February 1966
issue of the American Bar Journal, and
which in a thorough and scholarly man-
ner sets forth the history behind H.R.
10 and illustrates the need for its pas-
sage: :

THE PRESIDENT'S PAGE
(By Edward W. Kuhn)

A recent Senate report emphasizes the
need for changes in our tax laws to encourage
professional persons to participate in private
pension plans, Twenty-five million Amer-
icans are now covered under private plans;
they constitute an estimated half of the
persons in private nonfarm employment.
The largest segment of our population not
participating is composed of persons in the
professions, small business and agriculture.
In only fifteen years, it is estimated, three
out of five employees, a total of 42,000,000
persons, will be covered under private plans,
but unless there is a change in our tax laws,
the participation is likely to include very few
professional individuals in private practice.

The practicing lawyer has a peak earning
period of about twenty years, generally be-
tween 45 and 65 years of age. The average
income in 1962 for those in individual prac-
tice was about $8,200 and for those in part-
nerships $18,000. Some 200,000 lawyers are
engaged in private practice but are denied a
deferral of federal income taxes on the full
amount of retirement savings because they
have a self-employed status.

The number of lawyers employed in private
concerns, primarily industry, has increased
127 per cent since 1951. Studies indicate
that a major factor has been the attractive
retirement benefits offered to corporate em-
ployees.

In 1942, our tax laws were changed to
offer substantial tax benefit to corporations
and their employees in the establishment of
pension plans, supplementing social security.
The tax effects of these plans are:

First, the contributions by the employer
for the employee, although in the nature of
additional compensation, are not taxable to
the employee until the retirement benefits
are received in later years.

Second, the employer gets a tax deduction
for the contributions when made.

Third, the earnings from the retirement
fund are tax exempt until distributed.

Fourth, the retirement benefits are dis-
tributed at a time when the employee would
normally be in a lower tax bracket.

The result of the legislation enacted in
1942 was to discriminate in favor of employed
persons and against all self-employed persons
and their employees. To correct this obvious
inequity, the American Bar Assoclation led
an effort in Congress'to secure a measure of
equality with corporate officers and em-
ployees in respect to the tax treatment of
earnings set aside for retirement purposes.
Finally, in 1962, the Smathers-Keogh Bill
(H.R. 10) was passed by Congress and, for
the first time, recognition was given to the
problem of the self-employed in this field.

Although the Self-Employed Individuals
Tax Retirement Act of 1962 was a step for-
ward, it by no means provides an adequate
method for the average self-employed in-
dividual to save for retirement. During the
long struggle for passage, the legislation was
weakened considerably. In the final days of
the 87th Congress, an amendment to H.R.
10 was added on the Senate floor; it substan-
tially diminished the intended value of the
legislation by limiting the self-employed in-
dividual to a deduction of only one half the
amount that he contributes in his behalf to
a noncontributory plan. This limitation is
even more severe in a contributory plan and
results’ in possibly a deduction of only 26
per cent.
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Singe the enactment of the 1962 act, the
Association’s Committee on Retirement
Benefits Legislation has given careful scru-
tiny to the new law to ascertain its short-
comings with an eye towards supporting
remedial legislation.

Although there are several defects in the
1962 act, this Associatlon is concentrating
its support on the two most needed amend-
ments. H.R. 10, introduced by Representa-
tive EUGENE KEOGH (Democrat of New York),
would permit the self-employed person to
deduct the entire amount of the contribu-
tion made in his behalf to a retirement plan.
It also would eliminate the celling on de-
ductible contributions that could be placed
in such plans, provided, of course, that em-
ployees are covered. Seventeen bills to im-
prove the 1962 act are pending before the
Ways and Means Committee, including spon-
sorship by the ranking minority member,
Joun BYRNES (Republican of Wisconsin).

The following hypothetical case points out
the reason that the 50 percent limitation is
serving as a major deterrent to participation
in retirement plans under the 1962 act:

“Assume a lawyer at age 40 with a wife and
two children filing a joint' return has an
income of $15,000 and has $2,000 in deducti-
ble expenses. Under the Keogh Act, he could
contribute to a retirement plan 10 per cent
of his income, which would be $1,600. Be-
cause of the 50 per cent limitation, he would
have a reduction of only $750 which would
in this case leave him a taxable income of
$9,850 and his tax would be $1,787. If the
full deduction were permitted, he would have
a taxable income of $9,100, paying, a tax of
$1,622. The savings of $165 per year in taxes
invested at 6 per cent over a 25-year period
would amount to $9,052. If the lawyer did
not participate in the plan at all, he would
pay a tax of $1,952, which is $330 more in
taxes than if he had a plan permitting a full
deduction. This $330 invested for a period
of 25 years at 6 per cent would total $18,105.”

It is apparent by this {llustration that al-
though the 1962 act provide some induce-
ment to the private practitioner, it falls far
short of providing him comparable tax
treatment with a lawyer under a corporate
plan. .

Because of the inadequacy of the 1962 act,
there has been increasing agitation by many
professional persons to seek another ap-
proach to the problem by forming profes-
sional corporations or associations. Although
some thirty states have enacted laws author-
izing members of the various professions to
form corporations, the Treasury Department
has indicated that it did not recognize such
professional assoclations as corporations for
income tax purposes under the Internal Re-
venue Code. Therefore, this avenue has been
virtually closed to the professional indivi-
dual. H.R. 8347 and several bills are pending
in the Ways and Means Committee that
would require that such professional corpora-
tions be treated as corporations for income
tax purposes.

In addition to individual or firm plans un-
der H.R. 10 type legislation and the use of
professional corporations, a third possible
avenue for the self-employed person and his
employees would be to participate in asso-
ciation or other group plans. The American
Bar Assoclation after careful study estab-
lished a plan in 1963 for its members, but be-
cause of the severe restrictions in the 1962
act, the participation in this plan is extreme-
1y limited. In fact, of the 120,000 members
of the American Bar Assoclation, fewer than

1,000 persons, including lawyers and thelr
employees, are now participating in the As-
soclation’s plan. Undoubtedly, participation
in such group plans would be greatly en-
hanced by passage of legislation llke the new
HR. 10.

A report of the Senate Special Committee
on Aging, issued in June, 1965, recommends
enactment of provisions included in H.R. 10.
It also recommends legislation “clarifying
and reafirming Congressional intent that
professional corporations and associations are
corporations within the meaning of that
term as used in the Internal Revenue Code.”

This Association, with the support of the
state and local bar groups, and other or-
ganizations, is giving priority attention to
bringing about much needed improvements
in our tax laws to correct further an inequity
which has existed for more than two decades.
This should be of direct concern to every
practicing lawyer.

Mr. KEITH. Mr. Speaker, in consider-
ing this bill it seems reasonable that an
individual who is self-employed—who
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has had the courage to go out in the
business world and make -his own way—
should be given the same tax break on
his retirement plan as are the employees
who work for him—and as are those
holding similar positions of responsibility
in corporate enterprise.

By refusing to allow the sole proprietor,
the partner, or the self-employed law-
yer, accountant, or doctor to provide for
his own future in the same way that he
provides for his employees is, in my view,
an inequity that should be corrected.

The legislation authorizing pensions
for the self-employed which we approved
in 1962 was intended to give him a fair
break. According to the estimates made
by the Treasury Department, though,
this—for the most id not occur.
Apparently, a majority of self-employed
business and professional men and
women have been forced to choose there-
fore not to provide adequately for their
own retirement.

The amendments which we are consid-
ering here today will overcome this in-
equity. Hopefully, they will encourage
the small businessman to establish pen-
sion plans in which they themselves can
participate.

I hope that the Senate will concur in
our action and that the President will in
turn approve the legislation. If these
amendments become law, the small busi-
nessman will have an opportunity for
security—which is long overdue.

Mr. ROGERS of Florida. Mr. Speaker,
today we have a chance to encourage
self-employed citizens to help themselves
through passage of the amendment to
the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

The self-employed individual has been
given only a small chance to make proper
plans for his financial security after re-
tirement in the 1954 code and the amend-~
ment of 1962. The amendment now
standing before the House offers self-
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employed individuals incentive to save
for their future through a more reason-
able tax allowance.

The fact that only one-half of 1 per-
cent of all self-employed individuals took
advantage of the 1962 amendment is wit-
ness to the inequities of the bill. They
have shown that under this bill they
have been burdened with unfair financial
contributions.

I urge that we encourage these citizens
to help themselves by allowing a fair tax
deduction which will be more attractive
to them and more beneficial to the entire
social security structure.

Mr. SCHMIDHAUSER. Mr. Speaker,
I support H.R. 10 because it is my belief
that this tax reform measure will help
establish parity of tax treatment on re-
tirement programs for self-employed per-
sons in small businesses and on the
farms, and in the professions. For many
years in the past, self-employed people in
those categories were not allowed deduc-
tions for contributions to their own re-
tirement funds.

This bill, H.R. 10, will end discrimina-

tion against the self-employed farmer
and small businessman. At the present
time, self-employed persons whose in-
.come comes from capital and labor are
at a great disadvantage; they can only
use 30 percent of their total income un-
der the retirement law, and therefore
are at a great disadvantage.

The old law was particularly hard on
farmers; for example, our farm producers
earn their income from both their hard
work and the money they have invested
in land, equipment, and so forth. If a
farm producer earns $9,000, only $3,000
of his income is considered for the pur-
pose of computing the deduction of $150,
in spite of the fact he probably is con-
tributing much more toward his retire-
ment. Under the provision of H.R. 10,
the farmer or small businessman will be
eligible for a full 10-percent deduction
of his earned income of $9,000 or $900.

I believe this legislation will contribute
much to the strengthening and develop-
ment of our free enterprise system. I
also believe the Federal Government
should encourage small employers and
professional people to set aside retire-
ment funds for themselves as well as for
their employees. Passage of this bill will
end the discrimination of the old law,
strengthen our free enterprise system,
and help our family farm producers and
our small businessmen, and I strongly
support its approval.

The SPEAKER. The question is on
the motion of the gentleman from New
York [Mr. KeocH] that the House sus-
pend the rules and pass the bill H.R. 10,
as amended.

The question was taken; and the
Speaker announced that it appeared that
two-thirds of the Members present had
voted in favor thereof.

Mr. YOUNGER. Mr. Speaker, I ob-

ject to the vote on the ground that a
quorum is not present, and make the
point of order that a quorum is not
present.

The SPEAKER. Evidently a quorum
is not present.

The Doorkeeper will close the doors,
the Sergeant at Arms will notify absent
Members, and the Clerk will call the roll.

The question was taken; and there
were—yeas 291, nays 0, not voting 141, as
follows:

[Roll No. 125]

YEAS—291

Abbitt Donohue Keogh
Adair Dowdy King, Calif.
Adams Downing King, N.Y
Addabbo Dulski King, Utah
Albert Duncan, Tenn. Kirwan
Anderson, IIl. Edwards, Calif. Kluczynski
Anderson, Edwards, La. Kunkel

Tenn. Erlenborn Kupferman
Andrews, Evans, Colo. Laird

George W. Farnsley Langen
Andrews, Fascell Latta

Glenn Feighan Lennon
Andrews, Findley Lipscomb

N. Dak. Fisher Long, La.
Arends Flood Long, Md.
Ashbrook Ford, McCarthy
Ashmore ‘William D. McClory
Aspinall Fountain McCulloch
Ayres Friedel McDade
Bandstra Fulton, Pa. McEwen
Baring Fulton, Tenn. pcFall
Barrett Fuqua McGrath
Bates Gallagher MacGregor
Battin Garmatz Machen
Beckworth Gathings Mackie
Belcher Gettys Madden
Bennett Gibbons Mahon
Betts Gilligan Mailliard
Boggs Gonzalez Marsh
Boland Goodell Matthews
Bow Gray May
Brademas Green, Oreg. Meeds
Bray Green, Pa. Michel
Brock Griffiths Mills
Broomfleld Gross Minshall
Brown, Clar- Grover Mize

ence J., Jr. Gubser Moeller
Broyhill, Va. Hagen, Calif. Monagan
Buchanan Haley Moore
Burke Hall Moorhead
Byrne, Pa. Halleck Morgan
Byrnes, Wis. Halpern Morris
Cahill Hamilton Mosher
Callan Hanley Murphy, 11,
Carey Hansen, Idaho nurphy, N.¥.
Carter Hansen, Jowa Natcher
Casey Hansen, Wash. Nedazi
Cederberg Harsha Nelsen
Chamberlain Harvey, Ind. O’Brien
Chelf Harvey, Mich. o’Hara, 1l.
Clancy Hathaway O’Hara, Mich.
Clark Hays O’Konski
Cleveland Hechler Qlsen, Mont,.
Collier Henderson Olson, Minn.
Conable Herlong Ottinger
Conte Hicks Passman
Cooley Horton Patman
Corbett Hull Patten
Corman Hungate Pepper
Craley Huot Perkins
Cramer Ichord Philbin
Culver Jacobs Pickle
cunxglngham Joelson Pike
gurl: Johnson, Calif. Pirnie
Dmdusd 1 Johnson, Okla. Poage
Da ario Johnson, Pa.  Poff
Dag;lse . Jonas Price
D:vl g W?fs Jones, Ala. Pucinski
D vis, Wis. Jones, Mo. Race

awgon Jones, N.C. Randall
Delaney Karsten Redlin
Denton Karth Rees
Derwinski Kastenmeler Reid, 1.
Devine Kee Reid, N.Y.

. Diggs Keith Reuss

Dole Kelly Rhodes, Ariz.
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Rhodes, Pa.
Rivers, Alaska
Robison
Rodino
Rogers, Colo.
Rogers, Fla.
Rogers, Tex.
Ronan
Roncalio
Rooney, Pa.
Rosenthal
Roudebush

Ryan
Satterfield
Schisler
Schmidhauser
Schneebeli
Schweiker
Secrest
Selden
Shipley

Shriver

Sikes

Sisk

Skubitz
Slack

Smith, Calif.
Smith, Iowa
Smith, N.Y.
Bmith, Va.
Stafford
Staggers
Stanton
Stephens
Stratton
Stubblefield
Sullivan
Taylor
Teague, Calif.
Teague, Tex.
Tenzer
Thompson, Tex.
Thomson, Wis.
Todd

NAYS—O0

Tuck
Tunney
Tuten
Udall
Ullman
TUtt

Vanik
Vigorito
Vivian
‘Waggonner
‘Walker, N. Mex.
Watts
Weltner
White, Idaho
White, Tex.
Whitener
Widnall
‘Wolff
‘Wright
Wydler
Yates
Young
Younger

NOT VOTING—141

Abernethy
Annunzio
Ashiey

Bell

Berry
Bingham
Blatnik
Bolling
Bolton
Brooks
Brown, Calif.
Broyhill, N.C.
Burleson
Burton, Calif.
Cabell
Burton, Utah
Callaway
Cameron
Celler

Clevenger
Cohelan
Colmer
Conyers
Daniels

de la Garza
Dent
Dickinson
Dingell
Dorn

Dow
Duncan, Oreg.
Dwyer

Dyal
Edmondson
Edwards, Ala.
Ellsworth
Everett
Evins, Tenn.
Fallon
Farbstein
Farnum
Fino

Flynt
Fogarty
Foley

Ford, Gerald R.
Fraser
Frelinghuysen
Giaimo
Gilbert
Grabowski
Greigg
Grider
Gurney
Hagan, Ga.
Hanna
Hardy
Hawkins
Hébert
Helstoski
Holifield
Holland
Hosmer
Howard
Hutchinson
Irwin
Jarman
Jennings
Kornegay
Krebs
Landrum
Leggett
Love
McDowell
McMillan
McVicker
Macdonald
Mackay
Martin, Ala.
Martin, Mass.
Martin, Nebr.
Mathias
Matsunaga
Miller
Minish
Mink
Morrison
Morse
Morton
Moss
Multer
Murray

Nix

O’Neal, Ga.
O’Neill, Mass.
Pelly

Pool

Powell
Purcell

Reinecke
Resnick
Rivers, 8.C.
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Roberts
Rooney, N.Y.
Rostenkowskl
Roybal
8t Germain
St. Onge
Saylor
Scheuer
Scott
Senner
Sickles
Springer”
Stalbaum
Steed
Sweeney
Talcott
Thomas
Thompson, N.J.
Toll
‘Trimble
Tupper
Van Deerlin
‘Walker, Miss.
Watkins
‘Watson
‘Whalley
Whitten
Willlams
Willis
Wilson, Bob
Wilson,
Charles H.
Wyatt
Zablockl

So (two-thirds having voted in favor
thereof) the rules were suspended and
the bill was passed.

The Clerk announced the following

pairs:

Mr. Rooney of New York with Mrs. Bolton.
Mr. Multer with Mr. Fino.
Mr. Fogarty with Mr. Gerald R. Ford.
Mr. Miller with Mr. Don H. Clausen.

Mr. Cohelan with Mr. Talcott.
. Annunzio with Mr. Pelly.
% Griegg with Mr. Broyhill of North
Carolina.
Mr. Love with Mr. Callaway.
Mr. Gilbert with Mr. Tupper.
Mr. O'Neill of Massachusetts with Mr.
Morse.
Mr. Matsunaga with Mr. Gurney.
Mr. Dyal with Mr. Bob Wilson.
Mr. Morrison with Mr. Martin of Massa-
chusetts.
.Mr. Holifleld with Mr. Hosmer.
Mr. Thompson of New Jersey with Mrs.
Dwyer. .
Mr. Leggett with Mr. Reinecke.
Mr. Cameren with Mr. Del Clawson.
Mr. Burton of California with Mr. Bell.
Mr. Brown of California with Mr. Saylor.
Mr. Glaimo with Mr. Walker of Mississippl.
Mr. Roybal with Mr. Reifel.
Mr. Charles H. Wilson with Mr. Wyatt.
Mr. Hanna with Mr. Nix.
Mr. Moss with Mr. Mathlas.
Mr. Macdonald with Mr. Conyers.
Mr. St. Onge with Mr. Frelinghuysen.
Mr. O’'Neal of Georgla with Mr. Watson.
Mr. Fraser with Mr. Quie.
Mr. Grabowski with Mr. Morton.
Mrs. Mink with Mr. Rivers of South Caro-
lina.
Mr. Whitten with Mr. Steed.
Mr. Willlams with Mr. Scheuer.
Mr. Colmer with Mr. Resnick.
Mr. Abernethy with Mr. Dorn.
Mr. Burleson with Mr. Berry.
Mr. Stalbaum with Mr. Hawkins.
Mr. Jennings with Mr. Flynt.
Mr. Brooks with Mr. Holland.
Mr. Howard with Mr. Springer.
Mr. Hébert with Mr. Quillen.
Mr. Kornegay with Mr. Hutchinson.
Mr, Grider with Mr. Whalley.
Mr. Van Deerlin with Mr. Burton of Utah.
Mr. Trimble with Mr. Watkins.
Mr. Zablocki with Mr. Martin of Nebraska.
Mrs. Thomas with Mr. Edwards of Alabama.
Mr. Senner with Mr. Ellsworth.
Mr. Roberts with Mr. Martin of Alabama,.
Mr. Ashley with Mr. Bingham.
Mr, Jarman with Mr. Helstoskl,
Mr. Rostenkowskl! with Mr. Scott.
Mr. Sickles with Mr. Sweeney.
Mr. McDowell with Mr. Toll.
Mr. Pool with Mr. Farnum.
Mr. Evins of Tennesse¢ with Mr. Farbstein.
Mr. Edmondson with Mr. Dow.
Mr. Dent with Mr. Dingell.
Mr, Celler with Mr. Clevenger.
Mr, Daniels with Mr. Powell.
Mr. Purcell with Mr. Minish.
Mr. Everett with Mr. Fallon.
Mr. Foley with Mr. de la Garza.
Mr. Cabell with Mr. Irwin,
Mr. Blatnik with Mr. St Germain.
Mr. Mackay with Mr. McMillan.
Mr. Landrum with Mr, Krebs. !
Mr. McVicker with Mr. Willis. :
Mr. Duncan of Oregon with Mr. Hardy,

The result of the vote was announced
as above recorded.

‘The doors were opened.

A motion to reconsider was laid on the
table.
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APPENDIX II
H.R. 11765

INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF CERTAIN
STRADDLE TRANSACTIONS
(Sec. 210 of Public Law 89-809)
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IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

OcroBer 22,1965

Mr. Krocur introduced the following bill; which was referred to the Com-
mittee on Ways and Means

A BILL

To amend section 1234 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-
2 tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
3 That section 1234 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954,
4 relating to options, is amended as follows:

o Subsection (c) 1is redesignated as subsection (d) and
6 the following new subsection (c) is added at the end of sub-
7 section (b):

8 “(c) SrrciAL RULE FOR CREATORS OF STRADDLES.—
9 “(1) Gax oN LAPSE.—In the case of gain on lapse
10 of an option that was granted as part of a straddle (as
11 defined in paragraph 2), the gain shali be deemed to .
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1 be gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held
2 for less than six months on the day that the option
3 expires.
4 “(2) DEFINITIONS.—
9 “(A) TFor purposes of this section a ‘straddle’
6 is defined as a combination of an option to buy and
7 an option to sell, giving the holder the right to both
8 buy and sell a specified quantity of a security at a
9 fixed price for a stated period of time.
10 “(B) For purposes of this paragraph ‘security’
11 shall not include contracts to buy or sell commod-
12 ities.
13 “(3) ExoLUSION oF DEALERS.—This subsection
14 shall not apply to any person who holds securities for
15 sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or
16 business.”
17 EFFECTIVE DATE
18

Sec. 2. This Act shall apply to options granted after
19 January 25, 1965.
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STAFF REPORT ON INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF INCOME
RESULTING FROM LAPSE OF OPTIONS WRITTEN AS PARTS
OF STRADDLES

PART ONE—INTRODUCTION

A “straddle” is a combination of an option to buy (a “call”’) and
an option to sell (a “put”) a specified amount of a certain security at
a fixed price for a stated period of time.

In a ruling (Rev. Rul. 65-31) issued on January 22, 1965, the
Internal Revenue Service held that the premium for a straddle must be
allocated between its component parts on the basis of relative market
values. Under the ruling, the portion of the premium received by
the writer (the person who grants the options) for the component
that is exercised is to be taken into account by him as a reduction in
his basis for the security purchased (‘“put” to the option writer) or as
a part of the amount realized on the security sold (‘“called’”” from him).
As a result, this portion of the premium can either increase the capital
gain or decrease the capital loss realized upon the sale or exchange
of the security.! This can be either a long- or short-term gain or loss
depending upon the period of time the security was held. Under the
revenue ruling, the remaining portion of the premium, attributable to
the expired component of the straddle, constitutes ordinary income.
. This ruling, which applied prospectively only, to straddle transactions
entered into on or after January 26, 1965, is set forth as appendix I to
this report.

In a technical information release (TTR-778) issued on Novem-
ber 15, 1965, the Internal Revenue Service determined that in the
case of straddle contracts involving corporate stock, 55 percent of the
ﬁremium may be allocated to the ‘“‘call” and 45 percent to the “put.” 2

owever, if this allocation is used, it must be used by the taxpayer in
allocating premiums on all straddle contracts issued on or after
January 26, 19652 Those who do so must attach a statement to
their Federal income tax returns so indicating. This release is set
forth as appendix II to this report.

. On January 27, 1965, Congressman Wilbur D. Mills, chairman, and

Senator Harry F. Byrd, vice chairman, of the Joint Committee on
Internal Revenue Taxation, instructed the staff of the joint committee
to study any problems raised with respect to the January ruling on
straddles and to present comments and suggestions to the committee
with respect to it. The public announcement of these instructions is

1 Jfthe taxpayer is a dealer in securities, the gain will be an ordinary gain unless the provisions of section

1236 of the code are complied with, See section 1236(b) for treatment of losses.
2 The Internal Revenue Service indicated that since the market values of ‘“‘puts” and **calls’” aré subject

to price fluctuations, it may be necessary for the Service to adjust this allocation ratio periodicallfé
:‘ﬁlthough TIR-778 is not clear on this point, it seems that election is to be made for 1 taxable year at
a time.
1
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set forth as appendix IIT to this report. More recently, at its meetin
on October 21, 1965, the committee directed the staff to prepare an
release a report on this subject. Incompliance with these directions,
the staff has prepared this report setting forth comments and sugges-
tions for legislation on the tax treatment of straddles. The Treasury
Department staff has worked with the Joint Committee staff on this
report but the Treasury Department has as yet taken no official
position on the suggestions contained herein.
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PART TWO—BACKGROUND: FACTUAL SETTING* AND
PRIOR LAW AND PRACTICE ' '

The option to purchase or sell specified property at a stated price
for a given period of time has long been used for planning in many
fields of endeavor. One variation of this device which has become
standard in the securities field is the combination of an option to buy
and an option to sell a specified amount of a certain security at a
fixed price for a stated period of time. This combination of an
option to buy and an option to sell is known as a ‘“‘straddle”.® Nor-
mally, the price at which either or both of the options in a straddle
may be exercised is the market price of the stock at the time the
straddle is written.® )

Th((ai{)erson who issues (or grants) a straddle is known as the “writer.”
Straddles are normally granted to brokers or dealers who specialize
in such transactions and who almost always sell the component parts
of the straddles to different purchasers.” The rights granted in’ each
option are normally exercised, if at all, shortly before the end of the
term for which the straddle is written.® Which component option 1s
exercised will depend upon the market conditions at the time of
exercise vis-a-vis market conditions at the time the straddle was
written.” The “call” (the option to purchase from the straddle
writer) is likely to be exercised if the market in that security has
risen, while the “put” (the option to sell to the straddle writer) is
likely to be exercised if the market has fallen. In rare cases,'’® where
the price of a security has fluctuated to a great extent, both com-
ponent options may be exercised. Where the market price of the
security at the end of the option term is approximately the same as
the price for which the option was granted, it may happen that
neither component of the straddle will be exercised.

The majority of puts and calls originate as straddles.”! Although
the use of puts and calls is not a new development in the securities
field,’? the total number of shares covered by options sold in any one
year from 1937 through 1960 rarely exceeded 1 percent of the total
number of shares sold on the New York Stock Exchange that year.’®
The number of shares covered by options sold in June 1959 consti-
tuted only 2.2 percent of the total number of shares sold on the New
York and American Stock Exchanges of the 50 issues as to which the
most options were written in June 1959. Options appear to be an
even smaller factor in the market for less active issues.™

4 Much of the material presented in this part was derived from the "Reporf on Put and Call Options,”
areport published in August 1961 by the Securities and Exchange Commission, on the basis of an extensive
study by the SEC’s Division of Trading and Exchangds; hereinafter referred to as “SEC Report.”

5 During June 1959, the period selected in the SEC Report for its intensive study, “more straddles were
written than-any other type of option.” SEC Report, p. 6; see pp. 15, 31, 82, 33.

¢ SEC Report, p. 9.

7SEC Report, pp. 6, 10-14, 15-17, 56, 59, 65.

8 SEC Report, pp. 6, 47-49, 51.

¢ SEC Report, pp. 47, 50.

10 Less than 1 percent, according to SEC Report, p. 52. (See p. 15.)

u g{:rggdles supplied 66 percent of the puts and 60 percent of the calls during June 1959. SEC Report,
m:i The use of puts and calls originated in Europe more than 200 years ago. SEC Report, p. 9.

B SEC Report, pp. 19, 20, 22.

14 SEC Report, p. 35-37. o

15 Tn June 1959 the 87 most active issues on the New York Stock Exchange accounted for 57.2 percent of
the option volume in N'YSE stocks but only 39.7 percent of the total trading volume. In contrast, the 500

, the
least native issues accounted for only 3.6 percent of the option volume, but 9.7 percent of the total trading
volume. SEC Report pp. 43-44.

3
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4 INCOME TAX TREATMENT

It is clear that, although options have a number of possible uses by
sophisticated investors, they are in fact used primarily as a method
of investing by individuals with small amounts of money.!®

Before 1954, income from the writing of an option that lapsed was
treated as short-term capital gain. The statutory provision (sec.
117(2)(2) of the 1939 Code)' requiring such treatment was not in-
cluded in the 1954 Code.!®

It is understood that, before 1954, however, straddle writers gen-
erally allocated the entire straddle premium to the component option
that was exercised. This meant that, in practice, the gain from the
lapse of one option in a straddle was often treated as long-term capital

gain and many times was not recognized until a later taxable year. -

In the case of “calls,” the total straddle premium was treated as
increasing the amount received by the writer when the stock was
called from, i.e., sold by, him (and the “put” was allowed to lapse).
The total premium thereby increased his capital gain (or decreased
his capital loss, depending upon the circumstances of the individual
case). If the writer had held the stock more than 6 months, the gain
(or loss) would be long-term.

When the “put” was exercised (and the “call” was allowed to
lapse), the total straddle premium was treated as reducing the basis
ot the stock put to (i.e., sold to) the writer. He could transform the
total straddle premium-into long-term capital gain by holding the
stock for more than 6 months. If he sold the stock after the end of
the taxable year, he could thereby postpone taxation of the entire
straddle premium.!? :

This practice of allocating the entire premium to the option that
was exercised apparently was not then challenged by the Internal
Revenue Service. '

Tt is understood that from 1954 until the issuance of Rev. Rul. 65-31,
straddle writers continued to allocate the entire premium to the side
of the straddle that was exercised.® The practical effect of this was
to continue essentially the same treatment for straddles under the
1954 Code up to 1964 as existed in practice under the 1939 Code.*

It should be noted that prior to the issuance of Rev. Rul. 65-31,
neither the statute nor the regulations or rulings indicated whether
the premium for a straddle should be allocated between the two
options or allocated entirely to the option which was exercised. As
has been indicated, however, writers apparently did allocate the entire
premium to the option exercised and there is no evidence that, prior
to the ruling, the Treasury Department objected to allocations of
this type. : _

WBEG Report, pp. 42, 76-77.
1 SEC. 117. CAPITAL GAINS AND LOSSES.

. - - L]
(g) GAINS AND LosseEs FrRoM SHORT SALES, ETc.—For the purpose of this chapter—
. £ * * *

*
(2) gains and losses attributable to the failure to exercise privileges or options to buy or sell property
shall be considered as short-term capital gains or losses; * * *

18 However, sec. 1234 (a) and (b) of the 1954 Code provide that, where an option lapses, the purchaser of the
option is deemed to have sold property (the option) on the day the option lapsed. éo, if the option-is a
capital asset in the hands of the purchaser, he has a capital loss from the lapse and this loss may be either
long-term or short-term, depending upon his holding period for the option. .

(l“ S)ee Lucey and Bradley, “Iricome Tax Consequences of Investing in Puts and Calls,’”” 50 ABAJ 494, 496

964). i .

- 30 i

. 30 Ibid. :

" 21 The only difference between the early 1954 Code treatment and the 1939 Code treatment exists in the
relatively rare case where both the “put’’ and “‘call’”’ are allowed tolapse. Inthiscase,since there isnobasis
adjustment to make, the entire amount of the premium under the 1954 Code results in ordinary income
instead of the short-term capital gain treatment accorded under the 1939 Code.
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PART THREE—EFFECTS OF REVENUE RULING 65-31

Rev. Rul. 65-31 requires that the premium paid for a straddle be
allocated between its two component parts. This allocation is to be
made on the basis of the relative market values of the ‘“put’” and
the “call’”. The portion of the premium allocated to the straddle
component that lapses becomes ordinary income.

This result flows from the following portion of the ruling:

However, a ‘“straddle,” although commonly referred to as one contract embody-
ing both a “put’” and a “eall,” is, in fact, two separate option contracts. Each,
neither, or both may be sold or exercised, by the same or different persons. The
holder of a “put” or a “call’” written pursuant to a “straddle” contract has rights
and liabilities no greater or less than he would have had if a “‘put’”” and “‘call”’ were
purchased separately but simultaneously on the same terms. A “straddle’” con-
tract, accordingly, contains two separately identifiable options. See Bertha Silver-
man v. Alfons Landa et al., 200 Fed. Supp. 193 (1961), affirmed, 306 Fed. (2d)
422 (1962), where the court describes a ‘‘straddle’” at page 195 as follows:

“A ‘straddle’ consists of two separate options, one a ‘call’ and one a ‘put.
t}?oth”the ‘put’ and ‘call’ are identical as to stock, contract price and time expira-

101.

The ruling gave rise to two problems: (1) the method of allocating
a straddle premium between the put and the call element and (2) the
likelihood that, with any allocation, the writing of a single straddle
could well result in producing both ordinary income and capital loss
to the writer. ‘

A problem arises in allocating the straddle premium between the put
and the call elements because “puts’” and “calls’ are not traded on
stock exchanges. The price a put and call dealer will pay the writer
of a straddle is an individually negotiated price.”? Similarly the
price at which the dealer resells is a negotiated price. In addition,
to the writer, a straddle has certain characteristics which are different
from the characteristics of a simple ‘“put’ plus a simple ‘“call”. The
negotiation between the straddle writer and the broker is influenced
by, but does not equal, what each imagines to be the current fair value
Ofnazlal option to purchase and the current fair value of an option to
sell.

The difficulties in apportioning the straddle premium between its
two elements were recognized by the Treasury Department, and, on
November 15, 1965, the Internal Revenue Service, in TIR-778, pub-
lished Revenue Procedure 65-29. In this revenue procedure the
Internal Revenue Service announced that it would accept allocations
of straddle premiums in the ratio of 55 percent to the call and 45
percent to the put. This 55-45 ratio was selected because it repre-
sented a rounded approximation of relative market prices of separately
written “puts” and “calls” of the same length on securities of approxi-
mately equal price. The procedure concluded with the statement
that “If a taxpayer does not use this method for a taxable year, then

22 SEC Report, pp. 80, 83-95.

23 The SEC Report, pD. 8, 83, indicates that the average premium received by writers was $404 for a call,
$239 for a put, and $572 for a straddle. See exampleat p.16. (See pp. 86,87.)

5
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the allocation based on relative market values required by Revenue
Ruling 65-31 must be used.”

This “rule of thumb’’ seems to be an acceptable solution to the first
problem.

The second of the problems which have arisen as a result of the
ruling does not seem susceptible to an administrative resolution.
This stems from the fact that the writer of a straddle normally receives
different kinds of income or loss from his writing of straddles.

To illustrate these various types of income or loss assume first that
the market rises after the straddle is written and that the “call”’ is
exercised. If the straddle writer purchases stock to cover the “call”’
at the time of exercise, he will then suffer a loss to the extent the
market price (and his cost for the stock) exceeds the call price. This
loss is reduced (or possibly eliminated), however, by the straddle
premium. That part of the premium allocated to the “call” is
treated as an additional receipt from the sale of the called stock.
Thus, this income is taken into account in determining the loss on
the called stock. The result, in this case, may well be a short-term
loss. However, the portion of the premium resulting from the lapsed
option, is ordinary income under the 1954 Code.?* Thus, the straddle
writer could have ordinary income and capital loss resulting from the
writing of one straddle.

The same result would obtain if the market fell and the “put” was
exercised. If the market price falls more than the premium allocable
to the “put”, then the writer of the straddle who is required to pur-
chase stock at the price of the market when the straddle was written,
would be holding stock with a “built-in” capital loss. If he sells the
stock and thereby realizes this loss, in this case also he would have
both a capital loss and ordinary income arising from the writing of one
straddle.

Apart from the $1,000 per year deduction against income for capital
losses (sec. 1211(b) of the code), the capital loss could not be used
to offset ordinary income. Thus, even though the straddle writer may
suffer a net economic loss, he may nevertheless be required to pay
taxes on ordinary income derived from the straddle transaction.

# Asindicated above, it would have been short-term capital gain under the 1939 Code, and so could have
‘been netted against the other two types of straddle income.
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PART FOUR—POSSIBLE SOLUTION

It would appear that, in general, what originates as one transaction
should result in either a single taxable consequence or a set of taxable
consequences that may be netted against each other if some of those
consequences are profits and some are losses. Accordingly, the staff
explored the possibility of identifying the profits and losses attribu-
table to the writing of any one straddle. It was hoped that a
method could be provided for setting off such profits and losses
against each other. It soon became apparent that difficulties would
arise in determining the portion of gain or loss attributable to a
straddle in the event of the exercise of one component of the straddle.
Difficulties would arise in determining the price of a stock at the
moment the option was exercised; extensive records would have to be
kept; and a new category of income would be added to the existing
categories of ordinary income, long-term capital gains, short-term
capital gains, and section 1231 income.

On the other hand, it was concluded that an approach which modi-
fied the treatment of only the income resulting from lapse of an option
would present few of these difficulties. Much of the desired netting
effect could be accomplished by treating all the types of receipts from
the writing of straddles (premium income from lapsed options,
premium income from exercised options, and gain or loss from the
purchase or sale of securities at other than the current market price) as
ordinary income or as capital gains or losses. The capital gains or
losses alternative appears preferable because (1) it has long been
accepted that purchase and sale of securities by one who does not
hold securities for sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade
or business are capital transactions; (2) it is similarly accepted that
premium income from exercised options result in adjustments to
capital asset transactions; (3) a change in these rules with respect to
the gain or loss attributable to the straddle element that is exercised
(even if otherwise desirable) would result in substantial problems in
distinguishing, in the gain or loss from a sale or purchase, between
the straddle elements and the nonstraddle capital elements; (4)
purchasers of options are treated as sustaining capital losses when they
permit options to expire (sec. 1234, I.R.C. 1954); and (5) the 1939
Code (sec. 117(g)(2)) provided for capital gain treatment of option
lapse income. : :

The joint committee staff concluded that the problem described
above could probably best be dealt with by providing that income
derived from the lapse of an option written as a part of a straddle is
to be taxed as a short-term capital gain. Insofar as straddles are con-
cerned, this is similar to the treatment provided in section 117(g)(2)
of the 1939 Code.

This treatment achieves the primary purpose of permitting the
netting of different kinds of income or losses arising from a straddle,
since short-term capital gains are first offset against short-term capital
losses.and, to the extent of any excess still remaining, are next offset
against net long-term capital losses. Thus, should the portion of the
straddle premium allocated to the part of the straddle exercised give

7
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rise to either short- or long-term capital losses, there will be an oppor-
tunity for netting against this loss any income obtained from the side
of the straddle allowed to lapse. In addition, treating the premium
income attributable to the lapse as a short-term.capital gain will still
mean that after netting against capital losses—either short-term or
long-term—any excess gain still remaining will be treated in the same
manner as ordinary income since this is the treatment uniformly
accorded any such excess of short-term capital gains over capital
losses. This, therefore, while generally providing for the netting
with respect to the two sides of the straddle, still maintains the position
of the Internal Revenue Service (as reflected in its ruling) that income
from the lapse of a portion of a straddle option represents ordinary
income.

By comparison with the practice prior to January 1965, this sugges-
tion (combined with allocation of premiums between the components
of straddles) would result in some shifting from long-term capital
gain to short-term capital gain and in earlier recognition (and therefore
earlier subjection to tax) of option-lapse income. By comparison
with the rules in effect since January 1965, this proposal would result
in some earlier effective recognition of capital losses and their use to
offset option-lapse income otherwise taxable at ordinary rates.

The proposeg treatment of straddle option lapse income as short-
term capital gains would not apply to dealers—i.e., persons who hold
securities for sale to customers in the ordinary course of their trades
or businesses.

Since the problem that gave rise to the study—a single transaction
resulting in ordinary income which cannot be netted against a possible
capital loss from the same straddle—does not arise in the case of the
writing of separate options to buy or sell, it is suggested that any such
change be limited to income from the lapse of options that originate
as parts of straddles.

The problem which gave rise to this study centered about straddles
in issued stocks. However, such option devices are occasionally
used in bonds and, perhaps, convertible debentures, when issued
stocks, warrants, and similar securities. The same considerations
would seem to apply in the case of such property and it is believed
that the proposed treatment of straddle option lapse income probably
should apply to securities generally.

It is not clear whether the term ‘‘securities” includes commodities
futures.”® Since we hdave received no suggestion that Rev, Rul.
65-31 has created any problems regarding commodities futures, no
need is seen for applying proposed change to options on contracts to
buy such items.

Since Rev. Rul. 65-31 applies only to transactions entered into
after January 25, 1965, and since the staff study of the problems
arising out of the ruling began at about that time, it is SI‘Jﬁgested that
any legislation along the lines suggested probably sho apply to
straddles written after January 25, 1965. This will minimize the
number of changes in applicable law.

25 There appears to be a conflict on this point within the context of the “wash sales” provisions of section
1091 of the 1954 Code, the successor to section 118 of the 1939 Code. Compare Trenton Cotton 0Oil Co. v. Com-
missioner, 147 F. 2d 33, 36-37, 33 AFTR 610 (C.C.A. 6, 1945), holding that commodities futures are securities
for these purposes, with Corn Products Refining Co. v. Commissioner, 215 F. 2d 513, 516-517, 46 AFTR 528
(C.A. 2, 1954), affirmed on another point, 350 U.S. 46 (1955), holding that they are not.
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APPENDIX

ArpeNDIX I—REVENUE RULING 65-31%

For immediate release, Friday, January 22, 1965. TIR-683

The U.S. Internal Revenue Service today announced that the following revenue
ruling relating to the treatment of premiums received by taxpayers who write
‘“‘straddle” options will appear in Internal Revenue Bulletin No. 1965-9, dated

March 1, 1965:
Rev. Rul. 65-31

Since a ‘‘straddle’” contains two options (a “put’ option and a “call”
option) each of value, it is necessary to allocate the premium received by
the writer thereof to each option. The allocation of the premium should
be made on the baiss of the relative market value of the “put” and ‘‘call”
options contained therein, at the time of the issuance of the ‘‘straddle.”
A portion of the premium received by the writer for the option oontained in
the ‘“‘straddle” that was exercised is to be taken into account in determining
gain or loss on that transaction, while the portion of the premium which is
attributable to the expired option will be treated as ordinary income.

The Internal Revenue Service has been requested to state its position with
respect to the treatment for Federal income tax purposes of premiums received
by a taxpayer who writes “straddle” options where only one of the options con-
tained therein is exercised.

A “straddle” is a combination of a “put”’ and a “call”’ option on the same stock
or commodity, both options describing the same quantity at the same price that
the stock or commodity may be ‘‘called”’ from or ‘‘put’’ to the writer thereof.

A-“put” is an option to sell certain property, usually stock or commodities, to
the writer thereof at a designated price within a designated time. If a “put’ is
exercised, the premium the writer has received decreases his basis in the property
purchased (“put’” to him) from the optionee. (See Rev. Rul. 58-234, C.B.
1958-1, 279.)

A “call” is an option to buy certain property, usually stock or commodities,
from the writer thereof at a designated price within a designated time. If a
‘“call” is exercised, the premium the writer has received for writing the ‘‘call”’ is
added to the amount realized on sale of the ‘“‘called’”’ property to the optionee.
(See Rev. Rul. 58-234.)

If the optionee permits a ‘“put” or a ‘“call” to expire without exercise, the
premium the writer has received for the privilege of keeping an obligation open
is considered ordinary income (Sec. 1.1234-1(b) of the Income Tax Regulations).

The question presented is whether the premium received by the writer of a
“straddle” should be allocated by him wholly to the exercised option under
circumstances where one option is exercised and the other is not. If the correct
rule were that it should be allocated wholly to the exercised option and, for
example, the optionee exercised only the ‘‘put,” the entire premium received for
writing the ‘“‘straddle” would reduce the writer’s cost basis in the property ‘“put”
to him. Conversely, if the ‘“call’”’ were the only option exercised, the premium
received for writing the ‘“‘straddle’” would be added to the amount realized on the
property ‘called”’ from him.

owever, a ‘‘straddle,”” although commonly referred to as one contract
embodying both a “put’” and a “call,” is, in fact, two separate option contracts.
Each, neither, or both may be sold or exercised, by the same or different persons.
The holder of a “put’’ or a “call’” written pursuant to a “straddle’” contract has
rights and liabilities no greater or'less than he would have had if a “put’ and
“call” were purchased separately but simultaneously on the same terms. A
“straddle’” contract, accordingly, contains two separately -identifiable options.
See Bertha Silverman v. Alfons Landa et al., 200 Fed. Supp. 193 (1961), affirmed,

*Printed at 1965~1 Cumulative Bulletin 365.
9
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30]? Fed. (2d) 422 (1962), where the court describes a “straddle’” at page 195 as
follows:

“A ‘straddle’ consists of two separate options, one a ‘call’ and one a ‘put.’
Both’ ,the ‘put’ and ‘call’ are identical as to stock, contract price and time expira-
tion.

In view of the above, it is necessary to allocate the premium received for
writing the “straddle’” contract to the “put’’ option and to the “call’”’ option. The
allocation of the premium should be made on the basis of the relative market
values, at the time of the issuance of the ‘straddle,” of the ‘“put” and ‘‘call”
options contained therein.

Accordingly, if the “call” is exercised and the “put” is not, the amount of the
premium properly allocable to the “put’” would be considered ordinary income
to the writer; conversely, if the ‘“put’” were exercised and the “call’’ were not, the
amount of premium properly allocable to the “call” would be considered ordinary
income to the writer. Naturally, if both options are exercised the amount of the
premium allocated to the ‘“‘call” option would be added to the amount realized
on the sale of the property ‘“called” from the writer, and the amount of the
premium allocated to the ‘“‘put’” option would reduce the cost basis of the property
purchased by (“put’” to) the writer. Also, if neither option is exercised the
amount of premium received by the writer constitutes ordinary income. .

Pursuant to the authority contained in section 7805(b) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1954, this revenue ruling will be applied prospectively only with respect
to a “straddle’” transaction entered into on or after Tuesday, January 26, 1965.
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ApPENDIX II—REVENUE PROCEDURE 65-29
For release Monday, November 15, 1965 . TIR-778

The U.S. Irternal Revenue Service today announced that the followixig revenue
. procedure will appear in Internal Revenue Bulletin 1965-48, dated November

29,1965

IR : Rev. Proc. 65-29
Guidelines for allocating the premium received by writers of “straddle” con-

tracts with respect to corporate stock. :

SECTION 1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this revenue procedure is to furnish taxpayers with a guide for
allocating the premium received by writers of “straddle’”’ contracts with respect to
corporate stock.
co SECTION 2. BACKGROUND _

- Revenue Ruling 65-31, I.R.B. 1965-9, 26, requires that the premium received
by a writer of a ‘straddle” with respect to corporate stock be allocated between
the “put” option and the ‘“call” option contained therein, on the basis of the
relative market values at the time of the issuance of the “‘straddle.”

SECTION 3. ALLOCATION OF PREMIUM

..01 . In the interest of uniform application of Revenue Ruling 65-31 the Reve-
nue Service has determined with respect to “straddle” contracts involving
corporate stock that 55 percent of the premium may be allocated to the “call”
option and 45 percent of the premium to the ‘“‘put’ option. Since the market
values of “puts” and ‘“‘calls” are subject to price fluctuation, it may be neces-
sary- for the. Revenue Service to adjust this allocation ratio periodically.

. .02 The Revenue Service will accept an allocation on this basis for all such
“straddle” transactions entered into on or after January 26, 1965 (the effective
date of Revenue Ruling 65-31), provided the ratio or ratios determined by the
Revenue Service are used by the taxpayer in allocating premiums on all such
“straddle’” contracts issued on or after such date.

.~ .03, . Option writers deciding to use the.allocation method provided in this rev-
enue. procedure must attach a statement to their Federal income tax returns so
indicating. If a taxpayer does not use this method for a taxable year, then the
alloctatéion bgsed on relative market values required by Revenue Ruling 65-31

* must be used.

n
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AppENDIX III—PRrEss RELEASE OF JoINT COMMITTEE ON INTERNAL REVENUB
TAXATION o

For the press, for immediate release Wedhesd#y, January 27, 1965

CrAIRMAN WILBUR D. MirLs AND ViceE-CHAIRMAN HARRY F. BYrp ANNOUNCE
TaaT STAFF OF JOINT COMMITTEE ON INTERNAL REVENUE TAXATION WiLn
(S)TUDY New IRS RELEASE ON TAX TREATMENT OF WRITERS OF “STRADDLE"

PTIONS .

Congressman Wilbur D. Mills, chairman of the Joint Committee on Internal
Revenue Taxation, and Senator Harry F. Byrd, vice chairman, in ajoint state-
ment released today, state that questions have been raised with respect to & newly
jssued technical information release of the Internal Revenue Service dealing with
the taxation of the income of writers of straddle options. The staff of the Joint
Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation has been instructed to study the situa-
tion created by the new TIR and to give comments and suggestions to the
committee with respect to it.

A “straddle” is a combination of an option to sell stock (usually referred to as
a “put”) and an option to buy stock (usually referred to as a “call”). Under the
new TIR, the taxpayers who grant (or “write”) a straddle option must divide
the premium they receive between the two parts of the option. . One part of the
option ordinarily expires unexercised and the premium assigned to this part of
the option will be regarded as ordinary income under the TIR. The premium
allocated to the other part of the option is treated as an adjustment to the basis
of the stock sold or acquired pursuant to the option. Thus, if the put were
exercised, this portion of the premium would reduce the cost to the writer -of the
stock sold to him and if the call were exercised the premium allocated’to the call
would increase the price he received on the sale of the stock. In either case, the
other part of the premium would be regarded as ordinary income.

If the stock subject to the straddle went down more than the amount of the
premium allocated to the put, the taxpayer would have ordinary income from the
expiration of the call and a potential capital loss on the stock that was put to him,
In a series of such transactions, the taxpayer might have an overall loss but would
be regarded as having ordinary income that could not be reduced by his capital
loss in excess of $1,000.

Tt has been the practice of most taxpayers who write straddles to allocate their
entire premium to the side of the option that was exercised so that the entire gain
or loss on the transaction would be capital gain or loss. Whether the gain or loss
was long term or short term would depend on how long the stock was held.

12

- 2138




Union Calendar No. 958
2z H, R. 11765

[Report No.2174]

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

OcroBrr 22,1965
Mr. Kroer introduced the following bill; which was referred to the Com-
mittee on Ways and Means
OcroBrr 3, 1966
Reported with an amendment, committed to the Committee of the Whole House
on the State of the Union, and ordered to be printed

[Strike out all after the enacting clause and insert the part printed in italic]

A BILL

To amend section 1234 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.
Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-
tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,
Thet seetion 1234 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954;
relating to options; is amended as follows:
Subseetion (e} is redesignated as subseetion {d} and
section: fh -
“{1) 6amy o TAPSE—In the ease of gain on lapse
of an option that swas granted as part of o straddle {as
defined in peragraph 2); the gain shall be deemed to
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expires:

£{2) PerpaTroNs—

A} For purposes of this seetion & ‘straddle”
is defined as & eombination of an option to buy and
an option to sell; giving the holder the right to both
buy&ndseﬂ}aspeeiﬁe&q&aﬂﬁt-yeﬁ&seeaﬁty&t&
fixed priee for o stated period of times
shall net include eontracts to buy or sell eommeod-
“{3) ExertsioN oF PEALERS—Fhis subseetion

sale to eustomers in the ordinary eourse of his trade or

business="

EFPECTIVE DATE

Spe. 2: This Aet shall apply to options granted after
Jenuary 26; 1965:
That section 1234 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (re-
lating to options) is amended by redesignating subsection (c)
as subsection (d) and by inserting after subsection (b) the
following new subsection :

“(c) SPECIAL RULE FOR GR./;.NTORS OF STRADDLES.—

“(1) G4IN ON LAPSE.—In the case of gain on lapse
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of an option granted by the taxpayer as part of a straddle,
the gain shall be deemed to be gain from the sale or ex-
change of a capital asset held for not more than 6 months
on the day that the option expired.

“(2) ExXCLUSION OF DEALERS.—This subsection
shall not apply to any person who holds securities for sale
to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or busi-
ness.

“(3) DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this subsec-
tion—

“(A) The term ‘;straddle’ means a simultane-
ously granted combination of an option to buy, and
an option to sell, the same quantity of a security at
the same price during the same period of time.

“(B) The term ‘security’ has the meaning as-
signed to such term by section 1236(c).”

SEc¢. 2. The amendments made by the first section of this
Aet shall apply to straddle transactions entered into after

January 25, 1965, in taxable years ending after such date.
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891 CONGRESS HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES REePORT
2d Session No. 2174

INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF CERTAIN STRADDLE
TRANSACTIONS

OcroBER 3, 1966.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the
State of the Union and ordered to be printed °

Mr. Miuts, from the Committee on Ways and Means, submitted
the following '

REPORT

[To accompany H.R. 11765]

The Committee on Ways and Means, to whom was referred the
bill (H.R. 11765) to amend section 1234-of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1954, having considered the same, report favorably thereon
with an amendment and recommend that the bill as amended do pass.

The amendment strikes out all after the enacting clause and inserts
a substitute text which appears in the reported bill in italic type.

I. SUMMARY

A “straddle” is a combination of an option to buy and an option
to sell a predetermined amount of a specified security at a fixed price
for a limited period of time. The two component options are identical
as to the security involved, the amount and price to which the options
apply, and the length of time the options are available. The Internal
Revenue Service requires the premium received for the straddle to be
apportioned between these two component options. As a result, in
the usual case where one option is exercised and the other is allowed
to lapse, part of the premium (attributable to the lapsed option)
gives rise to ordinary income, while the other part (attributable to
the exercised option) becomes an adjustment in the cost or price of
the security purchased or sold resulting in either an increase in a
capital gain or a decrease in a capital loss. It is possible, therefore,
for a single straddle transaction to give rise to both ordinary income
an}(li a capital loss, which it may not be possible to net against each
other.

This bill provides that the income from the lapse of an option which
originated as part of a straddle is to be treated as a short-term capital
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t

gain (instead of ordinary income). This permits it to be netted
against any capital loss which may result from the exercise of the other
option in the straddle while retaining what in most respects is ordi-
nary income treatment for any excess of net short-term capital gain
over net long-term capital loss. '

This bill is reported unanimously by your committee and the
Treasury Department has indicated that it does not object to its

enactment.
II. NATURE OF STRADDLES!

Straddles are one form of an option; namely, an offer both to pur- 3
chase and to sell a specified amount of property at a stated price for
a limited period of time. Options to sell securities are known as’
“puts”—i.e., the purchaser of the option can “‘put” his shares to the
writer or issuer of the option at the stated price. Options to pur-
chase are known as “calls”—i.e., the purchaser of the option can
“call” the shares from the writer at the stated price. A “straddle”
is & combination of a put and call, with respect to the same security,
for the same quantity, at the same purchase or sale price and avail-
able for the same period of time.

Straddles are likely to be written by persons with holdings of a
security who believe that in the long run, the price of the stock will
not vary greatly from its present price. Their inducement for writing
the straddle is the receipt of a premium. Straddles generally are
granted to brokers or dealers who, in turn, customarily sell the put
and call components to different purchasers. The majority of puts
and calls originate in straddles. While the use of puts and calls is
not a new development in the securities markets, their significance
in the securities markets is relatively limited; for example, the total
number of shares covered by options sold in recent years on the New
Y(l)(ll'k Stock Exchange has rarely exceeded 1 percent of the total shares
sold. :

Normally either (not both) the put or the call component of the
straddle is exercised by the purchaser shortly before the end of the
term for which the straddle is written. Frequently this is 6 months
and 10 days after the straddle is issued. Which component of the
straddle is exercised depends upon the market conditions at the time of
exercise vis-a-vis market conditions at the time the straddle was
written. If the market in that security has risen, the securities are
likely to be “called” from the writer; if the market has fallen, the stock
is likely to be “put” to the writer. While in the great majority of the
cases, one component of the straddle is exercised and the other is
allowed to lapse, occasionally (perhaps 10 to 15 percent of the time)
neither option is exercised and in a few other cases (less than 1 percent
of the cases) both components of the straddle are exercised.

Although’ options are purchased for hedging and other similar
purposes by some investors, their primary use probably is asa method
of investing by individuals with small amounts of money.

1 Much of the material presented in this part was derived from the “Report on Put and Call Options,”
a report published in August 1961 by the Securities and Exchange Commission, on the basis of an extensive
study by the SEC’s Division of Trading and Exchanges. .
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III. DEVELOPMENT OF PRESENT TAX TREATMENT

Under the 1939 code, premium income received from the writing
of an option which had lapsed was treated as a short-term capital
gain (sec. 117(g)(2) of the 1939 code). However, until the issuance
of a revenue ruling in 1965 (Revenue Ruling 65-31) straddle writers
generally allocated the entire straddle premium to the component
option which was exercised, and this practice apparently was not
challenged by the Internal Revenue Service prior to the issuance of
the ruling. Since one component or the other of a straddle is exer-
cised in the bulk of the cases, the fact that the premium in the case
of the lapse of an option was treated as short-term capital gain was
of relatively little significance. The important aspect was the treat-
ment of the premium in connection with the portion of the straddle
which was exercised.

If all of the premium is allocated to the component which is exer-
cised and this is the “put,” the premium decreases the cost or basis
of the stock put to the writer of the straddle. As a result, it would
increase his capital gain only when he disposed of the stock put to
him. Generally, this would result in a long-term capital gain (unless
he held the stock for less than 6 months). Where the call component
is exercised and all of the straddle premium is allocated to it, the
premium would increase the income received by the writer at the time
the stock is called from (i.e., sold by) him. As a result in this case
also, the total premium increases the writer’s capital gain (or decreases
his capital loss) and if the writer had held the stock for more than
6 months, the gain (orloss) would be long term.

The 1939 code provision treating income from the lapse of an option
as a short-term capital gain was not included in the 1954 code. As a
result, where both options are permitted to lapse, the total straddle
premium is now reported as ordinary income. However, in the usual
case whe-e one option lapsed and the other was exercised, the treat-
ment of allocating the straddle premium income to the side exercised
in practice remained unchanged.

In the ruling (Revenue Ruling 65-31) issued on January 22, 1965,
the Internal Revenue Service held that the premium for a straddle
must be allocated between its put and call components on the basis
of the relative market values of each. In a later technical informa-
tion release, the Service announced that it would accept allocations
of 55 percent of each straddle premium to the call component and 45
percent to the put component.?

Under the ruling, part of the premium arising from the writing of a
single straddle can result in ordinary income (the portion of the
premium allocated to the lapsed component) while the remaining
portion of the premium may result in either a capital gain or a capital
loss, which in the usual case will be a long-term gain or loss.

IV. REASONS FOR THE BILL

The difficulty with the present tax treatment of premium income
from the writing of straddles lies in the fact that by dividing the pre-

2 Rev. Proc. 65-29, issued on Nov. 15,1965. This 55-45 ratio was selected b it repre: d a rounded
approximation of relative market prices of separately written “‘puts” and “calls” of the same length for
securities of approximately equal price. The revenue procedure concluded with the statement that “Ifa
taxpayer does not use this method for a taxable year, then the allocation based on relative market values
required by Revenue Ruling 65-31 must be used.”
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4 TAX TREATMENT OF CERTAIN STRADDLE TRANSACTIONS

mium income into two parts, one part may be reported as ordinary
income (the portion allocated to the lapsed option) while the other
portion may merely decrease a capital loss. Your committee believes
that it is hard to justify treating part of the transaction as resulting
in ordinary income, while the other portion gives rise to a capital loss
which cannot be offset (apart from the $1,000 per year deduction of
net capital losses against ordinary income) against ordinary income.

The problem can be illustrated by the following example. Assume
that a straddle writer issues a straddle for a stock when its price is
$100 a share and this is the option price. Assume that the straddle
premium is $8 per share. Assume further that the put component of
the straddle is exercised by the purchaser when the price of the stock
is $80 per share. As a result, the writer of the straddle must buy
stock at a price of $100 per share when its market value is $80 per
share. If the straddle premium allocable to the put component is
$3.60 per share, the short-term capital loss for the writer of the
straddle will be $16.40 per share if he disposes of the stock shortly
after receipt, when the market price is still $80 per share. At the same
time, the remainder of the straddle premium, $4.40 a share, is allo-
cated to the call component, which in such a case presumably was
allowed to lapse. The $4.40 per share would be ordinary income
while the capital loss of $16.40 a share attributable to the put side
of the option would result in a short-term capital loss, which, except
to the extent of the $1,000 a year, could not be netted with the ordinary
income attributable to the premium income of the other side of the
straddle.

The writer of the straddle in these cases is, of course, entering the
transaction in the hope of obtaining a profit; he naturally views the
transaction as a single one and cannot see why he must pay ordinary
income on a portion of the transaction while being denied full use of
his capital loss attributable to the other component of the transaction
(in those cases where he does not have capital gains sufficient to
offset his capital losses and his losses exceed the $1,000 which may be
offset against ordinary income). Moreover, the marketplace treats
the straddle as a single transaction in that a smaller premium is paid
for a straddle than for a separate put and call on the same stock,
since the combined risk involved is less. Additionally, the writer of
the straddle knows that in almost all cases, only one of the two
options in the straddle will be exercised. He views this as the side
for which he is being paid the premium.

Your committee agrees that it is desirable to provide for this netting
of a gain or loss arising from the two components of a straddle option.
Nevertheless, it appears appropriate where the transaction on a net
basis results in a gain, that the premium income result in ordinary
income. The netting of the two components in a straddle can be
achieved and still have any net premium gain result in what is essen-
tially ordinary income, by treating the premium income allocated to
the lapsed option as a short-term capital gain. Where this is done,
any capital loss from the straddle transaction attributable to the side
exercised (where the stock is disposed of in the same year in which the
lapse of the option occurs) can be offset against the short-term capital
gain attributable to the premium income from the side of the option
which lapsed. Should the short-term capital gain in such a case
exceed the capital loss, it will still be treated in essentially the same
manner as ordinary income.
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As a result, your committee’s bill provides that any gain on the
lapse of an option granted by a taxpayer as a part of the straddle
is to be treated as a short-term capital gain. This treatment is not
to be available, however, in the case of dealers (that is, persons who
hold securities for sale to customers in the ordinary course of their
trades or businesses). This treatment is made inapplicable in the
case of dealers because their security transactions in any event are
generally required to be treated as resulting in ordinary income.
This treatment is applied to securities and not to commodity futures
since there is no evidence that a problem has been created in this
latter area.

The change made by your committee’s bill applies to all straddle
transactions entered into after January 25, 1965, the effective date
of the ruling which first required the allocation of the straddle pre-
mium between the put and the call components.

V. EXPLANATION OF PROVISIONS

The bill inserts a new subsection (c¢) to section 1234 of the code.
The first paragraph of this new subsection provides that gain derived
from the lapse of an option written as a ]éart of a straddle (as defined
in new section 1234(c)(3)) is, in effect, to be short-term capital gain, as
defined in section 1222(1) of existing law. Thus, such gains will be
added to any other short-term capital gains, to be netted against short-
term capital losses, with the excess to be netted against any net long-
term capital losses. Any remaining short-term capital gains will
generally be taxed as ordinary income.

Paragraph (2) of the new section 1234(c) provides that this provision
does not apply to dealers. For this purpose, a dealer is a person who
holds securities (including options to acquire or sell securities) for
sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or business.

Paragraph (3) of the new subsection defines a “straddle” as a
simultaneously granted combination of an option to buy (a “call”)
and an option to sell (a “put”) the same quantity of a security at the
same price during the same period of time.

If a person grants a multiple option (a put plus a call plus one or
more additional puts or calls) it 1s intended that the grantor of the
multiple option must identify in his records which two of the compo-
nent options constitute the straddle, if it is not clear from the options
themselves. It is contemplated that the method of identification will
be specified in regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury or
his delegate. If there is no identification by the writer, this provision
relating to straddles is not to apply. As a result, in such a case the
gain on the lapsed option (or options) would result in ordinary income.

A corporate security for purposes of the definition of a straddle is
the same as defined in section 1236(c) of the code—i.e., stocks, bonds,
notes, etc. Accordingly, the term securities does not include com-
modities futures.

The amendments described above are to apply to straddles written
after January 25, 1965, in taxable years ending after such date.
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6 TAX TREATMENT OF CERTAIN STRADDLE TRANSACTiONS

VI. CHANGES IN EXISTING LAW MADE BY THE BILL,
AS REPORTED

In compliance with clause 3 of rule XIII of the Rules of the House
of Representatives, changes in existing law made by the bill, as re-
ported, are shown as follows (existing law proposed to be omitted is
enclosed in black brackets, new matter is printed in italics, existing
law in which no change is proposed is shown in roman) :

SECTION 1234 OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1954

SEC. 1234. OPTIONS TO BUY OR SELL

(a) TREATMENT oF GAIN oR Loss.—Gain or loss attributable to the
sale or exchange of, or loss attributable to failure to exercise, a
rivilege or option to buy or sell property shall be considered gain or
oss from the sale or exchange of property which has the same char-
acter as the property to which the option or privilege relates has in
the hands of the taxpayer (or would have in the hands of the tax-
payer if acquired by him).

(b) SpeciaL RuLE For Loss ATTRIBUTABLE TO FAILURE To ExEr-
- cisE OprioN.—For purposes of subsection (a), if loss is attributable
to failure to exercise a privilege or option, the privilege or option shall
be deemed to have been sold or exchanged on the day it expired.

(¢) Specrar Rure ror GRANTORS OF STRADDLES.—

(I) Gain ov rapse.—In the case of gain on lapse of an option
granted by the taxpayer as part of a straddle, the gain shall be deemed
to be gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset held for not
more than 6 months on the day that the option expired.

(2) Excrusion oF pEALERS.— This subsection shall not apply to
any person who holds securities for sale to customers in the ordinary
course of his trade or business.

(8) Derinirions.—For purposes of this subsection—

(A) The term ‘“straddle’” means a simultaneously granted
combination of an option to buy, and an option to sell, the same
q;(mntity of a security at the same price during the same period
of time. .

(B) The term “security’” has the meaning assigned to such
term by section 1236(c).

L[(¢)] (d) Non-AppricaTiON OF SEcTioN.—This section shall not
apply to—

(1) a privilege or option which constitutes property described in
paragraph (1) of section 1221;

(2) in the case of gain attributable to the sale or exchange of a
privilege or option, any income derived in connection with such priv-
llege or option which, without regard to this section, is treated as
other than gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset;

(3) a loss attributable to failure to exercise an option described in
section 1233(c); or ,

(4) gain attributable to the sale or exchange of a privilege or option
‘acquired by the taxpayer before March 1, 1954, if in the hands of the
taxpayer such privilege or option is a capital asset.
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[ October 11, 1966}
[P. 25026}

INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF CER-
TAIN STRADDLE TRANSACTIONS

Mr. MILLS. Mr. Speaker, I ask unan-
imous consent that the Committee of the
Whole Zouse on the State of the Union
be dischiarged from further considera-
tion of the bill HR. 11765 to amend
section 1234 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1954, which was reported to the House
unanimously by the Committee on Ways
and Means, and ask for its immediate
consiaeration.

Tre Clerk read the title of the bill.

Tie SPEAKER. Is there objection to
the request of the gentleman from Ar-
kansas?

Mr. CURTIS. Mr. Speaker, reserving
the right to object, and I shall not, I
should like to ask_ the chairman of
the committee to explain briefly the bill.

Mr. MILLS. Mr. Speaker, will the gen-
tleman yield?

Mr. CURTIS. Iyield to the gentleman
from Arkansas.

Mr. MILLS. Mr. Speaker, this bill,
H.R. 11765, is intended to permit the
netting of gains and losses resulting
from the granting of certain types of
options to buy and sell corporate stock.

The transactions I have referred to in
stock market parlance are known as
“straddles.” Briefly, a straddle is a com-
bination of an option to buy and an op-
tion to sell the same quantity of a secu-
rity at the same price during the same
period of time. The option to buy is
known as a “call.” The option to sell
is known as a “put.” Typically, the com-
bination—the straddle—is written by a
person who owns the stock and does not
believe that it is likely to fluctuate in
value very much over the long run. The
inducement to write the straddle is the
receipt of a premium for it. A straddle
is sold by the writer to a dealer, who then
normally separates out the component
options and sells the put—the option to
sell to the writer—to one investor and
the call—the option to purchase from
the writer—to another investor. Nor-
mally, if the market in that security
moves upward, the call is exercised and
the put option is allowed to lapse. If the
market in that security moves down-
~ ward, then the put is apt to be exercised
and the call allowed to lapse. Some-
times—generally about 10 to 15 percent
of the time—the movement in the stock
is so slight that neither option holder
exercises his option. Rarely—less than 1
percent of the time—the stock fluctuates
-so much that both component options are
exercised. This bill is intended to have
its primary effect in the overwhelming
majority of the cases—where one com-
ponent option is exercised and the other
is not.

Under the 1939 Internal Revenue Code
and under the 1954 code until January

“1965, it was the usual practice for the
writer of a straddle to treat the entire
premium as either an increase in the
amount received for the stock when the
call was exercised, or as a decrease in
the writer’s cost of the stock when the
put was exercised. As a result, the pre-
mium merely increased a capital gain or
decreased a capital loss.

Under a ruling issued in January in
1965, the Internal Revenue Service has
been requiring the writer of a straddle
to apportion his premium between the
put option and the call option. That
part of the premium allocated to the
option that ultimately is exercised would
continue, as in the past, to either increase
the writer’s capital gain or decrease his
capital loss. The part of the premium
allocated to the option that ultimately
lapses is treated as ordinary income.
Consequently, a single straddle transac-
tion now might well result in the writer
realizing both ordinary income and a
capital loss. Since net capital losses can
be used to offset ordinary income only
to the extent of $1,000 a year, a writer's
straddles transactions may well result in
both ordinary income and capital losses
which could not be netted against each
other.

Straddles are viewed by those who
write them as giving rise to a single
transaction. This seems to be borne
out.by the facts in these cases, for exam-
ple, the premium received by the writer
of the straddle is less than the premium
received by the writer of an option to
buy plus a completely separate option
to sell. Also, the stock exchange com-
pany that endorses the option—guaran-
tees that it will be honored if it is ex-
ercised—will require considerably less
collateral from the writer of a straddle
than it will from the writer of a sepa-
rate option to buy and a separate option
to sell.

Because of this combination of char-
acteristics, the Ways and Means Com-
mittee concluded that some method
ought to be found to permit the gains
and losses resulting from the straddle
transactions to be netted against each
other.

This bill permits just such netting by
treating the option lapse income in these
cases as short-term capital gains. Since
all the gains and losses from a straddle
would be capital gains and losses, they
could be netted gainst each other. How-
ever, any net profits would normally re-
sult in short-term capital gains, and
would be taxed generally as ordinary
income.

The problem giving rise to this bill
was examined by the staff of the Joint
Committee on Internal Revenue Taxa-
tion at the request of former' Senator
Harry F. Byrd and myself, in our ca-
pacities as vice chairman and chairman
last year of the joint committee. The
requested’ study was announced in a
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press release dated January 27, 13965.
This staff has consulted with Treasury
staff on this bill. This bill, reported
unanimously by the Ways and Means
Committee, is consistent with the sug-
gestions of the joint committee staff;
and the Treasury does not object to the
bill.

The joint committee staff report on
this bill stated:

Since Rcv. Rul. 65-31 applies only o trans-
actions entered into after January 25, 1965,
and since the staff study of the problems
arising out of the ruling began at about
that time, it is suggested that any legisla-
tion along the lines seuggested probably
should apply to straddles written after Janu-
ary 25, 1965. This will minimize the number
of changes in applicable law.

This bill specifically adopts that sug-
gestion.

This bill is not expected to have any
appreciable effect on revenues. How-
ever, this bill will bring the tax laws Into
grcater conlormity with the economic
consideration.s that move people {c write
siraddles and buy options. It wili rem-
edy an unfair quirk in the tax laws. I3
should be adopted.

Mr. CURTIS. Mr. Speaker, I thank
iihe gentieman. I withdraw my reserva-

on.

[P. 25027]

The SPEAXER. Is there objection to
the request of the gentleman from
Arkansas?

There was no objection.

The Clerk read the bill, as follows:

H.R. 11765

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of
Representatives of the United Staies of
America in Congress assembled, That section
1234 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954,
relating to options, is amended as follows:

Subsection (c) is redesignated as subsec-
tion (d) and the following new subsection
(c) is added at the end of subsection (b).

“(c) SPECIAL RULE FOR CREATORS OF
STRADDLE.—

“(1) Gaix oN rAPsE—In the case of gain
on lapse of an option that was granted as
part of a straddle (as defined in paragraph
2), the gain shall be dcemed to be gain
ifrom .the sale or exchange of a capital asset
held for less than six months on the day
that the option expires.

“(2) DulriINITIONS.—

“(A) For purposes of this section a ‘strad-
dle’ is defined as a combination of an option
to buy and an option to sell, giving the
hoider the right to both buy and sell a speci-

fied quantity of a security at a fixed price
for a stated period of time.

“(B) For purposes of this paragraph ‘secu-
rity’ shall not include contracts to buy or
sell commodities.

*(3) EXCLUSION OF DEALERS.—This subsec-
tion shall not apply to any person who holds
securities for sale to customers in the ordi-
nary course of his trade or business.”

EFFECTIVE DATE

Sec. 2. This Act shall apply to options
granted after January 25, 1965.

With the following committee amend-
ment:

Strike out all after the enacting clause
and insert the following:

“That section 1234 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1954 (relating to options) is amend-
ed by redesignating subsection (¢) as subsec-
tion (d) and by inserting after subsection
(b) the following new subsection:

‘“‘(c) Specia. RULE ¥OR GRANTORS OF
STRADDLES.—

‘(1) GAIN ON LAPsE.—In the case of gain
on lapse of an option granted by the tax-
payer as part of a straddle, the gain shall be
deemed to be gain from the sale or exchange
of a capital asset held for not more than 6
months on the day that the option expired.

“‘(2) EXCLUSION OF DEALERS.—This subsec-
tion shall not apply to any person who holds
securities for sale to customers in the ordi-
nary course of his trade or business.

“*(3) DerFINITIONS.—For purposes of this
subsection—

“‘(A) The term “straddle’” means a simul-
taneously granted combination of an option
to buy, and an option to sell, the same quan-~
tity of a security at the same price during
the same period of time.

‘“‘(B)+ The term *“security” has the mean-
ing assigned to such term by section 1236(c).’

“SEc. 2. The amendments made by the first
section of this Act shall apply to straddle
transactions entered into after January 25,
1965, in taxable years ending after such
date.”

Mr. MILLS (interrupting the reading).
Mr. Speaker, I ask unanimous consent
that further reading of the amendment
be dispensed with-and that it be printed
in the REcorbp.

The SPEAKER. Is there objection to
the request of the gentleman from Ar-
kansas?

There was no objection.

The committee amendment was agreed
to.

The bill was ordered to be engrossed
and read a third time, was read the third
time, and passed, and a motion to re-
consider was laid on the table.
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APPENDIX III
S. 1013

TO CLARIFY THE COMPONENTS OF, AND TO ASSIST
IN THE MANAGEMENT OF, THE NATIONAL DEBT AND
THE TAX STRUCTURE
(Sec. 402 of Public Law 89-809)
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